IONOTROPIC GLUTAMATE RECEPTORS TRAFFICKING IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

EDITED BY: Milos Petrovic, Maria Inmaculada Gonzalez-Gonzalez and Jeremy Henley PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

> ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-089-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-089-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

IONOTROPIC GLUTAMATE RECEPTORS TRAFFICKING IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

Topic Editors:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia Maria Inmaculada Gonzalez-Gonzalez, Centro de Investigacion Medica Aplicada, Spain Jeremy Henley, University of Bristol, UK

The knowledge about the properties and importance of ionotropic glutamate receptor trafficking is ever increasing. Importantly, the pace of the progress has been accelerated in recent years.

Here, our contributors provide a) reviews on specific topics that present an up-to-date overview of the field, as well as b) original articles with the relevant new findings.

Citation: Petrovic, M., Gonzalez-Gonzalez, M. I., Henley, J., eds. (2017). Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors Trafficking in Health and Disease. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-089-3

Table of Contents

04 *Editorial: Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors Trafficking in Health and Disease* Milos Petrovic, Inmaculada M. Gonzalez-Gonzalez and Jeremy M. Henley

Section 1: NMDA receptor trafficking

- *ER to synapse trafficking of NMDA receptors* Martin Horak, Ronald S. Petralia, Martina Kaniakova and Nathalie Sans
- 24 Modulation of the glutamatergic transmission by Dopamine: a focus on Parkinson, Huntington and Addiction diseases
 Fabrizio Gardoni and Camilla Bellone
- *35 Distinct regions within the GluN2C subunit regulate the surface delivery of NMDA receptors*

Katarina Lichnerova, Martina Kaniakova, Kristyna Skrenkova, Ladislav Vyklicky and Martin Horak

47 DYRK1A-mediated phosphorylation of GluN2A at Ser¹⁰⁴⁸ regulates the surface expression and channel activity of GluN1/GluN2A receptors

Cristina Grau, Krisztina Arató, José M. Fernández-Fernández, Aitana Valderrama, Carlos Sindreu, Cristina Fillat, Isidre Ferrer, Susana de la Luna and Xavier Altafaj

Section 2: AMPA receptor trafficking

- *60 Actin-dependent mechanisms in AMPA receptor trafficking* Jonathan G. Hanley
- 68 The dendritic SNARE fusion machinery involved in AMPARs insertion during long-term potentiation Sandra Jurado
- 78 The role of AMPA receptors in postsynaptic mechanisms of synaptic plasticity Thomas E. Chater and Yukiko Goda
- 92 AMPAR interacting protein CPT1C enhances surface expression of GluA1containing receptors

Esther Gratacòs-Batlle, Natalia Yefimenko, Helena Cascos-García and David Soto

Section 3: Receptor and signaling system interactions

- 109 SYNGAP1: Mind the Gap Nallathambi Jeyabalan and James P. Clement
- **125** Cross-talk and regulation between glutamate and GABA_B receptors Sriharsha Kantamneni
- 132 Nicotinic α 7 receptor activation selectively potentiates the function of NMDA receptors in glutamatergic terminals of the nucleus accumbens

Stefania Zappettini, Massimo Grilli, Guendalina Olivero, Jiayang Chen, Cristina Padolecchia, Anna Pittaluga, Angelo R. Tomé, Rodrigo A. Cunha and Mario Marchi





Editorial: Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors Trafficking in Health and Disease

Milos Petrovic^{1*}, Inmaculada M. Gonzalez-Gonzalez² and Jeremy M. Henley³

¹ Institute of Medical Physiology, School of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ² Centro de Investigacion Medica Aplicada, Pamplona, Spain, ³ Centre for Synaptic Plasticity, School of Biochemistry, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK

Keywords: ionotropic glutamate receptors, trafficking, NMDA, AMPA, kainate

The Editorial on the Research Topic

Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors Trafficking in Health and Disease

Because of their fundamental role in excitatory synaptic function in health and disease, ionotropic glutamate receptors (iGluRs) continue to be the focus of wide-spread research efforts within the neuroscience community.

A core aspect of on-going research is the elucidation of the complex sequence of events that coordinate iGluR processing, delivery to, retention at, recycling, and removal from synapses (collectively known as receptor trafficking). Understanding of the activity dependent regulation of these events in healthy and diseased neurons will likely provide new targets for therapeutic intervention and, we believe, holds tremendous promise for new and improved treatments for neurological and neurodegenerative diseases.

The contributors to this special issue "Ionotropic glutamate receptors trafficking in health and disease" each provide new insights into different aspects of this complex problem, covering a wide range of issues, starting with early stages of trafficking taking place in the ER, through the distribution of receptors along actin tracks to the final stages of insertion into the surface membrane. Taken together with broader overviews, these papers provide a broad picture of current understanding of how postsynaptic iGluRs are integral to the initiation and expression of synaptic plasticity and how this impacts on disease.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Egidio D'Angelo, University of Pavia, Italy

> ***Correspondence:** Milos Petrovic mp011cz@gmail.com

Received: 19 August 2016 Accepted: 04 October 2016 Published: 28 October 2016

Citation:

Petrovic M, Gonzalez-Gonzalez IM and Henley JM (2016) Editorial: Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors Trafficking in Health and Disease. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 10:242. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2016.00242 With respect to NMDAR subunits, specific sections have been shown to affect the transition between individual steps in receptor trafficking, including their processing and eventual release from the ER. Based on their structure, different rules may apply to individual subunits and it is now shown that specific structural features of GluN2C can also regulate this process (Lichnerova et al.). On a wider scale, the processes surrounding the ER-related events in NMDAR trafficking are also covered by a dedicated article in our special issue (Horak et al.).

Beyond their regulation at the level of transcription and translation, iGluRs are subject to stringent regulation by post-translational modifications. Among these, the phosphorylation of GluN2A at Ser1048 by the Dual specificity tyrosine-phosphorylation-regulated kinase 1A (DYRK1A) can interfere with the internalization of GluN1/GluN2A NMDARs, while also potentiating their activation and increasing the NMDAR-current density (Grau et al.).

The complexity of excitatory synapses is enhanced by AMPAR- and NMDAR-interacting proteins. These interactions can be prolonged or transient and have profound effects on trafficking. For example, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1C (CPT1C) affects early steps of AMPAR trafficking to control AMPAR availability at synapses (Gratacòs-Batlle et al.).

Another intriguing phase of AMPAR trafficking is their forward transport along tracks provided by rapidly changing actin cytoskeleton. This occurs with the participation of various interacting proteins including PICK1 and the ARP2/3 Complex, ADF/Cofilin, as well as molecular motors, such as myosin. All of these interactors have the ability to modify trafficking of AMPARs, thus determining both the basal synaptic transmission, as well as activity-dependent regulation of synaptic strength (Hanley). Once that the receptors reach their targeted surface membrane, they need to be inserted in it and this regulated process, mediated by SNARE proteins, is critical for the postsynaptic expression of various forms of plasticity, as reviewed by Jurado and Chater and Goda.

An emerging concept is that iGluRs interact with other neurotransmitter systems and their receptors, including GABAB (Kantamneni), nicotinic receptors (Zappettini et al.), as well as dopaminergic system. This crosstalk has far-reaching implications, especially for diseases such as Parkinson's and Huntington's, as well as in addiction (Gardoni and Bellone).

Needless to say, with so many roles in synaptic function, it is clear that disturbances in iGluR trafficking give rise to serious neurological and psychiatric diseases. Among proteins affecting iGluR trafficking, SynGAP (and the genetic changes affecting its expression) is now recognized as the pathophysiological substrate for autism spectrum disorder and this fascinating topic is reviewed within our issue (Jeyabalan and Clement). In conclusion, we believe that the articles presented in this special issue represent a valuable resource that provides a clear overview of the current state of the art of this important and rapidly progressing field of neuroscience.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

JMH is grateful to the MRC, BBSRC, Alzheimer's Society, BRACE, and British Heart Foundation for financial support. MP is grateful to the MRC for the financial support.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Petrovic, Gonzalez-Gonzalez and Henley. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



ER to synapse trafficking of NMDA receptors

Martin Horak¹*, Ronald S. Petralia², Martina Kaniakova¹ and Nathalie Sans^{3,4}*

¹ Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic v.v.i., Prague, Czech Republic

² Advanced Imaging Core, National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA

³ Neurocentre Magendie, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, U862, Bordeaux, France

⁴ Neurocentre Magendie, University of Bordeaux, U862, Bordeaux, France

Edited by:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Mariana Vargas-Caballero, University of Southampton, UK Kevin Wilkinson, University of Bristol, UK

*Correspondence:

Martin Horak, Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic v.v.i., Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague 4, Czech Republic e-mail: mhorak@biomed.cas.cz; Nathalie Sans, Neurocentre Magendie, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, U862, 146 Rue Leo Saignat, F33077 Bordeaux, France e-mail: nathalie.sans@inserm.fr Glutamate is the major excitatory neurotransmitter in the mammalian central nervous system. There are three distinct subtypes of ionotropic glutamate receptors (GluRs) that have been identified including 2-amino-3-(5-methyl-3-oxo-1,2-oxazol-4-yl)propanoic acid receptors (AMPARs), N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) and kainate receptors. The most common GluRs in mature synapses are AMPARs that mediate the fast excitatory neurotransmission and NMDARs that mediate the slow excitatory neurotransmission. There have been large numbers of recent reports studying how a single neuron regulates synaptic numbers and types of AMPARs and NMDARs. Our current research is centered primarily on NMDARs and, therefore, we will focus in this review on recent knowledge of molecular mechanisms occurring (1) early in the biosynthetic pathway of NMDARs, (2) in the transport of NMDARs after their release from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER); and (3) at the plasma membrane including excitatory synapses. Because a growing body of evidence also indicates that abnormalities in NMDAR functioning are associated with a number of human psychiatric and neurological diseases, this review together with other chapters in this issue may help to enhance research and to gain further knowledge of normal synaptic physiology as well as of the etiology of many human brain diseases.

Keywords: glutamate receptor, excitatory neurotransmission, ion channel, internalization, intracellular trafficking, subcellular compartment

INTRODUCTION

The most common glutamate receptors (GluRs) in mature synapses are 2-amino-3-(5-methyl-3-oxo-1,2-oxazol-4-yl)propanoic acid receptors (AMPARs) that mediate fast excitatory neurotransmission; N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) serve mainly to modulate this neurotransmission by controlling the strength and number of AMPARs. However, during early postnatal development of many kinds of synapses, NMDARs predominate prior to the accumulation of AMPARs. The GluRs and their many associated proteins are "embedded" in an elaborate complex of interlinked proteins and cytoskeleton made by the postsynaptic density (PSD). The initial picture of the PSD was that of a static structure where GluRs were present, and were activated upon glutamate release. Over the last 10 years, a new picture of the PSD has emerged, that of a highly dynamic structure that increases or decreases in size and content during the entire life span of the individual, directly impacting spine shape. Such variations influence the physiological response of the postsynaptic side, the level of information storage and ultimately memory. For example, it is now believed that synapse function involves initial activation of AMPARs with glutamate binding, leading to a membrane depolarization that will release the magnesium block of the NMDAR channel, allowing calcium to enter the postsynaptic process via the glutamate-activated NMDAR. This calcium then

initiates various metabolic pathways that ultimately can affect the strength of the synapse. Most commonly, these pathways involve various phosphorylation/dephosphorylation events that can activate or deactivate other pathways leading to changes in the strength or number of AMPARs at the synapse. Thus, it is clear that the trafficking and function of both types of GluRs, AMPARs and NMDARs, are tightly regulated by multiple unrelated mechanisms, ensuring that proper numbers and types of synaptic receptors are available in a given excitatory synapse. The interest in all these mechanisms has been strengthened by the recent discovery that pathologies such as Alzheimer's disease and schizophrenia, but also mental retardation, fragile X syndrome, Rett syndrome, or Autism Syndrome Disorder, are due to disruption of synapse shape and function and not to structural permanent brain damage as initially thought. This has fostered new perspectives suggesting that by understanding how synapses form and are regulated, we could develop therapies to treat pathologies that were thought to be out of the reach of any curative intervention.

This review will focus on NMDARs. A functional NMDAR is a heterotetramer composed mainly of two GluN1 subunits and two GluN2 subunits; in some cases the GluN3 subunits are also incorporated into the heterotetramer (Petralia et al., 2009; Traynelis et al., 2010; Paoletti et al., 2013). Based on the crystallography structure of the recombinant NMDARs,



recent studies showed that the functional GluN1/GluN2 heterotetramer is formed in a GluN1-2-1-2 subunit arrangement (i.e., 2 GluN1/GluN2 heterodimers combine to form the heterotetramer; Figure 1) (Karakas and Furukawa, 2014; Lee et al., 2014), although several other studies suggested that there is a GluN1-1-2-2 subunit arrangement in the NMDAR (Schorge and Colquhoun, 2003; Balasuriya et al., 2013). There are eight different GluN1 splice variants, four GluN2 subunits (GluN2A-D) and two GluN3 subunits (GluN3A-B) expressed in the mammalian CNS. All GluN subunits share similar membrane topologyfour membrane domains (M1-M4), an extracellular N-terminus and a loop between M3 and M4 domains, and an intracellular C-terminus (Petralia et al., 2009). It is expected that the presence of relatively long N- and C-termini of the GluN subunits enables an NMDAR to dynamically interact with different proteins during its journey to the synapse, its retention at the synapse, and its removal from the synapse. The first step that shortly follows protein synthesis is the receptor subunit assembly that occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Next, the receptors are processed in the Golgi apparatus and packaged in the Golgi complex by means of vesicles, which carry the GluRs to the membrane. They are subsequently internalized and reinserted at extrasynaptic sites before being anchored at the PSD. At each step of the trafficking process GluRs need to be associated with specific partners that allow the maturation and transport of the receptors. While significant progress has been made in identifying the proteins involved in anchoring GluRs at the PSD, little is known about the partners involved in the trafficking processes

of these receptors. A deep knowledge of the trafficking from the ER to the membrane is paramount since these processes specify the final destination of the receptor complexes, and their deregulation can profoundly disrupt synaptic function. This review will highlight recent advancements in our understanding of early events in the trafficking of NMDARs as well as mechanisms regulating synaptic NMDARs. We will discuss the structural determinants and protein-protein interactions, both involved in the regulation of NMDARs, in three sections, summarizing; (1) events that happen early in the biosynthetic pathway (largely the ER); (2) events that happen in the transport of receptors after release from the ER; and (3) events that happen at the plasma membrane.

PROCESSING OF NMDARs IN THE ER

What molecular mechanisms control the formation of the functional NMDAR heterotetramers in the ER? The GluN1 subunit is produced in the ER in large excess relative to GluN2 subunits, ensuring that sufficient amounts of GluN1 subunits are available for newly synthesized GluN2 and GluN3 subunits (Chazot and Stephenson, 1997; Huh and Wenthold, 1999). Several working models of the assembly of functional NMDARs in the ER have been proposed. First, several studies suggest that the GluN1-GluN1 and GluN2-GluN2 homodimers, which are initially formed, are required for the formation of the functional heterotetramers (Meddows et al., 2001; Schorge and Colquhoun, 2003; Papadakis et al., 2004; Qiu et al., 2005; Hansen et al., 2010). Second, another study proposed

that the GluN1-GluN2 heterodimers are required for formation of heterotetrameric receptors (Schüler et al., 2008), or that GluN1-GluN1 homomers are the substrate for the oligomeric assembly of the heterotetramer (Atlason et al., 2007). The last model has been extended by a recent study that suggested that the N-terminal domains of the GluN1 subunits initially form homodimers and that the subsequent dimer dissociation is essential for the forming of the functional GluN1/GluN2 heteromers (Farina et al., 2011). Indeed, the reported promiscuity between the GluN1 and GluN2 N-terminal domains could explain the development of different working models of the assembly of NMDARs.

How does the cell ensure that only properly folded NMDAR heterotetramers are transported from the ER to the cell surface? In general, it is expected that the ER employs a quality control mechanism(s) for proteins exported from the ER to prevent the accumulation of unassembled and misfolded protein complexes via the trafficking pathways to the cell surface. In the case of NMDARs, it has been shown that all GluN2 subunits and some GluN1 splice variants are retained in the ER unless assembled (McIlhinney et al., 1998). The basic principle that the unassembled GluN subunits are retained in the ER has been demonstrated also in mice lacking the GluN1 subunit in the hippocampus, resulting in an accumulation of GluN2 subunits in the ER (Fukaya et al., 2003). Similarly, it has been reported that the GluN3A subunit requires the association with GluN1 subunits for its export from the ER (Perez-Otano et al., 2001).

What signals control ER retention of unassembled GluN subunits? Different regions of the GluN subunits have been proposed to regulate the assembly and/or ER retention of NMDA receptors (Figure 1). First, the C-termini of some GluN1 splice variants have been shown to contain two specific ER retention motifs, KKK and RRR, in the C1 cassette (Standley et al., 2000; Scott et al., 2001; Horak and Wenthold, 2009). Interestingly, the GluN1 variant, GluN1-3, which contains both the ER retention motifs in the C1 cassette and the PSD-95, Dlg, and Zo-1 (PDZ)-binding motif (-STVV) in the far C-terminus exhibits enhanced surface delivery even when expressed alone, suggesting that specific protein-protein interactions with other proteins such as the PSD-MAGUKs and COPII (which recognizes a divaline motif of the C-terminus of the GluN1-3) can regulate the ER retention of NMDAR subunits (Standley et al., 2000; Scott et al., 2001; Mu et al., 2003). The ER retention of the GluN1 subunit also can be modulated by phosphorylation by PKA and PKC of serine residues that are nearby the RRR motif, as shown using chimeric proteins of the C-terminus and single transmembrane proteins (tac = interleukin-2 receptor α subunit; CD8) (Scott et al., 2001); but our previous report did not confirm this observation using the full-length GluN1 constructs (Horak and Wenthold, 2009). The C-terminus of the GluN2B subunit attached to tac is retained in the ER, suggesting the presence of an ER retention signal (Hawkins et al., 2004). However, efforts to identify this specific signal have been unsuccessful, although truncation of the C-terminus appended to tac leads to increased surface expression in constructs containing the region up to residue 1070 of the GluN2B (Hawkins et al., 2004). This study also identified a short motif, HLFY, localized

immediately after the M4 domain of the GluN2B subunits. This motif is likely required as an export signal from the ER for the properly folded NMDAR heterotetramers (Hawkins et al., 2004). However, a later study proposed that the HLFY motif is not necessary for the formation of the surface functional NMDAR, as it can be replaced by alanines if the C-terminus is absent (Yang et al., 2007). Similarly, the deletion of the GluN2B Cterminus including the HLFY motif did not affect the formation of functional receptors when two pieces of the GluN2B subunit, GluN2B truncated before M4 domain and GluN2B M4 domain, were co-expressed together with the GluN1 subunit (Horak et al., 2008a). Together, these data indicate that the HLFY motif may provide a structural role to ensure the proper orientation of the membrane domains and/or the C-termini in the ER processing of the GluN1/GluN2 receptors. Similarly, the GluN3B subunit may also use the RXR motifs for ER retention, which must be negated by the association with the GluN1 subunit (Matsuda et al., 2003).

The structures of the extracellular regions of the GluN subunits were also implicated in the regulation of ER processing of NMDARs. Specifically, Prof. Stephenson's group reported that the structure of the glycine binding site in the GluN1 subunit is critical for the release of the functional NMDAR from the ER (Kenny et al., 2009). Similarly, another study revealed that the structure of the glutamate binding site within the GluN2B subunit controls the early processing of functional NMDARs (She et al., 2012). Given the fact that glutamate is likely present in the ER in the millimolar range (Berger et al., 1977; Meeker et al., 1989), it is plausible to speculate that a newly formed NMDAR heterotetramer is activated by agonists and then assessed for its proper functioning by a specific ER quality control machinery, as has been shown for the AMPARs (Penn et al., 2008). Future studies must resolve whether different affinities for glutamate and glycine among GluN1/GluN2A-D receptors, reported by many studies, regulate the ER processing of NMDARs (Traynelis et al., 2010). Furthermore, an ER retention signal has been identified in the A2 segment of the amino-terminal domain (ATD) of the GluN2A subunit; this must be masked by an interaction with the GluN1 subunit so that the functional NMDAR leaves the ER (Qiu et al., 2009). Interestingly, the appropriate region within the GluN2B subunit does not contain any ER retention signal, although there is relatively high sequence homology between the A2 segments of the GluN2A and GluN2B subunits. Because the identified A2 segment within the GluN2A subunit does not likely control the ER retention of unassembled GluN2A subunits, an additional ER retention signal(s) must exist in the remaining part of the GluN2A subunit (Qiu et al., 2009).

The structures of the membrane domains also likely regulate the ER processing of the functional NMDAR. Our previous reports identified critical structural determinants within the M3 domains of GluN1 and GluN2A-B subunits that cause the unassembled subunits to be retained in the ER (Horak et al., 2008b; Kaniakova et al., 2012a). However, we also showed that the structures of the M3 domains of the GluN1 and GluN2 subunits are critical for the release of the functional NMDARs from the ER, likely because the M3 domains mutually negate their ER retention signals (Horak et al., 2008b; Kaniakova et al., 2012a). Interestingly, these structural determinants within the M3 domains are present in the other glutamate receptor subtypes including their human variants as well, and thus it is likely that most ionotropic GluRs employ a common mechanism that includes specific inter-membrane domain interactions. This view is supported by recent studies showing that a specific amino acid residue within the GluN1 M4 domain regulates the early processing of NMDARs (Kaniakova et al., 2012b) and specific inter-membrane domain interactions of the M4 domain with the M1/M3 domains are required for surface expression of AMPARs (Salussolia et al., 2011). Moreover, recent data revealed that the M4 domain also controls the tetramerization of AMPARs (Salussolia et al., 2013). Whether the M4 domain also regulates tetramerization of NMDARs needs to be elucidated in future studies. Indeed, lack of precise structural information about the membrane regions of the NMDARs limits our current understanding of the processes that are involved in described phenomena.

Are the functional properties of NMDARs monitored during ER processing, as has been shown for AMPARs and kainate receptors (Priel et al., 2006; Penn et al., 2008)? As mentioned above, there are sufficient concentrations of glutamate present in the ER so that an NMDAR can be activated and monitored by the ER quality control machinery. The NMDARs are thought to have specific conformations associated with closed, open or desensitized states (Traynelis et al., 2010). Interestingly, the presence of the GluN2 subunit determines the functional and pharmacological properties of NMDARs, including their macroscopic desensitization, Mg²⁺ affinities and single-channel conductances (Traynelis et al., 2010; Paoletti, 2011; Siegler Retchless et al., 2012). But desensitization is not likely to be the major trafficking determinant of GluN1/GluN2B receptor subtype (Kaniakova et al., 2012a). Clearly, additional studies are necessary to elucidate molecular mechanisms that are behind the release of functional NMDARs from the ER. One of these mechanisms may include the ER resident chaperone protein, Sigma-1 receptor (σ -1R), which mediates trafficking of NMDARs to the cell surface (Pabba et al., 2014).

Most neurons express at least two of the most common GluN2 subunits, GluN2A and GluN2B, and thus three types of receptors can be formed, GluN1/GluN2A, GluN1/GluN2B and GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B (Al-Hallaq et al., 2007; Tovar et al., 2013). The functional properties of these three receptor types are quite different (Hatton and Paoletti, 2005) and one may speculate that their formation is not due to the random association of the subunits, but is regulated by other factors such as developmental stage and synaptic activity. Interestingly, when GluN2A subunit increases its abundance at P7, the di-heteromeric GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B complexes are present in similar amounts to those seen in the later developmental stages (Al-Hallaq et al., 2007). This indicates that the formation of NMDAR complexes is not dependent only on the relative expression of the GluN2 subunits. A previous study also reported that there is a preference for association of the GluN2 subunits with different GluN1 splice variants (Sheng et al., 1994). Because the GluN1 variants containing the C2' cassette exhibit an accelerated trafficking from

the ER (Okabe et al., 1999; Mu et al., 2003; Horak and Wenthold, 2009) and neuronal activity leads to increased expression of C2'-containing GluN1 variants (Mu et al., 2003), it is obvious that the formation of individual NMDAR types and their exit from the ER are highly regulated processes that we are just learning to understand.

FROM THE EXIT OF THE ER TO THE SYNAPSE

TRAFFICKING OF NMDA RECEPTORS FROM THE ER TO THE PLASMA MEMBRANE

After being released from the ER, as for many other membrane proteins, NMDARs are further processed in the somatic Golgi apparatus and then distributed to the *trans* Golgi network (TGN) and endosomes, to finally reach the membrane and spines. While most NMDARs are likely processed in the cell body and then transported to the synapse, some use a nonconventional secretory pathway that bypasses the endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) pathway in the cell body and utilizes dendritic ER or Golgi outposts (Wenthold et al., 2003; Jeyifous et al., 2009). Indeed, neurons possess ramified dendrites that contain functional ER and Golgi outposts; even spines may contain such structures. NMDAR complexes seem to use different routes to reach the synapses, specifically bypassing or not the somatic Golgi apparatus.

MAGUKS

PDZ (PSD-95/Discs-large/ZO-1) domain-containing proteins, such as the MAGUK proteins, PSD-95, SAP102, and SAP97, were first identified as the major synaptic scaffolding proteins anchoring NMDARs at glutamatergic synapses (Lue et al., 1994; Kornau et al., 1995; Müller et al., 1995, 1996; Brenman et al., 1996; Kim et al., 1996; Lau et al., 1996; Niethammer et al., 1996; for review, see Sheng, 1996; Sheng and Kim, 1996; Kornau et al., 1997) but many studies have also implicated them in the trafficking of receptors to and/or from synapses (Wenthold et al., 2003; Elias and Nicoll, 2007). SAP102, a multiple PDZ domain with the same organization as PSD-95, got our attention very early because, according to early data, it is enriched both at synapses and in the general neuronal cytoplasm (Müller et al., 1996; Sans et al., 2000). Indeed, from the microsome fraction solubilized with Triton X-100, it was shown that GluN1 subunits could be immunoprecipated with SAP102 but not with PSD-95, showing that at least SAP102 could interact with NMDARs way before they reach the synapse (Standley et al., 2000). Therefore, we and others hypothesized that PDZ proteins in a more global way could be involved in the early events of assembly and delivery of receptors, and that these different events were regulated through interaction with other proteins (Figure 2). We performed yeasttwo hybrid screens using the MAGUK, SAP102, as bait to identify novel regulators of GluR trafficking. A first screen with the three PDZ domains of SAP102 identified Sec8 as a potential partner of SAP102 (Sans et al., 2003). Sec8 is a member of the exocyst complex, with a previously uncharacterized PDZ-binding domain implicated in the secretory process (Hsu et al., 1996). The exocyst is a multiprotein complex containing eight proteins (Sec3, Sec5, Sec6, Sec8, Sec10, Sec15, Exo70, and Exo84) associated with



intracellular compartments in yeast, and implicated in directing intracellular membrane vesicles through the secretory pathway to their sites of fusion with the plasma membrane (Hsu et al., 1999). However, its role in mammalian cells and the mechanisms by which this complex could move cargos are unclear. Using immunogold labeling in the CA1 stratum pyramidale/stratum radiatum region of the hippocampus at P10, we showed that Sec8 or Sec6 colocalized with SAP102 and NMDARs in the ER or Golgi region including the adjacent intermediate compartment and TGN (Figure 3). In the ER, a complex made up of NMDAR/SAP102 binds to Sec8 and some of the additional subunits of the complex such as Sec6 or Exo70. We showed that these interactions were important for surface delivery of the receptors in heterologous cells and for synaptic delivery in neurons (Sans et al., 2003). mPins was later shown to be involved in the proper folding of SAP102 complexes that participate in receptor trafficking (Sans et al., 2005). mPins interacts with G protein alpha-subunits (Gai) and these interactions also play a role in the traffic of the receptors. The GDI activity of mPins can be overcome by the guanine nucleotide exchange factor, Resistance to inhibitors of cholinesterase (Ric-8A), which activates Gai protein stimulating the release of Gai-GTP (Tall and Gilman, 2005). It is possible that through this balanced action of mPins and Ric-8, Gai proteins influence the traffic of NMDA receptors. Furthermore, intracellular NMDARs have been shown to colocalize with SAP102 by immunocytochemistry or immunogold

labeling (Washbourne et al., 2004; Petralia et al., 2010; Standley et al., 2012). In addition, it has been shown that phosphorylation of Ser1480 on GluN2B can disrupt the interaction with SAP102 and PSD-95, thus leading to decreased targeting and anchoring of GluN2B in neurons (Chung et al., 2004). More recently, the hypothesis that SAP102 mediates trafficking of NMDARs has been strengthened by several studies. Indeed, neurons transfected with a ligand-binding deficient form of SAP102 show decreased synaptic clustering of NMDARs, although the SAP102 mutant forms were efficiently targeted to synapses (Minatohara et al., 2013). Interestingly, we showed in neurons transfected with fulllength GluN2B and SAP102, using a switch in temperature from 37°C to 20°C to slow down the trafficking process, that SAP102 was colocalized with NMDARs at the level of the ER (Sans et al., 2005). Recently, Standley et al. confirmed these data, demonstrating that SAP102 interaction with NMDAR occurs very early in the secretory pathway; and using live imaging with Tac-GluN2A or Tac GluN2B chimeras, they showed that SAP102 first interacts with the tail of the receptors and that PSD-95 could also be involved in the traffic of some NMDARs in the post trans-Golgi network (Standley et al., 2012). It should be noted that the PSD-95 antibody used in this study (T60) also recognizes SAP97 (Sans et al., 2000) leaving open the possibility that both PSD-95 and SAP97 can interact with the chimeras. PSD-95 was also shown to interact with the exocyst (Riefler et al., 2003). It is interesting to note that the exocyst has also



FIGURE 3 | Immunogold labeling of NMDARs, SAP102 and the exocyst complex. (A–G) Double-immunogold labeling (arrowheads), in sections of the CA1 region of the hippocampus (A) stratum pyramidale; (B–G) stratum radiatum of juvenile animals, with antibodies to Sec6 or Sec8 (5 nm gold) and SAP102 or GluN2A/B (10 nm gold). (A) SAP102 and Sec8 in RER in a neuron soma. (B) SAP102 and Sec8 associated with a cytoplasmic tubulovesicular structure in a growth cone. (C) SAP102 and Sec8 associated with a small vesicle adjacent to a large one, in a large dendrite. (D) SAP102 and Sec8 at an early contact between neurites. (E) GluN2A/B and Sec8 associated with a cytoplasmic vesicle in a small neurite. **(F)** SAP102 and Sec6 associated with a cytoplasmic vesicle in a large dendrite. **(G)** SAP102 and Sec6 at a synapse on a dendrite shaft. Line scale is 200 nm. **(H)** Distribution of immunogold labeling (5 nm) for Sec8 in the CA1 stratum pyramidale/stratum radiatum region of the hippocampus at P10. Golgi region includes Golgi and the adjacent intermediate compartment and TGN. Microtubule-associated and tubulovesicular (T-V) organelle-associated categories are not mutually exclusive. Figure is a reprint of Figure 3 from Sans et al., 2003.

been involved in the trafficking of NMDAR-dependent AMPAR trafficking through a previously unidentified interaction between the Sec8 N-terminal sequence and GRIP1 (Mao et al., 2010). Exo70, another exocyst component, controls receptor synaptic accumulation (Gerges et al., 2006). All these results raised several interesting questions about the exact composition of the exocyst complex in the trafficking process, but they clearly show that the exocyst is implicated in delivery of receptors. SAP97 is another MAGUK with a high level of expression in the intracellular compartments (Sans et al., 2001), and that could interact with NMDARs (Niethammer et al., 1996; Songyang et al., 1997; Bassand et al., 1999). SAP97 is a GluA1 interactor involved in the precise targeting and clustering of AMPARs (Leonard et al., 1998; Sans et al., 2001; Nakagawa et al., 2004; Schlüter et al., 2006). In 2003, Di Luca et al. showed that SAP97 could indeed bind directly to GluN2A through its PDZ1 domain, and that this interaction is regulated by CaMKII (Gardoni et al., 2003; Mauceri et al., 2007). This interaction may be quite important in immature neurons since SAP97 seems to be able to drive the switch between GluN2B and GluN2A (Howard et al., 2010). It could also be involved in the trafficking of a subpopulation of receptors

that do not use the conventional secretory pathway. Actually, Green et al. described a new path taken by some NMDARs associated with SAP97 and CASK and possibly KIF17 (Jeyifous et al., 2009). They showed that some NMDARs are directed from the somatic ER into a specialized dendrite ER subcompartment that targets NMDARs to dendritic Golgi outposts in dendrites. Later work showed that CASK regulates the conformation of SAP97, and thus is responsible for the specificity of SAP97 for AMPARs or NMDARs. In its compact conformation, SAP97 is preferentially associated with GluA1-containing AMPARs, while in the extended conformation due to CASK binding, SAP97 is associated with GluN2B-containing NMDARs (Lin et al., 2013). However, this is in contradiction to the initial finding showing that only GluN2A associates with non-phosphorylated SAP97 (Gardoni et al., 2003) and that GluN1 cannot interact with SAP97 (Leonard et al., 1998). These discrepancies could be due to SAP97 isoforms, which have distinctive roles in the trafficking of AMPARs and NMDARs. It was shown that the synaptic pool of AMPARs is regulated by aSAP97 while BSAP97 is important for the extrasynaptic pools of both AMPARs and NMDARs (Li et al., 2011).

KINESIN MOLECULAR MOTORS

The long distance transport along dendrites or axons depends on microtubules and motor proteins such as kinesins. KIF17 was the first kinesin involved in the trafficking of approximately 50 nm vesicles containing the GluN2B subunit of the NMDARs (Setou et al., 2000). KIF17 interacts with the PDZ domain of mLin10/Mint1/X11, which binds to GluN2B though an additional interaction with the adaptor proteins mLin2/CASK and mLin7/MALS/Velis. Additional work showed that these GluN2B containing vesicles move with a speed of 0.76 µm/sec (Guillaud et al., 2003). This is quite different from the 0.07 mm/sec found for GluN1 subunits (Washbourne et al., 2002) but could represent a different population of receptors. More recently, it has been shown that the interaction between KIF17 and its cargo is regulated by CaMKII (Guillaud et al., 2008) and that synaptic activity can control cargo itinerary (Hanus et al., 2014). Using loss of function experiments, Hirokawa et al. showed that the loss of GluN2B is compensated by an increase in GluN2A subunits at synapses suggesting that KIF17 is somehow specific for GluN2B subunits (Guillaud et al., 2003). However, in a kif17 KO, both GluN2A and GluN2B subunits are reduced at synapses by 22% and 43% respectively, but by two different mechanisms. GluN2B transport is inhibited and GluN2A subunits are also lost due to an accelerated degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome system (Yin et al., 2011). Interestingly, mLin2/CASK associates with SAP97 to regulate the traffic of Kir2 or NMDARs early in the secretory pathway (Leonoudakis et al., 2004; Jeyifous et al., 2009; Lin et al., 2013), suggesting that KIF17 may direct post-ER transport of GluN2B through different adaptor complexes including KIF17/Mint1/CASK/MALS and KIF17/Mint1/CASK/SAP97. Another possibility is that the KIF17/Mint1/CASK complex binds to SAP102 as well as SAP97. However, only 43% of the synaptic GluN2B subunits are lost in the kif17 KO suggesting that other kinesins and complexes are also involved in GluN2B trafficking. Indeed, KIF1ba has been shown to interact directly with PSD-95 and SAP97 (Mok et al., 2002). Even though SAP102 was not tested in this paper, the C terminus sequence of KIF1ba (RETTV) contains a potential class I PDZ domain-binding motif, S/T-X-V (S/T, Ser or Thr; X, any amino acids; V, hydrophobic amino acids) that may interact with PSD-95 relatives such as PSD-93 and SAP102. In summary, SAP102, PSD-95 or SAP97 and Mint1/CASK have been implicated in the early trafficking of NMDARs (Figure 2). The data are so far insufficient to attach a specific MAGUK to a specific kinesin or subunit. It is clear that GluN2B has received more attention than GluN2A and may be more often associated with trafficking complexes.

MYOSINS

KIF1b or KIF17 do not seem to enter directly into postsynaptic regions (Mok et al., 2002; Guillaud et al., 2003). Therefore, other means are needed to bring NMDAR to the PSD (Guillaud et al., 2008). It has been shown that the short distance transport inside the spine depends on actin and motor proteins such as myosins (Kapitein and Hoogenraad, 2011). Myosin Va or Vb and Myosin VI have been implicated in the trafficking of AMPARs (Wu et al., 2002; Osterweil et al., 2005; Lisé et al., 2006; Correia et al., 2008) but none of these have been involved in the regulation of NMDARs. While these are clearly involved in spine trafficking, other types of myosins (Lei et al., 2001; Amparan et al., 2005) may be involved in the delivery of NMDAR to the PSD. Other possible mechanisms for reaching the PSD include lateral diffusion along the extrasynaptic membrane (Choquet and Triller, 2013).

MECHANISMS REGULATING SYNAPTIC NMDARS NMDAR DISTRIBUTION AND FUNCTION AT SYNAPSES AND EXTRASYNAPTIC REGIONS OF NEURONS

Literature on the function of NMDARs at synapses is extensive and we only can summarize it briefly in this review (see reviews: Petralia and Wenthold, 2008; Petralia et al., 2009; Traynelis et al., 2010; Paoletti et al., 2013; Sanz-Clemente et al., 2013b; Horak et al., 2014). The basic components of a synapse include: (1) the presynaptic terminal, which has a presynaptic membrane region called an active zone where synaptic vesicles dock to release glutamate into a synaptic cleft between the pre- and post-synaptic processes; and (2) the postsynaptic membrane, which contains the synaptic receptors that are bound to and/or associate with a complex of proteins that make up the postsynaptic density. Usually the postsynaptic process is either a dendrite shaft or a spine extending from a dendrite shaft. NMDARs are found on all parts of the synapse, including the pre- and postsynaptic membranes as well as extrasynaptic membrane areas that surround the synapse proper.

Typically, NMDARs of mature postsynaptic membranes are made of GluN1 combined with GluN2A or GluN2B, or both, as noted in the first section of this review. Other GluN2 subunits have more restricted distributions, such as GluN2C in the cerebellum and olfactory bulb and GluN2D in central parts of the forebrain and in the midbrain in mature animals. GluN2B and GluN2D are widespread in the embryonic and early postnatal brain. GluN3A is also a common NMDAR subunit in early postnatal development, while GluN3B appears mainly later in development. GluN2B and GluN2D may be the GluN2 subunits of the most common extrasynaptic NMDARs, and in fact, GluN2D may be exclusively extrasynaptic (Brickley et al., 2003; Harney et al., 2008). Mature neurons of the forebrain may show a prevalence for extrasynaptic NMDARs with GluN2B and synaptic ones with GluN2A (Tovar and Westbrook, 1999; reviewed in Hardingham and Bading, 2010; Gladding and Raymond, 2011; Parsons and Raymond, 2014), but other studies have not seen a clear delineation between preferential localization of these 2 subunits (Groc et al., 2006; Thomas et al., 2006; Harris and Pettit, 2007; Petralia et al., 2010). In addition, differences in GluN2A/GluN2B receptor composition in synapses have been found between left and right CA3 inputs onto CA1 pyramidal cells of the adult hippocampus (Shinohara et al., 2008). Synaptic spines that receive presynaptic terminals from the left CA3 (on both sides of the brain) are smaller and have a high density of GluN2B receptors, while spines receiving input from the right CA3 are larger and richer in GluN2A and GluA1 receptors.

Presynaptic NMDARs may be more widespread during neuronal differentiation and may be involved in guidance of the

axonal growth cone (e.g., Wang et al., 2011; they also function at some developing and mature synapses (e.g., Jourdain et al., 2007; Larsen et al., 2011; Duguid, 2013)).

At the synapse, NMDARs are associated with scaffolding proteins of the postsynaptic density, especially the MAGUKs (PSD-95, PSD-93, SAP102, SAP97), as noted in the previous sections. The PDZ binding domain at the C-terminus of GluN2A and GluN2B binds to the first and the second PDZ domains of MAGUKs (Kornau et al., 1995; Niethammer et al., 1996). But NMDARs also may bind to MAGUKs via other domains (Cousins et al., 2009; Bard et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2011). PSD-95 and SAP102 are the main MAGUKs present in most mature forebrain synapses and both of them interact with GluN2A and GluN2B (Sans et al., 2000). PSD-95 is almost immobile in the PSD and forms an organized structure (Blanpied et al., 2008) maybe because of the presence of palmitovlation sites of the protein (El-Husseini et al., 2000); while SAP102 appears to be more widespread in the cytoplasm and extrasynaptic sites, in addition to its presence in the postsynaptic density (Müller et al., 1996; Sans et al., 2000, 2003; Standley et al., 2000). Furthermore, the majority of SAP102 in spines turns over within 5 min and its mobility is dependent on actin and glutamate receptor activation (Müller et al., 1996; Zheng et al., 2010, 2011). Indeed, during development, there may be a more prevalent association of SAP102 with GluN2B-containing NMDARs while PSD-95 may associate more with GluN2A (Sans et al., 2000; Petralia et al., 2005). In the superior colliculus and the visual cortex, after eye opening, synaptoneurosomal PSD-95 is bound to more GluN2A-rich NMDARs and less GluN2B-rich NMDARs, but the amount of the auxiliary protein, stargazin, bound to PSD-95, remains constant (Yoshii et al., 2003). In retinal ganglion cell synapses, GluN2A, the GluN1-c2' variant, PSD-93, and PSD-95 are associated with the PSD, while GluN2B, the GluN1c2 variant, and SAP102 tend to be perisynaptic (Zhang and Diamond, 2009). However, such a preferential association is not always clear, and mainly at mature synapses (Al-Hallag et al., 2007; Petralia et al., 2010). In 2008, Nicoll et al. showed that SAP102 can traffic either GluN2A or GluN2B to the synapse, but PSD-95 selectively traffics GluN2A (Elias et al., 2008). Later, Groc et al. showed that this could be due to a specific divalent interaction (Bard et al., 2010). Other proteins may hold NMDARs in the synapse such as EphB receptors that associate with the extracellular N-terminus of NMDARs (Dalva et al., 2000); extracellular matrix proteins such as reelin may also affect NMDAR composition at synapses (Groc et al., 2007). NMDARs also can have an auxiliary subunit, Neto1 (complement C1r/C1s/Uegf/Bmp1 domain-containing neuropilin tolloid-like 1 protein), which may be important for synaptic plasticity (Ng et al., 2009). Electrophysiology and immunogold electron microscopy studies with Neto1 and Neto1/Neto2 knockout mice, respectively, found an increase in GluN2B-containing NMDARs at hippocampal CA3 mossy fiber synapses (Wyeth et al., 2014). Neto1 may form part of a trafficking complex that also includes NMDARs, MAGUKs and amyloid precursor protein (APP; Cousins et al., 2013).

Extrasynaptic NMDARs may associate with scaffolding proteins also, including MAGUKs and GIPC (Figure 4; Yi et al., 2007; Petralia et al., 2010; reviewed in Gladding and Raymond, 2011; Petralia, 2012). However, most extrasynaptic NMDAR sites show little ultrastructural specialization, probably because there are relatively few proteins accumulated at these sites (Petralia et al., 2002, 2010; review: Petralia, 2012). Extrasynaptic NMDARs may be associated with a different set of proteins, involved in a different cell pathway, compared to NMDARs of the synapse. At least in some cases, activation of synaptic NMDAR pathways may upregulate neuronal cell functional plasticity and survival, while activation of extrasynaptic ones may turn on pathways leading to neurodegeneration (Liu et al., 2007; Hardingham and Bading, 2010; Gladding and Raymond, 2011; Bartlett and Wang, 2013; Karpova et al., 2013); and synaptic vs. extrasynaptic NMDARs also may be tied to pathways leading to LTP vs. longterm depression (LTD), respectively (Bartlett and Wang, 2013). In addition, NMDAR function is gated by different co-agonists, D-serine and glycine, in synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDARs, respectively (Papouin et al., 2012).

NMDAR function at synapses can be modified either by modulating the function of individual NMDAR complexes or by changing the composition or number of NMDARs in the synapse (see reviews: Rebola et al., 2010; Paoletti et al., 2013). The function of individual complexes can be modulated in many ways, including co-agonist activation, inhibition by extracellular zinc, as well as effects of polyamines and redox modulators. The C-terminus is subject to modulation via phosphorylation at several sites, and these can affect the strength of NMDAR-mediated currents and calcium permeability. Also, many G protein-coupled receptors, such as M1 muscarinic, LPA, metabotropic glutamate, and PACAP1 receptors enhance NMDAR function via phosphorylation events. Unfortunately, there is no room here to discuss these in any detail. Thus we will concentrate in the following sections only on changes in trafficking of NMDARs at synapses.

MECHANISMS OF NMDAR MOVEMENTS: ENDOCYTOSIS AND RECYCLING

While there may be distinct, relatively stable, functional populations of NMDARs in extrasynaptic locations as well as in the synapse, other extrasynaptic NMDARs may be more mobiletrafficking en route to or from a synapse (see previous section of this review, and reviews by Gladding and Raymond, 2011; Petralia, 2012; Paoletti et al., 2013). NMDARs destined for the synapse may exocytose at sites away from the synapse, either along the dendrite or on the sides of spines (Petralia et al., 2003; Washbourne et al., 2004), while endocytosis also may occur in these areas (Figure 5; Blanpied et al., 2002; Petralia et al., 2003; Rácz et al., 2004; Pérez-Otaño et al., 2006). Prior to synapse formation in early postnatal development, NMDARs appear to migrate to and from the cell surface in cycles of exoand endocytosis (Washbourne et al., 2004). The dynamic movements of excitatory and inhibitory receptors involve constant switching between mobile and immobile states, depending on thermal agitation and the reversible binding to stable elements including scaffolding and cytoskeletal anchoring proteins, both in the postsynaptic density and in extrasynaptic sites (reviewed in Choquet and Triller, 2013). Most of the mobility studies of



GluRs have involved AMPARs, but Groc et al. (2006), looking at NMDARs in dissociated hippocampal neuron cultures, found that the latter are more stable overall compared to AMPARs, with GluN2B-containing receptors having more surface mobility than those with GluN2A. Unlike AMPAR mobility, NMDAR mobility does not seem to be affected by TTX or KCl; thus, NMDARs may be more tightly attached to their surface positions (Groc et al., 2004). This is consistent with ideas of stable NMDAR populations both at synapses and in some extrasynaptic areas. Harris and Pettit (2007), using acute hippocampal slices, found little evidence of exchange of NMDARs between synaptic and extrasynaptic pools, which contained about 35% of the dendritic NMDARs. In contrast, Tovar and Westbrook (2002), using dissociated hippocampal neuron cultures, found an exchange of about 65% of synaptic NMDARs with extrasynaptic NMDARs in 7 min. Bard et al. (2010) also found evidence for rapid exchange of NMDARs in cultured hippocampal neurons.

Endocytosis of NMDARs utilizes clathrin-coated vesicles via association of the receptors with the AP-2 adaptor complex (Roche et al., 2001; Petralia et al., 2003; Lavezzari et al., 2004; Prybylowski et al., 2005); however, internalization may occur by an alternative, non-clathrin mediated endocytosis mechanism (Swanwick et al., 2009). Interaction of GluN2A with AP-2 is via a C-terminus dileucine motif (Lavezzari et al., 2004) although an additional AP-2 binding motif may be involved (Vissel et al., 2001). The AP-2 binding motif of GluN2B is YEKL, close to the C-terminus (Roche et al., 2001); MAGUK-dependent, fyn kinasemediated phosphorylation of Tyr1472 in this motif prevents internalization and increases synaptic NMDAR currents (Prybylowski et al., 2005). NMDARs can take different pathways following their internalization and incorporation into early/sorting endosomes; thus, GluN2A-containing NMDARs preferentially traffic to late endosomes for degradation, while GluN2B-containing NMDARs tend to move to recycling endosomes from where they can return to the surface and to synapses (Lavezzari et al., 2004). Recently, we showed that Scribble1 could prevent GluN2A subunits from undergoing lysosomal trafficking and degradation by increasing their recycling to the plasma membrane following NMDAR activation (Piguel et al., 2014). We also showed that Arf6 and the Arf6-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factor (EFA6) are involved in that process. Interestingly, EFA6 is a partner of sorting nexin-1 (SNX1), a retromer component that is implicated in endosomal sorting and trafficking (Fukaya et al.,



FIGURE 5 | Double immunogold labeling of clathrin-coated pits/vesicles (CCP/Vs; arrowheads) associated with bare densities (A,B; arrows) and extrasynaptic membrane regions (C–F) in the P2 hippocampus CA1 stratum radiatum with GluN1 (A–C,F) or GluN2A/B (D,E) antibody (5 nm gold), and clathrin (A–E) or adaptin α (F) antibody (10 nm gold). (A,B) These two "bare" densities on dendrites actually show fairly close associations with adjacent processes. In both micrographs, a definitive CCP/V is seen in the vicinity of the density, and a second probable CCP/V is evident closer to the density. **(C,F)** In C, GluN1 and clathrin antibodies label an early, flat CCP/V adjacent to a CCP/V that is pinching off, and GluN1 and adaptin α label a better-developed CCP/V in F (both are dendrites). **(D,E)** GluN2A/B and clathrin antibodies label a newly formed CCV in **(E)**, and another CCV in **(D)** in a process at a point where the latter is contacted by another process. Scale bars, 100 nm. Scale in **(E)** is valid for micrographs **(A-E)**. Figure is a reprint of Figure 3 from Petralia et al., 2003.

2014) and Scribble1 has also been shown to be implicated in the retromer localization to endosomes in epithelial cells (de Vreede et al., 2014). The retromer functions as a well-known complex involved in the retrograde transport from endosomes to the Golgi (Collins, 2008; Seaman et al., 2013) and is highly expressed in the hippocampus. Von Zastrow et al. recently showed that it is essential for functional surface expression of AMPARs and NMDARs at synapses (Choy et al., 2014). This function also may involve a complex of retromer and SNX27, which contains an N-terminal PDZ domain (Wang et al., 2013; Gallon et al., 2014). Moreover, many other proteins can affect NMDAR membrane expression differently and influence or change the ratio between GluN2A and GluN2B. These include PDZ proteins (i.e., MAGUKs) as already discussed (Losi et al., 2003; Sans et al., 2003, 2005; Chung et al., 2004; Mauceri et al., 2004; Howard et al., 2010), SNARE-related proteins (Lau et al., 2010; Suh et al., 2010) and kinases (Prybylowski et al., 2005; Sanz-Clemente et al., 2010, 2013a).

The mechanisms involved seem to be a bit different for GluN3 subunits. Endocytosis of GluN3A-containing NMDARs is mediated by PACSIN1 (protein kinase C and casein kinase substrate in neurons protein 1)/syndapin1, a neuron-specific accessory protein controlling clathrin-mediated endocytosis; PACSIN1 binds to the C-terminus of GluN3A via PACSIN1's NPF motif (Pérez-Otaño et al., 2006). A novel endocytic motif (YWL) located within the cytoplasmic C-terminal tail of GluN3A is

involved in the binding to the clathrin adaptor AP-2 (Chowdhury et al., 2013).

DEVELOPMENTAL CHANGES IN SYNAPTIC NMDAR NUMBER AND COMPOSITION

As we noted above, there are changes in NMDAR composition during development; NMDARs in early postnatal development mainly contain GluN2B or GluN2D, while GluN2A and GluN2C are more prevalent in adults. A downregulation of GluN2Dcontaining NMDARs in CA1 hippocampal pyramidal neurons may explain the great decrease in sensitivity to magnesium block beginning at P4 (Kirson et al., 1999). But especially there is a major switch from NMDARs with GluN2B to those with GluN2A. In the hippocampus, GluN2B is high at synapses at P2 (postnatal day 2) and there is a gradual decrease of GluN2B with age, as GluN2A increases; adults still show some NMDARs with GluN2B but GluN2A dominates (**Figure 6**); this also is accompanied by a similar switch in MAGUKs from mainly SAP102 to mainly PSD-95 plus some SAP102 (Sans et al., 2000; Petralia et al., 2005). This suggests that GluN2A-containing NMDARs are necessary for many functions found in the adult. In contrast, motoneurons in areas of the brain associated with the suckling reflex needed immediately after birth may already have high levels of GluN2A early in development (Oshima et al., 2002). The switch from GluN2B- to GluN2A-containing NMDARs is a conserved phenomenon among mammals and has been shown to occur in human development (Jantzie et al., 2013). In the rat hippocampus, activity induces a rapid change from GluN2B- to GluN2A-containing NMDARs, and this is bidirectional depending on activity (Bellone and Nicoll, 2007); in fact, studies of single synapses indicate that inactivity in silenced spine synapses enhances NMDAR currents and increases the number of GluN2Bcontaining NMDARs (Lee et al., 2010). At least in some cases, the switch is controlled by learning experiences such as with vision (light vs. dark rearing; Quinlan et al., 1999a,b). Stimuli that induce LTP induce the switch from GluN2B- to GluN2Acontaining NMDARs in young animals (Bellone and Nicoll, 2007); this effect is not seen in older animals. As expected, regulation of the switch is controlled by calcium and phosphorylation. For example, casein kinase 2 (CK2) phosphorylates



FIGURE 6 | Immunogold labeling for GluN2A (= NR2A) and GluN2B (= NR2B) in synapses during postnatal development of hippocampus CA1 stratum radiatum. Micrographs illustrate the decrease in GluN2B and increase in GluN2A at synapses during development. For GluN2B, there was a significant decrease from P2 to P35 and from P10 to P35; 30%, 33%, and 23% of synapses were labeled for P2, P10, and P35,

respectively. The Yaxis indicates gold per synapse (= synaptic cleft plus postsynaptic density) or per synapse + 100 nm (= 100 nm below the postsynaptic membrane). Scale bars for micrographs are 100 nm, arrows in micrographs indicate gold labeling associated with the postsynaptic density, and histograms show values plus standard errors. Figure is a reprint of Figure 6 from Petralia et al., 2005.

synaptic GluN2B to drive its endocytosis and replacement by GluN2A in cortical and hippocampal neuron cultures (Sanz-Clemente et al., 2010). The switch in hippocampal neurons actually involves many components, including activation of NMDARs and mGluR5, PLC, PKC, and calcium-release from IP3 receptor-dependent stores (Matta et al., 2011). Experience-dependent epigenetic remodeling associated with the GluN2B to GluN2A switch is mediated by a transcription factor called REST (repressor element 1 silencing transcription factor); when activated, REST is recruited to the promoter of the gene for GluN2B, where it binds to a 23-base pair motif in the promoter, recruiting corepressors that can remodel the chromatin (Rodenas-Ruano et al., 2012).

Also as noted above, GluN3A is prevalent in early development and is lost or reduced with age. GluN3A is believed to prevent the stabilization of premature synapses, and its downregulation is necessary for synapse maturation (Wong et al., 2002; Pérez-Otaño et al., 2006; Roberts et al., 2009). GluN3A can be found in both the pre- and postsynaptic processes, and during development of the visual cortex, presynaptic NMDARs appear to switch from GluN1/2B/3A to GluN1/2B (Larsen et al., 2011). In this case, the GluN3-containing presynaptic NMDARs promote glutamate release and spike timing-dependent LTD in the juvenile visual cortex, probably important for developing the early receptive field properties. After maturation, the now GluN3A-lacking NMDARs may be active under strongly depolarizing conditions to promote the facilitation of repetitive stimuli. Possible differences in the development and distribution of GluN3A between rodents and humans have been reported (Eriksson et al., 2007; Nilsson et al., 2007). Indeed, human GluN3A contains a proline rich motif in the C-terminus that is not found in rat GluN3A; this domain may bind SH3 domains to affect trafficking, although apparently not the SH3 domain of PSD-95 (Eriksson et al., 2007). The developmental switch from GluN2B to GluN2C-containing NMDARs in cerebellar granule cells is mediated by innervation from mossy fibers that release neuregulin, activating ErbB2 and ErbB4 receptors on the granule cells (Ozaki et al., 1997; Garcia et al., 2000; Hahn et al., 2006). During this time, surface delivery of GluN2C-containing NMDARs depends on its phosphorylation by protein kinase B and its subsequent association with protein 14-3-3 (Chen and Roche, 2009).

CHANGES IN NMDAR NUMBER AND COMPOSITION IN MATURE SYNAPSES

Generally, it has been thought that change in NMDAR composition at synapses is a developmental phenomenon accompanying the increase of AMPARs to adult levels (Sans et al., 2000; Petralia et al., 2005), and that adult plasticity involves changes in number and composition of AMPARs but not NMDARs (reviewed in Paoletti et al., 2013). Indeed, Bellone and Nicoll (2007) found no evidence of NMDAR plasticity in the CA1 region in hippocampal slices in 3 weeks postnatal Sprague-Dawley rats. A number of studies looking at NMDAR changes in the hippocampus of maturing rodents have concentrated on the period up to this point—from 2 to 3 weeks postnatal. Studies have shown evidence of bidirectional control of NMDAR GluN2A/GluN2B ratio in the Schaffer collateral/CA1 spine synapses of the hippocampus in slices from 2-3 week old Sprague-Dawley rats (Xu et al., 2009; Peng et al., 2010), i.e., looking at the period just prior to the 3 week limit indicated by Bellone and Nicoll (2007). Zhao et al. (2008) also provided evidence that stimulation can induce extrasynaptic NMDARs, mainly containing GluN2B (Figure 4), to move laterally into the synapse in 3 week-old hippocampal slices. In contrast to these studies showing changes in NMDARs only within 3 weeks postnatal, Grosshans et al. (Grosshans et al., 2002) found that LTP involves rapid PKC and Src-family dependent surface expression of NMDARs in the CA1 region of hippocampal slices from 6-8 week old rats. The reason for the difference is not clear but it may be that the latter study noted changes in extrasynaptic receptors. In support of this, studies of the visual cortex have indicated that there are later changes in extrasynaptic or presynaptic NMDARs (Yashiro et al., 2005; Larsen et al., 2011). Also, Harney et al. (2008) suggest that in the hippocampal dentate gyrus of 3-4 weeks old rats, extrasynaptic GluN2D-containing NMDARs are recruited to synapses during LTP. They presume that these receptors may be perisynaptic and that addition of these receptors to the synapse is a transient phenomenon; this is in contrast to other studies suggesting that GluN2D-containing NMDARs are exclusively extrasynaptic, as discussed above. Other studies in the 3-4 week period have shown the PKC-dependent insertion of NMDARs into mossy fiber synapses on CA3 hippocampal neurons during mossy fiber LTP (Kwon and Castillo, 2008) and orexin-induced, PLC/PKCdependent insertion of NMDARs in synapses of dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (Borgland et al., 2006). The latter synapses undergo the GluN2B to GluN2A switch in the first postnatal week, and interestingly, after this (and possibly even in adult mice), cocaine can evoke a switch to quasicalcium impermeable NMDARs containing GluN3A and GluN2B (along with a switch to calcium-permeable AMPARs; Yuan et al., 2013). Subsequent recovery appears to be mediated by mGluR1, replacing the GluN3A-containing NMDARs with ones containing GluN2A again.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

In this brief review, we have highlighted some of the recent work on NMDAR assembly, ER exit to membrane and synapse trafficking of NMDARs. Because of its involvement in a critical function such as neurotransmission in a complex cell like a neuron, it is reasonable to propose that an NMDAR will interact with tens or maybe even hundreds of different proteins during its lifetime. Most of the identified interactions involve the cytoplasmic Cterminus of the GluN subunits. It is clear that more protein partners of NMDARs, including those that bind to extracellular and transmembrane domains (TMDs), await identification because they are not readily detectable using current assays, but may prove to be important to the trafficking and/or function of NMDARs. Furthermore, it is obvious that most studies dealing with the NMDARs have been performed using rat/mouse genes and thus the potential differences in trafficking of rodent and human NMDARs have been mostly neglected. However, human NMDARs exhibit similar functional and pharmacological properties to rodent NMDARs, consistent with the critical role that these receptor play in excitatory synapses (Hedegaard et al., 2012).

Therefore, we expect that future studies will identify novel protein partners of the NMDARs as well as will address where the protein interactions of the NMDARs occur and how these interactions are regulated. Indeed, this knowledge will shed new light on our understanding of the different stages of processing, synaptic delivery, synaptic retention, and degradation of NMDARs and will also enable us to find new strategies to treat some human brain disorders.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the projects from the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (14-09220P, Martina Kaniakova; 14-02219S, Martin Horak), Marie Curie International Reintegration Grant (PIRG-GA-2010-276827; Martin Horak), Research Project of the AS CR RVO:67985823 and BIOCEV—Biotechnology and Biomedicine Centre of Academy of Sciences and Charles University in Vestec, project supported from European Regional Development Fund (Martin Horak). This work was also supported by INSERM, the Neurocampus program and the MossyPCP ANR-12-BSV4-0016-01 grants (to Nathalie Sans). Ronald S. Petralia was supported by the Intramural Research Program of NIDCD/NIH.

REFERENCES

- Al-Hallaq, R. A., Conrads, T. P., Veenstra, T. D., and Wenthold, R. J. (2007). NMDA di-heteromeric receptor populations and associated proteins in rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 27, 8334–8343. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2155-07.2007
- Amparan, D., Avram, D., Thomas, C. G., Lindahl, M. G., Yang, J., Bajaj, G., et al. (2005). Direct interaction of myosin regulatory light chain with the NMDA receptor. J. Neurochem. 92, 349–361. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02869.x
- Atlason, P. T., Garside, M. L., Meddows, E., Whiting, P., and Mcilhinney, R. A. (2007). N-Methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor subunit NR1 forms the substrate for oligomeric assembly of the NMDA receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 25299– 25307. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m702778200
- Balasuriya, D., Goetze, T. A., Barrera, N. P., Stewart, A. P., Suzuki, Y., and Edwardson, J. M. (2013). α-Amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid (AMPA) and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors adopt different subunit arrangements. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 21987–21998. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113. 469205
- Bard, L., Sainlos, M., Bouchet, D., Cousins, S., Mikasova, L., Breillat, C., et al. (2010). Dynamic and specific interaction between synaptic NR2-NMDA receptor and PDZ proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 19561–19566. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.1002690107
- Bartlett, T. E., and Wang, Y. T. (2013). The intersections of NMDAR-dependent synaptic plasticity and cell survival. *Neuropharmacology* 74, 59–68. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuropharm.2013.01.012
- Bassand, P., Bernard, A., Rafiki, A., Gayet, D., and Khrestchatisky, M. (1999). Differential interaction of the tSXV motifs of the NR1 and NR2A NMDA receptor subunits with PSD-95 and SAP97. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 11, 2031–2043. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.1999.00611.x
- Bellone, C., and Nicoll, R. A. (2007). Rapid bidirectional switching of synaptic NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 55, 779–785. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.07.035
- Berger, S. J., Carter, J. C., and Lowry, O. H. (1977). The distribution of glycine, GABA, glutamate and aspartate in rabbit spinal cord, cerebellum and hippocampus. J. Neurochem. 28, 149–158. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1977.tb07720.x
- Blanpied, T. A., Kerr, J. M., and Ehlers, M. D. (2008). Structural plasticity with preserved topology in the postsynaptic protein network. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U* S A 105, 12587–12592. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711669105
- Blanpied, T. A., Scott, D. B., and Ehlers, M. D. (2002). Dynamics and regulation of clathrin coats at specialized endocytic zones of dendrites and spines. *Neuron* 36, 435–449. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00979-0
- Borgland, S. L., Taha, S. A., Sarti, F., Fields, H. L., and Bonci, A. (2006). Orexin A in the VTA is critical for the induction of synaptic plasticity and behavioral sensitization to cocaine. *Neuron* 49, 589–601. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.01.016

- Brenman, J. E., Chao, D. S., Gee, S. H., McGee, A. W., Craven, S. E., Santillano, D. R., et al. (1996). Interaction of nitric oxide synthase with the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95 and alpha1-syntrophin mediated by PDZ domains. *Cell* 84, 757–767. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81053-3
- Brickley, S. G., Misra, C., Mok, M. H., Mishina, M., and Cull-Candy, S. G. (2003). NR2B and NR2D subunits coassemble in cerebellar Golgi cells to form a distinct NMDA receptor subtype restricted to extrasynaptic sites. J. Neurosci. 23, 4958– 4966.
- Chazot, P. L., and Stephenson, F. A. (1997). Biochemical evidence for the existence of a pool of unassembled C2 exon-containing NR1 subunits of the mammalian forebrain NMDA receptor. *J. Neurochem.* 68, 507–516. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159. 1997.68020507.x
- Chen, B. S., and Roche, K. W. (2009). Growth factor-dependent trafficking of cerebellar NMDA receptors via protein kinase B/Akt phosphorylation of NR2C. *Neuron* 62, 471–478. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.04.015
- Chen, B. S., Thomas, E. V., Sanz-Clemente, A., and Roche, K. W. (2011). NMDA receptor-dependent regulation of dendritic spine morphology by SAP102 splice variants. J. Neurosci. 31, 89–96. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1034-10.2011
- Choquet, D., and Triller, A. (2013). The dynamic synapse. *Neuron* 80, 691–703. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.013
- Chowdhury, D., Marco, S., Brooks, I. M., Zandueta, A., Rao, Y., Haucke, V., et al. (2013). Tyrosine phosphorylation regulates the endocytosis and surface expression of GluN3A-containing NMDA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 4151–4164. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2721-12.2013
- Choy, R. W., Park, M., Temkin, P., Herring, B. E., Marley, A., Nicoll, R. A., et al. (2014). Retromer mediates a discrete route of local membrane delivery to dendrites. *Neuron* 82, 55–62. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.018
- Chung, H. J., Huang, Y. H., Lau, L. F., and Huganir, R. L. (2004). Regulation of the NMDA receptor complex and trafficking by activity-dependent phosphorylation of the NR2B subunit PDZ ligand. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 10248–10259. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.0546-04.2004
- Collins, B. M. (2008). The structure and function of the retromer protein complex. *Traffic* 9, 1811–1822. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2008.00777.x
- Correia, S. S., Bassani, S., Brown, T. C., Lisé, M. F., Backos, D. S., El-Husseini, A., et al. (2008). Motor protein-dependent transport of AMPA receptors into spines during long-term potentiation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 457–466. doi: 10.1038/nn2063
- Cousins, S. L., Innocent, N., and Stephenson, F. A. (2013). Neto1 associates with the NMDA receptor/amyloid precursor protein complex. J. Neurochem. 126, 554– 564. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12280
- Cousins, S. L., Kenny, A. V., and Stephenson, F. A. (2009). Delineation of additional PSD-95 binding domains within NMDA receptor NR2 subunits reveals differences between NR2A/PSD-95 and NR2B/PSD-95 association. *Neuroscience* 158, 89–95. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2007.12.051
- Dalva, M. B., Takasu, M. A., Lin, M. Z., Shamah, S. M., Hu, L., Gale, N. W., et al. (2000). EphB receptors interact with NMDA receptors and regulate excitatory synapse formation. *Cell* 103, 945–956. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)00197-5
- de Vreede, G., Schoenfeld, J. D., Windler, S. L., Morrison, H., Lu, H., and Bilder, D. (2014). The scribble module regulates retromer-dependent endocytic trafficking during epithelial polarization. *Development* 141, 2796–2802. doi: 10.1242/dev. 105403
- Duguid, I. C. (2013). Presynaptic NMDA receptors: are they dendritic receptors in disguise? *Brain Res. Bull.* 93, 4–9. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2012.12.004
- El-Husseini, A. E., Craven, S. E., Chetkovich, D. M., Firestein, B. L., Schnell, E., Aoki, C., et al. (2000). Dual palmitoylation of PSD-95 mediates its vesiculotubular sorting, postsynaptic targeting and ion channel clustering. *J. Cell Biol.* 148, 159–172. doi: 10.1083/jcb.148.1.159
- Elias, G. M., Elias, L. A., Apostolides, P. F., Kriegstein, A. R., and Nicoll, R. A. (2008). Differential trafficking of AMPA and NMDA receptors by SAP102 and PSD-95 underlies synapse development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 105, 20953–20958. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0811025106
- Elias, G. M., and Nicoll, R. A. (2007). Synaptic trafficking of glutamate receptors by MAGUK scaffolding proteins. *Trends Cell Biol.* 17, 343–352. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb. 2007.07.005
- Eriksson, M., Nilsson, A., Samuelsson, H., Samuelsson, E.-B., Mo, L., Åkesson, E., et al. (2007). On the role of NR3A in human NMDA receptors. *Physiol. Behav.* 92, 54–59. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.05.026
- Farina, A. N., Blain, K. Y., Maruo, T., Kwiatkowski, W., Choe, S., and Nakagawa, T. (2011). Separation of domain contacts is required for heterotetrameric

assembly of functional NMDA receptors. J. Neurosci. 31, 3565–3579. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.6041-10.2011

- Fukaya, M., Fukushima, D., Hara, Y., and Sakagami, H. (2014). EFA6A, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Arf6, interacts with sorting nexin-1 and regulates neurite outgrowth. J. Neurochem. 129, 21–36. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12524
- Fukaya, M., Kato, A., Lovett, C., Tonegawa, S., and Watanabe, M. (2003). Retention of NMDA receptor NR2 subunits in the lumen of endoplasmic reticulum in targeted NR1 knockout mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 100, 4855–4860. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0830996100
- Gallon, M., Clairfeuille, T., Steinberg, F., Mas, C., Ghai, R., Sessions, R. B., et al. (2014). A unique PDZ domain and arrestin-like fold interaction reveals mechanistic details of endocytic recycling by SNX27-retromer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 111, E3604–E3613. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1410552111
- Garcia, R. A., Vasudevan, K., and Buonanno, A. (2000). The neuregulin receptor ErbB-4 interacts with PDZ-containing proteins at neuronal synapses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 97, 3596–3601. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.7.3596
- Gardoni, F., Mauceri, D., Fiorentini, C., Bellone, C., Missale, C., Cattabeni, F., et al. (2003). CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation regulates SAP97/NR2A interaction. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 44745–44752. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m303576200
- Gerges, N. Z., Backos, D. S., Rupasinghe, C. N., Spaller, M. R., and Esteban, J. A. (2006). Dual role of the exocyst in AMPA receptor targeting and insertion into the postsynaptic membrane. *EMBO J.* 25, 1623–1634. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj. 7601065
- Gladding, C. M., and Raymond, L. A. (2011). Mechanisms underlying NMDA receptor synaptic/extrasynaptic distribution and function. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 48, 308–320. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2011.05.001
- Groc, L., Choquet, D., Stephenson, F. A., Verrier, D., Manzoni, O. J., and Chavis, P. (2007). NMDA receptor surface trafficking and synaptic subunit composition are developmentally regulated by the extracellular matrix protein Reelin. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 10165–10175. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1772-07.2007
- Groc, L., Heine, M., Cognet, L., Brickley, K., Stephenson, F. A., Lounis, B., et al. (2004). Differential activity-dependent regulation of the lateral mobilities of AMPA and NMDA receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 695–696. doi: 10.1038/nn1270
- Groc, L., Heine, M., Cousins, S. L., Stephenson, F. A., Lounis, B., Cognet, L., et al. (2006). NMDA receptor surface mobility depends on NR2A-2B subunits. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 103, 18769–18774. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605238103
- Grosshans, D. R., Clayton, D. A., Coultrap, S. J., and Browning, M. D. (2002). LTP leads to rapid surface expression of NMDA but not AMPA receptors in adult rat CA1. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 27–33. doi: 10.1038/nn779
- Guillaud, L., Setou, M., and Hirokawa, N. (2003). KIF17 dynamics and regulation of NR2B trafficking in hippocampal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 131–140.
- Guillaud, L., Wong, R., and Hirokawa, N. (2008). Disruption of KIF17-Mint1 interaction by CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation: a molecular model of kinesincargo release. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 19–29. doi: 10.1038/ncb1665
- Hahn, C. G., Wang, H. Y., Cho, D. S., Talbot, K., Gur, R. E., Berrettini, W. H., et al. (2006). Altered neuregulin 1-erbB4 signaling contributes to NMDA receptor hypofunction in schizophrenia. *Nat. Med.* 12, 824–828. doi: 10.1038/nm 1418
- Hansen, K. B., Furukawa, H., and Traynelis, S. F. (2010). Control of assembly and function of glutamate receptors by the amino-terminal domain. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 78, 535–549. doi: 10.1124/mol.110.067157
- Hanus, C., Kochen, L., Tom Dieck, S., Racine, V., Sibarita, J. B., Schuman, E. M., et al. (2014). Synaptic control of secretory trafficking in dendrites. *Cell Rep.* 7, 1771–1778. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.05.028
- Hardingham, G. E., and Bading, H. (2010). Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 682–696. doi: 10.1038/nrn2911
- Harney, S. C., Jane, D. E., and Anwyl, R. (2008). Extrasynaptic NR2D-containing NMDARs are recruited to the synapse during LTP of NMDAR-EPSCs. J. Neurosci. 28, 11685–11694. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3035-08.2008
- Harris, A. Z., and Pettit, D. L. (2007). Extrasynaptic and synaptic NMDA receptors form stable and uniform pools in rat hippocampal slices. J. Physiol. 584, 509– 519. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2007.137679
- Hatton, C. J., and Paoletti, P. (2005). Modulation of triheteromeric NMDA receptors by N-terminal domain ligands. *Neuron* 46, 261–274. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2005.03.005
- Hawkins, L. M., Prybylowski, K., Chang, K., Moussan, C., Stephenson, F. A., and Wenthold, R. J. (2004). Export from the endoplasmic reticulum of assembled N-

methyl-d-aspartic acid receptors is controlled by a motif in the c terminus of the NR2 subunit. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 28903–28910. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m402599200

- Hedegaard, M., Hansen, K. B., Andersen, K. T., Bräuner-Osborne, H., and Traynelis, S. F. (2012). Molecular pharmacology of human NMDA receptors. *Neurochem. Int.* 61, 601–609. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2011.11.016
- Horak, M., Al-Hallaq, R. A., Chang, K., and Wenthold, R. J. (2008a). Role of the fourth membrane domain of the NR2B subunit in the assembly of the NMDA receptor. *Channels (Austin)* 2, 159–160. doi: 10.4161/chan.2.3.6188
- Horak, M., Chang, K., and Wenthold, R. J. (2008b). Masking of the endoplasmic reticulum retention signals during assembly of the NMDA receptor. J. Neurosci. 28, 3500–3509. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5239-07.2008
- Horak, M., Seabold, G. K., and Petralia, R. S. (2014). "Trafficking of glutamate receptors and associated proteins in synaptic plasticity," in *The Synapse: Structure and Function*, eds V. Pickel and M. Segal (New York: Elsevier), 221–279.
- Horak, M., and Wenthold, R. J. (2009). Different roles of C-terminal cassettes in the trafficking of full-length NR1 subunits to the cell surface. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 9683–9691. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M807050200
- Howard, M. A., Elias, G. M., Elias, L. A., Swat, W., and Nicoll, R. A. (2010). The role of SAP97 in synaptic glutamate receptor dynamics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 3805–3810. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0914422107
- Hsu, S. C., Hazuka, C. D., Foletti, D. L., and Scheller, R. H. (1999). Targeting vesicles to specific sites on the plasma membrane: the role of the sec6/8 complex. *Trends Cell Biol.* 9, 150–153. doi: 10.1016/s0962-8924(99)01516-0
- Hsu, S. C., Ting, A. E., Hazuka, C. D., Davanger, S., Kenny, J. W., Kee, Y., et al. (1996). The mammalian brain rsec6/8 complex. *Neuron* 17, 1209–1219. doi: 10. 1016/s0896-6273(00)80251-2
- Huh, K. H., and Wenthold, R. J. (1999). Turnover analysis of glutamate receptors identifies a rapidly degraded pool of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit, NR1, in cultured cerebellar granule cells. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 151–157. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.274.1.151
- Jantzie, L. L., Talos, D. M., Jackson, M. C., Park, H.-K., Graham, D. A., Lechpammer, M., et al. (2013). Developmental expression of *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor subunits in human white and gray matter: potential mechanism of increased vulnerability in the immature brain. *Cereb. Cortex* doi: 10. 1093/cercor/bht246. [Epub ahead of print].
- Jeyifous, O., Waites, C. L., Specht, C. G., Fujisawa, S., Schubert, M., Lin, E. I., et al. (2009). SAP97 and CASK mediate sorting of NMDA receptors through a previously unknown secretory pathway. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 1011–1019. doi: 10. 1038/nn.2362
- Jourdain, P., Bergersen, L. H., Bhaukaurally, K., Bezzi, P., Santello, M., Domercq, M., et al. (2007). Glutamate exocytosis from astrocytes controls synaptic strength. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 331–339. doi: 10.1038/nn1849
- Kaniakova, M., Krausova, B., Vyklicky, V., Korinek, M., Lichnerova, K., Vyklicky, L., et al. (2012a). Key amino acid residues within the third membrane domains of NR1 and NR2 subunits contribute to the regulation of the surface delivery of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 26423–26434. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.M112.339085
- Kaniakova, M., Lichnerova, K., Vyklicky, L., and Horak, M. (2012b). Single amino acid residue in the M4 domain of GluN1 subunit regulates the surface delivery of NMDA receptors. J. Neurochem. 123, 385–395. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12002
- Kapitein, L. C., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2011). Which way to go? Cytoskeletal organization and polarized transport in neurons. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 46, 9–20. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2010.08.015
- Karakas, E., and Furukawa, H. (2014). Crystal structure of a heterotetrameric NMDA receptor ion channel. *Science* 344, 992–997. doi: 10.1126/science. 1251915
- Karpova, A., Mikhaylova, M., Bera, S., Bär, J., Reddy, P. P., Behnisch, T., et al. (2013). Encoding and transducing the synaptic or extrasynaptic origin of NMDA receptor signals to the nucleus. *Cell* 152, 1119–1133. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.02. 002
- Kenny, A. V., Cousins, S. L., Pinho, L., and Stephenson, F. A. (2009). The integrity of the glycine co-agonist binding site of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors is a functional quality control checkpoint for cell surface delivery. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 324–333. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M804023200
- Kim, E., Cho, K. O., Rothschild, A., and Sheng, M. (1996). Heteromultimerization and NMDA receptor-clustering activity of Chapsyn-110, a member of the PSD-95 family of proteins. *Neuron* 17, 103–113. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00) 80284-6

- Kirson, E. D., Schirra, C., Konnerth, A., and Yaari, Y. (1999). Early postnatal switch in magnesium sensitivity of NMDA receptors in rat CA1 pyramidal cells. *J. Physiol.* 521(Pt. 1), 99–111. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999. 00099.x
- Kornau, H. C., Schenker, L. T., Kennedy, M. B., and Seeburg, P. H. (1995). Domain interaction between NMDA receptor subunits and the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95. *Science* 269, 1737–1740. doi: 10.1126/science.7569905
- Kornau, H. C., Seeburg, P. H., and Kennedy, M. B. (1997). Interaction of ion channels and receptors with PDZ domain proteins. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 7, 368–373. doi: 10.1016/s0959-4388(97)80064-5
- Kwon, H. B., and Castillo, P. E. (2008). Long-term potentiation selectively expressed by NMDA receptors at hippocampal mossy fiber synapses. *Neuron* 57, 108–120. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.11.024
- Larsen, R. S., Corlew, R. J., Henson, M. A., Roberts, A. C., Mishina, M., Watanabe, M., et al. (2011). NR3A-containing NMDARs promote neurotransmitter release and spike timing-dependent plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 338–344. doi: 10. 1038/nn.2750
- Lau, L. F., Mammen, A., Ehlers, M. D., Kindler, S., Chung, W. J., Garner, C. C., et al. (1996). Interaction of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor complex with a novel synapse-associated protein, SAP102. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 21622–21628. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.271.35.21622
- Lau, C. G., Takayasu, Y., Rodenas-Ruano, A., Paternain, A. V., Lerma, J., Bennett, M. V., et al. (2010). SNAP-25 is a target of protein kinase C phosphorylation critical to NMDA receptor trafficking. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 242–254. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.4933-08.2010
- Lavezzari, G., McCallum, J., Dewey, C. M., and Roche, K. W. (2004). Subunitspecific regulation of NMDA receptor endocytosis. J. Neurosci. 24, 6383–6391. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1890-04.2004
- Lee, C. H., Lü, W., Michel, J. C., Goehring, A., Du, J., Song, X., et al. (2014). NMDA receptor structures reveal subunit arrangement and pore architecture. *Nature* 511, 191–197. doi: 10.1038/nature13548
- Lee, M. C., Yasuda, R., and Ehlers, M. D. (2010). Metaplasticity at single glutamatergic synapses. *Neuron* 66, 859–870. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.05.015
- Lei, S., Czerwinska, E., Czerwinski, W., Walsh, M. P., and MacDonald, J. F. (2001). Regulation of NMDA receptor activity by F-actin and mysoin light chain kinase. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 8464–8472.
- Leonard, A. S., Davare, M. A., Horne, M. C., Garner, C. C., and Hell, J. W. (1998). SAP97 is associated with the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4propionic acid receptor GluR1 subunit. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 19518–19524. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.273.31.19518
- Leonoudakis, D., Conti, L. R., Radeke, C. M., McGuire, L. M., and Vandenberg, C. A. (2004). A multiprotein trafficking complex composed of SAP97, CASK, Veli and Mint1 is associated with inward rectifier Kir2 potassium channels. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 19051–19063. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m400284200
- Li, D., Specht, C. G., Waites, C. L., Butler-Munro, C., Leal-Ortiz, S., Foote, J. W., et al. (2011). SAP97 directs NMDA receptor spine targeting and synaptic plasticity. *J. Physiol.* 589, 4491–4510. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.215566
- Lin, E. I., Jeyifous, O., and Green, W. N. (2013). CASK regulates SAP97 conformation and its interactions with AMPA and NMDA receptors. J. Neurosci. 33, 12067–12076. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0816-13.2013
- Lisé, M. F., Wong, T. P., Trinh, A., Hines, R. M., Liu, L., Kang, R., et al. (2006). Involvement of myosin Vb in glutamate receptor trafficking. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 3669–3678. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m511725200
- Liu, Y., Wong, T. P., Aarts, M., Rooyakkers, A., Liu, L., Lai, T. W., et al. (2007). NMDA receptor subunits have differential roles in mediating excitotoxic neuronal death both in vitro and in vivo. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 2846–2857. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.0116-07.2007
- Losi, G., Prybylowski, K., Fu, Z., Luo, J., Wenthold, R. J., and Vicini, S. (2003). PSD-95 regulates NMDA receptors in developing cerebellar granule neurons of the rat. J. Physiol. 548, 21–29. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2002.034918
- Lue, R. A., Marfatia, S. M., Branton, D., and Chishti, A. H. (1994). Cloning and characterization of hdlg: the human homologue of the Drosophila discs large tumor suppressor binds to protein 4.1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 91, 9818– 9822. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.21.9818
- Mao, L., Takamiya, K., Thomas, G., Lin, D. T., and Huganir, R. L. (2010). GRIP1 and 2 regulate activity-dependent AMPA receptor recycling via exocyst complex interactions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 19038–19043. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1013494107

- Matsuda, K., Fletcher, M., Kamiya, Y., and Yuzaki, M. (2003). Specific assembly with the NMDA receptor 3B subunit controls surface expression and calcium permeability of NMDA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 10064–10073.
- Matta, J. A., Ashby, M. C., Sanz-Clemente, A., Roche, K. W., and Isaac, J. T. (2011). mGluR5 and NMDA receptors drive the experience- and activity-dependent NMDA receptor NR2B to NR2A subunit switch. *Neuron* 70, 339–351. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2011.02.045
- Mauceri, D., Cattabeni, F., Di Luca, M., and Gardoni, F. (2004). Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II phosphorylation drives synapse-associated protein 97 into spines. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 23813–23821. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m402796200
- Mauceri, D., Gardoni, F., Marcello, E., and Di Luca, M. (2007). Dual role of CaMKII-dependent SAP97 phosphorylation in mediating trafficking and insertion of NMDA receptor subunit NR2A. J. Neurochem. 100, 1032–1046. doi: 10. 1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04267.x
- McIlhinney, R. A., Le Bourdellès, B., Molnár, E., Tricaud, N., Streit, P., and Whiting, P. J. (1998). Assembly intracellular targeting and cell surface expression of the human N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits NR1a and NR2A in transfected cells. *Neuropharmacology* 37, 1355–1367. doi: 10.1016/s0028-3908(98) 00121-x
- Meddows, E., Le Bourdelles, B., Grimwood, S., Wafford, K., Sandhu, S., Whiting, P., et al. (2001). Identification of molecular determinants that are important in the assembly of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 18795–18803. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m101382200
- Meeker, R. B., Swanson, D. J., and Hayward, J. N. (1989). Light and electron microscopic localization of glutamate immunoreactivity in the supraoptic nucleus of the rat hypothalamus. *Neuroscience* 33, 157–167. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(89)90318-7
- Minatohara, K., Ichikawa, S. H., Seki, T., Fujiyoshi, Y., and Doi, T. (2013). Ligand binding of PDZ domains has various roles in the synaptic clustering of SAP102 and PSD-95. *Neurosci. Lett.* 533, 44–49. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2012. 11.019
- Mok, H., Shin, H., Kim, S., Lee, J. R., Yoon, J., and Kim, E. (2002). Association of the kinesin superfamily motor protein KIF1Balpha with postsynaptic density-95 (PSD-95), synapse-associated protein-97 and synaptic scaffolding molecule PSD-95/discs large/zona occludens-1 proteins. J. Neurosci. 22, 5253– 5258.
- Mu, Y., Otsuka, T., Horton, A. C., Scott, D. B., and Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Activitydependent mRNA splicing controls ER export and synaptic delivery of NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 40, 581–594. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00676-7
- Müller, B. M., Kistner, U., Kindler, S., Chung, W. J., Kuhlendahl, S., Fenster, S. D., et al. (1996). SAP102, a novel postsynaptic protein that interacts with NMDA receptor complexes in vivo. *Neuron* 17, 255–265. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80157-9
- Müller, B. M., Kistner, U., Veh, R. W., Cases-Langhoff, C., Becker, B., Gundelfinger, E. D., et al. (1995). Molecular characterization and spatial distribution of SAP97, a novel presynaptic protein homologous to SAP90 and the Drosophila discslarge tumor suppressor protein. J. Neurosci. 15, 2354–2366.
- Nakagawa, T., Futai, K., Lashuel, H. A., Lo, I., Okamoto, K., Walz, T., et al. (2004). Quaternary structure, protein dynamics and synaptic function of SAP97 controlled by L27 domain interactions. *Neuron* 44, 453–467. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2004.10.012
- Ng, D., Pitcher, G. M., Szilard, R. K., Sertié, A., Kanisek, M., Clapcote, S. J., et al. (2009). Neto1 is a novel CUB-domain NMDA receptor-interacting protein required for synaptic plasticity and learning. *PLoS Biol.* 7:e41. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pbio.1000041
- Niethammer, M., Kim, E., and Sheng, M. (1996). Interaction between the C terminus of NMDA receptor subunits and multiple members of the PSD-95 family of membrane-associated guanylate kinases. J. Neurosci. 16, 2157–2163.
- Nilsson, A., Eriksson, M., Muly, E. C., Åkesson, E., Samuelsson, E.-B., Bogdanovic, N., et al. (2007). Analysis of NR3A receptor subunits in human native NMDA receptors. *Brain Res.* 1186, 102–112. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.09.008
- Okabe, S., Miwa, A., and Okado, H. (1999). Alternative splicing of the C-terminal domain regulates cell surface expression of the NMDA receptor NR1 subunit. J. Neurosci. 19, 7781–7792.
- Oshima, S., Fukaya, M., Masabumi, N., Shirakawa, T., Oguchi, H., and Watanabe, M. (2002). Early onset of NMDA receptor GluRe1 (NR2A) expression and its abundant postsynaptic localization in developing motoneurons of the

mouse hypoglossal nucleus. Neurosci. Res. 43, 239–250. doi: 10.1016/s0168-0102(02)00035-4

- Osterweil, E., Wells, D. G., and Mooseker, M. S. (2005). A role for myosin VI in postsynaptic structure and glutamate receptor endocytosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 168, 329–338. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200410091
- Ozaki, M., Sasner, M., Yano, R., Lu, H. S., and Buonanno, A. (1997). Neuregulinbeta induces expression of an NMDA-receptor subunit. *Nature* 390, 691–694.
- Pabba, M., Wong, A. Y., Ahlskog, N., Hristova, E., Biscaro, D., Nassrallah, W., et al. (2014). NMDA receptors are upregulated and trafficked to the plasma membrane after Sigma-1 receptor activation in the rat hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 11325–11338. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0458-14.2014
- Paoletti, P. (2011). Molecular basis of NMDA receptor functional diversity. Eur. J. Neurosci. 33, 1351–1365. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2011.07628.x
- Paoletti, P., Bellone, C., and Zhou, Q. (2013). NMDA receptor subunit diversity: impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 383–400. doi: 10.1038/nrn3504
- Papadakis, M., Hawkins, L. M., and Stephenson, F. A. (2004). Appropriate NR1-NR1 disulfide-linked homodimer formation is requisite for efficient expression of functional, cell surface N-methyl-D-aspartate NR1/NR2 receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 14703–14712. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m313446200
- Papouin, T., Ladépêche, L., Ruel, J., Sacchi, S., Labasque, M., Hanini, M., et al. (2012). Synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors are gated by different endogenous coagonists. *Cell* 150, 633–646. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.029
- Parsons, M. P., and Raymond, L. A. (2014). Extrasynaptic NMDA receptor involvement in central nervous system disorders. *Neuron* 82, 279–293. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2014.03.030
- Peng, Y., Zhao, J., Gu, Q. H., Chen, R. Q., Xu, Z., Yan, J. Z., et al. (2010). Distinct trafficking and expression mechanisms underlie LTP and LTD of NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic responses. *Hippocampus* 20, 646–658. doi: 10. 1002/hipo.20654
- Penn, A. C., Williams, S. R., and Greger, I. H. (2008). Gating motions underlie AMPA receptor secretion from the endoplasmic reticulum. *EMBO J.* 27, 3056– 3068. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2008.222
- Pérez-Otaño, I., Luján, R., Tavalin, S. J., Plomann, M., Modregger, J., Liu, X. B., et al. (2006). Endocytosis and synaptic removal of NR3A-containing NMDA receptors by PACSIN1/syndapin1. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 611–621. doi: 10.1038/nn 1680
- Perez-Otano, I., Schulteis, C. T., Contractor, A., Lipton, S. A., Trimmer, J. S., Sucher, N. J., et al. (2001). Assembly with the NR1 subunit is required for surface expression of NR3A-containing NMDA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 1228– 1237.
- Petralia, R. S. (2012). Distribution of extrasynaptic NMDA receptors on neurons. ScientificWorldJournal 2012;267120. doi: 10.1100/2012/267120
- Petralia, R. S., Al-Hallaq, R. A., and Wenthold, R. J. (2009). "Trafficking and targeting of NMDA receptors," in *Biology of the NMDA Receptor*, ed A. M. Van Dongen (Boca Raton, FL: Taylor and Francis Group), 149–200.
- Petralia, R. S., Sans, N., Wang, Y. X., and Wenthold, R. J. (2005). Ontogeny of postsynaptic density proteins at glutamatergic synapses. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 29, 436–452. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2005.03.013
- Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., Hua, F., Yi, Z., Zhou, A., Ge, L., et al. (2010). Organization of NMDA receptors at extrasynaptic locations. *Neuroscience* 167, 68–87. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.01.022
- Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., and Wenthold, R. J. (2002). NMDA receptors and PSD-95 are found in attachment plaques in cerebellar granular layer glomeruli. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 15, 583–587. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2002.01896.x
- Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., and Wenthold, R. J. (2003). Internalization at glutamatergic synapses during development. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 18, 3207–3217. doi: 10. 1111/j.1460-9568.2003.03074.x
- Petralia, R. S., and Wenthold, R. J. (2008). "NMDA receptors," in *The Glutamate Receptors*, eds R. W. Gereau and G. T. Swanson (Totowa, NJ: Humana Press), 45–98.
- Piguel, N. H., Fievre, S., Blanc, J.-M., Carta, M., Moreau, M. M., Moutin, E., et al. (2014). Scribble1/AP2 complex coordinates NMDA receptor endocytic recycling. *Cell Rep.* S2211-1247(14)00785-2. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.09.017. [Epub ahead of print].
- Priel, A., Selak, S., Lerma, J., and Stern-Bach, Y. (2006). Block of kainate receptor desensitization uncovers a key trafficking checkpoint. *Neuron* 52, 1037–1046. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.12.006

- Prybylowski, K., Chang, K., Sans, N., Kan, L., Vicini, S., and Wenthold, R. J. (2005). The synaptic localization of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors is controlled by interactions with PDZ proteins and AP-2. *Neuron* 47, 845–857. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2005.08.016
- Qiu, S., Hua, Y. L., Yang, F., Chen, Y. Z., and Luo, J. H. (2005). Subunit assembly of N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors analyzed by fluorescence resonance energy transfer. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 24923–24930. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m413915200
- Qiu, S., Zhang, X. M., Cao, J. Y., Yang, W., Yan, Y. G., Shan, L., et al. (2009). An endoplasmic reticulum retention signal located in the extracellular aminoterminal domain of the NR2A subunit of N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 20285–20298. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.004960
- Quinlan, E. M., Olstein, D. H., and Bear, M. F. (1999a). Bidirectional, experiencedependent regulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit composition in the rat visual cortex during postnatal development. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 96, 12876–12880. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.22.12876
- Quinlan, E. M., Philpot, B. D., Huganir, R. L., and Bear, M. F. (1999b). Rapid, experience-dependent expression of synaptic NMDA receptors in visual cortex in vivo. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 352–357. doi: 10.1038/7263
- Rácz, B., Blanpied, T. A., Ehlers, M. D., and Weinberg, R. J. (2004). Lateral organization of endocytic machinery in dendritic spines. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 917– 918. doi: 10.1038/nn1303
- Rebola, N., Srikumar, B. N., and Mulle, C. (2010). Activity-dependent synaptic plasticity of NMDA receptors. *J. Physiol.* 588, 93–99. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009. 179382
- Riefler, G. M., Balasingam, G., Lucas, K. G., Wang, S., Hsu, S. C., and Firestein, B. L. (2003). Exocyst complex subunit sec8 binds to postsynaptic density protein-95 (PSD-95): a novel interaction regulated by cypin (cytosolic PSD-95 interactor). *Biochem. J.* 373, 49–55. doi: 10.1042/bj20021838
- Roberts, A. C., Díez-Garcia, J., Rodriguiz, R. M., López, I. P., Luján, R., Martínez-Turrillas, R., et al. (2009). Downregulation of NR3A-containing NMDARs is required for synapse maturation and memory consolidation. *Neuron* 63, 342– 356. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.06.016
- Roche, K. W., Standley, S., McCallum, J., Dune Ly, C., Ehlers, M. D., and Wenthold, R. J. (2001). Molecular determinants of NMDA receptor internalization. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 794–802. doi: 10.1038/90498
- Rodenas-Ruano, A., Chávez, A. E., Cossio, M. J., Castillo, P. E., and Zukin, R. S. (2012). REST-dependent epigenetic remodeling promotes the developmental switch in synaptic NMDA receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 1382–1390. doi: 10. 1038/nn.3214
- Salussolia, C. L., Corrales, A., Talukder, I., Kazi, R., Akgul, G., Bowen, M., et al. (2011). Interaction of the M4 segment with other transmembrane segments is required for surface expression of mammalian AMPA receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 40205–40218. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m111.268839
- Salussolia, C. L., Gan, Q., Kazi, R., Singh, P., Allopenna, J., Furukawa, H., et al. (2013). A eukaryotic specific transmembrane segment is required for tetramerization in AMPA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 9840–9845. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.2626-12.2013
- Sans, N., Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., Blahos, J. 2nd, Hell, J. W., and Wenthold, R. J. (2000). A developmental change in NMDA receptor-associated proteins at hippocampal synapses. J. Neurosci. 20, 1260–1271.
- Sans, N., Prybylowski, K., Petralia, R. S., Chang, K., Wang, Y. X., Racca, C., et al. (2003). NMDA receptor trafficking through an interaction between PDZ proteins and the exocyst complex. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 5, 520–530. doi: 10.1038/ncb990
- Sans, N., Racca, C., Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., McCallum, J., and Wenthold, R. J. (2001). Synapse-associated protein 97 selectively associates with a subset of AMPA receptors early in their biosynthetic pathway. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 7506–7516.
- Sans, N., Wang, P. Y., Du, Q., Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., Nakka, S., et al. (2005). mPins modulates PSD-95 and SAP102 trafficking and influences NMDA receptor surface expression. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 7, 1179–1190. doi: 10.1038/ncb 1325
- Sanz-Clemente, A., Gray, J. A., Ogilvie, K. A., Nicoll, R. A., and Roche, K. W. (2013a). Activated CaMKII couples GluN2B and casein kinase 2 to control synaptic NMDA receptors. *Cell Rep.* 3, 607–614. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013. 02.011
- Sanz-Clemente, A., Matta, J. A., Isaac, J. T., and Roche, K. W. (2010). Casein kinase 2 regulates the NR2 subunit composition of synaptic NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 67, 984–996. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.08.011

- Sanz-Clemente, A., Nicoll, R. A., and Roche, K. W. (2013b). Diversity in NMDA receptor composition: many regulators, many consequences. *Neuroscientist* 19, 62–75. doi: 10.1177/1073858411435129
- Schlüter, O. M., Xu, W., and Malenka, R. C. (2006). Alternative N-terminal domains of PSD-95 and SAP97 govern activity-dependent regulation of synaptic AMPA receptor function. *Neuron* 51, 99–111. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006. 05.016
- Schorge, S., and Colquhoun, D. (2003). Studies of NMDA receptor function and stoichiometry with truncated and tandem subunits. J. Neurosci. 23, 1151– 1158.
- Schüler, T., Mesic, I., Madry, C., Bartholomäus, I., and Laube, B. (2008). Formation of NR1/NR2 and NR1/NR3 heterodimers constitutes the initial step in N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor assembly. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 37–46. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.m703539200
- Scott, D. B., Blanpied, T. A., Swanson, G. T., Zhang, C., and Ehlers, M. D. (2001). An NMDA receptor ER retention signal regulated by phosphorylation and alternative splicing. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 3063–3072.
- Seaman, M. N., Gautreau, A., and Billadeau, D. D. (2013). Retromer-mediated endosomal protein sorting: all WASHed up! *Trends Cell Biol.* 23, 522–528. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2013.04.010
- Setou, M., Nakagawa, T., Seog, D. H., and Hirokawa, N. (2000). Kinesin superfamily motor protein KIF17 and mLin-10 in NMDA receptor-containing vesicle transport. *Science* 288, 1796–1802. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5472. 1796
- She, K., Ferreira, J. S., Carvalho, A. L., and Craig, A. M. (2012). Glutamate binding to the GluN2B subunit controls surface trafficking of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 27432–27445. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 345108
- Sheng, M. (1996). PDZs and receptor/channel clustering: rounding up the latest suspects. *Neuron* 17, 575–578. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80190-7
- Sheng, M., Cummings, J., Roldan, L. A., Jan, Y. N., and Jan, L. Y. (1994). Changing subunit composition of heteromeric NMDA receptors during development of rat cortex. *Nature* 368, 144–147. doi: 10.1038/368144a0
- Sheng, M., and Kim, E. (1996). Ion channel associated proteins. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 6, 602–608. doi: 10.1016/s0959-4388(96)80091-2
- Shinohara, Y., Hirase, H., Watanabe, M., Itakura, M., Takahashi, M., and Shigemoto, R. (2008). Left-right asymmetry of the hippocampal synapses with differential subunit allocation of glutamate receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U* S A 105, 19498–19503. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0807461105
- Siegler Retchless, B., Gao, W., and Johnson, J. W. (2012). A single GluN2 subunit residue controls NMDA receptor channel properties via intersubunit interaction. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 406–413. doi: 10.1038/nn.3025
- Songyang, Z., Fanning, A. S., Fu, C., Xu, J., Marfatia, S. M., Chishti, A. H., et al. (1997). Recognition of unique carboxyl-terminal motifs by distinct PDZ domains. *Science* 275, 73–77. doi: 10.1126/science.275.5296.73
- Standley, S., Petralia, R. S., Gravell, M., Hamilton, R., Wang, Y. X., Schubert, M., et al. (2012). Trafficking of the NMDAR2B receptor subunit distal cytoplasmic tail from endoplasmic reticulum to the synapse. *PLoS One* 7:e39585. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0039585
- Standley, S., Roche, K. W., McCallum, J., Sans, N., and Wenthold, R. J. (2000). PDZ domain suppression of an ER retention signal in NMDA receptor NR1 splice variants. *Neuron* 28, 887–898. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)00161-6
- Suh, Y. H., Terashima, A., Petralia, R. S., Wenthold, R. J., Isaac, J. T., Roche, K. W., et al. (2010). A neuronal role for SNAP-23 in postsynaptic glutamate receptor trafficking. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 338–343. doi: 10.1038/nn.2488
- Swanwick, C. C., Shapiro, M. E., Yi, Z., Chang, K., and Wenthold, R. J. (2009). NMDA receptors interact with flotillin-1 and -2, lipid raft-associated proteins. *FEBS Lett.* 583, 1226–1230. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.03.017
- Tall, G. G., and Gilman, A. G. (2005). Resistance to inhibitors of cholinesterase 8A catalyzes release of Galphai-GTP and nuclear mitotic apparatus protein (NuMA) from NuMA/LGN/Galphai-GDP complexes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 102, 16584–16589. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508306102
- Thomas, C. G., Miller, A. J., and Westbrook, G. L. (2006). Synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptor NR2 subunits in cultured hippocampal neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 95, 1727–1734. doi: 10.1152/jn.00771.2005
- Tovar, K. R., McGinley, M. J., and Westbrook, G. L. (2013). Triheteromeric NMDA receptors at hippocampal synapses. J. Neurosci. 33, 9150–9160. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.0829-13.2013

- Tovar, K. R., and Westbrook, G. L. (1999). The incorporation of NMDA receptors with a distinct subunit composition at nascent hippocampal synapses in vitro. J. Neurosci. 19, 4180–4188.
- Tovar, K. R., and Westbrook, G. L. (2002). Mobile NMDA receptors at hippocampal synapses. *Neuron* 34, 255–264. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00658-x
- Traynelis, S. F., Wollmuth, L. P., McBain, C. J., Menniti, F. S., Vance, K. M., Ogden, K. K., et al. (2010). Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation and function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 62, 405–496. doi: 10.1124/pr.109. 002451
- Vissel, B., Krupp, J. J., Heinemann, S. F., and Westbrook, G. L. (2001). A usedependent tyrosine dephosphorylation of NMDA receptors is independent of ion flux. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 587–596. doi: 10.1038/88404
- Wang, P. Y., Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., Wenthold, R. J., and Brenowitz, S. D. (2011). Functional NMDA receptors at axonal growth cones of young hippocampal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 9289–9297. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5639-10. 2011
- Wang, X., Zhao, Y., Zhang, X., Badie, H., Zhou, Y., Mu, Y., et al. (2013). Loss of sorting nexin 27 contributes to excitatory synaptic dysfunction by modulating glutamate receptor recycling in down's syndrome. *Nat. Med.* 19, 473–480. doi: 10.1038/nm.3117
- Washbourne, P., Bennett, J. E., and McAllister, A. K. (2002). Rapid recruitment of NMDA receptor transport packets to nascent synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 751– 759. doi: 10.1038/nn883
- Washbourne, P., Liu, X. B., Jones, E. G., and McAllister, A. K. (2004). Cycling of NMDA receptors during trafficking in neurons before synapse formation. J. Neurosci. 24, 8253–8264. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2555-04.2004
- Wenthold, R. J., Prybylowski, K., Standley, S., Sans, N., and Petralia, R. S. (2003). Trafficking of NMDA receptors. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 43, 335–358. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.43.100901.135803
- Wong, H. K., Liu, X. B., Matos, M. F., Chan, S. F., Pérez-Otaño, I., Boysen, M., et al. (2002). Temporal and regional expression of NMDA receptor subunit NR3A in the mammalian brain. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 450, 303–317. doi: 10.1002/cne. 10314
- Wu, H., Nash, J. E., Zamorano, P., and Garner, C. C. (2002). Interaction of SAP97 with minus-end-directed actin motor myosin VI. Implications for AMPA receptor trafficking. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 30928–30934. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m2037 35200
- Wyeth, M. S., Pelkey, K. A., Petralia, R. S., Salter, M. W., McInnes, R. R., and McBain, C. J. (2014). Neto auxiliary protein interactions regulate kainate and NMDA receptor subunit localization at mossy fiber-CA3 pyramidal cell synapses. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 622–628. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3098-13. 2014
- Xu, Z., Chen, R. Q., Gu, Q. H., Yan, J. Z., Wang, S. H., Liu, S. Y., et al. (2009). Metaplastic regulation of long-term potentiation/long-term depression threshold by activity-dependent changes of NR2A/NR2B ratio. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 8764–8773. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1014-09.2009
- Yang, W., Zheng, C., Song, Q., Yang, X., Qiu, S., Liu, C., et al. (2007). A three amino acid tail following the TM4 region of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NR) 2 subunits is sufficient to overcome endoplasmic reticulum retention of NR1–1a subunit. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 9269–9278. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m7000 50200
- Yashiro, K., Corlew, R., and Philpot, B. D. (2005). Visual deprivation modifies both presynaptic glutamate release and the composition of perisynaptic/extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in adult visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 25, 11684–11692. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.4362-05.2005
- Yi, Z., Petralia, R. S., Fu, Z., Swanwick, C. C., Wang, Y. X., Prybylowski, K., et al. (2007). The role of the PDZ protein GIPC in regulating NMDA receptor trafficking. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 11663–11675. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3252-07. 2007
- Yin, X., Takei, Y., Kido, M. A., and Hirokawa, N. (2011). Molecular motor KIF17 is fundamental for memory and learning via differential support of synaptic NR2A/2B levels. *Neuron* 70, 310–325. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011. 02.049
- Yoshii, A., Sheng, M. H., and Constantine-Paton, M. (2003). Eye opening induces a rapid dendritic localization of PSD-95 in central visual neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 100, 1334–1339. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0335785100
- Yuan, T., Mameli, M., O'Connor, E. C., Dey, P. N., Verpelli, C., Sala, C., et al. (2013). Expression of cocaine-evoked synaptic plasticity by GluN3A-containing

NMDA receptors. Neuron 80, 1025–1038. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013. 07.050

- Zhang, J., and Diamond, J. S. (2009). Subunit- and pathway-specific localization of NMDA receptors and scaffolding proteins at ganglion cell synapses in rat retina. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 4274–4286. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5602-08. 2009
- Zhao, J., Peng, Y., Xu, Z., Chen, R. Q., Gu, Q. H., Chen, Z., et al. (2008). Synaptic metaplasticity through NMDA receptor lateral diffusion. J. Neurosci. 28, 3060– 3070. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5450-07.2008
- Zheng, C. Y., Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., Kachar, B., and Wenthold, R. J. (2010). SAP102 is a highly mobile MAGUK in spines. J. Neurosci. 30, 4757–4766. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.6108-09.2010
- Zheng, C. Y., Seabold, G. K., Horak, M., and Petralia, R. S. (2011). MAGUKs, synaptic development and synaptic plasticity. *Neuroscientist* 17, 493–512. doi: 10. 1177/1073858410386384

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 August 2014; accepted: 04 November 2014; published online: 27 November 2014.

Citation: Horak M, Petralia RS, Kaniakova M and Sans N (2014) ER to synapse trafficking of NMDA receptors. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8:394. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00394 This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Horak, Petralia, Kaniakova and Sans. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Modulation of the glutamatergic transmission by Dopamine: a focus on Parkinson, Huntington and Addiction diseases

Fabrizio Gardoni¹ and Camilla Bellone²*

¹ Department of Pharmacological and Biomolecular Sciences, University of Milano, Milano, Italy ² Department of Fundamental Neuroscience, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

Edited by:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Jose L. Lanciego, University of Navarra, Spain Emmanuel Valjent, Inserm, France

*Correspondence:

Camilla Bellone, Department of Fundamental Neuroscience, University of Lausanne, Rue du Bugnon 9, 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland e-mail: Camilla.bellone@unige.ch Dopamine (DA) plays a major role in motor and cognitive functions as well as in reward processing by regulating glutamatergic inputs. In particular in the striatum the release of DA rapidly influences synaptic transmission modulating both AMPA and NMDA receptors. Several neurodegenerative and neuropsychiatric disorders, including Parkinson, Huntington and addiction-related diseases, manifest a dysregulation of glutamate and DA signaling. Here, we will focus our attention on the mechanisms underlying the modulation of the glutamatergic transmission by DA in striatal circuits.

Keywords: Dopamine, NMDA receptor, AMPA receptors, Addiction, Parkinson disease, Huntington disease

INTRODUCTION

Dopamine (DA) is a catecholamine that acts as neuromodulator by playing an important role in motor and cognitive functions as well as in reward processing.

Our major understanding of the DA transmission derives from studies of the midbrain DA system that comprehend both Substantia Nigra pars compacta (SNc-A9) and Ventral Tegmental Area (VTA-A10). The former is at the origin of the nigrostriatal pathway where DA neurons project to the dorsal striatum and play a central role in controlling fine motor functions. Instead DA neurons within the VTA form the mesostriatal pathway and project to the ventral striatum (or Nucleus accumbens, NaC) exerting an important role in reward processing (Paillé et al., 2010; Tritsch and Sabatini, 2012). How does DA shape all these different functions in the brain? In both circuitries, DA acts as a neuromodulator regulating the glutamatergic inputs onto the principal neurons and therefore controlling the striatal output. More than 95% of striatal neurons are represented by Medium Spiny Neurons (MSNs; Kreitzer, 2009) that form asymmetric synapses with glutamatergic projections and symmetric contacts at the DA inputs. Therefore, the activity of DA neurons and the consequent release of DA in the proximity of the synaptic cleft rapidly influences synaptic transmission, intrinsic excitability and dendritic integration (Tritsch and Sabatini, 2012), partially explaining the different functions of DA in the brain. Importantly DA can modulate glutamatergic transmission by the convergence effect onto MSNs, by acting on D2-R located presynaptcally on Glutamatergic inputs or by modulating excitatory inputs onto GABAergic and Cholinergic interneurons.

Interestingly, several neurodegenerative and neuropsychiatric disorders, including Parkinson, Huntington and addiction-related diseases, manifest a dysregulation of glutamate and DA signaling within the striatum. In this review, we will focus our attention on the mechanisms underlying the modulation of the glutamatergic transmission by DA in the nigrostriatal and mesostriatal circuitries (**Figure 1**).

NIGROSTRIATAL CIRCUIT

DA neurons of the SNc project to the dorsal striatum. This structure is mainly populated by MSNs that are classified in two populations according to their axonal projections and DA receptor expression. DA receptor type 1 (D1R)-containing MSNs form the direct pathway and send their axons to the GABAergic output nuclei of the basal ganglia, the internal segment of the Globus Pallidus (GPi) and the Substantia Nigra pars reticulata (SNr), which in turn send their afferences to the motor nuclei of the thalamus. DA receptor type 2 (D2R)containing MSNs constitute the indirect pathway and send their axons to the external segment of the Globus Pallidus (GPe), which in turn project to the glutamatergic neurons of the Sub-Thalamic Nucleus (STN). STN neurons then send their axons to the basal ganglia output nuclei (GPi and SNr) where they form excitatory synapses on the inhibitory output neurons. Activation of the direct and indirect pathway exerts an opposite effect on movement: activation of the direct pathway disinhibits the thalamocortical projections and leads to activation of the cortical premotor circuits facilitating movements. The activation of the indirect pathway instead inhibits the thalamocortical projection neurons reducing the premotor drive and inhibiting movements (Kreitzer and Malenka, 2008). Interestingly this model has been



recently challenged and it has been proposed that the two pathways are structurally and functionally intertwined (Dunah and Standaert, 2001; Calabresi et al., 2014).

By acting on D1R or D2R, DA differently modulates the activity of the direct and indirect pathway both controlling the excitability of MSNs in the striatum and governing synaptic plasticity at different glutamatergic inputs. The majority of glutamatergic afferents onto the dorsal striatum originates in the cortex and thalamus. While corticostriatal afferences may carry motor and cognitive information, thalamostriatal ones convey information for the reward saliency and the wakefulness (Huerta-Ocampo et al., 2014). Despite this view, both corticostriatal and thalamostriatal terminals form synaptic contacts with D1 and D2 MSNs and the convergence of their inputs suggests that they are similarly involved in activation of the MSNs.

Profound functional differences in these pathways have been found, suggesting input-dependent differences in synaptic functions (Smeal et al., 2008). Future studies are needed to investigate the input segregation onto the direct and indirect striatal pathways and their functional implications.

MESOSTRIATAL CIRCUIT

This circuit originates in the VTA where DA neurons project to D1 and D2 MSNs of the ventral striatum. Although the presence of D1 and D2 MSNs in the ventral striatum is well established, there are several evidences showing that projections from the NAc may not be so segregated as for the dorsal striatum. Indeed, it has been shown that both D1 and D2 MSNs project to the ventral pallidum, while D1 MSNs can also directly project to the VTA (Lu et al., 1998; Zhou et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2013). Despite these differences, it is well established that D1 and D2 MSNs in the NAc exhibit different electrophysiological properties (Paillé et al., 2010; Pascoli et al., 2011b, 2014b) and respond differently to VTA stimulation (Grueter et al., 2010; Paillé et al., 2010). Despite

this clear segregation of D1 and D2 containing MSN, it should be mention the existence of a small population of neurons containing both D1Rs and D2Rs (Matamales et al., 2009).

Similarly to the nigrostriatal circuit, DA modulates and integrates glutamatergic synaptic inputs from the prefrontal cortex, the amygdala and the hippocampus. Interestingly, different forms of synaptic plasticity have been described at different excitatory inputs onto D1 and D2 MSNs suggesting that specific pattern of neuronal activity coinciding with DA signal are needed for specific reward-related behavioral outcomes (Paillé et al., 2010; Pascoli et al., 2014b).

DA RECEPTORS AND SIGNALING PATHWAYS

DA transmission is mediated by Guanine nucleotide binding Protein Coupled Receptors (GPCRs). They are metabotropic receptors with seven transmembrane domains coupled to Gproteins that lead to the formation of second messengers and the activation or inhibition of subsequent signaling cascades. Although five different DA receptors have been cloned so far, it is possible to classify them in two major populations according to their structures and their pharmacological properties: (a) D1like receptors (D1 and D5) which stimulate cAMP production; and (b) D2-like receptors (D2, D3 and D4) which reduce the intracellular cAMP levels. The ability of D1-like and D2-like receptors to modulate in opposite directions the concentration of cAMP, and thus the downstream signal transduction, depends on their interaction with specific G proteins.

D1-like receptors are the most highly expressed DA receptor in the brain, are mainly localized within the forebrain and, compared to the D2-like family, have a highly conserved sequence (Tritsch and Sabatini, 2012). Binding of DA with D1-like receptors leads to an increase in the adenylyl cyclase activity and a consequent rise in cAMP levels. This pathway induces the activation of protein kinase A (PKA) and the



phosphorylation of different substrates as well as the induction of immediate early gene expression that contribute to the overall D1R response (Beaulieu and Gainetdinov, 2011). DARPP-32 (DA and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein, 32kDa) is one of the most studied PKA substrates activated by DA and provides a mechanism for integrating information at dopaminoceptive neurons (Svenningsson et al., 2004). Via the control of Protein Phosphatase-1 (PP-1), DARPP-32 regulates neuronal excitability as well as glutamatergic transmission. Activation of the cAMP/PKA/DARPP-32 pathway indeed increases the opening of the L-type Ca2+ channels promoting the transition of MSNs to a higher level of excitability (Vergara et al., 2003). At the same time, the activation of this pathway promotes the phosphorylation of both AMPARs and NMDARs providing a mechanism for the direct control of glutamatergic transmission by DA signaling (Snyder et al., 1998, 2005).

There are multiple modulatory effects following D2R activation. First of all, these receptors are coupled with Gi/o proteins and their activation negatively modulates cAMP signaling, reducing the phosphorylation of the downstream proteins (PKA targets), such as DARPP-32. At the same time, activation of D2R, via the G $\beta\gamma$ subunits, inhibits L-type Ca²⁺ channels and activates G-protein-coupled Inwardly Rectifying potassium (K⁺) channels (GIRK) causing a decrease of neuronal excitability and a reduction in the synthesis and release of DA (Kebabian and Greengard, 1971). Moreover D2Rs are also located presynatpically onto the excitatory inputs where influence glutamate release and on ChaT interneurons in the striatum where contribute to reducing Ach release (Surmeier et al., 2007).

Interestingly, DA has a lower affinity for D1Rs compared to D2Rs, pointing at a different effect on the direct and indirect pathway during tonic or phasic DA release. Indeed, it has been suggested that phasic release activates D1Rs to facilitate limbic inputs while tonic release bidirectional activates D2Rs on PFC inputs (Floresco et al., 2003; Goto and Grace, 2005; Goto et al., 2007). It is important to consider the different effects of DA change the functions of the brain regions that receive DA inputs. Indeed, an altered DA modulation of the excitatory inputs onto these regions plays an important role in the pathophysiology of many neurological disorders (Goto et al., 2007).

DA MODULATION OF NMDARs AND AMPARs

DA modulates the functioning of the glutamatergic synapse by acting at different levels. The classical view indicates that DA can regulate the activity of ionotropic glutamate receptors with a reduction of AMPAR-evoked responses and an increase of NMDAR-evoked responses (Cepeda et al., 1993; Levine et al., 1996; Cepeda and Levine, 1998; Graham et al., 2009). In particular, activation of D1R usually leads to potentiation of NMDAR-dependent currents, while activation of D2R induces a decrease of AMPAR-dependent responses. This view has a key relevance in the striatum where dopaminergic terminals form synaptic contacts at the neck of MSN spines, while the head receives inputs from glutamatergic terminals (Surmeier et al., 2007).

Interestingly, NMDARs in the corticostriatal synapse show peculiar features. Indeed, even if GluN2B represents the predominant regulatory subunit expressed in this brain area (Dunah and Standaert, 2001), it has been proposed that GluN2Abut not GluN2B-containing NMDARs induce a depression of synaptic transmission that does not involve activation of corticostriatal neurons but it is rather mediated NMDARs at MSN synapses (Schotanus and Chergui, 2008a). Interestingly, recent reports have suggested that GluN2A and GluN2B subunits differentially contribute to the glutamatergic transmission in striatal MSNs (Paoletti et al., 2008; Jocoy et al., 2011). While genetic deletion or pharmacological blockade of GluN2A increase D1R-mediated potentiation of NMDAR-dependent responses, inhibition of GluN2B reduces this potentiation, suggesting a counterbalance of their respective functions. Moreover, it has shown that GluN2A subunits contribute mainly to NMDA responses in D1-MSNs, whereas GluN2B subunits is more involved in NMDA responses in D2R cells (Paoletti et al., 2008; Jocoy et al., 2011).

Several studies have investigated the effect of D1R stimulation on NMDAR subunit trafficking at the synaptic membrane. Pharmacological activation of D1R enhances NMDARs surface levels (Hallett et al., 2006; Paoletti et al., 2008) and NMDAR localization in the synaptosomal membrane fraction through stimulation of the tyrosine kinase Fyn (Dunah et al., 2004; Tang et al., 2007). In more detail, it has been shown that treatment with D1R agonist (SKF38393) leads to a significant decrease of GluN2A-containing NMDARs and to a concomitant increase in spine head width (Vastagh et al., 2012). Interestingly, cotreatment of corticostriatal slices with GluN2A antagonist (NVP-AAM077) and D1R agonist augmented the increase of dendritic spine head width observed with SKF38393 alone. Conversely, GluN2B antagonist (ifenprodil) blocked any morphological effect induced by D1 activation (Vastagh et al., 2012). However, further studies are still needed for a comprehensive understanding of the specific role of GluN2A- vs. GluN2B-containing NMDARs in the modulation of dendritic spine morphology at striatal MSNs.

BAC transgenic mice expressing EGFP in D1R- and D2Rpositive cells (Valjent et al., 2009) has recently been used to carefully analyze DA-dependent modulation of MSNs within the direct and indirect pathways (Cepeda et al., 2008). In agreement with previous studies, D1R-dependent modulation of glutamateevoked responses was correlated with the activation of direct pathway neurons. On the contrary, D2R-dependent reduction of glutamate-evoked responses was specific to the indirect pathway (André et al., 2010). Moreover, recent and advanced tools such as optogenetics and sophisticated Ca²⁺ imaging have shown that activation of D2 receptors decrease NMDAR-induced responses by presynaptic modulation of glutamate release (Higley and Sabatini, 2010).

Notably, several studies describing the co-existence of D1Rs and NMDARs at striatal MSN synapses indicate the presence of a possible direct molecular interaction between the two receptor systems (Kung et al., 2007; Heng et al., 2009; Kruusmägi et al., 2009; Jocoy et al., 2011; Vastagh et al., 2012). A direct interaction between these two receptors was originally proposed by Lee et al. (2002), who showed co-immunoprecipitation of D1R with GluN1/GluN2A subunits of the NMDAR. This interaction is not static, but is decreased by D1R activation (Lee et al., 2002; Luscher and Bellone, 2008). In addition, disruption of D1R interaction with GluN2A-containing NMDARs by interfering peptides is sufficient to induce a modulation of NMDAR currents thus suggesting a direct role for this receptor-receptor binding in NMDA-transmission (Lee et al., 2002; Brown et al., 2010). However, the issue is more complicated since in both striatal neurons and transfected HEK293 cells, D1R directly interacts with GluN1 subunit to form a constitutive oligomeric complex that is recruited to the plasma membrane by the presence of GluN2B subunit (Fiorentini et al., 2003). Moreover, this interaction abolishes D1R internalization, a crucial adaptive response that normally occurs upon agonist stimulation (Fiorentini et al., 2003).

More recent studies have applied high-resolution single nanoparticle live-imaging techniques to investigate the role of the dynamic interaction between D1R and NMDAR at hippocampal synapses (Ladepeche et al., 2013a). The prevention of the physical interaction between D1R and GluN1 by interfering peptide is able to fully abolished the synaptic stabilization of D1R, thus suggesting that D1Rs are dynamically retained at glutamatergic synapses through a mechanism requiring the interaction with NMDAR (Ladepeche et al., 2013a). Moreover, disruption of D1R/NMDAR complex increases NMDAR synaptic content through a fast lateral redistribution of the receptors, and favors long-term synaptic potentiation (Ladepeche et al., 2013b). In particular, D1R activation reduces D1R/GluN1 interaction at perisynaptic sites and allows the lateral diffusion of NMDARs into the postsynaptic density where they support the induction of Long-term potentiation (LTP; Argilli et al., 2008; Ladepeche et al., 2013b).

D2-type DA receptors also interact with NMDARs. At the postsynaptic density, D2Rs form a specific complex with the NMDARs through the C-terminal domain of GluN2B subunit (Liu et al., 2006). Interestingly, DA stimulation by cocaine (i) enhances the D2R/GluN2B interaction; (ii) reduces the association of CaMKII with GluN2B; (iii) lowers the CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation of GluN2B (Ser1303); and (iv) inhibits NMDA receptor-mediated currents in MSNs (Liu et al., 2006).

DA can also modulate the activity of AMPARs leading to a reduction of AMPAR-evoked responses (Cepeda et al., 1993; Levine et al., 1996; Cepeda and Levine, 1998; Bellone and Lüscher, 2006; Engblom et al., 2008; Mameli et al., 2009; Brown et al., 2010). Early studies performed in cultured neurons showed that activation of D1R in striatal MSNs promotes the phosphorylation of AMPARs by PKA as well as the potentiation of current amplitude (Price et al., 1999). D2Rs antagonists increase the phosphorylation of GluR1 at Ser845 without affecting the phosphorylation at Ser831 (Håkansson et al., 2006). The same effect is observed using eticlopride, a selective D2R antagonist. On the contrary, D2R agonist quinpirole decreased GluR1 phosphorylation at Ser845 (Håkansson et al., 2006). Modulation of DA receptors is also able to regulate AMPAR trafficking at the synaptic membranes. In particular, treatment with D1R agonist leads to an increase of AMPA receptor subunits surface expression (Snyder et al., 2000; Gao et al., 2006; Vastagh et al., 2012).

DA MODULATION OF SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY

DA plays an important role in modulating long-term changes in synaptic strength. One of the best-characterized forms of synaptic plasticity in the striatum is the long-term depression (LTD). In the dorsal and ventral striatum this form of plasticity requires the concomitant activation of mGluR5 and voltage-gated calcium channels and it is expressed by the release of endocannabinoids (eCBs). eCBs act retrogradly onto their CB receptors and decrease the probability of glutamate release (Robbe et al., 2002; Kreitzer and Malenka, 2005).

Interestingly, this form of LTD depends upon the activation of D2Rs, but whether it is controversial whether is only expressed at glutamatergic inputs onto MSNs of the indirect pathway of the dorsal striatum. Indeed, while eCB-LTD has been first characterized in D2R MSNs of the dorsal striatum (Kreitzer and Malenka, 2007), this form of plasticity has been described in both D1R and DR2 striatal neurons of the direct and indirect pathways in BAC transgenic mice (Wang et al., 2006). One possible explanation for the expression of this form of LTD at MNS synapses that do not express D2Rs is that, in both cell types, D2R-dependence of LTD induction is not direct, but it rather depends upon the activation of D2Rs in cholinergic interneurons (Wang et al., 2006).

Long-term potentiation (LTP) at excitatory inputs onto MSNs in the dorsal and ventral striatum is less characterized, and the information that are available so far is even more controversial compared to striatal LTD because of the variety of protocols used to induce this form of plasticity by different laboratories. In the dorsal striatum, LTP induction onto D1 MSNs depends on D1Rs, while, in D2 MSNs, the same form of synaptic plasticity requires the activation of adenosine A2R (Shen et al., 2008; Pascoli et al., 2014a). In both the direct and indirect pathways, the activation of D1Rs and A2Rs, and the concomitant activation of NMDARs leads to the phosphorylation of DARPP-32 and MAPKs that are involved in the expression of LTP (Calabresi et al., 1992, 2000; Kerr and Wickens, 2001; Surmeier et al., 2014). In the ventral striatum, a protocol of High Frequency Stimulation (HFS) induces a form of LTP that relies on the activation of D1Rs but not D2Rs (Schotanus and Chergui, 2008b). Interestingly, previous work showed that LTP is impaired by both D1 and D2 antagonists suggesting that this form of LTP depends upon DA concentration

(Li and Kauer, 2004). A recent study, using cell identification, reported that while HFS-LTP is induced in both D1 and D2 MSNs, this form of LTP is blocked by cocaine treatment only in the direct pathway (Pascoli et al., 2011b). The authors characterized the induction and expression mechanisms of this LTP which was reported to be NMDA and ERK pathway-dependent. Future studies are required to investigate the mechanisms underlying LTP in the indirect pathway, and to characterize this form of synaptic plasticity in an input specific manner.

The role of DA in governing striatal plasticity has been addressed by analyzing the mechanisms of Spike Time Dependent Plasticity (STDP) in the dorsal striatum. In both D1 and D2 MSNs, synaptic plasticity follows Hebbian rules. LTP is indeed induced when postsynaptic spiking follows synaptic activity (positive timing), while LTD is favored when the order is reversed (negative timing). Compared to other synapses, in the dorsal striatum, DA plays important roles in determining the sign of synaptic plasticity. In the direct pathway, positive timing gives rise to LTP only when D1 are stimulated, otherwise it leads to LTD. Instead, negative timing induces LTD when D1Rs are not stimulated. In the indirect pathway, D2 signal is necessary for LTD when the postsynaptic spiking is followed by synaptic stimulation. When D2Rs are blocked and A2Rs are stimulated, the same pairing protocol induces LTP (Shen et al., 2008). Therefore, DA modulation in the dorsal striatum ensures that the bidirectional synaptic plasticity follows the Hebbian rules. Further investigation is needed to determine whether these rules apply to all glutamatergic inputs and to the ventral striatum too.

PARKINSON DISEASE

Parkinson's disease (PD) physiopathology is linked to a widespread degeneration of DA-releasing neurons of the Substantia Nigra pars compacta (SNpc), with the loss of DA reaching striatal projecting neurons (Obeso et al., 2010). The degeneration of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathway leads to significant morphological and functional changes in the striatal neuronal circuitry, including modifications of the corticostriatal glutamatergic synaptic architecture (Sgambato-Faure and Cenci, 2012; Mellone and Gardoni, 2013) and the consequent loss of striatal synaptic plasticity (Calabresi et al., 2014). A very elegant study demonstrated the asymmetry of the effect of DA denervation on the connectivity of striatonigral and striatopallidal MSNs (Day et al., 2006). In particular, DA depletion leads to a profound decrease in dendritic spines and glutamatergic synapses on striatopallidal MSNs but not on striatonigral MSNs (Day et al., 2006).

It was recently shown that distinct degrees of DA denervation differentially affect the induction and the maintenance of two distinct and opposite forms of corticostriatal synaptic plasticity (Paillé et al., 2010). An incomplete (approximately 75%) nigral denervation does not affect corticostriatal LTD in MSNs, which is however abolished by a complete lesion. This result indicates that a low although critical level of DA is required for this form of synaptic plasticity. Conversely, an incomplete DA denervation dramatically alters the maintenance of LTP in MSNs, demonstrating a critical role of this form of synaptic plasticity in the early motor parkinsonian symptoms (Paillé et al., 2010). In two different models of PD Shen et al. (2008) showed that in D2R-expressing MSNs, LTP was induced not only by the usual pairing protocol but also with a validated protocol known to induce LTD. Conversely, in D1R-expressing MSNs a protocol normally inducing LTP produces a robust form of LTD that was sensitive to CB1 receptor block (Shen et al., 2008). Imbalances between neural activity in the direct vs. the indirect pathway have been indicated as a major event underlying severe motor deficits observed in PD (Calabresi et al., 2014). In models of PD, eCB-mediated LTD is absent but is rescued by treatment with D2R receptor agonist or with inhibitors of eCB degradation (Kreitzer and Malenka, 2007), thus indicating eCB-mediated depression of indirect-pathway synapses as a critical player in the control of motor behavior in PD.

Alterations of NMDAR subunit composition at MSNs synapses have been reported to sustain this altered expression of plasticity (Sgambato-Faure and Cenci, 2012; Mellone and Gardoni, 2013). It is known that NMDARs are characterized by GluN2A and GluN2B regulatory subunits in MSNs, being GluN2B the most abundant (Dunah and Standaert, 2001). Notably, changes in synaptic NMDAR GluN2A/GluN2B subunit ratio in striatal MSNs correlate with the motor behavior abnormalities observed in a rat model of PD (Picconi et al., 2004; Gardoni et al., 2006; Mellone and Gardoni, 2013). In particular, levels of GluN2B were specifically reduced in synaptic fractions from fully-lesioned 6-OHDA rats when compared to sham-operated rats in the absence of GluN2A alterations in the same samples (Picconi et al., 2004; Gardoni et al., 2006; Paillé et al., 2010). In addition, in the 6-OHDA model of PD, rats with a partial lesion of the nigrostriatal pathway (about 75%) showed a dramatic increase in the GluN2A immunostaining at the synapse without any modifications of GluN2B (Paillé et al., 2010). Overall these data indicate an increased GluN2A/GluN2B ratio at MSNs synapses at different stages of DA denervation in experimental rat models of PD. Accordingly, a cell-permeable peptide that interfers with the interaction between GluN2A and the scaffolding protein PSD-95 is able to reduce the synaptic levels of GluN2A-containing NMDARs and to rescue the physiological NMDAR composition and synaptic plasticity in MSNs (Paillé et al., 2010). Moreover, stimulation of D1Rs by systemic administration of SKF38393 normalizes NMDAR subunit composition and improves motor behavior in a model of early PD establishing a critical link between a specific subgroup of DA receptors and NMDARs and motor performances (Paillé et al., 2010).

Altogether, the emerging pathophysiological picture shows that the strength of glutamatergic signals from the cortex to the striatum might be dynamically regulated by the different degree of DA denervation during the progression of the disease (**Figure 2**). In fact, bidirectional changes in corticostriatal synaptic plasticity are critically controlled by the degree of nigral denervation that influences the endogenous DA levels and the assembly of striatal NMDARs (Sgambato-Faure and Cenci, 2012).

HUNTINGTON DISEASE

Huntington's disease (HD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease which is characterized by chorea, cognitive decline, and

psychiatric disturbances. Alterations in DA and DA receptor levels in the brain contribute to the clinical symptoms of HD (Spokes, 1980; Richfield et al., 1991; Garrett and Soares-da-Silva, 1992; van Oostrom et al., 2009). In particular, time-dependent modifications of DA signaling are correlated to biphasic alterations of the activity of the glutamatergic synapse (Cepeda et al., 2003; Joshi et al., 2009; André et al., 2011a). In agreement with this biphasic activity, Graham et al. (2009) demonstrated that susceptibility to NMDAR-dependent excitotoxicity in HD mouse models was correlated to the severity of their symptomatic stage. On the one hand, HD mice at an early age display enhanced sensitivity to excitotoxic NMDAR-dependent events compared to wild-type animals. On the other hand, old symptomatic HD mice are more resistant to NMDA-dependent neurotoxicity (Graham et al., 2009).

Dysfunction and loss of striatal MSNs represent the major neuropathological feature of the disease (Martin and Gusella, 1986). Although the mechanisms explaining a selective degeneration of MSNs in HD have not been addressed, several reports correlated an abnormal functioning of both dopaminergic and glutamatergic transmission to the induction of striatal MSNs death (Charvin et al., 2005; Fan and Raymond, 2007; Tang et al., 2007).

A decrease of D1R and D2R in striatum from postmortem HD brains has been reported in several studies (Joyce et al., 1988; Richfield et al., 1991; Turjanski et al., 1995; Suzuki et al., 2001). In addition, a significant alteration of both D1R and D2R density and function in the striatum has been described in HD mouse models (Bibb et al., 2000; Ariano et al., 2002; Paoletti et al., 2008; André et al., 2011b). Studies performed in knockin HD striatal cells showed that mutant huntingtin enhances striatal cell death through activation of D1R but not D2R (Paoletti et al., 2008). Particularly, pretreatment with NMDA increased D1R-induced cell death of mutant but not wild-type cells thus suggesting that NMDARs potentiate the vulnerability of HD striatal cells to DA toxicity (Paoletti et al., 2008). Interestingly, an aberrant Cdk5 activity is involved in the augmented sensitivity of HD striatal cells to DA and glutamate inputs (Paoletti et al., 2008). In agreement with these data, Tang et al. (2007) reported that glutamate and DA act synergistically to induce elevated Ca²⁺ signals and to induce apoptosis of MSNs in HD mice. Again, these effects are selectively mediated by D1R and not by D2Rs (Tang et al., 2007). However, a role for D2R in mediating MSN degeneration has been put forward (Charvin et al., 2005, 2008), thus raising the hypothesis that both activation of D1R and D2R might contribute to glutamate/DA dependent toxicity. More recently, André et al. (2011b) showed that, at the early stage, glutamate release was increased onto D1R cells while it was unaltered onto D2R cells in HD mice. Notably, at the late stage, glutamate transmission was decreased onto D1R cells only. Overall, this study suggests that more changes occur in D1R cells than in D2R cells, at both presymptomatic and symptomatic ages. Finally, in agreement with this study, Benn et al. (2007) showed that the percentage of D2R-positive cells are not modified with the phenotype or with age. However, it must be taken into account that these results represent a clear discrepancy with early studies indicating a higher vulnerability of D2R in HD (Reiner et al., 1988; Albin et al., 1992). Accordingly, further studies are needed for a complete characterization and understanding of D1R vs. D2R alterations in HD.

Changes in synaptic vs. extra-synaptic localization of NMDARs are also crucial for neuronal survival in HD (Levine et al., 2010). In particular, a selective increase of striatal GluN2B-containing NMDARs in association with an early increase in extrasynaptic NMDAR signaling has been described in different HD animal models (Zeron et al., 2004; Milnerwood et al., 2010). In addition, excitotoxicity mediated by GluN2B-containing NMDARs exacerbated selective MSNs degeneration in a knockin HD model (Heng et al., 2009).

DA and glutamate cross-talk seems to have a key role also in aberrant synaptic plasticity which is observed in HD animal models. DA-dependent LTP, but not LTD, in the dorsal striatum is reduced in the R6/2 mouse model of HD (Kung et al., 2007; **Figure 2**). Interestingly, the deficits in LTP and shortterm plasticity observed in animal models of HD are reversed by treatment with the D1R agonist SKF38393 (Dallérac et al., 2011).

ADDICTION

Drug-evoked synaptic plasticity of glutamatergic synapses in the mesocorticolimbic system has been largely implicated in addictive behaviors (Luscher and Bellone, 2008) and DA neurons of the VTA are the point of convergence at which addictive drugs can alter the brain circuits (Brown et al., 2010). Drug-evoked synaptic plasticity has been characterized at excitatory input onto DA neurons of the VTA 24 h after a single injection of addictive drugs (Ungless et al., 2001; Bellone and Lüscher, 2006; Mameli et al., 2007; Yuan et al., 2013). Interestingly, it is induced by activation of D1/D5Rs and NMDARs (Ungless et al., 2001; Argilli et al., 2008) and it is expressed by insertion of GluN3A-containing NMDARs (Yuan et al., 2013) and GluA2-lacking AMPARs (Bellone and Lüscher, 2006). Moreover, it has been shown that the redistribution of glutamatergic receptors induced by cocaine in the VTA depends upon the action of cocaine on DA transporter (DAT) and that DA neurons activity itself is sufficient to induce drug-evoked synaptic plasticity at glutamatergic synapses (Brown et al., 2010). D1 signaling in the VTA is necessary for these adaptations suggesting that the convergence of DAergic/glutamatergic signaling in the VTA modifies the circuit at the synaptic level.

Interestingly, redistribution of glutamatergic transmission in the VTA is permissive for the expression of drug-evoked plasticity in the NAc and subsequent addictive behaviors. Indeed, deletion of GluN1 selectively in the DA neurons of the VTA abolishes both cocaine-evoked plasticity in the NAc (Engblom et al., 2008) and prevent reinstatement of self-administration (Mameli et al., 2009).

In the NAc, the convergence of DA and glutamate after cocaine exposure contributes to addictive behaviors by the facilitation of AMPAR trafficking at certain glutamatergic inputs. Early studies have found that D1R stimulation increases GluA1 surface expression via PKA activation promoting further NMDA-dependent synaptic plasticity (Sun et al., 2005, 2008; Gao et al., 2006). Recently, the role of AMPAR trafficking in drug-evoked synaptic plasticity and its link to behavioral adaptation has been demonstrated. Indeed, insertion of GluA2-lacking (GluA1 homomeric) AMPARs has been shown both after incubation of cocaine craving and cocaine self-administration at excitatory input onto MSNs in the NAc (Conrad et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014b; **Figure 3**). Although these studies show some discrepancies regarding the cell- and input-specificity of Ca^{2+} permeable AMPAR insertion, the removal



of these receptors is an efficient method to revert addictive behaviors (Loweth et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2014b). Altogether, these studies indicate that the expression of addictive behaviors depends upon the convergence of DA/glutamate signal and the consequent changes in the efficacy and quality of excitatory synaptic transmission.

Which are the mechanisms underlying the interactions between the glutamate and the DA system in the NAc in drug addiction? Many studies have shown that different behavioral and molecular responses induced by cocaine rely on the D1R-NMDAR interaction that regulates the activity of ERK pathways and control gene expression, plasticity and behavior (Girault et al., 2007; Bertran-Gonzalez et al., 2008; Pascoli et al., 2014a). Interestingly, cocaine-induced activation of the ERK pathway is restricted to D1 MSNs and depends upon the concomitant activation of D1 and NMDARs. Moreover, direct blockade of ERK signaling induced by cocaine prevents the expression of conditioned place preference (CPP; Valjent et al., 2000), locomotor sensitization (Valjent et al., 2006) and drug-evoked synaptic plasticity (Pascoli et al., 2011b; Cahill et al., 2014). To confirm the role of DA/glutamate interaction in cocaine-induced ERK activation, it has also been shown that indirect inhibition of the ERK pathway blocks addictive behaviors. Cocaine activates the tyrosine kinase Fyn that, via phosphorylation of GluN2B, potentiates Ca²⁺ influx through NMDARs and activates ERK signaling. Interestingly, the inhibition of Fyn inhibits cocaine-induced ERK activation while inhibition of GluN2B-containing NMDAR impairs locomotor sensitization and CPP (Pascoli et al., 2011a). Moreover, the blockade of the D1/GluN1 downstream pathways, although it preserves the individual signaling, blocks both the D1-induced potentiation of Ca^2 + influx via NMDARs and the ERK activation. As a consequence, behavioral sensitization is impaired (Cahill et al., 2014).

CONCLUSIONS

Functional interactions between DA and glutamate receptors modulate an incredible variety of functions in the brain and, when abnormal, they contribute to numerous central nervous system disorders. In particular, an integrated cross-talk between DA and glutamate receptors plays a key role in motor control, cognition and memory, neurodegenerative disorders, schizophrenia and addictive behaviors. Accordingly, a huge number of studies, described in the present review, have been performed aiming at understanding the molecular and functional mechanisms coordinating functions of glutamate and DA receptors. Hopefully, a complete knowledge of dysregulation of glutamate and DA signaling as in Parkinson, Huntington and addiction-related diseases, could represent the first step for the identification and setting up of novel therapeutical approaches for these brain disorders.

REFERENCES

- Albin, R. L., Reiner, A., Anderson, K. D., Dure, L. S. 4th, Handelin, B., Balfour, R., et al. (1992). Preferential loss of striato-external pallidal projection neurons in presymptomatic Huntington's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 31, 425–430. doi: 10. 1002/ana.410310412
- André, V. M., Cepeda, C., Cummings, D. M., Jocoy, E. L., Fisher, Y. E., William Yang, X., et al. (2010). Dopamine modulation of excitatory currents in the

striatum is dictated by the expression of D1 or D2 receptors and modified by endocannabinoids. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 31, 14–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009. 07047.x

- André, V. M., Cepeda, C., Fisher, Y. E., Huynh, M., Bardakjian, N., Singh, S., et al. (2011a). Differential electrophysiological changes in striatal output neurons in Huntington's disease. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 1170–1182. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 3539-10.2011
- André, V. M., Fisher, Y. E., and Levine, M. S. (2011b). Altered balance of activity in the Striatal direct and indirect pathways in mouse models of Huntington's disease. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 5:46. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2011.00046
- Argilli, E., Sibley, D. R., Malenka, R. C., England, P. M., and Bonci, A. (2008). Mechanism and time course of cocaine-induced long-term potentiation in the ventral tegmental area. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 9092–9100. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 1001-08.2008
- Ariano, M. A., Aronin, N., Difiglia, M., Tagle, D. A., Sibley, D. R., Leavitt, B. R., et al. (2002). Striatal neurochemical changes in transgenic models of Huntington's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 68, 716–729. doi: 10.1002/jnr.10272
- Beaulieu, J.-M., and Gainetdinov, R. R. (2011). The physiology, signaling and pharmacology of dopamine receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 63, 182–217. doi: 10. 1124/pr.110.002642
- Bellone, C., and Lüscher, C. (2006). Cocaine triggered AMPA receptor redistribution is reversed in vivo by mGluR-dependent long-term depression. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 636–641. doi: 10.1038/nn1682
- Benn, C. L., Slow, E. J., Farrell, L. A., Graham, R., Deng, Y., Hayden, M. R., et al. (2007). Glutamate receptor abnormalities in the YAC128 transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. *Neuroscience* 147, 354–372. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroscience.2007.03.010
- Bertran-Gonzalez, J., Bosch, C., Maroteaux, M., Matamales, M., Hervé, D., Valjent, E., et al. (2008). Opposing patterns of signaling activation in dopamine D1 and D2 receptor-expressing striatal neurons in response to cocaine and haloperidol. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 5671–5685. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1039-08.2008
- Bibb, J. A., Yan, Z., Svenningsson, P., Snyder, G. L., Pieribone, V. A., Horiuchi, A., et al. (2000). Severe deficiencies in dopamine signaling in presymptomatic Huntington's disease mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 97, 6809–6814. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.120166397
- Brown, M. T. C., Bellone, C., Mameli, M., Labouèbe, G., Bocklisch, C., Balland, B., et al. (2010). Drug-driven AMPA receptor redistribution mimicked by selective dopamine neuron stimulation. *PLoS One* 5:e15870. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0015870
- Cahill, E., Pascoli, V., Trifilieff, P., Savoldi, D., Kappès, V., Lüscher, C., et al. (2014). D1R/GluN1 complexes in the striatum integrate dopamine and glutamate signalling to control synaptic plasticity and cocaine-induced responses. *Mol. Psychiatry* 19, 1295–1304. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.73
- Calabresi, P., Gubellini, P., Centonze, D., Picconi, B., Bernardi, G., Chergui, K., et al. (2000). Dopamine and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein 32 kDa controls both striatal long-term depression and long-term potentiation, opposing forms of synaptic plasticity. J. Neurosci. 20, 8443–8451.
- Calabresi, P., Picconi, B., Tozzi, A., Ghiglieri, V., and Di Filippo, M. (2014). Direct and indirect pathways of basal ganglia: a critical reappraisal. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 1022–1030. doi: 10.1038/nn.3743
- Calabresi, P., Pisani, A., Mercuri, N. B., and Bernardi, G. (1992). Long-term potentiation in the striatum is unmasked by removing the voltage-dependent magnesium block of NMDA receptor channels. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 4, 929–935. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.1992.tb00119.x
- Cepeda, C., André, V. M., Yamazaki, I., Wu, N., Kleiman-Weiner, M., and Levine, M. S. (2008). Differential electrophysiological properties of dopamine D1 and D2 receptor-containing striatal medium-sized spiny neurons. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 27, 671–682. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06038.x
- Cepeda, C., Buchwald, N. A., and Levine, M. S. (1993). Neuromodulatory actions of dopamine in the neostriatum are dependent upon the excitatory amino acid receptor subtypes activated. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 90, 9576–9580. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.90.20.9576
- Cepeda, C., Hurst, R. S., Calvert, C. R., Hernández-Echeagaray, E., Nguyen, O. K., Jocoy, E., et al. (2003). Transient and progressive electrophysiological alterations in the corticostriatal pathway in a mouse model of Huntington's disease. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 961–969.
- Cepeda, C., and Levine, M. S. (1998). Dopamine and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor interactions in the neostriatum. *Dev. Neurosci.* 20, 1–18. doi: 10. 1159/000017294

- Charvin, D., Roze, E., Perrin, V., Deyts, C., Betuing, S., Pagès, C., et al. (2008). Haloperidol protects striatal neurons from dysfunction induced by mutated huntingtin in vivo. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 29, 22–29. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2007. 07.028
- Charvin, D., Vanhoutte, P., Pagès, C., Borrelli, E., Borelli, E., and Caboche, J. (2005). Unraveling a role for dopamine in Huntington's disease: the dual role of reactive oxygen species and D2 receptor stimulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 102, 12218–12223. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0502698102
- Conrad, K. L., Tseng, K. Y., Uejima, J. L., Reimers, J. M., Heng, L.-J., Shaham, Y., et al. (2008). Formation of accumbens GluR2-lacking AMPA receptors mediates incubation of cocaine craving. *Nature* 454, 118–121. doi: 10.1038/nature06995
- Dallérac, G. M., Vatsavayai, S. C., Cummings, D. M., Milnerwood, A. J., Peddie, C. J., Evans, K. A., et al. (2011). Impaired long-term potentiation in the prefrontal cortex of Huntington's disease mouse models: rescue by D1 dopamine receptor activation. *Neurodegener. Dis.* 8, 230–239. doi: 10.1159/000322540
- Day, M., Wang, Z., Ding, J., An, X., Ingham, C. A., Shering, A. F., et al. (2006). Selective elimination of glutamatergic synapses on striatopallidal neurons in Parkinson disease models. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 251–259. doi: 10.1038/nn1632
- Dunah, A. W., Sirianni, A. C., Fienberg, A. A., Bastia, E., Schwarzschild, M. A., and Standaert, D. G. (2004). Dopamine D1-dependent trafficking of striatal Nmethyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors requires Fyn protein tyrosine kinase but not DARPP-32. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 65, 121–129. doi: 10.1124/mol.65.1.121
- Dunah, A. W., and Standaert, D. G. (2001). Dopamine D1 receptor-dependent trafficking of striatal NMDA glutamate receptors to the postsynaptic membrane. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 5546–5558.
- Engblom, D., Bilbao, A., Sanchis-Segura, C., Dahan, L., Perreau-Lenz, S., Balland, B., et al. (2008). Glutamate receptors on dopamine neurons control the persistence of cocaine seeking. *Neuron* 59, 497–508. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008. 07.010
- Fan, M. M. Y., and Raymond, L. A. (2007). N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor function and excitotoxicity in Huntington's disease. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 81, 272–293. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2006.11.003
- Fiorentini, C., Gardoni, F., Spano, P., Di Luca, M., and Missale, C. (2003). Regulation of dopamine D1 receptor trafficking and desensitization by oligomerization with glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 20196–20202. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m213140200
- Floresco, S. B., West, A. R., Ash, B., Moore, H., and Grace, A. A. (2003). Afferent modulation of dopamine neuron firing differentially regulates tonic and phasic dopamine transmission. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 968–973. doi: 10.1038/nn1103
- Gao, C., Sun, X., and Wolf, M. E. (2006). Activation of D1 dopamine receptors increases surface expression of AMPA receptors and facilitates their synaptic incorporation in cultured hippocampal neurons. J. Neurochem. 98, 1664–1677. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.03999.x
- Gardoni, F., Picconi, B., Ghiglieri, V., Polli, F., Bagetta, V., Bernardi, G., et al. (2006). A critical interaction between NR2B and MAGUK in L-DOPA induced dyskinesia. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 2914–2922. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.5326-05. 2006
- Garrett, M. C., and Soares-da-Silva, P. (1992). Increased cerebrospinal fluid dopamine and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid levels in Huntington's disease: evidence for an overactive dopaminergic brain transmission. J. Neurochem. 58, 101–106. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1992.tb09283.x
- Girault, J. A., Valjent, E., Caboche, J., and Hervé, D. (2007). ERK2: a logical AND gate critical for drug-induced plasticity? *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 7, 77–85. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2006.08.012
- Goto, Y., and Grace, A. A. (2005). Dopaminergic modulation of limbic and cortical drive of nucleus accumbens in goal-directed behavior. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 805–812. doi: 10.1038/nn1471
- Goto, Y., Otani, S., and Grace, A. A. (2007). The Yin and Yang of dopamine release: a new perspective. *Neuropharmacology* 53, 583–587. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm. 2007.07.007
- Graham, R. K., Pouladi, M. A., Joshi, P., Lu, G., Deng, Y., Wu, N.-P., et al. (2009). Differential susceptibility to excitotoxic stress in YAC128 mouse models of Huntington disease between initiation and progression of disease. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 2193–2204. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5473-08.2009
- Grueter, B. A., Brasnjo, G., and Malenka, R. C. (2010). Postsynaptic TRPV1 triggers cell type-specific long-term depression in the nucleus accumbens. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1519–1525. doi: 10.1038/nn.2685
- Håkansson, K., Galdi, S., Hendrick, J., Snyder, G., Greengard, P., and Fisone, G. (2006). Regulation of phosphorylation of the GluR1 AMPA receptor by

dopamine D2 receptors. J. Neurochem. 96, 482–488. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159. 2005.03558.x

- Hallett, P. J., Spoelgen, R., Hyman, B. T., Standaert, D. G., and Dunah, A. W. (2006). Dopamine D1 activation potentiates striatal NMDA receptors by tyrosine phosphorylation-dependent subunit trafficking. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 4690–4700. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0792-06.2006
- Heng, M. Y., Detloff, P. J., Wang, P. L., Tsien, J. Z., and Albin, R. L. (2009). In vivo evidence for NMDA receptor-mediated excitotoxicity in a murine genetic model of Huntington disease. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 3200–3205. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 5599-08.2009
- Higley, M. J., and Sabatini, B. L. (2010). Competitive regulation of synaptic Ca2+ influx by D2 dopamine and A2A adenosine receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 958– 966. doi: 10.1038/nn.2592
- Huerta-Ocampo, I., Mena-Segovia, J., and Bolam, J. P. (2014). Convergence of cortical and thalamic input to direct and indirect pathway medium spiny neurons in the striatum. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 219, 1787–1800. doi: 10. 1007/s00429-013-0601-z
- Jocoy, E. L., André, V. M., Cummings, D. M., Rao, S. P., Wu, N., Ramsey, A. J., et al. (2011). Dissecting the contribution of individual receptor subunits to the enhancement of N-methyl-d-aspartate currents by dopamine D1 receptor activation in striatum. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 5:28. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2011. 00028
- Joshi, P. R., Wu, N.-P., André, V. M., Cummings, D. M., Cepeda, C., Joyce, J. A., et al. (2009). Age-dependent alterations of corticostriatal activity in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 2414–2427. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.5687-08.2009
- Joyce, J. N., Lexow, N., Bird, E., and Winokur, A. (1988). Organization of dopamine D1 and D2 receptors in human striatum: receptor autoradiographic studies in Huntington's disease and schizophrenia. *Synapse* 2, 546–557. doi: 10.1002/syn. 890020511
- Kebabian, J. W., and Greengard, P. (1971). Dopamine-sensitive adenyl cyclase: possible role in synaptic transmission. *Science* 174, 1346–1349. doi: 10. 1126/science.174.4016.1346
- Kerr, J. N., and Wickens, J. R. (2001). Dopamine D-1/D-5 receptor activation is required for long-term potentiation in the rat neostriatum in vitro. J. Neurophysiol. 85, 117–124.
- Kreitzer, A. C. (2009). Physiology and pharmacology of striatal neurons. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 32, 127–147. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.051508.135422
- Kreitzer, A. C., and Malenka, R. C. (2005). Dopamine modulation of statedependent endocannabinoid release and long-term depression in the striatum. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 10537–10545. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2959-05.2005
- Kreitzer, A. C., and Malenka, R. C. (2007). Endocannabinoid-mediated rescue of striatal LTD and motor deficits in Parkinson's disease models. *Nature* 445, 643– 647. doi: 10.1038/nature05506
- Kreitzer, A. C., and Malenka, R. C. (2008). Striatal plasticity and basal ganglia circuit function. *Neuron* 60, 543–554. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.11.005
- Kruusmägi, M., Kumar, S., Zelenin, S., Brismar, H., Aperia, A., and Scott, L. (2009). Functional differences between D(1) and D(5) revealed by high resolution imaging on live neurons. *Neuroscience* 164, 463–469. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroscience.2009.08.052
- Kung, V. W. S., Hassam, R., Morton, A. J., and Jones, S. (2007). Dopaminedependent long term potentiation in the dorsal striatum is reduced in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease. *Neuroscience* 146, 1571–1580. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroscience.2007.03.036
- Ladepeche, L., Dupuis, J. P., Bouchet, D., Doudnikoff, E., Yang, L., Campagne, Y., et al. (2013a). Single-molecule imaging of the functional crosstalk between surface NMDA and dopamine D1 receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 110, 18005–18010. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1310145110
- Ladepeche, L., Yang, L., Bouchet, D., and Groc, L. (2013b). Regulation of dopamine D1 receptor dynamics within the postsynaptic density of hippocampal glutamate synapses. *PLoS One* 8:e74512. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0074512
- Lee, B. R., Ma, Y.-Y., Huang, Y. H., Wang, X., Otaka, M., Ishikawa, M., et al. (2013). Maturation of silent synapses in amygdala-accumbens projection contributes to incubation of cocaine craving. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 1644–1651. doi: 10.1038/nn. 3533
- Lee, F. J. S., Xue, S., Pei, L., Vukusic, B., Chéry, N., Wang, Y., et al. (2002). Dual regulation of NMDA receptor functions by direct protein-protein interactions with the dopamine D1 receptor. *Cell* 111, 219–230. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00962-5

- Levine, M. S., Cepeda, C., and André, V. M. (2010). Location, location: contrasting roles of synaptic and extrasynaptic NMDA receptors in Huntington's disease. *Neuron* 65, 145–147. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.01.010
- Levine, M. S., Li, Z., Cepeda, C., Cromwell, H. C., and Altemus, K. L. (1996). Neuromodulatory actions of dopamine on synaptically-evoked neostriatal responses in slices. *Synapse* 24, 65–78. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1098-2396(199609)24:1<60::aid-syn7>3.0.co;2-e
- Li, Y., and Kauer, J. A. (2004). Repeated exposure to amphetamine disrupts dopaminergic modulation of excitatory synaptic plasticity and neurotransmission in nucleus accumbens. *Synapse* 51, 1–10. doi: 10.1002/syn. 10270
- Liu, X.-Y., Chu, X.-P., Mao, L.-M., Wang, M., Lan, H.-X., Li, M.-H., et al. (2006). Modulation of D2R-NR2B interactions in response to cocaine. *Neuron* 52, 897– 909. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.10.011
- Loweth, J. A., Scheyer, A. F., Milovanovic, M., LaCrosse, A. L., Flores-Barrera, E., Werner, C. T., et al. (2014). Synaptic depression via mGluR1 positive allosteric modulation suppresses cue-induced cocaine craving. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 73–80. doi: 10.1038/nn.3590
- Lu, X. Y., Ghasemzadeh, M. B., and Kalivas, P. W. (1998). Expression of D1 receptor, D2 receptor, substance P and enkephalin messenger RNAs in the neurons projecting from the nucleus accumbens. *Neuroscience* 82, 767–780. doi: 10. 1016/s0306-4522(97)00327-8
- Luscher, C., and Bellone, C. (2008). Cocaine-evoked synaptic plasticity: a key to addiction? Nat. Neurosci. 11, 737–738. doi: 10.1038/nn0708-737
- Ma, Y.-Y., Lee, B. R., Wang, X., Guo, C., Liu, L., Cui, R., et al. (2014). Bidirectional modulation of Incubation of cocaine craving by silent synapsebased remodeling of prefrontal cortex to accumbens projections. *Neuron* 83, 1453–1467. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.08.023
- Mameli, M., Balland, B., Luján, R., and Lüscher, C. (2007). Rapid synthesis and synaptic insertion of GluR2 for mGluR-LTD in the ventral tegmental area. *Science* 317, 530–533. doi: 10.1126/science.1142365
- Mameli, M., Halbout, B., Creton, C., Engblom, D., Parkitna, J. R., Spanagel, R., et al. (2009). Cocaine-evoked synaptic plasticity: persistence in the VTA triggers adaptations in the NAc. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 1036–1041. doi: 10.1038/nn. 2367
- Martin, J. B., and Gusella, J. F. (1986). Huntington's disease. Pathogenesis and management. N. Engl. J. Med. 315, 1267–1276. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198611 133152006
- Matamales, M., Bertran-Gonzalez, J., Salomon, L., Degos, B., Deniau, J. M., Valjent, E., et al. (2009). Striatal medium-sized spiny neurons: identification by nuclear staining and study of neuronal subpopulations in BAC transgenic mice. *PLoS One* 4:e4770. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004770
- Mellone, M., and Gardoni, F. (2013). Modulation of NMDA receptor at the synapse: promising therapeutic interventions in disorders of the nervous system. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 719, 75–83. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.04.054
- Milnerwood, A. J., Gladding, C. M., Pouladi, M. A., Kaufman, A. M., Hines, R. M., Boyd, J. D., et al. (2010). Early increase in extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signaling and expression contributes to phenotype onset in Huntington's disease mice. *Neuron* 65, 178–190. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.01.008
- Obeso, J. A., Rodriguez-Oroz, M. C., Goetz, C. G., Marin, C., Kordower, J. H., Rodriguez, M., et al. (2010). Missing pieces in the Parkinson's disease puzzle. *Nat. Med.* 16, 653–661. doi: 10.1038/nm.2165
- Paillé, V., Picconi, B., Bagetta, V., Ghiglieri, V., Sgobio, C., Di Filippo, M., et al. (2010). Distinct levels of dopamine denervation differentially alter striatal synaptic plasticity and NMDA receptor subunit composition. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 14182–14193. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2149-10.2010
- Paoletti, P., Vila, I., Rifé, M., Lizcano, J. M., Alberch, J., and Ginés, S. (2008). Dopaminergic and glutamatergic signaling crosstalk in Huntington's disease neurodegeneration: the role of p25/cyclin-dependent kinase 5. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 10090–10101. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3237-08.2008
- Pascoli, V., Besnard, A., Hervé, D., Pagès, C., Heck, N., Girault, J.-A., et al. (2011a). Cyclic adenosine monophosphate-independent tyrosine phosphorylation of NR2B mediates cocaine-induced extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 218–227. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010. 08.031
- Pascoli, V., Cahill, E., Bellivier, F., Caboche, J., and Vanhoutte, P. (2014a). Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinases 1 and 2 activation by addictive drugs: a signal toward pathological adaptation. *Biol. Psychiatry* 76, 917–926. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.04.005

- Pascoli, V., Terrier, J., Espallergues, J., Valjent, E., O'Connor, E. C., and Lüscher, C. (2014b). Contrasting forms of cocaine-evoked plasticity control components of relapse. *Nature* 509, 459–464. doi: 10.1038/nature13257
- Pascoli, V., Turiault, M., and Lüscher, C. (2011b). Reversal of cocaine-evoked synaptic potentiation resets drug-induced adaptive behaviour. *Nature* 481, 71– 75. doi: 10.1038/nature10709
- Picconi, B., Gardoni, F., Centonze, D., Mauceri, D., Cenci, M. A., Bernardi, G., et al. (2004). Abnormal Ca²⁺-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II function mediates synaptic and motor deficits in experimental parkinsonism. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 5283–5291. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1224-04.2004
- Price, C. J., Kim, P., and Raymond, L. A. (1999). D1 dopamine receptor-induced cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylation and potentiation of striatal glutamate receptors. *J. Neurochem.* 73, 2441–2446. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1999.0732441.x
- Reiner, A., Albin, R. L., Anderson, K. D., D'Amato, C. J., Penney, J. B., and Young, A. B. (1988). Differential loss of striatal projection neurons in Huntington disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 85, 5733–5737. doi: 10.1073/pnas.85.15.5733
- Richfield, E. K., O'Brien, C. F., Eskin, T., and Shoulson, I. (1991). Heterogeneous dopamine receptor changes in early and late Huntington's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 132, 121–126. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(91)90448-3
- Robbe, D., Kopf, M., Remaury, A., Bockaert, J., and Manzoni, O. J. (2002). Endogenous cannabinoids mediate long-term synaptic depression in the nucleus accumbens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 99, 8384–8388. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.122149199
- Schotanus, S. M., and Chergui, K. (2008a). NR2A-containing NMDA receptors depress glutamatergic synaptic transmission and evoked-dopamine release in the mouse striatum. *J. Neurochem.* 106, 1758–1765. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159. 2008.05512.x
- Schotanus, S. M., and Chergui, K. (2008b). Dopamine D1 receptors and group I metabotropic glutamate receptors contribute to the induction of longterm potentiation in the nucleus accumbens. *Neuropharmacology* 54, 837–844. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2007.12.012
- Sgambato-Faure, V., and Cenci, M. A. (2012). Glutamatergic mechanisms in the dyskinesias induced by pharmacological dopamine replacement and deep brain stimulation for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 96, 69–86. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.10.005
- Shen, W., Flajolet, M., Greengard, P., and Surmeier, D. J. (2008). Dichotomous dopaminergic control of striatal synaptic plasticity. *Science* 321, 848–851. doi: 10.1126/science.1160575
- Smeal, R. M., Keefe, K. A., and Wilcox, K. S. (2008). Differences in excitatory transmission between thalamic and cortical afferents to single spiny efferent neurons of rat dorsal striatum. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 28, 2041–2052. doi: 10.1111/j. 1460-9568.2008.06505.x
- Smith, R. J., Lobo, M. K., Spencer, S., and Kalivas, P. W. (2013). Cocaineinduced adaptations in D1 and D2 accumbens projection neurons (a dichotomy not necessarily synonymous with direct and indirect pathways). *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 23, 546–552. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2013.01.026
- Snyder, G. L., Allen, P. B., Fienberg, A. A., Valle, C. G., Huganir, R. L., Nairn, A. C., et al. (2000). Regulation of phosphorylation of the GluR1 AMPA receptor in the neostriatum by dopamine and psychostimulants in vivo. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 4480– 4488.
- Snyder, G. L., Fienberg, A. A., Huganir, R. L., and Greengard, P. (1998). A dopamine/D1 receptor/protein kinase A/dopamine- and cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein (Mr 32 kDa)/protein phosphatase-1 pathway regulates dephosphorylation of the NMDA receptor. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 10297– 10303.
- Snyder, E. M., Nong, Y., Almeida, C. G., Paul, S., Moran, T., Choi, E. Y., et al. (2005). Regulation of NMDA receptor trafficking by amyloid-beta. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 1051–1058. doi: 10.1038/nn1503
- Spokes, E. G. (1980). Neurochemical alterations in Huntington's chorea: a study of post-mortem brain tissue. *Brain* 103, 179–210. doi: 10.1093/brain/103. 1.179
- Sun, X., Milovanovic, M., Zhao, Y., and Wolf, M. E. (2008). Acute and chronic dopamine receptor stimulation modulates AMPA receptor trafficking in nucleus accumbens neurons cocultured with prefrontal cortex neurons. J. Neurosci. 28, 4216–4230. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0258-08.2008
- Sun, X., Zhao, Y., and Wolf, M. E. (2005). Dopamine receptor stimulation modulates AMPA receptor synaptic insertion in prefrontal cortex neurons. J. Neurosci. 25, 7342–7351. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.4603-04.2005

- Surmeier, D. J., Ding, J., Day, M., Wang, Z., and Shen, W. (2007). D1 and D2 dopamine-receptor modulation of striatal glutamatergic signaling in striatal medium spiny neurons. *Trends Neurosci.* 30, 228–235. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2007. 03.008
- Surmeier, D. J., Graves, S. M., and Shen, W. (2014). Dopaminergic modulation of striatal networks in health and Parkinson's disease. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 29C, 109–117. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2014.07.008
- Suzuki, M., Desmond, T. J., Albin, R. L., and Frey, K. A. (2001). Vesicular neurotransmitter transporters in Huntington's disease: initial observations and comparison with traditional synaptic markers. *Synapse* 41, 329–336. doi: 10. 1002/syn.1089
- Svenningsson, P., Nishi, A., Fisone, G., Girault, J.-A., Nairn, A. C., and Greengard, P. (2004). DARPP-32: an integrator of neurotransmission. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 44, 269–296. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.44.101802. 121415
- Tang, T.-S., Chen, X., Liu, J., and Bezprozvanny, I. (2007). Dopaminergic signaling and striatal neurodegeneration in Huntington's disease. J. Neurosci. 27, 7899– 7910. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1396-07.2007
- Tritsch, N. X., and Sabatini, B. L. (2012). Dopaminergic modulation of synaptic transmission in cortex and striatum. *Neuron* 76, 33–50. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2012.09.023
- Turjanski, N., Weeks, R., Dolan, R., Harding, A. E., and Brooks, D. J. (1995). Striatal D1 and D2 receptor binding in patients with Huntington's disease and other choreas. A PET study. *Brain* 118, 689–696. doi: 10.1093/brain/118.3.689
- Ungless, M. A., Whistler, J. L., Malenka, R. C., and Bonci, A. (2001). Single cocaine exposure in vivo induces long-term potentiation in dopamine neurons. *Nature* 411, 583–587. doi: 10.1038/35079077
- Valjent, E., Bertran-Gonzalez, J., Hervé, D., Fisone, G., and Girault, J.-A. (2009). Looking BAC at striatal signaling: cell-specific analysis in new transgenic mice. *Trends Neurosci.* 32, 538–547. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2009.06.005
- Valjent, E., Corvol, J. C., Pages, C., Besson, M. J., Maldonado, R., and Caboche, J. (2000). Involvement of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase cascade for cocaine-rewarding properties. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 8701–8709.
- Valjent, E., Corvol, J.-C., Trzaskos, J. M., Girault, J.-A., and Hervé, D. (2006). Role of the ERK pathway in psychostimulant-induced locomotor sensitization. *BMC Neurosci.* 7:20. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-7-20
- van Oostrom, J. C. H., Dekker, M., Willemsen, A. T. M., de Jong, B. M., Roos, R. A. C., and Leenders, K. L. (2009). Changes in striatal dopamine D2 receptor binding in pre-clinical Huntington's disease. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 16, 226–231. doi: 10. 1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02390.x

- Vastagh, C., Gardoni, F., Bagetta, V., Stanic, J., Zianni, E., Giampà, C., et al. (2012). N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor composition modulates dendritic spine morphology in striatal medium spiny neurons. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 18103– 18114. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.347427
- Vergara, R., Rick, C., Hernández-López, S., Laville, J. A., Guzman, J. N., Galarraga, E., et al. (2003). Spontaneous voltage oscillations in striatal projection neurons in a rat corticostriatal slice. *J. Physiol.* 553, 169–182. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003. 050799
- Wang, Z., Kai, L., Day, M., Ronesi, J., Yin, H. H., Ding, J., et al. (2006). Dopaminergic control of corticostriatal long-term synaptic depression in medium spiny neurons is mediated by cholinergic interneurons. *Neuron* 50, 443–452. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.04.010
- Yuan, T., Mameli, M., O'Connor, E. C., Dey, P. N., Verpelli, C., Sala, C., et al. (2013). Expression of cocaine-evoked synaptic plasticity by GluN3A-containing NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 80, 1025–1038. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.07.050
- Zeron, M. M., Fernandes, H. B., Krebs, C., Shehadeh, J., Wellington, C. L., Leavitt, B. R., et al. (2004). Potentiation of NMDA receptor-mediated excitotoxicity linked with intrinsic apoptotic pathway in YAC transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 25, 469–479. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2003. 11.014
- Zhou, L., Furuta, T., and Kaneko, T. (2003). Chemical organization of projection neurons in the rat accumbens nucleus and olfactory tubercle. *Neuroscience* 120, 783–798. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4522(03)00326-9

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 07 November 2014; accepted: 14 January 2015; published online: 02 March 2015.

Citation: Gardoni F and Bellone C (2015) Modulation of the glutamatergic transmission by Dopamine: a focus on Parkinson, Huntington and Addiction diseases. Front. Cell. Neurosci. **9**:25. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00025

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2015 Gardoni and Bellone. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Distinct regions within the GluN2C subunit regulate the surface delivery of NMDA receptors

Katarina Lichnerova^{1,2†}, Martina Kaniakova^{1†}, Kristyna Skrenkova¹, Ladislav Vyklicky¹ and Martin Horak¹*

¹ Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic v.v.i., Prague, Czech Republic

² Department of Physiology, Faculty of Science, Charles University in Prague, Prague, Czech Republic

Edited by:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Ping Liu, University of Connecticut Health Center, USA Monica Fernández-Monreal, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Puerta de Hierro, Spain

*Correspondence:

Martin Horak, Institute of Physiology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic v.v.i., Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague 4, Czech Republic e-mail: mhorak@biomed.cas.cz

[†] Katarina Lichnerova and Martina Kaniakova have contributed equally to this work. *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors mediate fast excitatory synaptic transmission in the mammalian central nervous system. The activation of NMDA receptors plays a key role in brain development, synaptic plasticity, and memory formation, and is a major contributor to many neuropsychiatric disorders. Here, we investigated the mechanisms that underlie the trafficking of GluN1/GluN2C receptors. Using an approach combining molecular biology, microscopy, and electrophysiology in mammalian cell lines and cultured cerebellar granule cells, we found that the surface delivery of GluN2C-containing receptors is reduced compared to GluN2A- and GluN2B-containing receptors. Furthermore, we identified three distinct regions within the N-terminus, M3 transmembrane domain, and C-terminus of GluN2C subunits that are required for proper intracellular processing and surface delivery of NMDA receptors. These results shed new light on the regulation of NMDA receptor trafficking, and these findings can be exploited to develop new strategies for treating some forms of neuropsychiatric disorders.

Keywords: glutamate receptor, ion channel, intracellular trafficking, electrophysiology, cerebellar granule cells, endoplasmic reticulum

INTRODUCTION

N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors are ionotropic glutamate receptors that play a key role in glutamatergic neurotransmission. NMDA receptors are heterotetramers composed of GluN1, GluN2, and/or GluN3 subunits. The GluN1 subunit is encoded by a single gene that expresses eight splice variants. GluN2 subunits are encoded by four different genes, giving rise to GluN2A, GluN2B, GluN2C, and GluN2D subunits; finally, GluN3 subunits are encoded by two genes, giving rise to GluN3A and GluN3B subunits (Lau and Zukin, 2007; Petralia et al., 2009; Traynelis et al., 2010). The current consensus is that functional NMDA receptors are composed primarily of two GluN1 subunits and two GluN2 subunits, and their activation requires both glutamate and the co-agonist glycine (Traynelis et al., 2010). All NMDA receptor subunits share the following structural features: (i) four membranespanning segments (M1–M4), which help form the channel's pore; (ii) an extracellular N-terminus and an extracellular loop between M3 and M4; and (iii) an intracellular C-terminus (Madden, 2002; Traynelis et al., 2010).

The GluN2A through GluN2D subunits have expression patterns that vary widely both in time (i.e., during development) and in space (i.e., among various brain regions; Paoletti, 2011). For example, in cerebellar granule cells (CGCs), GluN2B subunits are expressed early in development but disappear almost entirely by postnatal day 21; in contrast, GluN2A and GluN2C subunits are expressed later in development (Akazawa et al., 1994; Monyer et al., 1994). In addition to its expression in the cerebellum, low levels of GluN2C mRNA have also been found in the hippocampus (Pollard et al., 1993). GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors have distinct functional properties, including reduced magnesium affinity and reduced conductance, and these properties are conferred upon the receptor's synaptic currents (Lu et al., 2006; Paoletti, 2011). Interestingly, the GRIN2C gene, which encodes the GluN2C subunit, has several splice variants (Rafiki et al., 2000), and its expression is perturbed in some neurological disorders (Marianowski et al., 1995; Kadotani et al., 1998).

It is generally believed that the number and type of NMDA receptors present at the cell surface are regulated at multiple levels, including their synthesis, subunit assembly, processing in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), intracellular trafficking, and degradation. Studies have shown that before a functional NMDA receptor heterotetramer is formed in the ER, GluN1, and GluN2 monomers form an intermediate complex, for example GluN1-GluN1 and/or GluN1-GluN2 dimers (Atlason et al., 2007; Schuler et al., 2008). These intermediate complexes likely employ specific ER retention mechanisms, as they are not trafficked from the ER (with the exception of certain GluN1 splice variants; Mcllhinney et al., 1998; Okabe et al., 1999; Fukaya et al., 2003). Although distinct regions within the GluN1, GluN2A, and GluN2B subunits regulate ER processing and the trafficking of functional NMDA receptors (Standley et al., 2000; Meddows et al., 2001; Mu et al., 2003; Hawkins et al., 2004; Horak et al., 2008; Horak and Wenthold, 2009; Kenny et al., 2009; Qiu et al., 2009), subunit-dependent differences in early NMDA receptor processing (e.g., between GluN1/GluN2A-B and GluN1/GluN2C-D receptors) have not yet been studied in detail.

Here, we determined which structural features of the GluN2C subunit regulate the surface expression of GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors. By combining microscopy and electrophysiology recordings of heterologous cells and cultured CGCs that express recombinant GluN subunits, we found that
the surface expression of GluN1/GluN2C receptors is reduced compared to GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B receptors. Furthermore, using a panel of truncated and otherwise mutated GluN2C subunit—specifically, within the N-terminus, M3 domain, and C-terminus—that regulate the surface expression of GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors. Interestingly, trafficking of GluN1/GluN2A receptors is also regulated by the N-terminal and M3 domain—mediated mechanisms; however, the C-terminalmediated mechanism appears to be specific to GluN2C-containing receptors. We conclude that the GluN2C subunit uses several regulatory mechanisms to control the early processing of functional NMDA receptors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

The following cDNAs encoding full-length or truncated NMDA receptor subunits were used: extracellular-tagged yellow fluorescent protein (YFP)-GluN1-1a and extracellular-tagged green fluorescent protein (GFP)-GluN2A, GFP-GluN2B, and GFP-GluN2C (Luo et al., 2002; Horak et al., 2008; Chen and Roche, 2009). Untagged versions of the GluN1-1a, GluN2A, and GluN2C subunits were also used (Horak et al., 2006). Point mutations were generated using the Quick-Change site-directed mutagenesis kit (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The amino acid residues are numbered as published (Ishii et al., 1993). All constructs were verified by DNA sequencing.

HETEROLOGOUS CELL CULTURE

African green monkey kidney fibroblast (COS-7) cells were cultured in Minimum Essential Medium with Earle's salts (MEM) containing 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). COS-7 cells were used for microscopy experiments because they remain attached to glass coverslips during extensive washing procedures. Human embryonic kidney 293 (HEK293) cells were cultured in Opti-MEM I (Invitrogen) containing 5% FBS (v/v); these cells were used for electrophysiology.

For transfection, equal amounts of the various cDNAs ($0.9 \ \mu g$ in total) were added to 2 μ l Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions, and the DNA– Lipofectamine complexes were added to COS-7 or HEK293 cells for 5 h as described previously (Horak et al., 2008). The transfected cells were cultured in Opti-MEM I containing 1% FBS (v/v) supplemented with 20 mM MgCl₂, 1 mM DL-2-amino-5phosphonopentanoic acid, and the NMDA receptor antagonist kynurenic acid (3 mM) to prevent cytotoxicity caused by NMDA receptor activation. All experiments were performed within 24–48 h of transfection.

PRIMARY CEREBELLAR GRANULE CELLS

Cerebellar granule cells were prepared from postnatal day 6–8 rats as described previously (Prybylowski et al., 2005). In brief, cells were cultured in Basal Eagle's Medium (Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% FBS (v/v), 2 mM glutamine, and 25 mM KCl. After 5 days in culture (DIV5), the CGCs were transfected using the calcium phosphate technique as described previously (Prybylowski et al., 2002). Microscopy experiments were performed within 48–72 h of transfection. All experimental procedures involving animals were performed in accordance with the guidelines of our institute's Animal Care Committee.

MICROSCOPY

To surface-label the NMDA receptor subunits, COS-7 cells and CGCs were washed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), then incubated on ice for 15 min in a blocking solution containing PBS and 10% (v/v) normal goat serum (NGS) as described previously (Horak et al., 2008). The cells were then incubated for 30 min in blocking solution containing polyclonal rabbit anti-GFP antibody (Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany; 1:1000). Next, the cells were washed twice in PBS, then incubated for 30 min in blocking solution containing the following fluorescent secondary antibodies: Alexa Fluor 555 goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen) for the COS-7 cells, or Alexa Fluor 647 goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen) for the CGCs. The cells were then washed twice in PBS and fixed for 20 min in PBS containing 4% paraformaldehyde (w/v) for 20 min. The COS-7 cells were then mounted using ProLong Antifade reagent (Invitrogen). The CGCs were processed further for intracellular labeling of the total pool of NMDA receptor subunits. In brief, the cells were permeabilized for 5 min in PBS containing 0.1% Triton X-100 (w/v), blocked for 1 h with blocking solution containing 0.1% Triton X-100, and incubated in the primary (anti-GFP) and secondary (Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG; Invitrogen) antibodies for 1 h each.

For the internalization studies, live cells were washed in PBS, then incubated on ice for 30 min in the primary (anti-GFP) antibody to label the surface receptors. The cells were then washed in PBS, and the coverslips were returned to conditioned medium for 30 min at 37°C. The cells were washed in PBS, incubated in an unconjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody (Invitrogen), fixed, permeabilized, incubated with a fluorescent secondary antibody, washed, and mounted using ProLong Antifade reagent (Lavezzari et al., 2004; Scott et al., 2004). To visualize both the surface and total pools of NMDA receptors, z-stack images were scanned using an Olympus scan® fluorescence microscope (COS-7 cells) or a Leica SPE confocal microscope (CGCs); the images were analyzed using ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA). For the microscopy experiments, \geq 45 transfected COS-7 cells from \geq 3 independent experiments and \geq 20 transfected CGCs (unless stated otherwise) were used for analysis as described previously (Horak et al., 2008). All summary data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Differences were analyzed using the unpaired Student's *t*-test or one-way ANOVA followed by the Dunn's test.

ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY

Whole-cell voltage-clamp recordings were performed using an Axopatch 200B patch-clamp amplifier (Molecular Devices, Union City, CA, USA) with compensation for both capacitance and series resistance. The extracellular solution contained (in mM): 160 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 10 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES), 10 glucose, 0.7 CaCl₂, 0.2 EDTA, and 10 μ M glycine (pH adjusted to 7.3 with NaOH. Glass patch pipettes

(3–5 M Ω tip resistance) were filled with an intracellular solution containing (in mM): 125 gluconic acid, 15 CsCl, 5 EGTA, 10 HEPES, 3 MgCl₂, 0.5 CaCl₂, and 2 ATP-Mg salt (pH adjusted to 7.2 with CsOH). A microprocessor-controlled multi-barrel rapid-perfusion system (the time constant of solution exchange in the vicinity of the cells was ~20 ms) was used to apply the test solutions (Kaniakova et al., 2012a). The experiments were performed at room temperature. Glutamate-induced responses were low-pass filtered at 2 kHz with an eight-pole Bessel filter, digitally sampled at 5 kHz, and analyzed using pCLAMP version 9 (Molecular Devices). All summary data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Differences were analyzed using the unpaired Student's *t*-test or one-way ANOVA followed by the Dunn's test.

RESULTS

THE IDENTITY THE SPECIFIC GluN2 SUBUNIT TYPE DETERMINES SURFACE DELIVERY OF THE NMDA RECEPTOR

Previous studies examined the molecular mechanisms that underlie the early trafficking of GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B receptors; however, the trafficking of other NMDA receptor types-including GluN1/GluN2C receptors-has been largely neglected. Therefore, the aim of this study was to examine the role that various regions within the GluN2C subunit play in delivering GluN1/GluN2C receptors to the surface membrane of mammalian cell lines and cultured CGCs. We first measured the surface expression of NMDA receptors comprised of GluN1-1a together with GFP-GluN2A, GFP-GluN2B, or GFP-GluN2C subunits in transfected COS-7 cells (Figures 1A,B). Our data show that GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2A receptors were expressed at the cell surface at significantly higher levels than GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2B receptors; this finding is consistent with previous results (Chen et al., 1999). Interestingly, however, the surface expression of GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C receptors was lower than both GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2A and GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2B receptors, even though all three GluN2 subunits were expressed at similar levels (Figures 1A,B). Similar results were obtained when we examined the surface expression of YFP-GluN1-1a/GluN2A and YFP-GluN1-1a/GluN2C receptors in COS-7 cells (Figure S1). Finally, consistent with its strict requirement for delivering the receptor to the surface membrane, when the GluN1 subunit was not co-transfected, none of the GluN2 subunits (i.e., GFP-GluN2A, GFP-GluN2B, or GFP-GluN2C) reached the cell surface (Figure S2).

Next, we used cultured CGCs to further examine whether the surface expression of GluN2C subunits is reduced compared to GluN2A and GluN2B subunits. Cultured CGCs are an ideal model system for these experiments, as these neurons are relatively homogeneous, thus allowing us to detect relatively small changes in the surface and total expression of GluN subunits; moreover, the subunits are expressed in their native environment (Prybylowski et al., 2002; Traynelis et al., 2010). We found that compared to GluN2A and GluN2B subunits, GluN2C subunits are expressed at the surface at significantly lower levels; as with the heterologous cells, the total expression levels were similar among all three GluN2 subunits (**Figures 1C,D**). Together, these results suggest that the GluN2C subunit contains unique structural element(s) that regulate the surface delivery of NMDA receptors.

The reduced surface expression of GluN1/GluN2C receptors may be due to a faster internalization rate compared to GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B receptors. To test this possibility, we performed an internalization assay for GluN1-1a/GluN2A and GluN1-1a/GluN2C receptors expressed in COS-7 cells (**Figures 1E–G**). We found that GluN1-1a/GluN2C receptors internalize more slowly than GluN1-1a/GluN2A receptors; thus, the presence of the GluN2C subunit must regulate forward trafficking of the receptor rather than decreasing the receptor's surface stability.

DISTINCT REGIONS WITHIN THE GluN2C SUBUNIT REGULATE THE FORWARD TRAFFICKING OF NMDA RECEPTORS

Previous studies identified several regions within NMDA receptor subunits-including the N-terminus, membrane domains, and C-terminus-as key elements for controlling the delivery of NMDA receptors to the cell surface (Stephenson et al., 2008; Traynelis et al., 2010). Moreover, the N-terminal domain of the GluN2A subunit-but not the GluN2B subunit-contains an ER retention signal (Horak et al., 2008; Qiu et al., 2009). We first confirmed that a GluN2A subunit that is truncated after the M1 domain (GFP-GluN2A-M1stop), but not the equivalent truncated GluN2B subunit (GFP-GluN2B-M1stop), is retained in the intracellular compartment (Figures 2A,B). We next examined the trafficking of GFP-GluN2C-M1stop and found that this truncated GluN2C protein is retained in the intracellular compartment; thus, the N-terminal domains of both GluN2A and GluN2C regulate their intracellular processing, perhaps via a similar mechanism (Figures 2A,B). We also generated two new GFP-GluN2C-M1stop constructs that lack either the A2 segment (GFP-GluN2C-M1stop- Δ 159–292) or the region immediately downstream of the A2 segment (GFP-GluN2C-M1stop- Δ 293–556). As we expected, deleting the A2 segment prevented the intracellular retention of the truncated GluN2C subunit, similar to a previous study using the GluN2A subunit (Qiu et al., 2009); moreover, the GFP-GluN2C-M1stop-∆293–556 subunit was still retained intracellularly (Figures 2A,B). Using confocal microscopy, we found that GFP-GluN2A-M1stop and GFP-GluN2C-M1stop subunit colocalized closely with an ER marker, but not a Golgi apparatus (GA) marker, supporting the notion that these constructs are not targeted to a different subcellular compartment such as the lysosomes (Figure S3).

A previous study also found that deleting the A2 segment reduces the surface expression of GluN1/GluN2A receptors (Qiu et al., 2009). Therefore, we deleted the A2 segment from the GluN2C subunit (GFP-GluN2C- Δ 159–292). Expressing this construct together with the GluN1-1a subunit in COS-7 cells significantly reduced the surface expression of the receptors (**Figures 3A,B**). Next, we used electrophysiology to confirm these microscopy findings. We performed whole-cell voltage-clamp recordings of HEK293 cells expressing GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C receptors or GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C- Δ 159–292 receptors. Applying 1 mM glutamate (for 5 sec at a membrane potential of -60 mV) elicited receptor-mediated currents in cells expressing GluN1/GluN2C channels, and these currents were



FIGURE 1 | GluN1/GluN2A, GluN1/GluN2B, and GluN1/GluN2C receptors are differentially expressed at the cell surface.

(A) Representative images of the total (left panel) and surface (right panel) pools of GluN1/GluN2A, GluN1/GluN2B, and GluN1/GluN2C receptors expressed in COS-7 cells. Scale bar, 20 μ m. (B) Summary of the normalized intensity ratios of surface and total NMDA receptors expressed in COS-7 cells and visualized using immunofluorescence. *p < 0.05 (relative to GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2A); ANOVA. (C) Representative images of total (left panel) and surface (right panel) NMDA receptor pools in cerebellar granule cells (CGCs). Scale bar, 20 μ m. (D) Summary of the ratio of surface and total

expression of NMDA receptors visualized using confocal microscopy. *p < 0.05 (relative to GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2A); ANOVA. (E) Internalization of GluN1/GluN2 receptors in transfected COS-7 cells. Live cells were incubated for 30 min at 37°C with an anti-GFP antibody; the cells were then fixed and incubated with a fluorescent secondary antibody. Representative images of the GFP signal (left) and internalized receptors (right) in transfected cells are shown. Scale bar, 20 µm. (F,G) Summary ($n \ge 40$ from three independent experiments) of GFP expression (F) and the average number of vesicular puncta per area (G) for the indicated NMDA receptors. *p < 0.05 (relative to GFP-GluN2A); Student's *t*-test.



significantly smaller in cells expressing the GluN2C- Δ 159–292 subunit (Figures 3C,D). To identify the intracellular compartment to which the mutant GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C-Δ159-292 receptors trafficked (given that they were not present at the cell surface), we performed immunofluorescence experiments using COS-7 cells that expressed GluN1-1a/GluN2C or GluN1-1a/GluN2C-Δ159-292 receptors and co-stained the cells with antibodies against ER and GA markers. These experiments revealed that these receptor combinations (including wild-type receptors) clearly co-localized with the ER, but not with the GA (Figures S4 and S5). Finally, we overexpressed the GFP-GluN2C and GFP-GluN2C-∆159–292 subunits in cultured CGCs and compared their surface delivery using confocal microscopy. We found that the GFP-GluN2C- Δ 159–292 subunit was significantly reduced at the cell surface (Figures 3E,F). In all cases, the total expression of the mutant GluN2C subunit did not differ significantly from the corresponding control (i.e., fulllength) GluN2C subunit. Based on previously published results obtained from GluN1/GluN2A receptors (Qiu et al., 2009), we hypothesized that although the structural differences within the N-terminal regions do not likely account for the observed differences in surface expression between the various GluN2containing receptors, the N-terminus clearly plays an important role in delivering GluN1/GluN2C receptors to the cell surface.

We recently reported that specific residues within the M3 domains of both the GluN2A and GluN2B subunits are essential for delivering functional NMDA receptors to the cell surface (Kaniakova et al., 2012a). Based on this finding, we

asked whether the M3 domain in GluN2C plays a similar role in the delivery of NMDA receptors to the cell surface. We therefore generated three constructs in which the amino acid residue at position 645, 656, or 657 (within the M3 domain) was replaced with an alanine residue (yielding constructs GFP-GluN2C-W645A, GFP-GluN2C-Y656A, and GFP-GluN2C-T657A, respectively); these residues are homologous to previously identified key residues in the GluN2A and GluN2B receptors (Kaniakova et al., 2012a; Figure 4A). When coexpressed with the GluN1-1a subunit in COS-7 cells, each mutant GluN2C subunit had reduced surface expression compared to wild-type GluN2C (Figures 4B,C). Consistent with these results, HEK293 cells expressing GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C-W645A or GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C-T657A receptors had reduced glutamate-induced currents (Figures 4D,E); similar results were obtained using cultured CGCs transfected with GFP-GluN2C-W645A, GFP-GluN2C-Y656A, or GFP-GluN2C-T657A subunits (Figures 4F,G). Together, these results support our conclusion that the M3 domain in GluN2C is essential for delivering the receptor to the cell surface. Lastly, co-localization experiments revealed that GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C-W645A and GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C-T657A receptors are present mostly in the ER (Figures S4 and S5).

Finally, we asked whether structural differences in the M3 domains among the various GluN2 subunits can explain the observed differences in surface expression. Because the M3 domains of GluN2A and GluN2C differ by only one amino acid residue (Figure S6), we generated a full-length GluN2A subunit containing the GluN2C M3 domain (GFP-GluN2A-S632L)



NMDA receptor pools in CGCs. (F) Summary of the normalized ratios of surface and total expression of NMDA receptors measured using confocal microscopy. *p < 0.05 (relative to GFP-GluN2C); Student's *t*-test.

and a full-length GluN2C subunit containing the GluN2A M3 domain (GFP-GluN2C-L634S). When co-expressed with GluN1-1a subunits in COS-7 cells, these mutant subunits did not differ significantly from their respective controls in terms of surface expression (Figure S6). Thus, these data suggest that although the M3 domain in GluN2C is essential for delivering GluN2Ccontaining NMDA receptors to the cell surface, other regions in the GluN2C subunit are likely responsible for the differences in surface delivery of GluN2A-, GluN2B-, and GluN2C-containing receptors.

The C-terminal region of GluN subunits was previously implicated in regulating the delivery of NMDA receptors to the cell surface (Traynelis et al., 2010; Sanz-Clemente et al., 2012). To determine whether the C-terminus of the GluN2C subunit regulates the surface delivery of GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors, we first generated a GluN2C subunit that lacks the C-terminal domain (GFP-GluN2C-855stop); the protein was truncated at a similar position as the truncated versions of GluN2A and GluN2B in previous studies (Vissel et al., 2001; Horak et al., 2008). Interestingly, when co-expressed in COS-7 cells with the GluN1-1a subunit, receptors containing the truncated GluN2C failed to traffic to the cell surface (Figures 5A,B). Therefore, we generated a series of Cterminal truncated GluN2C subunits in order to determine whether a specific structural element is essential for the forward trafficking of GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors. We found that the surface expression of seven truncated versions of the GluN2C subunit (truncated from residue 872 through residue 889) is significantly reduced; in contrast, five truncated GluN2C subunits (truncated from residue 890 through residue 1241) had normal levels of surface expression (Figures 5A,B). These results suggest that the region adjacent to residue 889 is critically involved in regulating the surface expression of GluN2C-containing receptors. To test this idea, we generated a full-length pentamutant GFP-GluN2C subunit in which the SLPSP sequence (amino acid residues 885-889) was replaced with alanines, yielding GFP-GluN2C-SLPSP/AAAAA (Figure 6A). We then co-expressed this construct together with GluN1-1a and used immunofluorescence to measure surface NMDA receptors. The GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C-SLPSP/AAAAA receptors were delivered to the cell surface at significantly lower levels than control receptors (Figures 6B,C). Similar results were obtained when the GluN1-1a and GFP-GluN2C-SLPSP/AAAAA subunits were expressed in HEK293 cells (Figures 6D,E) or cultured CGCs (Figures 6F,G); however, in both expression systems, the GFP-GluN2C-855stop subunit caused even less surface expression (Figures 6D–G).

Because the SLPSP motif contains two serine residues, we asked whether surface delivery of the GluN2C-containing receptors is regulated by phosphorylation at these sites. We therefore generated two mutant GluN2C constructs; one construct has alanines substituted for both serines (GFP-GluN2C-S885A,S888A), and the other construct has both serines replaced with the phosphomimetic residue glutamate (GFP-GluN2C-S885E,S888E). We then expressed these mutant subunits together with GluN1-1a in COS-7 cells and measured the surface expression of the receptors. We found that both GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C-S885A,S888A and GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C-S885E,S888E receptors had reduced surface expression (**Figures 6B,C**). Taken together with our co-localization studies using GluN1-1a/GFP-GluN2C-855stop receptors (Figures S4 and S5), we propose that the proximal C-terminus of the GluN2C subunit—and



the SLPSP motif in particular—is a critical structural element that regulates the surface delivery of GluN1/GluN2C receptors (see also Discussion). We also suggest that the Cterminus of GluN2C is the most likely structural element underlying the decreased surface expression of GluN1/GluN2C receptors compared to GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B receptors.

DISCUSSION

The early processing and intracellular transport of NMDA receptors to the cell surface is regulated by specific mechanisms that ensure that only properly assembled receptors containing the appropriate subunits are released from the ER and delivered to the cell surface. Here, we investigated the mechanism by which the GluN2C subunit regulates the surface



delivery of NMDA receptors. Using a combination of molecular biology, microscopy, and electrophysiology in mammalian cell lines and CGCs expressing recombinant NMDA receptors, we found that the delivery of GluN1/GluN2C receptors to the cell surface is reduced considerably compared to both GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B receptors. Furthermore, we identified three regions within different domains of the GluN2C subunit that play a key role in the surface expression of GluN2Ccontaining NMDA receptors. We conclude that the GluN2C subunit regulates the forward trafficking of NMDA receptors by a unique mechanism that differs from other NMDA receptor types.

ROLE OF THE GIUN2C SUBUNIT IN THE FORWARD TRAFFICKING OF NMDA RECEPTORS

Our finding that GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B receptors are differentially targeted to the cell surface of mammalian cell

lines is consistent with previously published results (Chen et al., 1999). However, in cultured CGCs, we found no difference in surface expression between GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B receptors. This discrepancy may be due to the presence of endogenous NMDA receptor subunits in cultured neurons; these endogenous subunits can form multiple NMDA receptor complexes, including triheteromeric receptors (Hansen et al., 2014). The finding that surface targeting of GluN2C-containing receptors is reduced compared to GluN2A- and GluN2B-containing receptors-which was observed in both mammalian cell lines and cultured CGCs-indicates that the GluN2C subunit contains critical structural elements that control the trafficking of GluN2C-containing receptors. These GluN2C-specific elements are likely recognized by specific protein-protein binding partners, including sorting nexin 27 (SNX27) and 14-3-3-epsilon (Chen and Roche, 2009; Cai et al., 2011), as well as other unidentified proteins. Indeed, when expressed alone (i.e., without



GluN1), the GluN2C subunit was retained in the intracellular compartment, as shown previously for GluN2A and GluN2B (Mcllhinney et al., 1998; Horak et al., 2008). This finding suggests that co-assembly of the GluN1 subunit in the receptor is essential for the release of all GluN2 subunit types from the ER.

ROLE OF DISTINCT REGIONS IN THE GIUN2C SUBUNIT IMPLICATED IN THE FORWARD TRAFFICKING of NMDA RECEPTORS

We identified three distinct regions within the GluN2C subunit that are essential for driving the surface delivery of GluN1/GluN2C receptors. First, truncating the GluN2C subunit immediately downstream of the M1 domain caused the protein to be retained in the intracellular compartment, and this retention was released by deleting the N-terminal A2 segment. However, deleting the N-terminal A2 segment from the full-length (i.e., nontruncated) GluN2C subunit reduced the surface expression of GluN1/GluN2C receptors. Interestingly, a similar phenomenon was reported previously for GluN2A, but not GluN2B (Qiu et al., 2009). Given that the A2 segment is relatively well conserved among GluN2 subunits, it is currently unclear why the A2 segment regulates GluN2A and GluN2C differently than GluN2B. It is possible that the A2 segment of some GluN2 subunits can interact with specific binding partner(s); alternatively, the presence of a specific A2 segment is required to enable the GluN1/GluN2 heterotetramer to pass the intracellular quality control checkpoints (with the ER serving as the most likely checkpoint). The latter possibility may be supported by the finding that the GluN1 homodimer must dissociated in order to form the GluN1/GluN2 heterotetramer (Farina et al., 2011).

Second, our experiments revealed the identity of three amino acid residues within the M3 domain of GluN2C-specifically, W645, Y656, and T657-that are important for delivering GluN2C-containing NMDA receptors to the cell surface. We previously reported that the presence of identical residues within the GluN1, GluN2A, and GluN2B subunits is essential for surface delivery of the NMDA receptors; therefore, a shared mechanism likely underlies the M3 domain's ability to regulate the surface expression of NMDA receptors (Kaniakova et al., 2012a). In contrast to previous data with GluN1, GluN2A, and GluN2B subunits with mutations in the M3 domain, we observed extremely small currents in GluN1/GluN2C receptors with a mutation in the GluN2C subunit's M3 domain. One explanation may be that the reduced surface expression of wild-type GluN2C-containing receptors-compared to GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B receptors—is further reduced by the same mechanisms, as in the case of GluN1/GluN2A and GluN1/GluN2B receptors. Alternatively, the GluN1/GluN2C receptors may be regulated via their membrane domains more tightly than other receptor types, and this may be reflected in their reduced surface localization. The membrane domains of GluN subunits were found to be essential for regulating NMDA receptors (Ren et al., 2007; Salous et al., 2009). Moreover, the presence of the M4 domain in GluN1 and GluN2 was found to be essential for forming functional receptors (Schorge and Colquhoun, 2003). Thus, based on these previous data and our observations, specific intermembrane domain interactions are clearly essential for mediating the delivery of NMDA receptors to the cell surface; however, it is currently not clear whether their effect is mediated during ER processing and/or downstream intracellular transport (Greger et al., 2003; Cao et al., 2011; Salussolia et al., 2011; Kaniakova et al., 2012b).

Finally, we found that deleting the entire C-terminus of GluN2C significantly reduces the number of functional NMDA receptors at the cell surface. Interestingly, deleting the C-terminus of GluN2A or GluN2B does not have such a profound effect (Vissel et al., 2001; Horak et al., 2008). Our series of deletions and mutations revealed a critical structural element within the proximal C-terminal region of the GluN2C subunit; this 5-residue motif (SLPSP) regulates the surface expression

of GluN1/GluN2C receptors. Whether the SLPSP motif interacts with a specific binding partner remains unclear. Indeed, we cannot exclude the possibility that additional structural elements within the C-terminus of GluN2C-aside from the SLPSP motif-also regulate the transport of GluN1/GluN2C receptors. This view is supported by a compelling study that identified the RHASLP motif in the C-terminus of GluN2C as a 14-3-3 binding motif (Chen and Roche, 2009). Moreover, we found that deleting the PDZ-binding motif in the GluN2C subunit (i.e., our GluN2C-1241stop construct) did not affect the surface expression of NMDA receptors, which is consistent with a previous study that found that phosphorylation of the serine residues adjacent to the PDZ-binding motif does not regulate the trafficking of GluN1/GluN2C receptors (Chen et al., 2006). Based on this large body of data, we propose that the C-terminus of GluN2C subunits-including the SLPSP motifplays a unique and specific role in regulating the delivery of GluN1/GluN2C receptors to the cell surface. At this time, our data cannot be used to determine whether the GluN2C C-terminus-including the SLPSP motif-plays a role in ER processing and/or intracellular transport of NMDA receptors. Nevertheless, the C-terminus of GluN2C has relatively low homology with the C-termini of GluN2A and GluN2B (Ishii et al., 1993); therefore, the SLPSP motif within the C-terminus of GluN2C does not have a corresponding motif (i.e., located the same distance from the M4 domain) in the GluN2A and GluN2B subunits.

PHYSIOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS

Our results clearly demonstrate that multiple structural elements within the GluN2C subunit regulate the transport of GluN2Ccontaining NMDA receptors. Although it is currently not clear why cells use multiple mechanisms to regulate the trafficking of various NMDA receptor types, it is possible that this strategy ensures that only properly folded GluN2C-containing receptors are transported to the cell surface. Indeed, specific regulatory mechanisms may be used under specific circumstances (e.g., during the activity-driven stimulation of synapses); thus, having several regulatory options available enables the cell to react appropriately under different conditions. Interestingly, mice that express a GluN2C subunit that lack the C-terminus have clear deficits in motor coordination (Sprengel et al., 1998); this observation is consistent with our finding that the C-terminus of GluN2C is an essential element for delivering NMDA receptors to the cell surface. Given that the proper regulation of NMDA receptors is essential for many processes, including excitatory neurotransmission, synaptic plasticity, learning, and memory consolidation, our results provide key insight into the molecular mechanisms that underlie the function of NMDA receptors. These results may also facilitate the development of new therapeutic strategies for treating a wide variety of diseases that are associated with aberrant NMDA receptor trafficking.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Martin Horak, Katarina Lichnerova, Kristyna Skrenkova, Ladislav Vyklicky, and Martina Kaniakova performed the experiments, Martin Horak, Kristyna Skrenkova, Ladislav Vyklicky, and Martina Kaniakova analyzed the data, and Martin Horak wrote the manuscript with input from the co-authors. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Magda Kuntosova for technical assistance and Dr. K. W. Roche and Dr. B. S. Chen for generously providing the GFP-GluN2C construct. This work was supported by the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic (14-09220P, to Martina Kaniakova; 14-02219S, to Martin Horak; and P303/12/1464, to Ladislav Vyklicky), the Grant Agency of Charles University (1520-243-253483, to Katarina Lichnerova), a Marie Curie International Reintegration Grant (PIRG-GA-2010-276827; to Martin Horak), a Research Project of the AS CR (RVO:67985823) and BIOCEV – Biotechnology and Biomedicine Centre of Academy of Sciences and Charles University in Vestec, project supported from European Regional Development Fund. The authors declare no conflict of interests.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fncel.2014.00375/ abstract

REFERENCES

- Akazawa, C., Shigemoto, R., Bessho, Y., Nakanishi, S., and Mizuno, N. (1994). Differential expression of five N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit mRNAs in the cerebellum of developing and adult rats. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 347, 150–160. doi: 10.1002/cne.903470112
- Atlason, P. T., Garside, M. L., Meddows, E., Whiting, P., and Mcllhinney, R. A. (2007). N-Methyl-D-aspartate (n.d.) receptor subunit NR1 forms the substrate for oligomeric assembly of the NMDA receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 25299–25307. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M702778200
- Cai, L., Loo, L. S., Atlashkin, V., Hanson, B. J., and Hong, W. (2011). Deficiency of sorting nexin 27 (SNX27) leads to growth retardation and elevated levels of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor 2C (NR2C). *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 31, 1734–1747. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01044-10
- Cao, J. Y., Qiu, S., Zhang, J., Wang, J. J., Zhang, X. M., and Luo, J. H. (2011). Transmembrane region of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) subunit is required for receptor subunit assembly. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 27698–27705. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.235333
- Chen, B. S., Braud, S., Badger, J. D. II, Isaac, J. T., and Roche, K. W. (2006). Regulation of NR1/NR2C *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (n.d.) receptors by phosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 16583–16590. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M513029200
- Chen, B. S., and Roche, K. W. (2009). Growth factor-dependent trafficking of cerebellar NMDA receptors via protein kinase B/Akt phosphorylation of NR2C. *Neuron* 62, 471–478. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009. 04.015
- Chen, N., Luo, T., and Raymond, L. A. (1999). Subtype-dependence of NMDA receptor channel open probability. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 6844–6854.
- Farina, A. N., Blain, K. Y., Maruo, T., Kwiatkowski, W., Choe, S., and Nakagawa, T. (2011). Separation of domain contacts is required for heterotetrameric assembly of functional NMDA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 3565–3579. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6041-10.2011
- Fukaya, M., Kato, A., Lovett, C., Tonegawa, S., and Watanabe, M. (2003). Retention of NMDA receptor NR2 subunits in the lumen of endoplasmic reticulum in targeted NR1 knockout mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 4855–4860. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0830996100
- Greger, I. H., Khatri, L., Kong, X., and Ziff, E. B. (2003). AMPA receptor tetramerization is mediated by Q/R editing. *Neuron* 40, 763–774. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00668-8
- Hansen, K. B., Ogden, K. K., Yuan, H., and Traynelis, S. F. (2014). Distinct functional and pharmacological properties of Triheteromeric GluN1/GluN2A/GluN2B NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 81, 1084–1096. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.01.035

- Hawkins, L. M., Prybylowski, K., Chang, K., Moussan, C., Stephenson, F. A., and Wenthold, R. J. (2004). Export from the endoplasmic reticulum of assembled *N*-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors is controlled by a motif in the c terminus of the NR2 subunit. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 28903–28910. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M402599200
- Horak, M., Chang, K., and Wenthold, R. J. (2008). Masking of the endoplasmic reticulum retention signals during assembly of the NMDA receptor. J. Neurosci. 28, 3500–3509. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5239-07.2008
- Horak, M., Vlcek, K., Chodounska, H., and Vyklicky, L. Jr. (2006). Subtypedependence of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor modulation by pregnenolone sulfate. *Neuroscience* 137, 93–102. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.08.058
- Horak, M., and Wenthold, R. J. (2009). Different roles of C-terminal cassettes in the trafficking of full-length NR1 subunits to the cell surface. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 9683–9691. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M807050200
- Ishii, T., Moriyoshi, K., Sugihara, H., Sakurada, K., Kadotani, H., Yokoi, M., et al. (1993). Molecular characterization of the family of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 2836–2843.
- Kadotani, H., Namura, S., Katsuura, G., Terashima, T., and Kikuchi, H. (1998). Attenuation of focal cerebral infarct in mice lacking NMDA receptor subunit NR2C. *Neuroreport* 9, 471–475. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199802160-00021
- Kaniakova, M., Krausova, B., Vyklicky, V., Korinek, M., Lichnerova, K., Vyklicky, L., et al. (2012a). Key amino acid residues within the third membrane domains of NR1 and NR2 subunits contribute to the regulation of the surface delivery of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 26423–26434. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.339085
- Kaniakova, M., Lichnerova, K., Vyklicky, L., and Horak, M. (2012b). Single amino acid residue in the M4 domain of GluN1 subunit regulates the surface delivery of NMDA receptors. J. Neurochem. 123, 385–395. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12002
- Kenny, A. V., Cousins, S. L., Pinho, L., and Stephenson, F. A. (2009). The integrity of the glycine co-agonist binding site of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors is a functional quality control checkpoint for cell surface delivery. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 324–333. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M804023200
- Lau, C. G., and Zukin, R. S. (2007). NMDA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 413–426. doi: 10.1038/nrn2153
- Lavezzari, G., Mccallum, J., Dewey, C. M., and Roche, K. W. (2004). Subunitspecific regulation of NMDA receptor endocytosis. J. Neurosci. 24, 6383–6391. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1890-04.2004
- Lu, C., Fu, Z., Karavanov, I., Yasuda, R. P., Wolfe, B. B., Buonanno, A., et al. (2006). NMDA receptor subtypes at autaptic synapses of cerebellar granule neurons. *J. Neurophysiol.* 96, 2282–2294. doi: 10.1152/jn.00078.2006
- Luo, J. H., Fu, Z. Y., Losi, G., Kim, B. G., Prybylowski, K., Vissel, B., et al. (2002). Functional expression of distinct NMDA channel subunits tagged with green fluorescent protein in hippocampal neurons in culture. *Neuropharmacology* 42, 306–318. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(01)00188-5
- Madden, D. R. (2002). The structure and function of glutamate receptor ion channels. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 3, 91–101. doi: 10.1038/ nrn725
- Marianowski, R., Pollard, H., Moreau, J., Despres, G., Ben Ari, Y., Tran Ba Huy, P., et al. (1995). N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits NR1 and NR2C are overexpressed in the inferior colliculus of audiogenic mice. *Neurosci. Lett.* 189, 190–194. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(95)11454-5
- Mcllhinney, R. A., Le Bourdelles, B., Molnar, E., Tricaud, N., Streit, P., and Whiting, P. J. (1998). Assembly intracellular targeting and cell surface expression of the human N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits NR1a and NR2A in transfected cells. *Neuropharmacology* 37, 1355–1367. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(98)00121-X
- Meddows, E., Le Bourdelles, B., Grimwood, S., Wafford, K., Sandhu, S., Whiting, P., et al. (2001). Identification of molecular determinants that are important in the assembly of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 18795–18803. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M101382200
- Monyer, H., Burnashev, N., Laurie, D. J., Sakmann, B., and Seeburg, P. H. (1994). Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 12, 529–540. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(94)90210-0
- Mu, Y., Otsuka, T., Horton, A. C., Scott, D. B., and Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Activitydependent mRNA splicing controls ER export and synaptic delivery of NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 40, 581–594. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00676-7
- Okabe, S., Miwa, A., and Okado, H. (1999). Alternative splicing of the C-terminal domain regulates cell surface expression of the NMDA receptor NR1 subunit. *J. Neurosci.* 19, 7781–7792.

- Paoletti, P. (2011). Molecular basis of NMDA receptor functional diversity. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 33, 1351–1365. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2011.07628.x
- Petralia, R. S., Al-Hallaq, R. A., and Wenthold, R. J. (2009). "Trafficking and targeting of NMDA receptors," in *Biology of the NMDA Receptor*, ed. A. M. Van Dongen (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press), 149–200.
- Pollard, H., Khrestchatisky, M., Moreau, J., and Ben Ari, Y. (1993). Transient expression of the NR2C subunit of the NMDA receptor in developing rat brain. *Neuroreport* 4, 411–414. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199304000-00018
- Prybylowski, K., Chang, K., Sans, N., Kan, L., Vicini, S., and Wenthold, R. J. (2005). The synaptic localization of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors is controlled by interactions with PDZ proteins and AP-2. *Neuron* 47, 845–857. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.08.016
- Prybylowski, K., Fu, Z., Losi, G., Hawkins, L. M., Luo, J., Chang, K., et al. (2002). Relationship between availability of NMDA receptor subunits and their expression at the synapse. J. Neurosci. 22, 8902–8910.
- Qiu, S., Zhang, X. M., Cao, J. Y., Yang, W., Yan, Y. G., Shan, L., et al. (2009). An endoplasmic reticulum retention signal located in the extracellular aminoterminal domain of the NR2A subunit of N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 20285–20298. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.004960
- Rafiki, A., Bernard, A., Medina, I., Gozlan, H., and Khrestchatisky, M. (2000). Characterization in cultured cerebellar granule cells and in the developing rat brain of mRNA variants for the NMDA receptor 2C subunit. *J. Neurochem.* 74, 1798–1808. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2000.0741798.x
- Ren, H., Salous, A. K., Paul, J. M., Lipsky, R. H., and Peoples, R. W. (2007). Mutations at F637 in the NMDA receptor NR2A subunit M3 domain influence agonist potency, ion channel gating and alcohol action. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 151, 749–757. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707254
- Salous, A. K., Ren, H., Lamb, K. A., Hu, X. Q., Lipsky, R. H., and Peoples, R. W. (2009). Differential actions of ethanol and trichloroethanol at sites in the M3 and M4 domains of the NMDA receptor GluN2A (NR2A) subunit. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 158, 1395–1404. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00397.x
- Salussolia, C. L., Corrales, A., Talukder, I., Kazi, R., Akgul, G., Bowen, M., et al. (2011). Interaction of the M4 segment with other transmembrane segments is required for surface expression of mammalian AMPA receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 40205–40218. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.268839
- Sanz-Clemente, A., Nicoll, R. A., and Roche, K. W. (2012). Diversity in NMDA receptor composition: many regulators, many consequences. *Neuroscientist* 19, 62–75. doi: 10.1177/1073858411435129
- Schorge, S., and Colquhoun, D. (2003). Studies of NMDA receptor function and stoichiometry with truncated and tandem subunits. J. Neurosci. 23, 1151–1158.

- Schuler, T., Mesic, I., Madry, C., Bartholomaus, I., and Laube, B. (2008). Formation of NR1/NR2 and NR1/NR3 heterodimers constitutes the initial step in N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor assembly. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 37–46. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M703539200
- Scott, D. B., Michailidis, I., Mu, Y., Logothetis, D., and Ehlers, M. D. (2004). Endocytosis and degradative sorting of NMDA receptors by conserved membrane-proximal signals. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 7096–7109. doi: 10.1523/JNEUR OSCI.0780-04.2004
- Sprengel, R., Suchanek, B., Amico, C., Brusa, R., Burnashev, N., Rozov, A., et al. (1998). Importance of the intracellular domain of NR2 subunits for NMDA receptor function *in vivo*. *Cell* 92, 279–289. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80921-6
- Standley, S., Roche, K. W., Mccallum, J., Sans, N., and Wenthold, R. J. (2000). PDZ domain suppression of an ER retention signal in NMDA receptor NR1 splice variants. *Neuron* 28, 887–898. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)00161-6
- Stephenson, F. A., Cousins, S. L., and Kenny, A. V. (2008). Assembly and forward trafficking of NMDA receptors (Review). *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 25, 311–320. doi: 10.1080/09687680801971367
- Traynelis, S. F., Wollmuth, L. P., Mcbain, C. J., Menniti, F. S., Vance, K. M., Ogden, K. K., et al. (2010). Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 62, 405–496. doi: 10.1124/pr.109.002451
- Vissel, B., Krupp, J. J., Heinemann, S. F., and Westbrook, G. L. (2001). A usedependent tyrosine dephosphorylation of NMDA receptors is independent of ion flux. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 587–596. doi: 10.1038/88404

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 26 August 2014; accepted: 21 October 2014; published online: 10 November 2014.

Citation: Lichnerova K, Kaniakova M, Skrenkova K, Vyklicky L and Horak M (2014) Distinct regions within the GluN2C subunit regulate the surface delivery of NMDA receptors. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8:375. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00375

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Lichnerova, Kaniakova, Skrenkova, Vyklicky and Horak. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



DYRK1A-mediated phosphorylation of GluN2A at Ser¹⁰⁴⁸ regulates the surface expression and channel activity of GluN1/GluN2A receptors

Cristina Grau^{1†}, Krisztina Arató^{2,3†}, José M. Fernández-Fernández⁴, Aitana Valderrama¹, Carlos Sindreu⁵, Cristina Fillat^{3,6}, Isidre Ferrer¹, Susana de la Luna^{2,3,7} and Xavier Altafaj¹*

¹ Institute of Neuropathology, Bellvitge Biomedical Research Institute (IDIBELL), L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Barcelona, Spain

² Gene Regulation, Stem Cell and Cancer Programme, UPF and Center for Genomic Regulation (CRG), Barcelona, Spain

³ CIBER de Enfermedades Raras (CIBERER), Barcelona, Spain

- ⁴ Laboratory of Molecular Physiology and Channelopathies, Department of Experimental and Health Sciences, Pompeu Fabra University, Barcelona, Spain
- ⁵ Department of Anatomical Pathology, Pharmacology and Microbiology, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

⁶ Institut d'Investigacions Biomèdiques August Pi i Sunyer (IDIBAPS), Barcelona, Spain

⁷ Institució Catalana de Recerca i Estudis Avançats (ICREA), Barcelona, Spain

Edited by:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Martin Horak, Institute of Physiology AS CR, Czech Republic Antonio Sanz-Clemente, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke/National Institute of Health, USA

*Correspondence:

Xavier Altafaj, Institute of Neuropathology, Bellvitge Biomedical Research Institute (IDIBELL), L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Av. Gran Via 199, 08908 Barcelona, Spain

e-mail: xaltafaj@idibell.cat

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work.

N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors (NMDARs) play a pivotal role in neural development and synaptic plasticity, as well as in neurological disease. Since NMDARs exert their function at the cell surface, their density in the plasma membrane is finely tuned by a plethora of molecules that regulate their production, trafficking, docking and internalization in response to external stimuli. In addition to transcriptional regulation, the density of NMDARs is also influenced by post-translational mechanisms like phosphorylation, a modification that also affects their biophysical properties. We previously described the increased surface expression of GluN1/GluN2A receptors in transgenic mice overexpressing the Dual specificity tyrosine-phosphorylation-regulated kinase 1A (DYRK1A), suggesting that DYRK1A regulates NMDARs. Here we have further investigated whether the density and activity of NMDARs were modulated by DYRK1A phosphorylation. Accordingly, we show that endogenous DYRK1A is recruited to GluN2A-containing NMDARs in the adult mouse brain, and we identify a DYRK1A phosphorylation site at Ser¹⁰⁴⁸ of GluN2A, within its intracellular C-terminal domain. Mechanistically, the DYRK1A-dependent phosphorylation of GluN2A at Ser¹⁰⁴⁸ hinders the internalization of GluN1/GluN2A, causing an increase of surface GluN1/GluN2A in heterologous systems, as well as in primary cortical neurons. Furthermore, GluN2A phosphorylation at Ser¹⁰⁴⁸ increases the current density and potentiates the gating of GluN1/GluN2A receptors. We conclude that DYRK1A is a direct regulator of NMDA receptors and we propose a novel mechanism for the control of NMDAR activity in neurons.

Keywords: GluN2A, DYRK1A, phosphorylation, NMDA receptor, trafficking, Down syndrome

INTRODUCTION

N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) belong to the ionotropic class of glutamate receptors, playing critical roles in neural development and survival, as well as in synaptic plasticity and memory processes (Traynelis et al., 2010; Hunt and Castillo, 2012; Paoletti et al., 2013). Moreover, impairment of NMDAR activity has been associated with certain pathological conditions (reviewed in Lau and Zukin, 2007). *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptors are heterotetramers composed of two obligatory GluN1 subunits and two GluN2 (A–D) or GluN3 (A–B) subunits (Paoletti et al., 2013). The biosynthetic pathway of NMDARs leads them to the plasma membrane, where they act as cation-permeable channels gated simultaneously by co-agonists binding and membrane depolarization (reviewed in Traynelis et al., 2010). *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor activity is dictated by their location and

density at the cell surface, their GluN2 subunit composition, and their post-translational modifications (Barria and Malinow, 2002; Lavezzari et al., 2004; Chen and Roche, 2007; Storey et al., 2011). Non-genomic mechanisms are particularly important in regulating the assembly, trafficking, docking and internalization of NMDARs. Of these, the phosphorylation status of the C-terminal domain of NMDARs regulates activity-dependent NMDAR levels and activity (Salter and Kalia, 2004; Chen and Roche, 2007; Sanz-Clemente et al., 2012). A number of kinases may preferentially phosphorylate a given GluN2 subunit isoform, linking NMDAR composition and activity to intracellular signaling (Sanz-Clemente et al., 2012; Ryan et al., 2013). However, the complete picture of NMDAR phosphorylation, including the kinases and amino acid residues involved, and the functional output of phosphorylation events, is still to be fully defined.

We previously revealed a link between the Dual specificity tyrosine-phosphorylation-regulated kinase 1A (DYRK1A) and NMDARs, evident through the increased GluN1/GluN2A content of synaptosomes obtained from transgenic TgDyrk1A mice (Altafaj et al., 2008). Dual specificity tyrosine-phosphorylationregulated kinase 1A is a protein kinase found in both the nucleus and cytosol of many different cell types. Upon self-activation by tyrosine autophosphorylation, this kinase phosphorylates serine and threonine residues in exogenous substrates that are involved in a wide variety of cellular functions, including intracellular signaling and synaptic remodeling (reviewed in Aranda et al., 2011). Dual specificity tyrosine-phosphorylation-regulated kinase 1A has received a lot of attention because of its cytogenetic location in the Down syndrome (DS) critical region on human chromosome 21 (HSA21) and its overexpression in DS individuals (Guimerà et al., 1996). Consistent with its potentially etiological role in DS, Dyrk1A overexpression in mice provokes DS-like neurodevelopmental, visual, motor and cognitive phenotypic alterations (reviewed in Park and Chung, 2013), some of which can be rescued through Dyrk1A normalization (Ortiz-Abalia et al., 2008; Altafaj et al., 2013; Laguna et al., 2013).

Here we show that DYRK1A interacts functionally with GluN2A to post-translationally regulate the biophysical properties and the surface expression of NMDARs. We found that DYRK1A physically interacts with GluN1/GluN2A complexes and that it phosphorylates the C-terminal domain of the GluN2A subunit at serine residue 1048 (S¹⁰⁴⁸). DYRK1A-mediated phosphorylation of this residue hinders the internalization of GluN1/GluN2A receptors, provoking increased cell surface expression of these receptors. Moreover, GluN2A S¹⁰⁴⁸ phosphorylation not only increases the peak current density but also the GluN1/GluN2A channel opening rate. Together, these findings suggest that DYRK1A is a novel regulator of GluN1/GluN2A receptors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS PLASMIDS

The expression plasmids for rat GluN1 and GFP-GluN2A were kindly provided by Dr. Vicini (Georgetown University Medical Center, Washington, USA; Vicini et al., 1998). The plasmids to express HA-tagged rat GluN1 in mammalian cells and for the bacterial expression of rat GluN2A C-terminal domain fragments (C1: 897-1117, C2: 1102-1409 and C3: 1409-1464) fused at the N-terminal to glutathione S-transferase (GST) were kindly provided by Dr. Nakanishi and Dr. Nakazawa, respectively (Institute of Medical Science, University of Tokyo, Japan; Tezuka et al., 1999; Taniguchi et al., 2009). The rat GluN2A Cterminal domain fragments (C-term: 897–1464, C1∆1: 839–1076, C1 Δ 2: 839–1016) were digested with EcoRI/XhoI and ligated into the digested pGEX-5X-2 vector (Promega). Nucleotide changes (the mutation of serine codons to alanine) were achieved by oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis, using the QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Stratagene). All the plasmids generated by PCR or site-directed mutagenesis, as well as all the in-frame fusions, were verified by DNA sequencing. The expression plasmids encoding the human DYRK1A variants, both the wild type

and the kinase-inactive (KD) mutant, have been described previously: HA-tagged variants (pHA derivatives), N-terminal GST fusions (pGST derivatives), and DYRK1A fused to the enhanced green fluorescent protein (described in Alvarez et al., 2007).

GST FUSION PROTEIN EXPRESSION IN BACTERIA

Expression constructs for GST fusion proteins were transformed into *Escherichia coli* BL21(DE3)pLysS and protein expression was induced with 0.1 mM isopropyl- β -D-thiogalactopyranoside for either 3 h at 37°C for the unfused GST, GST-C1, GST-C2 and GST-C3 fusion proteins, or for 8 h at 20°C for GST-CterGluN2A and GST-DYRK1A. The recombinant proteins were bound to glutathione beads (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) and when required, they were eluted with 10 mM reduced glutathione in 50 mM Tris-HCl [pH 8], and dialyzed against a buffer containing 50 mM HEPES [pH 7.4], 150 mM NaCl and 2 mM EDTA. Protein concentrations were determined with a colorimetric assay (the bicinchoninic acid protein assay kit, BCA: Pierce) and/or by Coomassie blue staining of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)-polyacrylamide gels in which they were compared with standards.

IMMUNOPRECIPITATION

For immunoprecipitation of the endogenous GluN1 and DYRK1A complexes, brains from 2- to 4-month-old mice were dissected out and mechanically homogenized with 10 up-anddown strokes at 700 rpm of a glass-Teflon homogenizer in 10 vol of cold sucrose buffer (320 mM sucrose, 10 mM HEPES [pH 7.4], 1 mM EDTA and Halt[™] Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail [PPIC; Pierce]). The homogenate was centrifuged at 4° C for 10 min at 800×g to remove the nuclei and large debris. Subsequently, the supernatant was centrifuged for 15 min at $14,000 \times g$ to obtain the membrane-associated fraction, which was further solubilized in lysis buffer (10 mM HEPES [pH 7.4], 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.1 mM MgCl₂, 1% Nonidet P40 [NP-40]) for immunoprecipitation with anti-DYRK1A and RIPA buffer for immunoprecipitation with anti-GluN1 supplemented with PPIC. The homogenates were clarified by centrifugation at 4°C for 10 min at 16,000×g. After preclearing the soluble lysates for 1 h at 4°C with equilibrated protein G-Sepharose, they were incubated overnight at 4°C with 10 µg of either an anti-GluN1 mouse monoclonal antibody (mAb; Millipore Cat# 05-432 RRID:AB_10015247), or an anti-DYRK1A mAb (Abnova Corporation Cat# H00001859-M01 RRID:AB_534844). Nonspecific mouse immunoglobulin G (IgG; Sigma-Aldrich Cat# I5381 RRID:AB_1163670) was used as a control for specificity. The immunocomplexes were incubated with protein G-Sepharose for 2 h at 4°C, and the beads were then washed twice with lysis buffer and once with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). The bound proteins were eluted in Laemmli's buffer (LB) and analyzed in Western blots.

WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS

For protein extraction, cells were washed with PBS and scraped off the plate in 400 μ l of lysis buffer (50 mM HEPES [pH 7.4], 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 1% NP-40 and PPIC).

After 10 min incubation at 4°C, the cell debris was pelleted at $15,000 \times g$, the solubilized proteins were collected and the protein concentration was determined using a BCA assay. Proteins were separated by 8% SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham), which were then blocked with 10% skimmed milk in 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5)/100 mM NaCl (TBS) plus 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS-T). The membranes were probed overnight at 4°C with the primary Ab of interest (diluted in TBS-T/ + 5% skimmed milk) directed against: GluN1, GluN2A (Sigma-Aldrich Cat# M264 RRID:AB_260485), DYRK1A, the HA epitope (Covance, Inc. Cat# MMS-101R-500 RRID:AB_10063630), and GFP (Clontech Cat# 632381). Protein loading was monitored by assessing β-Actin (Sigma-Aldrich Cat# A2228 RRID:AB_476697). Antibody binding was detected with an anti-mouse or anti-rabbit Ab coupled to horseradish peroxidase (Dako, Cat. No. P0447 and P0448, respectively) for 1 h at room temperature (RT) and the immunocomplexes were visualized by chemiluminescence (ECL detection system: Pierce), following the manufacturer's instructions. Immunosignals were analyzed densitometrically with Image J software (National Institutes of Health, USA).

IN VITRO KINASE ASSAYS

The in vitro kinase (IVK) assays were performed with either GluN1 immunocomplexes from mouse brain or bacterially expressed recombinant GST fusion proteins as the substrates, and bacterially expressed GST-DYRK1A (wt or KD version) as the kinase, purified as described previously (Alvarez et al., 2007). For IVK assays with anti-GluN1 immunocomplexes, the immobilized proteins were washed twice with kinase buffer (50 mM HEPES [pH 7.4], 0.5 mM dithiothreitol, 5 mM MgCl₂, 5 mM MnCl₂), and incubated for 20 min at 30°C in 30 µl of kinase buffer with a final concentration of 50 μ M ATP and [γ -³²P]ATP (1 \times 10⁻² µCi/pmol). For GST fusion proteins, eluted GST-GluN2A C-terminal fragments (0.5-1 µg) were incubated for 20 min at 30°C in 40 µl of kinase buffer with 50 µM ATP and $[\gamma^{-32}P]$ ATP $(1 \times 10^{-3} \mu \text{Ci/pmol})$. Reactions were stopped by adding $6 \times$ LB, the samples were resolved by SDS-PAGE and then stained with Coomassie blue. The incorporation of ³²P was detected by autoradiography of the dried gels.

CELL CULTURE AND TRANSFECTION

HEK-293T and COS-7 cell lines were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection and maintained at 37°C in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum, antibiotics (100 units/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin). Furthermore, D-2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid (D-AP5, 200 μ M for HEK-293T and 500 μ M for COS-7: Abcam Biochemicals) was added to the medium to avoid excitotoxicity in cells co-transfected with GluN1 and GFP-GluN2A (1:1 ratio). Transient transfection of HEK-293T cells was achieved by the calcium phosphate method and the cells were analyzed 48 h after transfection. COS-7 cells were transiently transfected with Lipofectamine 2000 (Life Technologies), according to the manufacturer's recommendations, and the cells were fixed 20 h after transfection.

To prepare dissociated cortical neuron cultures, embryonic day (E)18 mouse embryos were obtained from pregnant females, the cerebral cortex was isolated and maintained in cold Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS, Gibco) supplemented with 0.45% glucose (HBSS-Glucose). After carefully removing the meninges, the cortical tissue was digested mildly with trypsin for 17 min at 37°C and dissociated. The cells were washed three times in HBSS and resuspended in Neurobasal medium supplemented with 2 mM Glutamax (Gibco) before filtering in 70 µm mesh filters (BD Falcon). The cells were then plated onto glass coverslips (5 \times 10⁴ cells/cm²) coated with 0.1 mg/ml poly-L-lysine (Sigma) and 2 h after seeding, the plating medium was substituted by complete growth medium, Neurobasal medium supplemented with 2% B27 (Invitrogen) and 2 mM Glutamax, and the coverslips were incubated at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere. Every 3-4 days, half of the conditioned medium was removed and replaced by fresh growth medium. Primary cultures were transfected with Lipofectamine 2000 on day 8 in vitro (div8), according to the manufacturer's, instructions and the cells were fixed 48 h after transfection. All the experimental procedures were carried out according to European Union guidelines (Directive 2010/63/EU) and following protocols that were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Bellvitge Biomedical Research Institute (IDIBELL).

IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE ANALYSIS OF SURFACE NMDA RECEPTORS

The surface-to-total expression of NMDARs was analyzed in COS-7 cells that were washed twice with PBS before they were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). Surface expression of GFP-GluN2A was detected using an antibody against GFP (1:1000, Life Technologies Cat# A11122 RRID:AB_10073917) that recognizes the extracellular epitope of heterologously expressed receptors and that was visualized with an Alexa 647-conjugated goat anti-rabbit Ab (1:1000, Molecular Probes (Invitrogen) Cat# A21245 RRID:AB_141775). The total pool of receptors was detected by the fluorescent signal emitted by the GFP-GluN2A transfected. HA-DYRK1A positive cells were identified after permeabilizing the cells with 0.1% Triton X-100 and labeling with anti-HA (1:1000) that was visualized with an Alexa 555-conjugated donkey anti-mouse Ab (1:2000, Molecular Probes, Cat# A31570).

To analyze the surface expression of the transfected NMDARs in primary neuronal cultures, cells were washed twice with PBS and fixed with 4% PFA in PBS containing 4% sucrose. The surface expression of GFP-GluN2A was detected with anti-GFP (1 h) and visualized with an Alexa 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit Ab (1:1000, Life Technologies Cat# A11034 RRID:AB_10562715). The intracellular pool of receptors was identified by permeabilizing cells with 0.1% Triton X-100 and labeling them with a rabbit anti-GFP-Alexa 555-conjugated Ab (1:250, Invitrogen Cat# A31851 RRID:AB_1500154). HA-DYRK1A positive neurons were identified by labeling them with mouse anti-HA that was visualized with an Alexa 647-conjugated donkey anti-mouse Ab (1:1000, Molecular Probes (Invitrogen) Cat# A31571 RRID:AB_162542).

Fluorescence was visualized with a Leica TCS-SL spectral confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) using a Plan-Apochromat $63 \times / 1.4$ N.A. immersion oil objective (Leica Microsystems) and a pinhole aperture of 114.54 μ m or 202 μ m (for surface receptors). To excite the different fluorophores, the confocal system is equipped with three excitation laser beams at 488 nm, 546 nm and 633 nm. In each experiment, the fluorescence intensity was measured in 10–15 cells per condition (COS-7) and in 10–15 dendrites from at least two or three pyramidal neurons per condition. Fluorescence was quantified using Adobe Photoshop CS5 software (Adobe Systems Inc.) and the results are represented as the mean \pm standard errors of the means (SEM) of the ratio of surface/total (COS-7 cells) or surface/intracellular (primary cultures) GluN2A immunosignal, analyzing at least three independent experiments.

ENDOCYTOSIS ASSAYS

N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptor internalization was assessed using an "antibody feeding" technique in living COS-7 cells that expressed wild-type or mutant NMDARs (transiently co-transfected with GluN1 and GFP-tagged GluN2A constructs), both in the presence or absence of transfected HA-DYRK1A. To measure the rate of NMDAR internalization, cells were labeled for 30 min at 4°C with rabbit anti-GFP Ab (1:1000), which binds to the GFP tag of membrane-anchored GFP-GluN2A/GluN1 receptors. The medium containing the antibody was removed, the cells were washed and they were incubated for 30 min at 37°C to allow NMDAR internalization. The cells were then washed twice with PBS, fixed with 4% PFA/2% sucrose and washed three times with PBS. After blocking, surface NMDARs were labeled with an anti-rabbit Alexa 647-conjugated secondary Ab (1:500) and following washing of the secondary Ab, the cells were permeabilized and the internalized NMDARs were labeled with an Alexa 555-conjugated anti-rabbit Ab (1:4000, Molecular Probes (Invitrogen) Cat# A21429 RRID:AB_141761). Cells cotransfected with HA-DYRK1A were also labeled with anti-HA (1:1000) that was visualized with an Alexa 488-conjugated antimouse secondary Ab (1:1000, Life Technologies Cat# A21202 RRID:AB_10049285). The cells immunofluorescence was then analyzed as described above and the results are represented as the mean \pm SEM of the ratio of internalized/surface GluN2A subunits.

ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL RECORDINGS OF WHOLE-CELL NMDA CURRENTS IN HEK293T CELLS

Electrophysiological recordings were obtained 24 h after transfection, perfusing the cells continuously at RT with the external bath solution (in mM): 145 NaCl, 5 KCl, 1 CaCl₂, 11 glucose, and 10 HEPES, adjusted to pH 7.3 with Tris and supplemented with the open-channel non-reversible antagonist MK-801 (5 μ M, Tocris). *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (1 mM, Tocris), in the presence of glycine (50 μ M, Tocris) and MK-801 (5 μ m), was applied for 3 s using a fast perfusion system (VC³8 Focal Perfusion System, ALA Scientific Instruments). Such system features solenoid valves and a Quartz MicroManifold (QMM) that are optimized for high-speed solution exchange, with valve opening speeds of

1–2 ms. The activated currents were recorded in the wholecell mode at a holding potential of -60 mV, acquired at 10 kHz and filtered at 1 kHz. Electrodes with open-tip resistances of 2–5 M Ω were used, and the data were acquired and analyzed using pClamp 8 software (Axon Instruments) and a D-6100 Darmstadt amplifier (List Medical, Germany). The internal pipette solution contained (in mM): 140 CsCl, 1 EGTA, 4 Na₂ATP, 0.1 Na₃GTP and 10 HEPES, adjusted to pH 7.25 with CsOH.

Statistical analysis

Comparison between experimental groups was evaluated using InStat Software (GraphPad Software, Inc.), applying an One Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) followed by a Bonferroni *post hoc* test or a Student's *t* test. Data are presented as the means \pm SEM, at least, three independent experiments.

RESULTS

DYRK1A INTERACTS WITH GluN2A AND PHOSPHORYLATES ITS CYTOSOLIC DOMAIN AT SERINE 1048

Having previously established a functional connection between the GluN2A NMDAR subunit and the protein kinase DYRK1A in animal models of overexpression (Altafaj et al., 2008), we evaluated the possibility that DYRK1A had a direct effect on GluN2A-containing NMDARs. The ability of a kinase to phosphorylate its substrate requires a physical interaction-even if it is indirect, weak and/or transient-between the enzyme and its potential substrate (GluN1/GluN2A). To test this possibility, and given that a fraction of DYRK1A is present in nonnuclear lysates of the mouse brain (Martí et al., 2003; Aranda et al., 2008), as are NMDARs, we assessed the proteins that associate with this kinase by immunoprecipitating it from adult mouse brain lysates with an antibody that specifically recognizes DYRK1A. In Western blots, a GluN2A-immunoreactive protein was eluted from the beads that pulled down DYRK1A but not from the non-specific IgG control beads (Figure 1A), indicating that GluN2A and DYRK1A were present in the same protein complexes.

To assess whether NMDAR subunits are substrates of the DYRK1A serine/threonine kinase, complexes containing the GluN1 subunit were immunopurified from adult mouse brain lysates. These complexes contained both GluN1 and GluN2A, as witnessed in Western blots (Figure 1B, left panel), and they were used as substrate in the IVK assay with purified GST-DYRK1A. Weak phosphorylation of two protein bands with molecular weights around 170 kDa and 130 kDa was evident when the IVK was performed in the presence of GST alone (Figure 1B). Based on the electrophoretic mobility of the NMDAR subunits, these labeled bands could correspond to GluN2A (165 kDa) and GluN1 (115 kDa), suggesting that the NMDAR complexes were able to recruit endogenous kinases. However, radiolabeled ATP was incorporated more intensely into these proteins when purified DYRK1A was included in the IVK assay (Figure 1B), an indication that both subunits are targets of DYRK1A. While the assignment of GluN2A phosphorylation was clear, we could not be completely confident about the phosphorylation of GluN1, since the molecular weight of the putative radilolabeled GluN1 has a similar



with an anti-GluN2A antibody (left panel) or they were used as the substrate

FIGURE 1 | Continued

or unfused GST were examined in an IVK assay, in the presence of a GST fusion protein of the wild-type (wt) or kinase-deficient DYRK1A (KD). The substrates were analyzed by Coomassie staining (left panel) and the phosphorylated bands indicated by black arrows represent the full-length recombinant proteins, while the white arrows refer to the GluN2ACter truncated products and the asterisks indicate the GST-DYRK1Awt autophosphorylated bands (full-length or truncated products). (E) Schematic representation of the different mutant variants of the GST-GluN2AC1 fragment in which the asterisks indicate the position of the corresponding Ser to Ala mutants. (F) The GST-GluN2AC1 fragment or the indicated mutants were used as substrates in IVK assays with GST-DYRK1A. The panel shows a representative experiment and the histogram corresponds to the average ${}^{32}P$ incorporation \pm SEM (n = 2–3) calculated by densitometry (*p < 0.05), (G) The amino acid sequences of GluN2A from human (NP_000824), mouse (NP_032196), rat (NP_036705), dog (XP_005621613), sheep (XP_004020812) and chicken (XP_425252) were aligned to show the conserved region surrounding S¹⁰⁴⁸ (marked with an asterisk). The numbers indicate the first and last amino acids listed.

electrophoretic mobility as autophosphorylated GST-DYRK1A (Figure 1D).

The phosphorylation of the GluN2A subunit described in the literature (Sanz-Clemente et al., 2012) and deposited in the Phosphosite database¹ occurs mostly in its intracellular C-terminal domain. Therefore, to further confirm the ability of DYRK1A to phosphorylate GluN2A, we focused on the GluN2A region between amino acids 839 and 1464, corresponding to its cytosolic tail. The GluN2A C-terminal domain (Cter), and three different non-overlapping fragments (C1, C2 and C3; Figure 1C), were expressed as GST fusion proteins in bacteria (Figure 1D) and assayed as substrates in IVKs with bacterially expressed GST-DYRK1A wild-type or GST-DYRK1AKD, a kinase-deficient mutant as a negative control. As expected, no phosphorylation of these substrates was detected in the presence of GST-DYRK1AKD, confirming the incapacity of this mutant to autophosphorylate or to phosphorylate exogenous substrates (Figure 1D). By contrast, GST-DYRK1Awt was autophosphorylated in the IVK, as evident by the presence of the signals at 130 kDa (full-length GST-DYRK1Awt), 36 kDa and 29 kDa (GST-DYRK1A truncated products). In the case of the GluN2A cytoplasmic tail (GluN2A-Cter), the complete fragment was phosphorylated in the assay (Figure 1D), indicating the ability of DYRK1A to phosphorylate the cytosolic domain of GluN2A. However, only the GluN2A C1 fragment (897-1117) proved to be a DYRK1A substrate, in contrast to the other truncated Cter fragments, C2 and C3, (Figure 1D). The Cter region putatively phosphorylated by DYRK1A, was further narrowed down by generating two deletion mutants (GST-GluN2AC1Δ1 [839-1076] and GST-GluN2AC1Δ2 [839-1016]; Figure 1E). Eliminating residues 1076-1117 did not alter DYRK1A phosphorylation, while the deletion of amino acids 1017-1076 completely abolished DYRK1A-mediated phosphorylation of GluN2AC1 (Figure 1F), suggesting that DYRK1A targets residues between amino acids 1017-1076 of GluN2A.

DYRK1A ENHANCES THE SURFACE EXPRESSION OF GluN1/GluN2A RECEPTORS

Phosphorylation of NMDA receptors is a mechanism regulating their trafficking and endocytosis, which in turn modulates their surface density (Lin et al., 2006; Sanz-Clemente et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2012; Chowdhury et al., 2013). Thus, we hypothesized that DYRK1A phosphorylation of GluN2A might regulate the surface expression of NMDARs. To test this hypothesis, we first assessed the surface density of GluN2A in COS7 cells exogenously expressing GluN1 and GFP-GluN2A alone (GluN1-GluN2A), or in the presence of wild-type or KD HA-DYRK1A. Immunofluorescence analysis showed a significant increase in the surface:total ratio of GFP-GluN2A when DYRK1A was coexpressed with this subunit (100 \pm 3.7% for GluN1-GluN2A cells vs. 126 \pm 5.0% for DYRK1A-expressing cells; n = 130and 111, respectively; p < 0.001; Figure 2). No such enhancement was detected when the kinase inactive DYRK1AKD was co-expressed with the NMDAR subunits (99 \pm 4.6% for cells co-expressing KD DYRK1A^{KD}; n = 45; Figure 2). We then generated GFP-fusions of GluN2A in which S¹⁰⁴⁸ was mutated to a non-phosphorylatable amino acid (Ser1048Ala) or to an amino acid that mimics the phosphorylated status of this residue (Ser1048Glu). The surface density of GFP-GluN2A^{S1048A} showed a surface:total ratio similar to wild type GluN2A (98 \pm 6.5%; n = 38; Figure 2) and moreover, DYRK1A failed to increase the surface levels of the phospho-deficient GFP-GluN2A^{S1048A} $(98 \pm 6.5\%$ for GluN1-GluN2Å^{S1048A} vs. 110 ± 6.8 for cells coexpressing DYRK1A; n = 38 and 47, respectively). Conversely, the surface:total ratio of the phospho-mimetic GFP-GluN2A^{S1048E} mutant was higher (100 \pm 3.7 for control cells vs. 128 \pm 6.8 for DYRK1A-expressing cells; n = 130 and 59, respectively; p < 0.001), even in the absence of HA-DYRK1A (Figure 2). The increase in the surface expression of GluN2A^{S1048E} was not enhanced by co-transfection of DYRK1A (128 \pm 6.8 for GluN1-GluN2A^{S1048E} vs. 119 \pm 6.9 for DYRK1A-expressing cells; n = 59 and 52, respectively), suggesting that if other potential GluN2A secondary phosphosites of DYRK1A existed, they would not be involved in the increased GluN2A surface expression.

To translate the observed cell surface enrichment of GluN1/GluN2A in the presence of DYRK1A to a neuronal context, we evaluated the surface density of transiently transfected

Dual specificity tyrosine-phosphorylation-regulated kinase 1A has been described as a proline-directed protein kinase, showing preference for serine and threonine residues followed by a proline, and with an arginine at position -3 (Himpel et al., 2000). Close inspection of the GluN2A Cter suggested the presence of a unique putative DYRK1A-phosphorylation site at serine residue 1048 (S¹⁰⁴⁸), which is conserved in GluN2A receptors from several species (**Figure 1G**). Mutation of this serine residue to the non-phosphorylatable amino acid alanine significantly reduced DYRK1A-mediated phosphorylation. Such a reduction was not observed when other serine residues within the GluN2A-C1 fragment were mutated (S912, S913, S917, S1112; **Figure 1F**), confirming the importance of S1048 for DYRK1A phosphorylation of GluN2A.

¹http://www.phosphosite.org



GFP-GluN2A in primary cortical neurons established from mouse embryos. In primary cortical neurons, the intracellular levels of transfected GluN2A subunit was neither affected by the presence of a mutation on Ser1048 (96.7 \pm 10.0% of control for GluN2A^{S1048A} and 97.9 \pm 5.7% for GluN2A^{S1048E}; n = 31-52) nor by the presence of HA-DYRK1A (110.5 \pm 8.9%) of control; n = 48). As observed in COS7 cells, the presence HA-DYRK1A increased the surface expression of GFP-GluN2A in the dendrites of primary cortical neurons (surface:intracellular GFP ratio = 116 \pm 4% of control; n = 43–48, control or DYRK1A transfected; p < 0.01) but not that of the phosphodeficient GFP-GluN2A^{S1048A} construct (106.4 \pm 3.5% of control; n = 31; Figure 3). Likewise, the phospho-mimetic mutant GFP-GluN2A^{S1048E} showed a robust increase in surface expression compared with GFP-GluN2A (135.4 \pm 2.7% of control; n = 52; p < 0.001). Collectively, these results indicate that S¹⁰⁴⁸ phosphorylation is necessary and sufficient for DYRK1A to increase the levels of GluN2A at the plasma membrane.

DYRK1A REDUCES THE INTERNALIZATION OF SURFACE GluN1/GluN2A HETERODIMERS

The density of NMDARs at the cell surface reflects the balance between delivery/docking mechanisms ("*on*" mechanisms) and receptor internalization ("*off*" mechanisms), processes critical for synaptic maturation (Barria and Malinow, 2002). *N*-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors traffic between the plasma

membrane and intracellular compartments through vesiclemediated membrane delivery and endocytosis. Phosphorylation of NMDARs regulates the clathrin-mediated endocytosis of these receptors (Chung et al., 2004; Lavezzari et al., 2004; Scott et al., 2004; Prybylowski et al., 2005; Sanz-Clemente et al., 2010; Chowdhury et al., 2013), a mechanism that possibly explains the increase in surface NMDAR expression provoked by DYRK1A. Therefore, we performed antibody-feeding assays in living cells to quantify the internalization rate of GFP-GluN2A in the presence or absence of DYRK1A. Unlike the kinase inactive version, wild type HA-DYRK1A significantly decreased the relative amount of GFP-GluN2A internalized compared with cells that did not express DYRK1A (100 \pm 4.2% for GluN1-GluN2A vs. 73 \pm 4.5% for DYRK1Awt co-expressing cells [p < 0.001] or $94 \pm 10.1\%$ for cells co-expressing DYRK1A^{KD} [non-significant]; n = 115, 97 and 33, respectively; Figure 4). By contrast, the internalization of the phospho-deficient GluN2A^{S1048A} was not affected when co-expressed with DYRK1A (100 \pm 7.2 for GluN1-GluN2A^{S1048A} cells vs. 90 \pm 7.3 for DYRK1A-expressing cells; n = 52 and 53, respectively). Furthermore, the rate of internalization of the phospho-mimetic GluN2A^{S1048E} mutant was also significantly reduced, irrespective of the presence of DYRK1A (43 \pm 4.8% for cells expressing GluN1-GluN2A^{S1048E} construct and $45 \pm 6.7\%$ for cells co-expressing DYRK1A and GluN2A^{S1048E}; n = 31 and 20, respectively; p < 0.001). Overall, these results indicate that the phosphorylation of GluN2A at S¹⁰⁴⁸ is critical for DYRK1A to dampen NMDAR endocytosis. Moreover, the



embryo cortices were transiently transfected with GFP-GluN2A (wt, wild-type; S1048A, phospho-deficient mutant; S1048E, phospho-mimetic mutant) on day *in vitro* 8 (DIV8), in the presence or absence of heterologous HA-DYRK1A. The effect of DYRK1A on the surface:intracellular ratio of GluN1/GluN2A in primary mouse cortical neurons was evaluated by immunofluorescence. Prior to permeabilization,

(Continued)

FIGURE 3 | Continued

anti-GFP/Alexa488 was used to detect the surface chimeric receptors (represented in green), whereas intracellular GFP-GluN2A receptors were visualized after permeabilizing the cells, using an anti-GFP/Alexa555 antibody. Scale bar = 5 μ m. The histogram represents the mean \pm SEM GluN2A surface expression normalized to the intracellular GFP-GluN2A signal (n = 31-52 dendrites from, at least, three independent experiments per condition, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ANOVA).

inhibitory effect on the rate of receptor internalization could contribute to the observed increase in NMDAR surface density in DYRK1A-expressing cells.

DYRK1A MODULATES GluN1/GluN2A-MEDIATED NMDA CURRENTS

In addition to the cellular consequences resulting from NMDAR phosphorylation, this post-translational modification could also potentially affect the biophysical properties of NMDARs. We assessed the potential regulatory effects of GluN2A S¹⁰⁴⁸ phosphorylation by DYRK1A by studying the electrophysiological properties of NMDA elicited currents in HEK-293T cells exogenously expressing the GluN1 and GluN2A subunits. Currents elicited by NMDA were recorded in the whole-cell configuration 24 h after transfection, in the presence of the essentially irreversible NMDAR open-channel blocker MK-801. As the channel must enter the open state to be blocked by MK-801, the decay time constant of the current in the presence of both NMDA and MK-801 can be used to determine the opening rate (Jahr, 1992; Rosenmund et al., 1995). In cells expressing GluN1/GluN2A^{wt}, the peak NMDA elicited whole-cell current density increased significantly in the presence of DYRK1A (from 64.74 ± 16.43 pA/pF for control cells to 149.2 \pm 29.76 pA/pF for DYRK1A-expressing cells; n =13 in both conditions, p < 0.05; Figures 5A,E). However, the phospho-deficient GluN2A^{S1048A} mutant variant did not respond to the presence of DYRK1A with an alteration in the peak current density (58.63 \pm 10.07 pA/pF for cells expressing GluN2A^{S1048A} and 79.5 \pm 12.51 pA/pF for DYRK1A co-expressing cells, n = 12and 13, respectively; Figures 5C,E).

To gain insight into the effect of DYRK1A on NMDA channel gating, we analyzed the opening rate constant of NMDARs. Agonist-evoked currents were normalized to the same peak amplitude to compare the time course of decay (Figures 5B,D). The faster decay of the NMDA current observed in the presence of DYRK1A indicated a higher rate of channel opening. Indeed, the statistical analysis showed that the presence of DYRK1A significantly increased the opening rate of GluN1/GluN2A^{wt} receptors (from 2.91 \pm 0.62 s⁻¹ in control cells to 6.63 \pm 0.89 s⁻¹ in DYRK1A co-expressing cells, n = 13 in both conditions, p < 0.001; Figures 5B,F). By contrast, DYRK1A had no effect on the opening rate of phospho-deficient GluN1/GluN2AS1048A receptors (from $3.85 \pm 0.48 \text{ s}^{-1}$ for GluN2A^{S1048A} expressing cells to 4.06 ± 0.44 s^{-1} for DYRK1A co-expressing cells, n = 12 and 13, respectively; Figures 5D,F). Together, these data indicate that phosphorylation of GluN2A at S1048 by DYRK1A not only increases the NMDA elicited peak current density, which is consistent with the increased surface expression of GluN1/GluN2A receptors, but it also affects receptor function by potentiating NMDAR gating.



representing the mean \pm SEM of the normalized ratio of the internalized particles and the surface GluN2A receptors (n = 31-115 cells from three independent experiments, ***p < 0.001, ANOVA).

DISCUSSION

In post-synaptic neurons, the activity and the density of NMDARs at the membrane are factors that exert an important influence on neuronal function and synaptic plasticity. Thus, these parameters must be finely tuned, which is in part mediated by the (de)phosphorylation of NMDAR subunits. Much effort has been dedicated to identify and characterize the role of post-synaptic density (PSD)-enriched protein kinases that could potentially phosphorylate NMDARs (reviewed in Chen and Roche, 2007). Here, we show that DYRK1A interacts with and phosphorylates NMDAR GluN2A subunits at S¹⁰⁴⁸, a residue within the intracellular C-terminal domain. This phosphorylation provokes an increase in the surface density of GluN1/GluN2A, which may be, at least partially due to decreased internalization. Moreover, DYRK1A-mediated phosphorylation of GluN1/GluN2A modifies the electrophysiological properties of GluN1/GluN2A heteromers.

Despite their relevance in regulating the physiological activity of NMDARs, to date only a few protein kinases and phosphatases have been described that act on NMDARs (Chen and Roche, 2007; Van Dongen et al., 2009). For the GluN2 subunit in particular, tyrosine kinases (members of the Src family) and a small number of serine/threonine kinases (calmodulin kinase II, cyclin-dependent kinase 5, protein kinase A, B and C, and casein kinase 2) modulate the trafficking, stabilization at the cell surface, subunit composition or biophysical properties of NMDARs with a kinase-dependent subunit specificity (Omkumar et al., 1996; Nakazawa, 2000; Gardoni et al., 2001; Li et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2003; Chung et al., 2004; Jones and Leonard, 2005; Chen and Roche, 2009; Zhang et al., 2012; Murphy et al., 2014). These kinases phosphorylate GluN2 target residues within the large cytoplasmic tail, mostly the distal part of the primary amino acid sequence where GluN2 subunits interact with the scaffolding proteins PSD-95, PSD-97 and SAP-102. In terms of DYRK1A, and although we cannot completely rule out the existence of other DYRK1A phosphorylation sites, our results show that S¹⁰⁴⁸, located within the Cter proximal domain, is the main residue in GluN2A phosphorylated by DYRK1A. Structural prediction studies suggest that S¹⁰⁴⁸ and its surrounding amino acids are unlikely to be located within secondary structures (alpha-helices and beta-sheets; Ryan et al., 2008), facilitating their easy recognition as a target site. This phosphorylation site, which has not been described previously, is conserved in different vertebrate species and it is not present in GluN2B, suggesting subunit specificity for this phosphorylation event at the S¹⁰⁴⁸ position. Our results, however, do not allow to completely rule out the possibility of DYRK1A phosphorylating the GluN2B subunit. Further studies must be directed to unveil whether DYRK1A might regulate NDMAR activity by phosphorylating both GluN2 subunits.

The ability of DYRK1A to phosphorylate GluN2A would require close proximity of the two proteins, achieved either by their direct physical interaction or their presence in the same macromolecular protein complex. Our data do not allow us to distinguish between these possibilities, since the presence of GluN2A in DYRK1A immunocomplexes could reflect both a direct interaction with the GluN2A subunit and/or recruitment to the NMDARs through binding to GluN1 or any other scaffold protein associated with the heteromeric complexes. Although preliminary results from interaction studies in heterologous expression systems support a direct interaction between DYRK1A and NMDARs, further experiments will be necessary to assess the potential of scaffold protein(s) to mediate DYRK1A-GluN2A



interactions in neurons, as described for other Ser/Thr kinases regulating NMDARs.

In the mouse brain, the spatio-temporal expression pattern of DYRK1A partially overlaps with GluN2A-containing NMDARs (Monyer et al., 1994; Martí et al., 2003; Paoletti et al., 2013), suggesting a potential functional interaction in the hippocampus, cortex and/or cerebellum. At the subcellular level, DYRK1A exists as a nuclear and cytoplasmic protein, the latter composed of three pools: soluble, cytoskeletal-associated and membrane-bound proteins (Martí et al., 2003; Aranda et al., 2008; Kaczmarski et al., 2014). This distribution complicates the identification of the subcellular compartment(s) in which DYRK1A interacts with GluN1/GluN2A receptors. Moreover, the mechanisms controlling DYRK1A intracellular trafficking remain still elusive. A recent study shed light on the neuronal activity-dependency of *Drosophila Minibrain (Mnb)*, the fruitfly *DYRK1A* homologous gene (Chen et al., 2014). In their study, Chen and collaborators found that synaptic activity increases Mnb mobilization to endocytic zones and promoted efficient synaptic vesicle recycling by dynamically regulating synaptojanin function during periods of robust synaptic activity. In line with these findings, NMDARs activity could trigger the recruitment of DYRK1A to GluN2A subunits, resulting on their phosphorylation and the subsequent cellular and electrophysiological changes.

The DYRK1A-dependent reduction in receptor endocytosis probably underlies the increase of NMDARs at the cell surface. Several components of the endocytotic machinery (dynamin 1, amphiphysin 1 and synaptojanin 1), as well as clathrinadaptor proteins (AP180), have previously been described as DYRK1A substrates (Chen-Hwang et al., 2002; Adayev et al., 2006; Murakami et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2014). DYRK1Amediated phosphorylation of these proteins appears to regulate their protein-protein interactions. Moreover, overexpression of DYRK1A appears to inhibit endocytosis in transferrin internalization assays (Kim et al., 2010). Therefore, it might be argued that the effects of DYRK1A on GluN1/GluN2A internalization result from a direct effect on endocytotic proteins or the regulation of clathrin-coated vesicles formation. Although we do not exclude the possibility that these DYRK1A activities might contribute to the modulation of GluN1/GluN2A internalization, the absence of any additional effect on internalization of the phosphodeficient mutant GluN2A^{S1048A} in combination with DYRK1A, strongly suggests that GluN1/GluN2A reduced internalization depends specifically on S¹⁰⁴⁸ phosphorylation of GluN2A by DYRK1A.

Functionally, DYRK1A phosphorylation of GluN2A at S¹⁰⁴⁸ modifies the biophysical properties of GluN1/GluN2A receptors, increasing both the peak current density and channel gating. The DYRK1A-induced increase in the surface density of NMDARs could be responsible for the increase in peak current density. Further electrophysiological experiments will be important to determine whether DYRK1A might also affect GluN1/GluN2A channel conductance and potentially contribute to the observed increase of NMDA-elicited currents. In addition, phosphorylation of GluN2A by DYRK1A favors the opening of GluN1/GluN2A channels, a parameter that is independent of NMDARs density. This alteration, together with the increased peak current, might alter NMDA-induced Ca²⁺ transients when DYRK1A is overexpressed. Indeed, a prolonged decay of NMDA-elicited Ca²⁺ transient was previously observed in synaptosomes and primary neuronal cultures from TgDyrk1A transgenic mice overexpressing Dyrk1A. We interpreted this as a genomic effect resulting from the increased Grin2a transcription and the concomitantly higher levels of GluN2A in the brains of these animals (Altafaj et al., 2008). In the light of the current data, we propose that the alterations observed in TgDyrk1A mice may be strongly influenced by a direct effect of DYRK1A on NMDAR density and function.

It is noteworthy that DYRK1A has been proposed as a candidate gene for some of the neuropathological phenotypes in DS, due to its location within HSA21, the fact that its protein product is overexpressed in DS individuals, and given that murine models overexpressing DYRK1A exhibit DS-like phenotypic alterations (Guimerà et al., 1996; Altafaj et al., 2001, 2013; Ahn et al., 2006; Dowjat et al., 2007; Guedj et al., 2009; Laguna et al., 2013). Dual specificity tyrosine-phosphorylationregulated kinase 1A gain-of-function models have hippocampaldependent cognitive alterations similar to those observed in Ts65Dn mice, the best characterized trisomic murine model for DS in which Dyrk1A is overexpressed, among other genes (reviewed in Sérégaza et al., 2006). Trisomic Ts65Dn mice display synaptic plasticity alterations that have been attributed to an excitatory/inhibitory neurotransmitter imbalance. While there is evidence supporting the role of an excessive inhibition of GABAergic transmission (Kleschevnikov et al., 2004; Fernandez and Garner, 2007; Martínez-Cue et al., 2013), the participation of NMDA-mediated over-activation of hippocampal circuitry in this phenomenon has also been proposed (Costa et al., 2008; Siddigui et al., 2008; Scott-McKean and Costa, 2011). Within a trisomic context, NMDAR dysregulation in DS murine models may be the pathological output of the multiple gene products altered in DS (Siddiqui et al., 2008). The results presented here suggest a molecular model in which DYRK1A would be one such protein product. Dual specificity tyrosine-phosphorylation-regulated kinase 1A overexpression would increase the phosphorylation of GluN2Acontaining NMDARs, increasing their surface density. The elevation of membrane NMDAR levels, together with the modification of their biophysical properties by DYRK1A, would dysregulate Ca²⁺ signaling, contributing to the synaptic alterations observed in murine models of DS. In summary, we provide the molecular, cellular and functional evidence that DYRK1A directly affects NMDARs, supporting the contribution of NMDA-elicited glutamatergic dysfunction to the excitatory-inhibitory neurotransmitter imbalance proposed to drive the pathophysiology of DS.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

Cristina Grau, Krisztina Arató, José M. Fernández-Fernández, Aitana Valderrama and Xavier Altafaj performed experiments. Cristina Grau, Krisztina Arató, José M. Fernández-Fernández, Carlos Sindreu, Cristina Fillat, Isidre Ferrer, Susana de la Luna and Xavier Altafaj analyzed the data. Xavier Altafaj wrote the manuscript with revisions from José M. Fernández-Fernández, Carlos Sindreu and Susana de la Luna and input from co-authors. All authors read and approved the final manuscript. Cristina Grau and Krisztina Arató are co-first authors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Spanish Ministry of Health (PS10/00548, PS13/00135 to Xavier Altafaj), the Jérôme Lejeune Foundation (to Xavier Altafaj), the Red HERACLES (RD12/0042/0014 to José M. Fernández-Fernández), the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (SAF2012-31089 to José M. Fernández-Fernández and BFU2010-15347 to Susana de la Luna), FEDER Funds and the Generalitat de Catalunya (SGR14-297 to Xavier Altafaj and Carlos Sindreu, and SGR14-674 to Susana de la Luna). Xavier Altafaj and Cristina Grau are financed by a contract from the Instituto de Salud Carlos III (MS10/00548 and PS10/00548). The authors have no competing financial interests to declare. We wish to acknowledge the technical assistance of Sergi Aranda (Center for Genomic Regulation, Barcelona) with the biochemical experiments, and we are grateful to B. Torrejón-Escribano from the scientific services facility (Centers Científics i Tecnològics—University of Barcelona) for technical support with the confocal microscopy and to Mark Sefton for English editing of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Adayev, T., Chen-Hwang, M. C., Murakami, N., Wang, R., and Hwang, Y. W. (2006). MNB/DYRK1A phosphorylation regulates the interactions of synaptojanin 1 with endocytic accessory proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 351, 1060–1065. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.10.169
- Ahn, K. J., Jeong, H. K., Choi, H. S., Ryoo, S. R., Kim, Y. J., Goo, J. S., et al. (2006). DYRK1A BAC transgenic mice show altered synaptic plasticity with learning and memory defects. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 22, 463–472. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2005. 12.006
- Altafaj, X., Dierssen, M., Baamonde, C., Martí, E., Visa, J., Guimerà, J., et al. (2001). Neurodevelopmental delay, motor abnormalities and cognitive deficits in transgenic mice overexpressing Dyrk1A (minibrain), a murine model of Down's syndrome. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 10, 1915–1923. doi: 10.1093/hmg/10.18. 1915
- Altafaj, X., Martín, E. D., Ortiz-Abalia, J., Valderrama, A., Lao-Peregrín, C., Dierssen, M., et al. (2013). Normalization of Dyrk1A expression by AAV2/1shDyrk1A attenuates hippocampal-dependent defects in the Ts65Dn mouse model of Down syndrome. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 52, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2012. 11.017
- Altafaj, X., Ortiz-Abalia, J., Fernández, M., Potier, M.-C., Laffaire, J., Andreu, N., et al. (2008). Increased NR2A expression and prolonged decay of NMDAinduced calcium transient in cerebellum of TgDyrk1A mice, a mouse model of Down syndrome. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 32, 377–384. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2008. 07.024
- Alvarez, M., Altafaj, X., Aranda, S., and de la Luna, S. (2007). DYRK1A autophosphorylation on serine residue 520 modulates its kinase activity via 14-3-3 binding. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 18, 1167–1178. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e06-08-0668
- Aranda, S., Alvarez, M., Turró, S., Laguna, A., and de la Luna, S. (2008). Sprouty2mediated inhibition of fibroblast growth factor signaling is modulated by the protein kinase DYRK1A. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 5899–5911. doi: 10.1128/mcb. 00394-08
- Aranda, S., Laguna, A., and de la Luna, S. (2011). DYRK family of protein kinases: evolutionary relationships, biochemical properties and functional roles. *FASEB* J. 25, 449–462. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-165837
- Barria, A., and Malinow, R. (2002). Subunit-specific NMDA receptor trafficking to synapses. *Neuron* 35, 345–353. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00776-6
- Chen, C.-K., Bregere, C., Paluch, J., Lu, J. F., Dickman, D. K., and Chang, K. T. (2014). Activity-dependent facilitation of Synaptojanin and synaptic vesicle recycling by the Minibrain kinase. *Nat. Commun.* 5:4246. doi: 10. 1038/ncomms5246
- Chen, B.-S., and Roche, K. W. (2007). Regulation of NMDA receptors by phosphorylation. *Neuropharmacology* 53, 362–368. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2007. 05.018
- Chen, B.-S., and Roche, K. W. (2009). Growth factor-dependent trafficking of cerebellar NMDA receptors via protein kinase B/Akt phosphorylation of NR2C. *Neuron* 62, 471–478. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.04.015
- Chen-Hwang, M. C., Chen, H. R., Elzinga, M., and Hwang, Y. W. (2002). Dynamin is a minibrain kinase/dual specificity Yak1-related kinase 1A substrate. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 17597–17604. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m111101200
- Chowdhury, D., Marco, S., Brooks, I. M., Zandueta, A., Rao, Y., Haucke, V., et al. (2013). Tyrosine phosphorylation regulates the endocytosis and surface expression of GluN3A-containing NMDA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 4151–4164. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2721-12.2013

- Chung, H. J., Huang, Y. H., Lau, L.-F., and Huganir, R. L. (2004). Regulation of the NMDA receptor complex and trafficking by activity-Dependent phosphorylation of the NR2B subunit PDZ ligand. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 10248–10259. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.0546-04.2004
- Costa, A. C. S., Scott-Mckean, J. J., and Stasko, M. R. (2008). Acute injections of the NMDA receptor antagonist memantine rescue performance deficits of the Ts65Dn mouse model of Down syndrome on a fear conditioning test. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33, 1624–1632. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301535
- Dowjat, W. K., Adayev, T., Kuchna, I., Nowicki, K., Palminiello, S., Hwang, Y. W., et al. (2007). Trisomy-driven overexpression of DYRK1A kinase in the brain of subjects with Down syndrome. *Neurosci. Lett.* 413, 77–81. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet. 2006.11.026
- Fernandez, F., and Garner, C. C. (2007). Object recognition memory is conserved in Ts1Cje, a mouse model of Down syndrome. *Neurosci. Lett.* 421, 137–141. doi: 10. 1016/j.neulet.2007.04.075
- Gardoni, F., Bellone, C., Cattabeni, F., and Di Luca, M. (2001). Protein kinase C activation modulates alpha-calmodulin kinase II binding to NR2A subunit of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor complex. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 7609–7613. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.m009922200
- Guedj, F., Sébrié, C., Rivals, I., Ledru, A., Paly, E., Bizot, J. C., et al. (2009). Green tea polyphenols rescue of brain defects induced by overexpression of DYRK1A. *PLoS One* 4:e4606. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004606
- Guimerà, J., Casas, C., Pucharcós, C., Solans, A., Domènech, A., Planas, A. M., et al. (1996). A human homologue of Drosophila minibrain (MNB) is expressed in the neuronal regions affected in Down syndrome and maps to the critical region. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 5, 1305–1310. doi: 10.1093/hmg/5.9.1305
- Himpel, S., Tegge, W., Frank, R., Leder, S., Joost, H. G., and Becker, W. (2000). Specificity determinants of substrate recognition by the protein kinase DYRK1A. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 2431–2438. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.4.2431
- Hunt, D. L., and Castillo, P. E. (2012). Synaptic plasticity of NMDA receptors: mechanisms and functional implications. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 22, 496–508. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2012.01.007
- Jahr, C. E. (1992). High probability opening of NMDA receptor channels by Lglutamate. *Science* 255, 470–472. doi: 10.1126/science.1346477
- Jones, M. L., and Leonard, J. P. (2005). PKC site mutations reveal differential modulation by insulin of NMDA receptors containing NR2A or NR2B subunits. *J. Neurochem.* 92, 1431–1438. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02985.x
- Kaczmarski, W., Barua, M., Mazur-Kolecka, B., Frackowiak, J., Dowjat, W., Mehta, P., et al. (2014). Intracellular distribution of differentially phosphorylated Dualspecificity tyrosine phosphorylation-regulated kinase 1A (DYRK1A). J. Neurosci. Res. 92, 162–173. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23279
- Kim, Y., Park, J., Song, W.-J., and Chang, S. (2010). Overexpression of Dyrk1A causes the defects in synaptic vesicle endocytosis. *Neurosignals* 18, 164–172. doi: 10.1159/000321994
- Kleschevnikov, A. M., Belichenko, P. V., Villar, A. J., Epstein, C. J., Malenka, R. C., and Mobley, W. C. (2004). Hippocampal long-term potentiation suppressed by increased inhibition in the Ts65Dn mouse, a genetic model of Down syndrome. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 8153–8160. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1766-04.2004
- Laguna, A., Barallobre, M.-J., Marchena, M.-Á., Mateus, C., Ramírez, E., Martínez-Cue, C., et al. (2013). Triplication of DYRK1A causes retinal structural and functional alterations in Down syndrome. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 2775–2784. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt125
- Lau, C. G., and Zukin, R. S. (2007). NMDA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 413–426. doi: 10. 1038/nrn2171
- Lavezzari, G., McCallum, J., Dewey, C. M., and Roche, K. W. (2004). Subunitspecific regulation of NMDA receptor endocytosis. J. Neurosci. 24, 6383–6391. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1890-04.2004
- Li, B. S., Sun, M. K., Zhang, L., Takahashi, S., Ma, W., Vinade, L., et al. (2001). Regulation of NMDA receptors by cyclin-dependent kinase-5. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 98, 12742–12747. doi: 10.1073/pnas.211428098
- Lin, Y., Jover-Mengual, T., Wong, J., Bennett, M. V. L., and Zukin, R. S. (2006). PSD-95 and PKC converge in regulating NMDA receptor trafficking and gating. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 103, 19902–19907. doi: 10.1073/pnas.06099 24104
- Martí, E., Altafaj, X., Dierssen, M., de la Luna, S., Fotaki, V., Alvarez, M., et al. (2003). Dyrk1A expression pattern supports specific roles of this kinase in the adult central nervous system. *Brain Res.* 964, 250–263. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(02)04069-6

- Martínez-Cue, C., Martínez, P., Rueda, N., Vidal, R., García, S., Vidal, V., et al. (2013). Reducing GABAA α5 receptor-mediated inhibition rescues functional and neuromorphological deficits in a mouse model of down syndrome. J. Neurosci. 33, 3953–3966. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1203-12.2013
- Monyer, H., Burnashev, N., Laurie, D. J., Sakmann, B., and Seeburg, P. H. (1994). Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 12, 529–540. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(94)90210-0
- Murakami, N., Bolton, D. C., Kida, E., Xie, W., and Hwang, Y. W. (2012). Phosphorylation by Dyrk1A of clathrin coated vesicle-associated proteins: identification of the substrate proteins and the effects of phosphorylation. *PLoS One* 7:e34845. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034845
- Murphy, J. A., Stein, I. S., Lau, C. G., Peixoto, R. T., Aman, T. K., Kaneko, N., et al. (2014). Phosphorylation of Ser1166 on GluN2B by PKA is critical to synaptic NMDA receptor function and Ca²⁺ signaling in spines. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 869–879. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.4538-13.2014
- Nakazawa, T. (2000). Characterization of Fyn-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation sites on GluRepsilon 2 (NR2B) subunit of the N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 693–699. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m008085200
- Omkumar, R. V., Kiely, M. J., Rosenstein, A. J., Min, K. T., and Kennedy, M. B. (1996). Identification of a phosphorylation site for calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II in the NR2B subunit of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 31670–31678. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.271.49.31670
- Ortiz-Abalia, J., Sahún, I., Altafaj, X., Andreu, N., Estivill, X., Dierssen, M., et al. (2008). Targeting Dyrk1A with AAVshRNA attenuates motor alterations in TgDyrk1A, a mouse model of Down syndrome. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 83, 479– 488. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.09.010
- Paoletti, P., Bellone, C., and Zhou, Q. (2013). NMDA receptor subunit diversity: impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 383–400. doi: 10.1038/nrn3504
- Park, J., and Chung, K. C. (2013). New perspectives of Dyrk1A role in neurogenesis and neuropathologic features of Down syndrome. *Exp. Neurobiol.* 22, 244–248. doi: 10.5607/en.2013.22.4.244
- Prybylowski, K., Chang, K., Sans, N., Kan, L., Vicini, S., and Wenthold, R. J. (2005). The synaptic localization of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors is controlled by interactions with PDZ proteins and AP-2. *Neuron* 47, 845–857. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2005.08.016
- Rosenmund, C., Feltz, A., and Westbrook, G. L. (1995). Synaptic NMDA receptor channels have a low open probability. *J. Neurosci.* 15, 2788–2795.
- Ryan, T. J., Emes, R. D., Grant, S. G., and Komiyama, N. H. (2008). Evolution of NMDA receptor cytoplasmic interaction domains: implications for organisation of synaptic signalling complexes. *BMC Neurosci.* 9:6. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-9-6
- Ryan, T. J., Kopanitsa, M. V., Indersmitten, T., Nithianantharajah, J., Afinowi, N. O., Pettit, C., et al. (2013). Evolution of GluN2A/B cytoplasmic domains diversified vertebrate synaptic plasticity and behavior. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 25–32. doi: 10. 1038/nn.3277
- Salter, M. W., and Kalia, L. V. (2004). Src kinases: a hub for NMDA receptor regulation. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 5, 317–328. doi: 10.1038/nrn1368
- Sanz-Clemente, A., Matta, J. A., Isaac, J. T. R., and Roche, K. W. (2010). Casein Kinase 2 regulates the NR2 subunit composition of synaptic NMDA receptors. *Neuron* 67, 984–996. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.08.011
- Sanz-Clemente, A., Nicoll, R. A., and Roche, K. W. (2012). Diversity in NMDA receptor composition: many regulators, many consequences. *Neuroscientist* 19, 62–75. doi: 10.1177/1073858411435129
- Scott, D. B., Michailidis, I., Mu, Y., Logothetis, D., and Ehlers, M. D. (2004). Endocytosis and degradative sorting of NMDA receptors by conserved

membrane-proximal signals. J. Neurosci. 24, 7096–7109. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 0780-04.2004

- Scott-McKean, J. J., and Costa, A. C. S. (2011). Exaggerated NMDA mediated LTD in a mouse model of Down syndrome and pharmacological rescuing by memantine. *Learn. Mem.* 18, 774–778. doi: 10.1101/lm.024182.111
- Sérégaza, Z., Roubertoux, P. L., Jamon, M., and Soumireu-Mourat, B. (2006). Mouse models of cognitive disorders in trisomy 21: a review. *Behav. Genet.* 36, 387–404. doi: 10.1007/s10519-006-9056-9
- Siddiqui, A., Lacroix, T., Stasko, M. R., Scott-McKean, J. J., Costa, A. C. S., and Gardiner, K. J. (2008). Molecular responses of the Ts65Dn and Ts1Cje mouse models of Down syndrome to MK-801. *Genes Brain Behav.* 7, 810–820. doi: 10. 1111/j.1601-183x.2008.00428.x
- Storey, G. P., Opitz-Araya, X., and Barria, A. (2011). Molecular determinants controlling NMDA receptor synaptic incorporation. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 6311–6316. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.5553-10.2011
- Taniguchi, S., Nakazawa, T., Tanimura, A., Kiyama, Y., Tezuka, T., Watabe, A. M., et al. (2009). Involvement of NMDAR2A tyrosine phosphorylation in depression-related behaviour. *EMBO J.* 28, 3717–3729. doi: 10.1038/emboj. 2009.300
- Tezuka, T., Umemori, H., Akiyama, T., Nakanishi, S., and Yamamoto, T. (1999). PSD-95 promotes Fyn-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of the N-methyl-Daspartate receptor subunit NR2A. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 96, 435–440. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.2.435
- Traynelis, S. F., Wollmuth, L. P., McBain, C. J., Menniti, F. S., Vance, K. M., Ogden, K. K., et al. (2010). Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation and function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 62, 405–496. doi: 10.1124/pr.109.002451
- Van Dongen, A. M., Salter, M. W., Dong, Y., Kalia, L. V., Liu, X. J., and Pitcher, G. (2009). *Regulation of NMDA Receptors by Kinases and Phosphatases*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Vicini, S., Wang, J. F., Li, J. H., Zhu, W. J., Wang, Y. H., Luo, J. H., et al. (1998). Functional and pharmacological differences between recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *J. Neurophysiol.* 79, 555–566.
- Wang, J., Liu, S., Fu, Y., Wang, J. H., and Lu, Y. (2003). Cdk5 activation induces hippocampal CA1 cell death by directly phosphorylating NMDA receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 6, 1039–1047. doi: 10.1038/nn1119
- Zhang, S., Edelmann, L., Liu, J., Crandall, J. E., and Morabito, M. A. (2012). Cdk5 regulates the phosphorylation of tyrosine 1472 NR2B and the surface expression of NMDA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 415–424. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1900-07. 2008

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 04 August 2014; accepted: 30 September 2014; published online: 17 October 2014.

Citation: Grau C, Arató K, Fernández-Fernández JM, Valderrama A, Sindreu C, Fillat C, Ferrer I, de la Luna S and Altafaj X (2014) DYRK1A-mediated phosphorylation of GluN2A at Ser¹⁰⁴⁸ regulates the surface expression and channel activity of GluN1/GluN2A receptors. Front. Cell. Neurosci. **8**:331. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00331 This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Grau, Arató, Fernández-Fernández, Valderrama, Sindreu, Fillat, Ferrer, de la Luna and Altafaj. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Actin-dependent mechanisms in AMPA receptor trafficking

Jonathan G. Hanley *

School of Biochemistry, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK

Edited by:

Inmaculada Maria Gonzalez-Gonzalez, Centro de Investigacion Medica Aplicada, Spain

Reviewed by:

Valentin Nägerl, Université de Bordeaux 2, France Sandra Jurado, University of Maryland, USA

*Correspondence:

Jonathan G. Hanley, School of Biochemistry, University of Bristol, Medical Sciences Building, University Walk, Bristol BS8 1TD, UK

e-mail: jon.hanley@bristol.ac.uk

The precise regulation of AMPA receptor (AMPAR) number and subtype at the synapse is crucial for the regulation of excitatory neurotransmission, synaptic plasticity and the consequent formation of appropriate neural circuits for learning and memory. AMPAR trafficking involves the dynamic processes of exocytosis, endocytosis and endosomal recycling, all of which involve the actin cytoskeleton. The actin cytoskeleton is highly dynamic and highly regulated by an abundance of actin-binding proteins and upstream signaling pathways that modulate actin polymerization and depolymerization. Actin dynamics generate forces that manipulate membranes in the process of vesicle biogenesis, and also for propelling vesicles through the cytoplasm to reach their destination. In addition, trafficking mechanisms exploit more stable aspects of the actin cytoskeleton by using actin-based motor proteins to traffic vesicular cargo along actin filaments. Numerous studies have shown that actin dynamics are critical for AMPAR localization and function. The identification of actin-binding proteins that physically interact with AMPAR subunits, and research into their mode of action is starting to shed light on the mechanisms involved. Such proteins either regulate actin dynamics to modulate mechanical forces exerted on AMPAR-containing membranes, or associate with actin filaments to target or transport AMPAR-containing vesicles to specific subcellular regions. In addition, actin-regulatory proteins that do not physically interact with AMPARs may influence AMPAR trafficking by regulating the local actin environment in the dendritic spine.

Keywords: synaptic plasticity (LTP/LTD), endocytosis, exocytosis, glutamate receptor, dendritic spine

INTRODUCTION

AMPA receptors (AMPARs) mediate the majority of fast synaptic excitation in the brain. Therefore, the precise regulation of AMPAR number and subtype at the synapse is crucial to excitatory neurotransmission, synaptic plasticity and the consequent formation of appropriate neural circuits during learning and memory. AMPAR trafficking involves the dynamic processes of exocytosis, endocytosis and endosomal recycling. In addition, receptors may be restricted in their movement to maintain their localization at the postsynaptic membrane, or at intracellular compartments. The molecular mechanisms that underlie AMPAR trafficking under basal conditions and during certain forms of synaptic plasticity are the topics of very active research and some excellent review articles (Shepherd and Huganir, 2007; Henley et al., 2011; Van Der Sluijs and Hoogenraad, 2011; Anggono and Huganir, 2012).

The actin cytoskeleton is highly dynamic and highly regulated. It is composed of monomeric globular (G)-actin, which polymerizes to form actin filaments (F-actin), and an abundance of actin-binding proteins and upstream signaling pathways regulate actin polymerization and depolymerization. Depending on the relative activity of these multiple regulatory mechanisms, adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-bound G-actin monomers are polymerized at the plus (or "barbed") end of an actin filament, and adenosine diphosphate (ADP)-bound monomers depolymerize

from the minus (or "pointed") end (Lee and Dominguez, 2010). This process is known as actin "treadmilling" and can generate forces to bring about movement in the cell. The actin cytoskeleton plays critical roles in cell morphology and cell motility, ie defining the shape and movement of the entire cell (Pollard and Cooper, 2009). Actin dynamics are also used by the cell to generate forces that manipulate membranes in the process of vesicle biogenesis, and also for propelling vesicles and larger endosomal compartments through the cytoplasm to reach their destination. For example, the role of the dynamic actin cytoskeleton in endocytosis has been intensively studied in non-neuronal cells, and a highly complex mechanism involving numerous actin-regulatory molecules involved in this process is emerging (Galletta and Cooper, 2009; Mooren et al., 2012). SNARE-mediated membrane fusion events are required for the final insertion of receptors into the plasma membrane in the process of exocytosis. This is also an active process that has been shown to require actin dynamics (Porat-Shliom et al., 2013). In addition, trafficking mechanisms exploit more stable aspects of actin by using actin-based motor proteins to traffic vesicular cargo along actin filaments (Kneussel and Wagner, 2013).

Following a brief review of early work demonstrating the importance of the actin cytoskeleton in AMPAR trafficking, this paper will focus on proteins that either bind to or regulate the



actin cytoskeleton to influence AMPAR trafficking. Many of these proteins physically associate with AMPAR subunits (**Figure 1**). In some cases, the evidence indicates that a specific protein plays a critical role in regulating AMPAR trafficking or localization, but the precise trafficking event that is affected, or the mechanistic details of the interaction with the actin cytoskeleton are unclear.

Dendritic spines are highly enriched in dynamic actin filaments, reflecting the highly plastic nature of this subcellular compartment. The spine actin cytoskeleton has an important structural role, since actin polymerization is associated with spine enlargement, and depolymerization with spine shrinkage. (Bosch and Hayashi, 2012; Fortin et al., 2012). The actin-dependent mechanisms that underlie spine structural plasticity are outside the scope of this paper, although some actin-based pathways play a role in regulating both AMPAR trafficking and structural plasticity (Fukazawa et al., 2003; Gu et al., 2010; Rocca et al., 2013; Bosch et al., 2014). The spine is a highly active trafficking compartment, so a high concentration of dynamic F-actin in the spine is well-placed to regulate various aspects of receptor trafficking, especially that of AMPARs. Early indications that the actin cytoskeleton is involved in AMPAR localization at the synapse came from studies using actin depolymerizing drugs such as latrunculin. Cultured neurons exposed to latrunculin showed reduced clustering of GluA1-containing AMPARs in dendritic spines (Allison et al., 1998), and reduced surface expression at synapses (Kim and Lisman, 1999; Zhou et al., 2001). Moreover, the F-actin stabilizing drug Jasplakinolide blocked ligandstimulated AMPAR internalization (Zhou et al., 2001). Taken together, these studies showed that F-actin is involved in maintaining AMPARs at synapses, and also that actin depolymerization is required for the removal of AMPARs from the synaptic plasma membrane. Further studies showed that long term potentiation (LTP) was blocked in the presence of either latrunculin or phalloidin, which is another F-actin stabilizing agent, indicating that the dynamic actin cytoskeleton is required for the potentiation of AMPAR function (Kim and Lisman, 1999). A later report from the same authors suggested that although a pool of AMPARs

is dynamically regulated by the actin cytoskeleton, a distinct pool remains stable in the presence of actin-disrupting agents, and therefore may not be regulated by actin (Kim and Lisman, 2001).

ACTIN-ASSOCIATED PROTEINS THAT REGULATE AMPAR LOCALIZATION OR TRAFFICKING PROTEIN 4.1

ne initial inter

One initial interpretation of these data was that AMPARs are somehow anchored to actin filaments at the synapse to cluster them at the postsynaptic density (PSD), restricting their lateral mobility and their endocytosis from the plasma membrane. This would implicate either a direct interaction between AMPAR subunits and actin filaments, or the involvement of linker proteins that would mediate such an association. Around the same time as these studies, a number of labs were characterizing novel AMPAR protein interactions that had been discovered by yeast-2-hybrid screens, and the discovery that AMPAR subunit GluA1 interacts directly with the F-actin-associated proteins 4.1N and 4.1G provided a molecular mechanism for this model (Shen et al., 2000). 4.1 proteins were originally identified in erythrocytes and are critical for the organization of the spectrin-actin cytoskeleton and for the association of the cytoskeleton with membranes via interaction with membrane proteins (Baines et al., 2014). A role for 4.1G/N in actin-dependent AMPAR localization was demonstrated in experiments with GluA1 lacking the 4.1G/N binding site, which showed reduced surface expression in biotinylation assays, and this mutation occluded the effects of latrunculin treatment (Shen et al., 2000). Although these experiments were carried out in heterologous cells and not in neurons, 4.1G/N appeared to perform the role of stabilizing surface AMPARs by providing a link with actin filaments. In contrast to the static anchoring function proposed by Shen et al., a dynamic role for 4.1 proteins was suggested by a more recent study using live imaging of super-ecliptic pHluorin (SEP)-tagged GluA1 in conjunction with TIRF microscopy. SEP is a pH-sensitive variant of GFP that fluoresces at neutral pH (cell surface), and is quenched at low pH (intracellular vesicles/endosomes) (Ashby et al., 2004).

This technique enables the anlaysis of GluA1 insertion events in real time, which are visualized as fluorescent puncta that rapidly appear and then dissipate gradually over time as the receptors diffuse away from the site of insertion. Knockdown of 4.1N expression using shRNA caused a reduction in the frequency of insertion events at extrasynaptic sites. While the actin cytoskeleton per se was not studied in this paper, the data suggest a role for 4.1N in AMPAR exocytosis rather than in surface stability (Lin et al., 2009). Based on this dynamic model, disrupting 4.1 protein function would still cause reduced AMPAR surface levels because of reduced receptor insertion into the plasma membrane. The precise molecular mechanism that underlies such a dynamic role for 4.1N is unclear. These observations were questioned by a report of a mutant mouse expressing only 22% of wild-type 4.1N levels and lacking 4.1G entirely. While synaptosomal levels of GluA1 were modestly reduced in the double "knockout", both basal synaptic transmission and LTP in CA1 region of hippocampal slices were unaffected, suggesting that the 4.1-mediated link with the actin cytoskeleton is dispensable for AMPAR localization at the synapse and for regulated trafficking (Wozny et al., 2009).

RIL/a-ACTININ-2

Another AMPAR interacting protein that associates with the actin cytoskeleton is RIL (reversion-induced LIM protein), which binds GluA1 C-terminus and also the F-actin cross-linking protein α -actinin-2. Although this interaction is not well-characterized, it is proposed to play a role in enhancing surface and synaptic expression of AMPARs by regulating endosomal recycling (Schulz et al., 2004). Exogenously expressed RIL colocalizes with transferrin receptors (TfR) in COS cells and enhances the localization of exogenous GluA1 to TfR positive compartments. In neurons, RIL overexpression causes increased enrichment of AMPARs in dendritic spines, and increased mEPSC amplitude. It is unclear whether this occurs via dynamic control of the actin cytoskeleton, or via the targeting of AMPAR-containing endosomes to actin filaments. A possible mechanism might be that RIL mediates an interaction between endosomal GluA1 and actin filaments, and myosin-based transport shuttles the recycling receptors to the plasma membrane (see following section). Indeed, actinin-4 has been shown to function in complex with MyoV to regulate transferrin receptor recycling (Yan et al., 2005). However, RIL has been reported to influence F-actin dynamics in non-neuronal cells (Vallenius et al., 2004), suggesting that alternative mechanisms could be involved.

MYOSIN MOTOR PROTEINS

An important aspect of AMPAR trafficking is the transport of AMPAR-containing vesicles or larger endosomal compartments to and from the sites of exo- and endocytosis respectively. Myosins are actin-based motor proteins that hydrolyze ATP to generate mechanical force, which is directed as movement along actin filaments (Soldati and Schliwa, 2006). Various myosin isoforms are involved in AMPAR trafficking, the best characterized being MyoV and MyoVI, which are plus end directed and minus end directed motors, respectively. Plus end directed motors move towards the barbed (plus) end of actin filaments, and hence tend to direct cargo to the cell periphery. In contrast, minus end directed motors move towards the pointed (minus) end of actin filaments, and a major role is in the movement of endocytic vesicles away from the plasma membrane (Hartman et al., 2011). MvoVI is a minus-end directed motor that associates with AMPARs via the scaffold protein SAP97, which in turn binds GluA1 via a PSD-95/discs large/zona occludens (PDZ) interaction (Leonard et al., 1998; Wu et al., 2002). These early studies used biochemical techniques to describe the protein interactions, and it was later shown that this complex also contains the endocytic adaptor protein AP2, and that AMPAR internalization stimulated by insulin or by AMPA is abolished in cultured neurons from MyoVI knockout mice (Osterweil et al., 2005). This suggests a role for MyoVI in AMPAR internalization, probably in the transport of endocytic vesicles from the sites of endocytosis at the plasma membrane to endosomal compartments. A more recent study used a C-terminal fragment of MyoVI as a dominant negative to disrupt endogenous MyoVI-SAP97 interactions. In contradiction to Wu et al. and Osterweil et al., neurons expressing this construct show reduced surface expression of endogenous AMPARs analyzed by immunocytochemistry in cultured hippocampal neurons (Nash et al., 2010). The same treatment causes a complete block of NMDAR-dependent AMPAR insertion at the plasma membrane stimulated by brief $(3 \times 1 \text{ s})$ transient depolarization.

In contradiction to Osterweil et al., these results suggest a role for MyoVI in trafficking AMPARs towards the plasma membrane, rather than in internalization. A possible explanation is that the C-terminal fragment of MyoVI used by Nash et al. binds to and hence blocks interactions with the N-terminus of SAP97, which includes the L27 domain (Wu et al., 2002). SAP97 is a multifunctional scaffold protein, and multimerization via the L27 domain has been suggested to be required for AMPAR targeting to the synapse (Nakagawa et al., 2004).

Two distinct myosin motor-dependent mechanisms have been suggested for the forward traffic of AMPARs to the synapse in response to LTP induction. MyoVa can bind directly to the GluA1 C-terminus, and is required for LTP in CA1 neurons of organotypic slice cultures, but not for constitutive AMPAR trafficking under basal conditions, which was also assayed electrophysiologically (Correia et al., 2008). In contrast, biochemical experiments showed that MyoVb interacts with the recycling endosome protein complex Rab11-FIP2 in a Ca²⁺ dependent manner (Wang et al., 2008). A direct interaction between MyoVb and AMPAR subunits was not tested in this study. Time-lapse imaging of fluorescently-tagged TfR expressed in cultured hippocampal neurons demonstrated that MyoVb promotes the entry of recycling endosomes into dendritic spines in response to chemical LTP induction. Experiments using SEP-GluA1 to report surface accumulation of exogenous AMPARs showed that this mechanism is required for the surface delivery of AMPARs in response to chemical LTP (Wang et al., 2008). The same authors also used electrophysiological techniques to demonstrate a requirement for MyoVb in LTP in hippocampal CA1 neurons. Another report suggested that MyoVb also affects surface AMPAR expression under basal conditions by expressing a mutant form of MyoVb lacking the region required for interacting with Rab11, and analyzing surface expression

of endogenous GluA1 (Lise et al., 2006). Interestingly, MyoVa is also regulated by Ca^{2+} (Wang et al., 2004), although specific Ca^{2+} -dependent interactions relevant to AMPAR trafficking have not been revealed. Furthermore, MyoVa dominant negative reduces Rab11 localization to spines, suggesting that it may too have general effects on recycling endosomal entry into spines (Correia et al., 2008). Whether both MyoVa and MyoVb do indeed play critical yet subtly different roles in AMPAR trafficking to synapses, or the different results reflect the use of different experimental approaches (dominant negative MyoVa vs. siRNA for MyoVb) that disrupt the same mechanism is unclear.

ADF/COFILIN

Once AMPAR-containing vesicles or endosomes reach the postsynaptic membrane, SNARE-mediated membrane fusion events are required for the incorporation of receptors into the plasma membrane. Although specific SNARE proteins and specific plasma membrane domains for AMPAR insertion have been identified (Kennedy et al., 2010; Jurado et al., 2013), little is known about the specific machinery that regulates the actin cytoskeleton during these events. However, a role for actin dynamics in AMPAR insertion into the spine plasma membrane has been demonstrated. Actin Depolymerizing Factor (ADF)/cofilin is a ubiquitous actin-binding protein, which is involved in the reorganization of actin filaments by causing depolymerization of F-actin at the minus end of filaments, and also by severing actin filaments (Sarmiere and Bamburg, 2004). Hence cofilin reduces the proportion of F-actin, but also increases the pool of G-actin available for subsequent polymerization, hence increasing F-actin turnover. Cofilin activity is tightly regulated by phosphorylation at Serine 3; phosphorylation by LIM kinase deactivates the protein, and dephosphorylation of the same site by Slingshot phosphatases activates cofilin (Mizuno, 2013). The expression of cofilin phosphorylation mutants that either constitutively activate or deactivate cofilin demonstrated that activated cofilin is required for the insertion of SEP-GluA1 into the spine plasma membrane following the chemical induction of LTP in live imaging experiments in cultured neurons (Gu et al., 2010). Consistent with a role for cofilin in enhancing AMPAR synaptic expression, Slingshot knockdown by RNAi causes a reduction in AMPAR EPSC frequency and amplitude in both dissociated cultures and organotypic slice cultures, and also blocks synaptic plasticity induced by infusion of active CaMKII (Yuen et al., 2010). A requirement for cofilin in LTP was also demonstrated by the generation of cofilin knockout mice, which showed a complete lack of LTP in CA1 neurons of hippocampal slices (Rust et al., 2010). In this paper, LTP-induced increases in surface-expressed AMPARs were not investigated, but instead cofilin was shown to play a role in AMPAR surface diffusion, which was studied using single-particle tracking of endogenous AMPARs labeled with quantum dot conjugated antibodies. It is well-established that synaptic AMPARs show markedly less diffusion at synaptic compared to extrasynaptic sites (Opazo and Choquet, 2011). While the lateral diffusion of AMPARs at synaptic sites was unaffected, extrasynaptic receptors were significantly less mobile in the absence of cofilin (Rust et al.,

2010). Hence, cofilin appears to be involved in AMPAR trafficking to the synapse by regulating exocytosis and also by modulating the surface diffusion of extrasynaptic receptors, which affects the probability of a surface-expressed receptor being incorporated into the synapse (Opazo and Choquet, 2011). Further work will be needed to determine whether these observations reflect a general requirement for increased actin turnover during these dynamic trafficking events in the spine, or whether cofilin physically interacts with AMPARs or associated scaffold proteins to mediate temporally and locally precise changes in actin dynamics.

The role of actin dynamics in AMPAR lateral mobility was studied further by Kerr and Blanpied, who employed highresolution FRAP (fluorescence recovery after photobleaching) of SEP-GluA1 and also of PSD scaffold proteins to determine their mobility within the PSD, and analyzed the effects of pharmacological manipulations of the actin cytoskeleton. These experiments suggested that while AMPARs show very little free diffusion within the PSD, they are restricted to spatial subdomains that are defined by subsynaptic scaffolds and the actin cytoskeleton. Actin dynamics causes remodeling of the underlying scaffold, which in turn causes continuous spatial readjustments of AMPAR subdomains and hence their positioning within the PSD (Kerr and Blanpied, 2012). The actin-regulatory machinery responsible for regulating the dynamics of scaffold proteins and AMPARs in the PSD were not investigated in this study. Another important finding from this paper was that loss of actin filaments had only a very small effect on AMPAR synaptic localization within the timescale of the experiment. A dramatic loss of F-actin was observed after just 5 min of latrunculin treatment, but only a small (yet still increasing) loss of SEP-tagged AMPAR subunits was recorded at 10 min (Kerr and Blanpied, 2012). This result does not support a role for actin filaments in simply anchoring AMPARs at the synapse, but instead may reflect a role for actin dynamics in regulating receptor trafficking events at extrasynaptic sites.

PICK1 AND THE ARP2/3 COMPLEX

As well as being involved in the maintenance or increase in AMPAR surface expression at the synapse, the dynamic regulation of the actin cytoskeleton is also involved in reducing the levels of surface-expressed AMPARs. The actin-nucleating Arp2/3 complex is the major catalyst for the formation of branched actin networks that mediate changes in membrane geometry (Campellone and Welch, 2010). Proteins such as N-WASP, WAVE and related proteins bind and activate the Arp2/3 complex, and are highly regulated so that changes in cell morphology or vesicle trafficking occur at appropriate times and subcellular locations (Takenawa and Suetsugu, 2007). PICK1 binds GluA2/3 subunits via its PDZ domain, and plays a critical role in reducing AMPAR surface expression during LTD (Kim et al., 2001; Terashima et al., 2008). PICK1 also binds directly to F-actin via the BAR domain, and to the Arp2/3 complex via a C-terminal portion of the protein including a critical tryptophan residue, W413. These interactions were defined by in vitro assays using purified protein components as well as co-immunoprecipitations from native tissue (Rocca et al., 2008). In in vitro pyrene-tagged actin polymerization assays, PICK1

inhibits Arp2/3-mediated actin nucleation and polymerization, and both F-actin and Arp2/3 interactions are required for this inhibitory activity (Rocca et al., 2008). PICK1 inhibits the Arp2/3 complex by competing with Arp2/3 activators such as N-WASP for binding to the complex, but also has a direct inhibitory effect that can be observed in the absence of other proteins in the in vitro pyrene assay. In antibody-feeding immunocytochemistry experiments, molecular replacement with a PICK1 W413A mutant blocks AMPAR internalization in response to chemical LTD induction in cultured neurons (Rocca et al., 2008). Furthermore, the same mutant blocks CA1 LTD in hippocampal slices (Nakamura et al., 2011). These results demonstrate that the inhibition of Arp2/3-mediated actin polymerization by PICK1 is required for AMPAR internalization. However, it is unclear whether PICK1 functions mainly at the level of the plasma membrane to promote AMPAR endocytosis, or at the recycling endosome to restrict AMPAR recycling, or both. Both trafficking processes involve BAR domain proteins that are involved in bending or tubulating membranes, and both also involve actin dynamics as regulators of mechanical force to control vesicle formation or tubulation (Galletta and Cooper, 2009; Van Der Sluijs and Hoogenraad, 2011; Mooren et al., 2012; Suetsugu and Gautreau, 2012).

The PICK1-F-actin and the PICK1-Arp2/3 complex interactions are modestly auto-inhibited by an intramolecular interaction between the PDZ domain and the BAR domain, and Arp2/3 inhibition is enhanced by the binding of a GluA2 C-terminal fragment to the PICK1 PDZ domain in in vitro actin polymerization assays (Rocca et al., 2008). This suggests a mechanism to ensure that maximal Arp2/3 inhibition is temporally and spatially focused to promote PICK1-mediated AMPAR trafficking. PICK1 is a Ca^{2+} sensor that responds to NMDAR-mediated Ca²⁺ influx to enhance its interaction with GluA2 (Hanley and Henley, 2005), hence actin dynamics in the vicinity of AMPARs are modulated by NMDAR stimulation in response to the induction of synaptic plasticity. A further level of regulation is provided by the small GTPase Arf1, which interacts directly with PICK1 to reduce Arp2/3 binding and consequent inhibition of Arp2/3 activity in *in vitro* assays. (Rocca et al., 2013). Arf1 appears to inhibit PICK1 under basal conditions, since molecular replacement with an Arf1 mutant that does not bind PICK1 causes the loss of surface AMPARs in cultured neurons, which occludes subsequent NMDA-induced internalization. Arf1 binds PICK1 preferentially in its active, guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-bound state, hence a signaling event to increase PICK1mediated Arp2/3 inhibition to promote trafficking would require a switch from GTP-bound to GDP-bound Arf1. Indeed, a reduction in GTP bound Arf1 in response to NMDAR stimulation in cultured neurons is blocked by siRNA-mediated knockdown of the Arf GAP GIT1 (Rocca et al., 2013), which is a protein previously implicated in AMPAR trafficking (Ko et al., 2003). This model also suggests the involvement of an Arf1 GEF to maintain a basal level of GTP-Arf1 and hence a low basal level of Arp2/3 inhibition by PICK1 at appropriate subcellular locations, presumably close to synapses. Further work will determine the spatial organization of this process and the precise mechanism of NMDAR-stimulated Arf GAP activity by GIT1.

ARC/ARG3.1

Arc/Arg3.1 associates with the actin cytoskeleton, but does not bind actin directly, and the intermediate protein involved in this interaction is unknown. Arc also interacts with the endocytic proteins endophilin and dynamin (Chowdhury et al., 2006) to promote AMPAR internalization during homeostatic synaptic plasticity in cultured neurons and certain forms of memory (Shepherd et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2012). None of these proteins binds AMPAR directly, and the specific molecular interactions involved in AMPAR trafficking, including a potential role for the association of Arc with actin, are unclear. An interesting observation linking Arc to actin dynamics is that Arc synthesis causes cofilin phosphorylation (Messaoudi et al., 2007). Since phosphorylated cofilin is inactive, this suggests that Arc synthesis has a stabilizing influence on actin dynamics. Cofilin has not been implicated in AMPAR internalization per se, so this influence of Arc on actin dynamics may be independent of its role in AMPAR endocytosis.

CPG2

Another actin-associated protein involved in regulating AMPAR internalization is CPG2 (Candidate Plasticity Gene 2), which binds F-actin directly and colocalizes with clathrin at postsynaptic endocytic zones (Cottrell et al., 2004; Loebrich et al., 2013). CPG2 knockdown causes an increase in surface-expressed AMPARs, an increase in synaptic strength, and an accumulation of clathrincoated vesicles close to synapses, suggesting that it may play a role in a late phase of endocytosis, such as vesicle movement away from the plasma membrane (Cottrell et al., 2004; Loebrich et al., 2013). Consistent with this hypothesis, F-actin dynamics are thought to play a critical role in the late stages of clathrin-coated pit invagination and subsequent vesicle mobilization (Merrifield, 2004). The CPG2-actin interaction is enhanced by PKA phosphorylation of CPG2, and expression of phospho-null mutant CPG2 reduces basal AMPAR internalization, suggesting that actin binding is required for trafficking. However, the specific function of the actin binding property of CPG2 with respect to AMPAR trafficking is currently unknown.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

It is clear that the actin cytoskeleton plays a critical role in controlling the dynamic localization of AMPARs, by regulating multiple points in the trafficking pathway (Figure 2). However, the mechanistic details are still far from clear. Fundamental aspects of receptor trafficking have been defined in non-neuronal mammalian cells, which will probably give further clues about the mechanisms at play in neurons to regulate AMPARs. However, the atypical environment of the dendritic spine, which is a small, confined compartment with a very high concentration of dynamic actin filaments, suggests that actin-dependent receptor trafficking mechanisms may involve characteristics that are specific to this environment. Actin-binding proteins or actin-regulatory proteins that associate with AMPAR subunits or with postsynaptic scaffolds have already been shown to be critical regulators of AMPAR trafficking, but a more complete understanding of the spatial and temporal regulation of actin dynamics in relation to AMPARs and to the PSD is necessary. In addition, further work is



FIGURE 2 | Diagram indicating the points in the AMPAR trafficking pathway that are known to be regulated by actin-based protein machinery. AMPARs are endocytosed at endocytic zones adjacent to the PSD in a process that involves the modulation of F-actin turnover, and the actin-biding proteins CPG2, Arc, and the Arp2/3 inhibitor PICK1. AMPAR-containing endocytic vesicles are transported away from the plasma membrane along F-actin tracks by the minus-end directed actin motor protein myosin VI. In the recycling endosome, AMPARs associate with actin filaments via RIL and the plus-end directed motor protein myosin Va, which direct AMPAR traffic towards the plasma membrane. In addition,

needed to unravel the upstream regulation of these mechanisms to drive AMPAR trafficking leading to changes in synaptic strength.

REFERENCES

- Allison, D. W., Gelfand, V. I., Spector, I., and Craig, A. M. (1998). Role of actin in anchoring postsynaptic receptors in cultured hippocampal neurons: differential attachment of NMDA versus AMPA receptors. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 2423– 2436.
- Anggono, V., and Huganir, R. L. (2012). Regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 22, 461–469. doi: 10.1016/j.conb. 2011.12.006
- Ashby, M. C., Ibaraki, K., and Henley, J. M. (2004). It's green outside: tracking cell surface proteins with pH-sensitive GFP. *Trends Neurosci.* 27, 257–261. doi: 10. 1016/j.tins.2004.03.010
- Baines, A. J., Lu, H. C., and Bennett, P. M. (2014). The Protein 4.1 family: hub proteins in animals for organizing membrane proteins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1838, 605–619. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.05.030
- Bosch, M., Castro, J., Saneyoshi, T., Matsuno, H., Sur, M., and Hayashi, Y. (2014). Structural and molecular remodeling of dendritic spine substructures during

AMPAR-containing recycling endosomes associate with the plus-end directed motor protein myosin Vb via Rab11-FIP2, which pulls the endosome into the spine to increase the availability of AMPARs for subsequent plasma membrane insertion. PICK1 restricts AMPAR recycling back to the plasma membrane in a process that is likely to involve F-actin turnover. The insertion of AMPARs into the plasma membrane requires the activity of ADF/cofilin and the actin-binding protein 4.1N. Red arrows represent trafficking events that are involved in reducing AMPAR surface expression, and green arrows represent trafficking events that are involved in increasing AMPAR surface expression.

long-term potentiation. Neuron 82, 444-459. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014. 03.021

- Bosch, M., and Hayashi, Y. (2012). Structural plasticity of dendritic spines. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 22, 383–388. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2011.09.002
- Campellone, K. G., and Welch, M. D. (2010). A nucleator arms race: cellular control of actin assembly. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11, 237–251. doi: 10.1038/nrm2867
- Chowdhury, S., Shepherd, J. D., Okuno, H., Lyford, G., Petralia, R. S., Plath, N., et al. (2006). Arc/Arg3.1 interacts with the endocytic machinery to regulate AMPA receptor trafficking. *Neuron* 52, 445–459. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006. 08.033
- Correia, S. S., Bassani, S., Brown, T. C., Lise, M. F., Backos, D. S., El-Husseini, A., et al. (2008). Motor protein-dependent transport of AMPA receptors into spines during long-term potentiation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 457–466. doi: 10.1038/nn 2063
- Cottrell, J. R., Borok, E., Horvath, T. L., and Nedivi, E. (2004). CPG2: a brain- and synapse-specific protein that regulates the endocytosis of glutamate receptors. *Neuron* 44, 677–690. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(04)00688-9
- Fortin, D. A., Srivastava, T., and Soderling, T. R. (2012). Structural modulation of dendritic spines during synaptic plasticity. *Neuroscientist* 18, 326–341. doi: 10. 1177/1073858411407206

- Fukazawa, Y., Saitoh, Y., Ozawa, F., Ohta, Y., Mizuno, K., and Inokuchi, K. (2003). Hippocampal LTP is accompanied by enhanced F-actin content within the dendritic spine that is essential for late LTP maintenance in vivo. *Neuron* 38, 447–460. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00206-x
- Galletta, B. J., and Cooper, J. A. (2009). Actin and endocytosis: mechanisms and phylogeny. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 21, 20–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2009. 01.006
- Gu, J., Lee, C. W., Fan, Y., Komlos, D., Tang, X., Sun, C., et al. (2010). ADF/cofilinmediated actin dynamics regulate AMPA receptor trafficking during synaptic plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1208–1215. doi: 10.1038/nn.2634
- Hanley, J. G., and Henley, J. M. (2005). PICK1 is a calcium-sensor for NMDAinduced AMPA receptor trafficking. *EMBO J.* 24, 3266–3278. doi: 10.1038/sj. emboj.7600801
- Hartman, M. A., Finan, D., Sivaramakrishnan, S., and Spudich, J. A. (2011). Principles of unconventional myosin function and targeting. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 27, 133–155. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100809-151502
- Henley, J. M., Barker, E. A., and Glebov, O. O. (2011). Routes, destinations and delays: recent advances in AMPA receptor trafficking. *Trends Neurosci.* 34, 258– 268. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2011.02.004
- Jurado, S., Goswami, D., Zhang, Y., Molina, A. J., Sudhof, T. C., and Malenka, R. C. (2013). LTP requires a unique postsynaptic SNARE fusion machinery. *Neuron* 77, 542–558. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.11.029
- Kennedy, M. J., Davison, I. G., Robinson, C. G., and Ehlers, M. D. (2010). Syntaxin-4 defines a domain for activity-dependent exocytosis in dendritic spines. *Cell* 141, 524–535. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.042
- Kerr, J. M., and Blanpied, T. A. (2012). Subsynaptic AMPA receptor distribution is acutely regulated by actin-driven reorganization of the postsynaptic density. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 658–673. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2927-11. 2012
- Kim, C. H., Chung, H. J., Lee, H. K., and Huganir, R. L. (2001). Interaction of the AMPA receptor subunit GluR2/3 with PDZ domains regulates hippocampal long-term depression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 98, 11725–11730. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.211132798
- Kim, C. H., and Lisman, J. E. (1999). A role of actin filament in synaptic transmission and long-term potentiation. J. Neurosci. 19, 4314–4324.
- Kim, C. H., and Lisman, J. E. (2001). A labile component of AMPA receptormediated synaptic transmission is dependent on microtubule motors, actin and N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor. J. Neurosci. 21, 4188–4194.
- Kneussel, M., and Wagner, W. (2013). Myosin motors at neuronal synapses: drivers of membrane transport and actin dynamics. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 233–247. doi: 10.1038/nrn3445
- Ko, J., Kim, S., Valtschanoff, J. G., Shin, H., Lee, J. R., Sheng, M., et al. (2003). Interaction between liprin-alpha and GIT1 is required for AMPA receptor targeting. J. Neurosci. 23, 1667–1677.
- Lee, S. H., and Dominguez, R. (2010). Regulation of actin cytoskeleton dynamics in cells. *Mol. Cells* 29, 311–325. doi: 10.1007/s10059-010-0053-8
- Leonard, A. S., Davare, M. A., Horne, M. C., Garner, C. C., and Hell, J. W. (1998). SAP97 is associated with the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4propionic acid receptor GluR1 subunit. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 19518–19524. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.273.31.19518
- Lin, D. T., Makino, Y., Sharma, K., Hayashi, T., Neve, R., Takamiya, K., et al. (2009). Regulation of AMPA receptor extrasynaptic insertion by 4.1N, phosphorylation and palmitoylation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 879–887. doi: 10.1038/nn. 2351
- Lise, M. F., Wong, T. P., Trinh, A., Hines, R. M., Liu, L., Kang, R., et al. (2006). Involvement of myosin Vb in glutamate receptor trafficking. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 3669–3678. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m511725200
- Liu, Y., Zhou, Q. X., Hou, Y. Y., Lu, B., Yu, C., Chen, J., et al. (2012). Actin polymerization-dependent increase in synaptic Arc/Arg3.1 expression in the amygdala is crucial for the expression of aversive memory associated with drug withdrawal. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 12005–12017. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0871-12. 2012
- Loebrich, S., Djukic, B., Tong, Z. J., Cottrell, J. R., Turrigiano, G. G., and Nedivi, E. (2013). Regulation of glutamate receptor internalization by the spine cytoskeleton is mediated by its PKA-dependent association with CPG2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 110, E4548–E44556. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1318860110
- Merrifield, C. J. (2004). Seeing is believing: imaging actin dynamics at single sites of endocytosis. *Trends Cell Biol.* 14, 352–358. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2004.05.008

- Messaoudi, E., Kanhema, T., Soule, J., Tiron, A., Dagyte, G., Da Silva, B., et al. (2007). Sustained Arc/Arg3.1 synthesis controls long-term potentiation consolidation through regulation of local actin polymerization in the dentate gyrus in vivo. J. Neurosci. 27, 10445–10455. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2883-07. 2007
- Mizuno, K. (2013). Signaling mechanisms and functional roles of cofilin phosphorylation and dephosphorylation. *Cell. Signal.* 25, 457–469. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig. 2012.11.001
- Mooren, O. L., Galletta, B. J., and Cooper, J. A. (2012). Roles for actin assembly in endocytosis. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 81, 661–686. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-060910-094416
- Nakagawa, T., Futai, K., Lashuel, H. A., Lo, I., Okamoto, K., Walz, T., et al. (2004). Quaternary structure, protein dynamics and synaptic function of SAP97 controlled by L27 domain interactions. *Neuron* 44, 453–467. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2004.10.012
- Nakamura, Y., Wood, C. L., Patton, A. P., Jaafari, N., Henley, J. M., Mellor, J. R., et al. (2011). PICK1 inhibition of the Arp2/3 complex controls dendritic spine size and synaptic plasticity. *EMBO J.* 30, 719–730. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.357
- Nash, J. E., Appleby, V. J., Correa, S. A., Wu, H., Fitzjohn, S. M., Garner, C. C., et al. (2010). Disruption of the interaction between myosin VI and SAP97 is associated with a reduction in the number of AMPARs at hippocampal synapses. *J. Neurochem.* 112, 677–690. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009. 06480.x
- Opazo, P., and Choquet, D. (2011). A three-step model for the synaptic recruitment of AMPA receptors. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 46, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2010. 08.014
- Osterweil, E., Wells, D. G., and Mooseker, M. S. (2005). A role for myosin VI in postsynaptic structure and glutamate receptor endocytosis. *J. Cell Biol.* 168, 329–338. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200410091
- Pollard, T. D., and Cooper, J. A. (2009). Actin, a central player in cell shape and movement. *Science* 326, 1208–1212. doi: 10.1126/science.1175862
- Porat-Shliom, N., Milberg, O., Masedunskas, A., and Weigert, R. (2013). Multiple roles for the actin cytoskeleton during regulated exocytosis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 70, 2099–2121. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1156-5
- Rocca, D. L., Amici, M., Antoniou, A., Suarez, E. B., Halemani, N., Murk, K., et al. (2013). The small GTPase Arf1 modulates Arp2/3-Mediated Actin Polymerization via PICK1 to regulate synaptic plasticity. *Neuron* 79, 293–307. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2013.05.003
- Rocca, D. L., Martin, S., Jenkins, E. L., and Hanley, J. G. (2008). Inhibition of Arp2/3-mediated actin polymerization by PICK1 regulates neuronal morphology and AMPA receptor endocytosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 259–271. doi: 10. 1038/ncb1688
- Rust, M. B., Gurniak, C. B., Renner, M., Vara, H., Morando, L., Gorlich, A., et al. (2010). Learning, AMPA receptor mobility and synaptic plasticity depend on ncofilin-mediated actin dynamics. *EMBO J.* 29, 1889–1902. doi: 10.1038/emboj. 2010.72
- Sarmiere, P. D., and Bamburg, J. R. (2004). Regulation of the neuronal actin cytoskeleton by ADF/cofilin. J. Neurobiol. 58, 103–117. doi: 10.1002/neu. 10267
- Schulz, T. W., Nakagawa, T., Licznerski, P., Pawlak, V., Kolleker, A., Rozov, A., et al. (2004). Actin/alpha-actinin-dependent transport of AMPA receptors in dendritic spines: role of the PDZ-LIM protein RIL. J. Neurosci. 24, 8584–8594. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2100-04.2004
- Shen, L., Liang, F., Walensky, L. D., and Huganir, R. L. (2000). Regulation of AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit surface expression by a 4. 1N-linked actin cytoskeletal association. J. Neurosci. 20, 7932–7940.
- Shepherd, J. D., and Huganir, R. L. (2007). The cell biology of synaptic plasticity: AMPA receptor trafficking. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 23, 613–643. doi: 10. 1146/annurev.cellbio.23.090506.123516
- Shepherd, J. D., Rumbaugh, G., Wu, J., Chowdhury, S., Plath, N., Kuhl, D., et al. (2006). Arc/Arg3.1 mediates homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPA receptors. *Neuron* 52, 475–484. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.08.034
- Soldati, T., and Schliwa, M. (2006). Powering membrane traffic in endocytosis and recycling. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 7, 897–908. doi: 10.1038/nrm 2060
- Suetsugu, S., and Gautreau, A. (2012). Synergistic BAR-NPF interactions in actindriven membrane remodeling. *Trends Cell Biol.* 22, 141–150. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb. 2012.01.001

- Takenawa, T., and Suetsugu, S. (2007). The WASP-WAVE protein network: connecting the membrane to the cytoskeleton. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8, 37–48. doi: 10. 1038/nrm2069
- Terashima, A., Pelkey, K. A., Rah, J. C., Suh, Y. H., Roche, K. W., Collingridge, G. L., et al. (2008). An essential role for PICK1 in NMDA receptor-dependent bidirectional synaptic plasticity. *Neuron* 57, 872–882. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2008.01.028
- Vallenius, T., Scharm, B., Vesikansa, A., Luukko, K., Schafer, R., and Makela, T. P. (2004). The PDZ-LIM protein RIL modulates actin stress fiber turnover and enhances the association of alpha-actinin with F-actin. *Exp. Cell Res.* 293, 117– 128. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2003.09.004
- Van Der Sluijs, P., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2011). New insights in endosomal dynamics and AMPA receptor trafficking. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 22, 499–505. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2011.06.008
- Wang, Z., Edwards, J. G., Riley, N., Provance, D. W. Jr., Karcher, R., Li, X. D., et al. (2008). Myosin Vb mobilizes recycling endosomes and AMPA receptors for postsynaptic plasticity. *Cell* 135, 535–548. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.057
- Wang, F., Thirumurugan, K., Stafford, W. F., Hammer, J. A. 3rd, Knight, P. J., and Sellers, J. R. (2004). Regulated conformation of myosin V. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 2333–2336. doi: 10.1074/jbc.c300488200
- Wozny, C., Breustedt, J., Wolk, F., Varoqueaux, F., Boretius, S., Zivkovic, A. R., et al. (2009). The function of glutamatergic synapses is not perturbed by severe knockdown of 4.1N and 4.1G expression. *J. Cell Sci.* 122, 735–744. doi: 10. 1242/jcs.037382
- Wu, H., Nash, J. E., Zamorano, P., and Garner, C. C. (2002). Interaction of SAP97 with minus-end-directed actin motor myosin VI. Implications for AMPA receptor trafficking. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 30928–30934. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m203735200

- Yan, Q., Sun, W., Kujala, P., Lotfi, Y., Vida, T. A., and Bean, A. J. (2005). CART: an Hrs/actinin-4/BERP/myosin V protein complex required for efficient receptor recycling. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 16, 2470–2482. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e04-11-1014
- Yuen, E. Y., Liu, W., Kafri, T., Van Praag, H., and Yan, Z. (2010). Regulation of AMPA receptor channels and synaptic plasticity by cofilin phosphatase Slingshot in cortical neurons. *J. Physiol.* 588, 2361–2371. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009. 186353
- Zhou, Q., Xiao, M., and Nicoll, R. A. (2001). Contribution of cytoskeleton to the internalization of AMPA receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 98, 1261–1266. doi: 10.1073/pnas.98.3.1261

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 August 2014; paper pending published: 30 September 2014; accepted: 24 October 2014; published online: 12 November 2014.

Citation: Hanley JG (2014) Actin-dependent mechanisms in AMPA receptor trafficking. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8:381. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00381

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Hanley. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The dendritic SNARE fusion machinery involved in AMPARs insertion during long-term potentiation

Sandra Jurado *

Department of Pharmacology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Edited by:

Inmaculada Maria Gonzalez-Gonzalez, Centro de Investigacion Medica Aplicada. Snain

Reviewed by:

Ledia F. Hernandez, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, USA Milos Petrovic, University of Belarade, Serbia

*Correspondence:

Sandra Jurado, Department of Pharmacology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, 655 W. Baltimore St., BRB Room 5-040, Baltimore, MD 21201, USA e-mail: sjurado@som. umaryland.edu

Sorting endosomes carry α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA)type glutamate receptors (AMPARs) from their maturation sites to their final destination at the dendritic plasma membrane through both constitutive and regulated exocytosis. Insertion of functional AMPARs into the postsynaptic membrane is essential for maintaining fast excitatory synaptic transmission and plasticity. Despite this crucial role in neuronal function, the machinery mediating the fusion of AMPAR-containing endosomes in dendrites has been largely understudied in comparison to presynaptic vesicle exocytosis. Increasing evidence suggests that similarly to neurotransmitter release, AMPARs insertion relies on the formation of a SNARE complex (soluble NSF-attachment protein receptor), whose composition in dendrites has just begun to be elucidated. This review analyzes recent findings of the fusion machinery involved in regulated AMPARs insertion and discusses how dendritic exocytosis and AMPARs lateral diffusion may work together to support synaptic plasticity.

Keywords: AMPARs, SNAREs, dendritic exocytosis, syntaxin-3

INTRODUCTION

As integral membrane proteins, synaptic α-amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs) make use of the entire secretory pathway to reach their final destination at the postsynaptic density (PSD) of dendritic spines. In neurons, the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) can extend into dendrites where it serves as the site for protein biosynthesis as well as an internal calcium storage organelle (Torre and Steward, 1996; Spacek and Harris, 1997; Gardiol et al., 1999; Cui-Wang et al., 2012). These early trafficking steps through the secretory pathway greatly influence the number of available AMPARs since exit from the ER is a limiting step controlled by numerous signaling pathways (Standley et al., 2000; Scott et al., 2003; Hawkins et al., 2004; Horak et al., 2008). According to this notion, retention of AMPARs in the ER has been associated to impairments in synaptic potentiation elicited in CA3-CA1 synapses in the hippocampus (Broutman and Baudry, 2001). After departure from the ER, newly synthesized AMPARs reach the Golgi apparatus (GA) which in neurons is located both in the peri-nuclear region and in discrete Golgi outposts at dendritic branch points (Lowenstein et al., 1994; Horton and Ehlers, 2003; Horton et al., 2005; Ye et al., 2007). Following processing including glycosylation and peptide cleavage, mature AMPARs leave the GA in discrete membranous carriers, largely recycling endosomes (RE), which are then exocytosed at the dendritic plasma membrane. The fusion of these AMPAR-containing endosomes is believed to be highly regulated as it influences surface receptor composition and cell morphology. Two types of endosome exocytosis have been proposed: a constitutive recycling pathway that maintains an steady supply of lipids and membrane proteins and

an activity-dependent fusion that underlies acute and long-term changes of molecular composition and synaptic function such as long-term synaptic potentiation (LTP) (reviewed in Shepherd and Huganir, 2007; Henley et al., 2011; Huganir and Nicoll, 2013).

The final step of intracellular membrane fusion is generally controlled by Sec1/Munc-18-like proteins (SM proteins) and the formation of a SNARE complex (Südhof, 2012). The assembly of the SNARE complex into a stable four-helix bundle occurs by the interaction of the SNARE motifs from syntaxin, synaptobrevin and SNAP proteins (Figure 1). SNARE complex formation is an exothermic process thought to provide the energy required for membrane fusion (Jahn and Scheller, 2006). According to their universal role in membrane fusion, previous work suggested that SNARE-dependent exocytosis mediates the fusion of AMPARcontaining endosomes with the postsynaptic membrane (Lledo et al., 1998; Lu et al., 2001; Kennedy et al., 2010; Jurado et al., 2013). However whereas the presynaptic SNARE fusion machinery has been identified, the composition of postsynaptic SNARE complexes has remained unclear until recently. Moreover, it is still uncertain whether the same pool of AMPARs-containing endosomes is capable of undergoing both constitutive and activitydependent exocytosis via a similar SNARE fusion machinery. The identification of distinct SNARE molecules specifically involved in constitutive and/or regulated AMPARs insertion is particularly important since it may provide novel targets to selectively manipulate synaptic transmission and plasticity such as LTP which is thought to be implicated in learning and memory (Malenka and Bear, 2004; Neves et al., 2008). Recent efforts to elucidate the composition of postsynaptic SNAREs involved



in activity-dependent exocytosis suggest that membrane fusion at the postsynaptic compartment is molecularly distinct from its presynaptic counterpart. Unfortunately, the fusion machinery underlying constitutive AMPARs insertion has received less attention despite its crucial role in maintaining basal synaptic strength. For this reason, here we primarily review data from experiments addressing the mechanism of AMPARs exocytosis during NMDAR-dependent LTP elicited in CA3-CA1 synapses in acute hippocampal slices or by activating N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors (NMDARs) in cultured neurons. NMDARdependent LTP is arguably the best studied form of long-term plasticity and whose deficit in different cell types and brain regions may contribute to several prominent neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders (Geschwind and Levitt, 2007; Kauer and Malenka, 2007; Clapp et al., 2012; Ehlers, 2012). In addition to discussing the fusion machinery of AMPARs-containing endosomes, we consider how regulated exocytosis may cooperate with other membrane processes such as receptors lateral diffusion to control the number of synaptic AMPARs, therein synaptic transmission and plasticity in the healthy brain.

AMPARs EXOCYTOSIS DURING LTP

In general, LTP can be elicited by brief repetitive stimulation of excitatory afferents (Bliss and Lomo, 1973; Malenka and Bear, 2004) which raises postsynaptic calcium levels mainly due to the activation of synaptic NMDARs (Collingridge et al., 1983; Kauer et al., 1988). Intensive research over the last three decades has demonstrated that postsynaptic calcium influx ultimately increases the number of synaptic AMPARs (Malenka and Bear, 2004; Huganir and Nicoll, 2013). However the role of calcium-dependent exocytosis during LTP has not been fully

appreciated until more recently. Numerous signal transduction pathways were suggested to play a role in translating the calcium signal into LTP (Sanes and Lichtman, 1999; Malenka and Bear, 2004). Compelling evidence using genetic and pharmacological approaches indicated that calcium/calmodulin (CaM)-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) played a mandatory role in longlasting increase of synaptic strength (Malenka et al., 1988; Malinow et al., 1989; Silva et al., 1992; Pettit et al., 1994; Lledo et al., 1995, 1998; Giese et al., 1998; Lisman et al., 2012). Due to the prominent role of CaMKII in LTP, it was initially assumed that AMPARs insertion was only indirectly regulated by calcium, in contrast to the calcium-regulated exocytosis observed in the presynaptic terminal. Electron microscopy studies revealed the presence of recycling endosomes in dendrites and dendritic spines (Cooney et al., 2002) suggesting that these dendritic vesicles may function as internal membrane stores of AMPARs. Furthermore, the presence of these dendritic endosomes occasionally observed as membrane-bound strongly suggested that they may interact and fuse with the plasma membrane to deliver their cargo in response to neuronal activity (Carroll et al., 1999; Lüscher et al., 1999; Beattie et al., 2000; Ehlers, 2000; Zhu et al., 2002; Park et al., 2004).

Early evidence that calcium-dependent synaptic potentiation requires a SNARE fusion machinery acting in dendrites came from LTP experiments in which botulinum neurotoxin B (BoNT/B), that cleaves synaptobrevins, and other inhibitor peptides of the SNARE complex were infused through the recording pipette (Lledo et al., 1998). Each of these inhibitors efficiently blocked the expression of LTP suggesting that exocytosis of AMPARs-containing endosomes is an essential step during synaptic potentiation. In parallalel to electrophysiological evidence for AMPARs exocytosis, the first optical demonstration of activity-triggered exocytosis in dendrites was reported (Maletic-Savatic and Malinow, 1998). In this pioneer study, neurons incubated with the lipophilic styryl dye FM1-43, a common reagent for the study of neurotransmitter release, incorporated the dye into postsynaptic compartments that destained within minutes upon neuronal stimulation (Maletic-Savatic and Malinow, 1998). These findings provided the first glimpse into postsynaptic exocytosis and suggested that dendritic vesicles may undergo activity-dependent fusion.

Over the years, advances on live cell imaging resulted in the appreciation of the morphological rearrangements that dendritic spines experience during synaptic potentiation. Structural plasticity of dendritic spines during LTP is often observed as a rapid increases of the spine head volume upon NMDAR activation, thus implying that membrane components are provided rapidly to support local growth (Murakoshi and Yasuda, 2012). Dendritic exocytosis of recycling endosomes containing surface receptors and other membrane proteins may provide an efficient way to support both synaptic and structural plasticity. According to this notion, live cell imaging studies using clostridial neurotoxins that disrupt SNARE complexes, or expression of dominantnegative SNARE proteins provided strong evidence for the role of activity-dependent exocytosis in supporting spine growth upon LTP induction (Park et al., 2004, 2006; Kopec et al., 2006, 2007; Yang et al., 2008).

Finally, recent work using shRNA-mediated knock-down of several SNARE proteins and high-resolution live cell imaging has confirmed the role of SNARE-dependent fusion during LTP (Kennedy et al., 2010; Jurado et al., 2013). Surprisingly despite the crucial role of CaMKII-dependent signaling in synaptic potentiation the exocytosis of AMPARs-containing endosomes may not be directly linked to CaMKII activity. Instead, postsynaptic exocytosis has been shown to require on small GTPases from the Ras and Rab families, which have been demonstrated to play a role in AMPAR mobilization upon NMDAR activation (Zhu et al., 2002). Numerous independent findings currently support the notion that AMPAR delivery to the plasma membrane is a calcium-regulated fusion event that involves activity-dependent exocytosis of AMPARs-containing endosomes (Lledo et al., 1998; Shi et al., 1999; Hayashi et al., 2000; Lu et al., 2001; Passafaro et al., 2001; Park et al., 2004; Makino and Malinow, 2009; Petrini et al., 2009; Kennedy et al., 2010; Ahmad et al., 2012; Jurado et al., 2013). Altogether, these data strongly support the hypothesis that regulated exocytosis of AMPAR-carrying vesicles may underlie both functional and structural aspects of synaptic potentiation.

A POSTSYNAPTIC SNARE COMPLEX FOR LTP

Membrane fusion events in eukaryotic cells are carried out by SNARE proteins. In neurons, the presynaptic SNARE complex is formed by the interaction of the vesicle SNARE protein (v-SNARE), synaptobrevin-2/vesicle-associated membrane protein 2 (Syb-2/VAMP2), and plasma membrane target SNARE proteins (t-SNAREs), syntaxin-1 and SNAP25 (Jahn and Fasshauer, 2012; Rizo and Südhof, 2012; Figure 1). Among the t-SNAREs, syntaxins exist in either a "closed" or an "open" conformation. Syntaxin "open" conformation must be achieved in order to form a functional SNARE complex. The conformational change of syntaxin-1 is facilitated by the interaction between its C-terminus and SM proteins (Khvotchev et al., 2007; Shen et al., 2007; Südhof and Rothman, 2009). In addition to this interaction, syntaxin-1 binds to small regulatory proteins known as complexins, this binding has been proposed to arrest the SNARE complex in a "primed" state until calcium influx invades the axon terminal and vesicles are finally fused (McMahon et al., 1995; Giraudo et al., 2006; Tang et al., 2006; Xue et al., 2008; Maximov et al., 2009). The final coupling of synaptic vesicle exocytosis to calcium is mediated by neuronal synaptotagmins, a family of transmembrane proteins with at least one calciumbinding domain (C2 domain) (Geppert et al., 1994; Fernández-Chacón et al., 2001; Pang et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2007). Calcium binding to synaptotagmin-1 C2 domains removes the complexin brake and promotes the binding of synaptotagmin to both the plasma membrane and the SNARE complex thereby triggering fusion (Rizo and Südhof, 1998; Tang et al., 2006; Südhof, 2012). Analogous to presynaptic fusion, AMPAR exocytosis has been shown to rely on SNAREs, although the composition of postsynaptic SNARE complexes involved in both constitutive and activity dependent recycling remains a topic of active research (Kennedy et al., 2010; Ahmad et al., 2012; Jurado et al., 2013) (please note the different molecular composition of the postsynaptic SNARE complex illustrated in Figure 2 to the canonical presynaptic SNARE complex in Figure 1). Consistent with this



FIGURE 2 | Postsynaptic SNARE complex involved in AMPARs insertion during LTP. Top panel represents dendritic SNARE proteins involved in constitutive trafficking of NMDARs and AMPARs. SNAP-25 is depicted as membrane-bound regulating constitutive NMDARs exocytosis whereas the vesicle SNARE synaptobrevin-2 (Syb-2) may be an integral component of both AMPARs and NMDARs-containing endosomes. Bottom panel illustrates the formation of a specific postsynaptic SNARE complex involved in AMPARs exocytosis upon NMDAR activation. SNAP-47 is shown in close proximity to syntaxin-3 which is anchored to the plasma membrane in an open conformation by its interaction with an unknown postsynaptic SM protein. In a similar fashion to SNAP-25, Syb-2 is depicted regulating constitutive recycling of AMPARs. Plasma membrane-bound Syntaxin-3 molecules may constitute micro-domains or hot spots for exocytosis of AMPARs-containing endosomes during LTP. Calcium influx into the postsynaptic terminal promotes the assembly of a SNARE complex constituted by Stx-3, SNAP-47 and Syb-2, as well as complexin (not shown) and a postsynaptic synaptotagmin isoform (Syt-X) still to be identified.

notion, complexins have emerged as important regulators of calcium-dependent exocytosis of AMPAR-carrying endosomes in LTP. Data from mice lacking complexin-2 provided early evidence to a potential role of complexins in LTP (Takahashi et al., 1999; Huang et al., 2000). More recently, the essential role of complexins in synaptic potentiation has been demonstrated using viral-mediated knock-down approaches *in vivo* (Ahmad et al., 2012). Ahmad et al. showed that complexins -1 and -2 control dendritic exocytosis of AMPARs during hippocampal LTP, although they may not be required for constitutive exocytosis. These findings further strengthen the involvement of a SNARE-dependent fusion during regulated AMPARs insertion.

COMPOSITION OF POSTSYNAPTIC SNARE COMPLEX DURING LTP

In contrast to presynaptic neurotransmitter release, the composition of postsynaptic SNARE complexes mediating calcium-dependent AMPAR exocytosis in dendrites has just recently begun to be elucidated. In a similar fashion to axonal exocytosis, SNARE complexes in dendrites are constituted by three families of SNARE proteins: syntaxins, SNAPs and synaptobrevins. SNARE complex assembly is mediated by the interaction of the SNARE motifs, present in all SNARE proteins (note that two SNARE motifs are contributed by SNAP-25 and one by syntaxin-1 and synaptobrevin-2) (Hayashi et al., 1994; Sutton et al., 1998). Intriguingly, despite their specificity in vivo (Südhof and Rothman, 2009), SNAREdependent interactions exhibit promiscuity in vitro (Fasshauer et al., 1999; Yang et al., 1999) suggesting that different SNARE complexes constituted by distinct combinations of syntaxin, SNAP and synaptobrevin isoforms may coexist within the same cell to regulate fusion events at different subcellular compartments. Moreover, different SNARE isoforms of for example membrane-bound syntaxins may sort distinct SNARE complexes to discrete membrane compartments or regions within the plasma membrane (i.e., postsynaptic membrane vs. presynaptic membrane) indicating hot spots for exocytosis. Consisting with this, immunohistochemistry and electron microscopy studies have exposed the presence of several SNAREs proteins at the somato-dendritic region in different brain areas. For example, syntaxin-3, SNAP-25 and synaptobrevin-2 have been detected in dendrites of nigral dopaminergic neurons which is indirect evidence for their involvement in dendritic secretion of neuromodulators like dopamine or perhaps neuropeptides (Witkovsky et al., 2009). Additionally, distinct SNARE-dependent mechanisms seem to underlie calcium-dependent fusion of secretory vesicles from axons and dendrites in hypothalamic neurons (Landry et al., 2003). Below, we review our current knowledge of SNAREs involved in AMPARs insertion during LTP following a chronological order from the first evidence for the role of postsynaptic synaptobrevins to the more recent work in SNAP proteins and syntaxins.

POSTSYNAPTIC SYNAPTOBREVINS

Synaptobrevin -1 and -2 isoforms are small transmembrane proteins that belong to a larger VAMP family (Ernst and Brunger, 2003; Brunger et al., 2009). Interestingly, synaptobrevin-2 has long been known to undergo transcytosis, an early intracellular trafficking event that temporally drives axonal vesicles to the dendritic compartment (Sampo et al., 2003; Wisco et al., 2003; Yap et al., 2008; Ascaño et al., 2009). Identification of vesicles containing classical presynaptic molecules in dendrites, even if only temporarily during early development, raised the intriguing possibility that proteins critical for presynaptic function may also act at postsynaptic locations. According to this idea, some of the first evidence that AMPARs insertion during LTP requires postsynaptic exocytosis came from experiments where synaptobrevin-mediated fusion was disrupted using botulinum toxin B which cleaves VAMP family SNARE proteins infused into postsynaptic neurons via the recording pipette (Lledo et al., 1998).

This early observation led to a model where AMPAR-containing endosomes fuse with the plasma membrane upon LTP induction (**Figure 2**).

In addition to functional plasticity, several studies have shown that postsynaptic exocytosis likely mediated by postsynaptic synaptobrevins is required for structural plasticity at glutamatergic synapses (Park et al., 2004, 2006; Kopec et al., 2006, 2007; Yang et al., 2008). Upon NMDARs activation dendritic spines have been shown to increase their volume (Murakoshi and Yasuda, 2012). This stimulus-induced spine growth is blocked by the infusion of botulinum toxin B or expression of dominant-negative SNARE proteins in postsynaptic neurons (Park et al., 2006; Kopec et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2008), indicating that SNARE complexmediated membrane fusion is required for both structural and synaptic plasticity.

More recently, experiments in cultures prepared from synaptobrevin-2 KO mice indicated that synaptobrevin-2 contributes to maintaining both synaptic and extrasynaptic AMPARs (Jurado et al., 2013). This observation raises the question of which SNARE proteins control the constitutive and regulated delivery of AMPARs to the plasma membrane. Synaptobrevin-2 may be a component of the AMPAR-containing organelles involved in both pathways, although other R-SNAREs must contribute as well since surface levels of AMPARs were only partly reduced in cells lacking synaptobrevin-2.

POSTSYNAPTIC SNAPs

SNAP-25

A functional SNARE-complex requires at least one copy of the plasma membrane-associated SNAREs known as SNAPs (Synaptosomal-associated proteins), with SNAP-25 being the canonical protein at the presynapse (Jahn and Scheller, 2006; Rizo and Rosenmund, 2008; Südhof and Rothman, 2009). Immunohistochemistry in cultured hippocampal neurons have identified several SNAP isoforms in dendrites, including SNAP-25 in similar fashion to other SNAREs which exhibit ubiquitous expression patterns (Südhof, 2012). Moreover, SNAP-25 has even been found in PSD fractionations suggesting a role in dendritic membrane fusion (Jordan et al., 2004; Chen et al., 2006). According to this, in vivo knock-down of SNAP-25 impairs NMDAR-mediated transmission in slices and decreases synaptic NMDAR levels in cultured neurons without affecting basal transmission or AMPARs levels (Jurado et al., 2013). These findings are consistent with previous work that shows a role of SNAP-25 in NMDAR trafficking (Lau et al., 2010). Taken together, these results indicate a rather specific role of SNAP-25 in regulating NMDAR-containing endosomes and therefore in controlling the threshold of NMDAR-dependent LTP induction. Furthermore, these findings support the hypothesis that NMDARs and AMPARs are transported via distinct vesicles (Fong et al., 2002; Washbourne et al., 2002) and are sorted via different intracellular pathways to synaptic sites (Jevifous et al., 2009). Whereas AMPARs are believed to undergo forward trafficking to the plasma membrane via the GA likely through dendritic Golgi outpost, NMDAR may traffic via nonconventional secretory pathway involving CASK and SAP97 (Jeyifous et al., 2009).
SNAP-23

A role for SNAP-23, a SNAP-25 homolog, in glutamate receptor trafficking has been recently suggested. Using immunohistochemistry, Suh et al., showed that endogenous SNAP-23 is highly enriched in dendrites and dendritic spines (Suh et al., 2010). Furthermore, postsynaptic knock-down of SNAP-23, but not SNAP-25, reduced the size of NMDA-evoked currents without affecting presynaptic glutamate release in cultured hippocampal slices. These findings suggest that SNAP-23 may influence AMPARs exocytosis indirectly by regulating surface NMDARs and thereby modulating the induction of synaptic potentiation. However a SNAP-23 shRNA introduced in vivo did not subsequently affect LTP in acute hippocampal slices (Jurado et al., 2013). This apparent contradiction may be explained by the use of robust induction protocols to elicit LTP in acute slices in comparison to the milder protocols required to induce potentiation in cultured neurons. Nevertheless, neither SNAP-23 nor SNAP-25 seem to play a direct role in regulated exocytosis of AMPAR-containing endosomes during LTP, although may affect plasticity by controlling NMDAR function.

SNAP-47

SNAP-47, a newly identified SNAP protein (Holt et al., 2006), has been showed to play a role in LTP using an in vivo knockdown strategy (Jurado et al., 2013). Immunocytochemistry and structured illumination microscopy have revealed a widespread distribution of endogenous SNAP-47 in both neuronal cell bodies and neuronal processes (Holt et al., 2006; Jurado et al., 2013). Importantly, SNAP-47 knock-down did not alter basal AMPARor NMDAR-mediated synaptic responses or basal AMPAR surface expression, providing evidence for a specific role of SNAP-47 in activity-dependent AMPAR exocytosis but not in constitutive trafficking. Moreover, as a genuine SNARE, SNAP-47 has been shown to assemble into stable SNARE complexes with syntaxin-1 and synaptobrevin-2 in vitro (Holt et al., 2006). According to this, mutagenesis of SNAP-47 confirmed that a SNAREdependent interaction is critical for its role in LTP (Jurado et al., 2013).

Sequence comparison of SNAP-47 with other SNAP-25 homologs has revealed SNAP-47 unusual structure that may reflect its functional specialization at the postsynaptic site. SNAP-47 has a long N-terminal stretch and an extended loop between its two SNARE motifs. Also, in contrast to SNAP-23 and SNAP-25, which are predominantly bound to the plasma membrane, SNAP-47 lacks an immediately identifiable membrane anchor sequence which suggest it may be partly cytosolic (Holt et al., 2006). These structural differences of SNAP-47 may be advantageous for regulating membrane fusion at subcellular locations where exocytotic domains are not permanent but rather transiently defined (Yudowski et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2008; Petrini et al., 2009; Patterson et al., 2010).

POSTSYNAPTIC SYNTAXINS

More recent efforts to elucidate the identity of the postsynaptic SNARE complex have been dedicated to the characterization of postsynaptic syntaxins. Syntaxins are small transmembrane proteins that comprised a family of 15 members from which only four (syntaxin 1–4), localize to the plasma membrane where they cluster into microdomains that may support SNARE complex assembly (Lang et al., 2001; Ohara-Imaizumi et al., 2004; Low et al., 2006; Sieber et al., 2006, 2007; Kennedy et al., 2010). These features suggest that identification of syntaxin clusters in dendrites may provide clues to the exact location of AMPARs exocytosis.

Given the prominent role of complexins in calcium-dependent dendritic fusion (Takahashi et al., 1999; Huang et al., 2000; Ahmad et al., 2012), it is reasonable to assume that a syntaxin capable of interacting with complexin (Pabst et al., 2000) will be implicated in LTP. Consistent with this logic, syntaxin-3 has been recently proposed to control AMPARs insertion via a complexin-dependent mechanism (Jurado et al., 2013). Analysis of LTP elicited in acute hippocampal slices from mice expressing shRNAs against different syntaxins revealed that syntaxin-3, but not -1 or -4, plays a critical role in LTP but does not participate in constitutive or presynaptic exocytosis. Structured illumination microscopy showed a relatively ubiquitous distribution of endogenous syntaxin-3 including dendrites and cell bodies. Interestingly, the same syntaxin-3 shRNA in dissociated hippocampal neurons blocked the increase in surface expression of endogenous AMPARs upon NMDAR activation, a cell culture model of LTP (Lu et al., 2001; Passafaro et al., 2001; Park et al., 2004). More importantly, both the block of LTP and AMPARs insertion were rescued by reintroducing syntaxin-3 which rules out potential off-target effects of the shRNA being used. Further structure/function analysis replacing endogenous syntaxin-3 by a non complexin-binding mutant confirmed that syntaxin-3/complexin interaction is necessary for the function of postsynaptic SNARE complexes implicated in AMPARs exocytosis. These results suggest that postsynaptic syntaxin-3 via complexins may constitutively restrict AMPARs insertion until calcium influx reaches the postsynaptic compartment in a similar fashion to their function at presynaptic terminals (Giraudo et al., 2006; Tang et al., 2006; Huntwork and Littleton, 2007; Maximov et al., 2009; Xue et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2010). Furthermore, in a manner analogous to syntaxin-1 in presynaptic terminals, syntaxin-3 was shown to require the binding of SM proteins. This requirement of postsynaptic SM proteins was shown using a molecular replacement strategy in which a syntaxin-3 mutant with a deletion of the SM-binding sequence was ineffective to restore synaptic potentiation in the absence of endogenous syntaxin-3 (Jurado et al., 2013). These findings suggest that a postsynaptic Munc18-like protein still to be identified is likely to catalyze the assembly of the postsynaptic SNARE complex involved in LTP.

Surprisingly syntaxin-4 a syntaxin isoform that does not bind to complexin (Pabst et al., 2000), has also been suggested to mediate AMPARs exocytosis (Kennedy et al., 2010). This evidence is primarily supported by the block of recycling endosomes exocytosis marked with superecliptic pHluorin (SEP)fused transferrin receptors (TfR-SEP) by a specific syntaxin-4 shRNA. This apparent discrepancy may in large part be explained by the differences in the methods used to assay the fusion of AMPARs-containing endosomes, as endogenous AMPARs like those assayed by electrophysiology may traffic differently from overexpressed recombinant receptors. Nonetheless, these results raise the intriguing possibility that different syntaxin isoforms may coexist in postsynaptic compartments and sort different cargos via independent microdomains (Puthenveedu et al., 2010; Temkin et al., 2011).

LOCATION AND TIMING OF AMPARs EXOCYTOSIS

Although the role for postsynaptic exocytosis in synaptic plasticity is now clear, the specific locations and timing of AMPARs exocytosis continue to be an active matter of debate. Most studies exploring this issue have yielded inconsistent results (Gerges et al., 2006; Kopec et al., 2006, 2007; Park et al., 2006; Yudowski et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2008; Lin et al., 2009; Makino and Malinow, 2009; Petrini et al., 2009; Kennedy et al., 2010; Opazo et al., 2010; Patterson et al., 2010; Tanaka and Hirano, 2012). While some have suggested that activity stimulates exocytosis in the soma and dendritic shafts (Yudowski et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2008; Lin et al., 2009; Makino and Malinow, 2009; Petrini et al., 2009; Opazo et al., 2010; Opazo and Choquet, 2011; Tanaka and Hirano, 2012), others support insertion directly into stimulated dendritic spines (Gerges et al., 2006; Kopec et al., 2006; Park et al., 2006; Kennedy et al., 2010; Patterson et al., 2010).

Early work to determine the timing of AMPARs exocytosis used an irreversible photoactivable AMPAR inhibitor to analyze the exchange rate of synaptic or extrasynaptic AMPARs upon electrical stimulation or glutamate uncaging (Adesnik et al., 2005). Surprisingly, exchange of synaptic AMPARS took place only after several hours, a timescale much slower than previously thought. In contrast, AMPAR currents measured at the cell body by glutamate uncaging recovered within minutes, suggesting more rapid cycling of receptors at the neuronal soma under basal conditions (Adesnik et al., 2005). Unfortunately, no direct measurements of endogenous AMPAR exocytosis exist, and its time course in living synapses remains unknown. Although electrophysiology experiments are useful to assay the timing and functional relevance of dendritic exocytosis, determining the location of AMPARs insertion requires imaging technologies. Efforts to visualize the location of AMPARs exocytosis have largely relied on optical probes based on SEP, a pH-sensitive GFP variant, which is fluorescent at neutral pH but is quenched when inside acidic vesicles (Miesenböck et al., 1998). SEP-labeled AMPARs, particularly GluA1 subunit-containing receptors, have been used in a number of studies to directly identify AMPARs exocytosis in dendrites (Kopec et al., 2006, 2007; Yudowski et al., 2007; Jaskolski et al., 2009; Lin et al., 2009; Makino and Malinow, 2009; Araki et al., 2010; Kennedy et al., 2010; Patterson et al., 2010). Two-photon glutamate uncaging at individual dendritic spines has revealed that SEP-GluA1 is inserted in the dendritic shaft in neighboring areas of activated spines (Makino and Malinow, 2009). Conversely, a recent study demonstrated that exocytosis of AMPARs-containing endosomes occurs within spines (Kennedy et al., 2010). This last study used transferrin, a marker for recycling endosomes, to demonstrate that endosomes already present in dendritic spines undergo fusion similarly to those in the dendritic shaft. Differences in experimental and imaging conditions most likely underlie the disparity of results obtained using these visualization approaches. Nonetheless, these collective

data have been incorporated into a prominent hypothesis in the field that postulates that AMPARs are first inserted into the extra/peri-synaptic surface, then diffuse laterally to the PSD (Borgdorff and Choquet, 2002; Ehlers et al., 2007; Yudowski et al., 2007; Heine et al., 2008; Makino and Malinow, 2009), where they are retained by interactions with scaffold proteins (Henley et al., 2011; MacGillavry et al., 2011; Opazo and Choquet, 2011). In this scenario AMPARs exocytosis is required to replenish the peri-synaptic pool of freely moving surface receptors that will be sequestered by PSD scaffolds during potentiation.

Related to the issue of the location of AMPARs insertion is the question whether AMPARs exocytosis is required for LTP induction or just for LTP maintenance. First experiments using postsynaptic loading of SNARE inhibitors showed that membrane fusion inhibition was effective in shortening the duration of LTP without affecting induction (Lledo et al., 1998). These results support the notion that exocytosis may be critical for LTP maintenance by supplying the pool of surface AMPARs that can then freely diffuse to synaptic locations. However, recent evidence from in vivo molecular manipulations of several SNARE proteins and complexins has shown an almost complete block of LTP right after stimulation (Ahmad et al., 2012; Jurado et al., 2013) suggesting that early insertion of AMPARs may be necessary for eliciting synaptic plasticity. A potential explanation for this apparent conflict may be the different methods used for blocking exocytosis. Detection of synaptic effects using acute infusions in the cell body may be delayed by the necessity of the infused molecule to reach the specific synapses that are being stimulated. Future work in this topic is guaranteed which will provide answers to these questions likely by employing novel cutting-edge visualization techniques such as super-resolution microscopy.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Despite the fact that SNARE-dependent fusion machinery is involved in both pre and postsynaptic exocytosis, there are important differences in the properties of fast neurotransmitter release and activity-dependent AMPARs insertion during LTP. In presynaptic terminals, small synaptic vesicles are docked at the plasma membrane in specialized active zones and primed such that fusion occurs rapidly, within milliseconds following a rise in calcium. In the other side of the synapse, AMPARscontaining endosomes are not tightly coupled to the dendritic plasma membrane but instead may require myosin-dependent trafficking into dendritic spines (Correia et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2008) which would explain the slow exocytosis kinetics in the range of seconds or minutes (Yudowski et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2008; Petrini et al., 2009; Patterson et al., 2010). The reported differences in the composition of the postsynaptic SNARE complex vs. its presynaptic counterpart could account for these significant functional differences. Moreover, all known membrane fusion reactions that require complexin also require a synaptotagmin isoform (Xu et al., 2007; Cai et al., 2008; Schonn et al., 2008) which suggests that a postsynaptic synaptotagmin may control calcium-dependent synaptic plasticity. Interestingly, synaptotagmin-1, the major trigger of fast neurotransmitter release, is not required for LTP (Ahmad et al., 2012) implying that a different synaptotagmin still to be identified could be involved.

In summary, multiple SNAREs have been found in dendrites where they seem to play an essential role in controlling the constitutive and regulated exocytosis of glutamate receptors. Particularly, we have reviewed convincing evidence suggesting that the t-SNARE proteins Stx-3 and SNAP-47 and the v-SNARE protein synaptobrevin-2 are essential components of the postsynaptic vesicle fusion machinery that is required for LTP. Furthermore, postsynaptic synaptobrevin-2 may also contribute to constitutive postsynaptic AMPAR trafficking, and a postsynaptic SNARE complex constituted by SNAP-25 and/or SNAP-23 may control constitutive trafficking of NMDARs (**Figure 2**). Future efforts to elucidate the detailed molecular mechanisms including postsynaptic synaptotagmins and SM proteins involved in both synaptic transmission and plasticity will be critical for understanding the neural basis of many aspects of normal and pathological brain function.

REFERENCES

- Adesnik, H., Nicoll, R. A., and England, P. M. (2005). Photoinactivation of native AMPA receptors reveals their real-time trafficking. *Neuron* 48, 977–985. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2005.11.030
- Ahmad, M., Polepalli, J. S., Goswami, D., Yang, X., Kaeser-Woo, Y. J., Südhof, T. C., et al. (2012). Postsynaptic complexin controls AMPA receptor exocytosis during LTP. *Neuron* 73, 260–267. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.11.020
- Araki, Y., Lin, D. T., and Huganir, R. L. (2010). Plasma membrane insertion of the AMPA receptor GluA2 subunit is regulated by NSF binding and Q/R editing of the ion pore. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 11080–11085. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1006584107
- Ascaño, M., Richmond, A., Borden, P., and Kuruvilla, R. (2009). Axonal targeting of Trk receptors via transcytosis regulates sensitivity to neurotrophin responses. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 11674–11685. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1542-09.2009
- Beattie, E. C., Carroll, R. C., Yu, X., Morishita, W., Yasuda, H., von Zastrow, M., et al. (2000). Regulation of AMPA receptor endocytosis by a signaling mechanism shared with LTD. *Nat. Neurosci.* 3, 1291–1300. doi: 10.1038/81823
- Bliss, T. V., and Lomo, T. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J. Physiol. 232, 331–356.
- Borgdorff, A. J., and Choquet, D. (2002). Regulation of AMPA receptor lateral movements. *Nature* 417, 649–653. doi: 10.1038/nature00780
- Broutman, G., and Baudry, M. (2001). Involvement of the secretory pathway for AMPA receptors in NMDA-induced potentiation in hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 27–34.
- Brunger, A. T., Weninger, K., Bowen, M., and Chu, S. (2009). Single-molecule studies of the neuronal SNARE fusion machinery. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 78, 903– 928. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.77.070306.103621
- Cai, H., Reim, K., Varoqueaux, F., Tapechum, S., Hill, K., Sørensen, J. B., et al. (2008). Complexin II plays a positive role in Ca2+-triggered exocytosis by facilitating vesicle priming. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 105, 19538–19543. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810232105
- Carroll, R. C., Beattie, E. C., Xia, H., Lüscher, C., Altschuler, Y., Nicoll, R. A., et al. (1999). Dynamin-dependent endocytosis of ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 96, 14112–14117. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.24. 14112
- Chen, B. T., Moran, K. A., Avshalumov, M. V., and Rice, M. E. (2006). Limited regulation of somatodendritic dopamine release by voltage-sensitive Ca channels contrasted with strong regulation of axonal dopamine release. J. Neurochem. 96, 645–655. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2005.03519.x
- Clapp, W. C., Hamm, J. P., Kirk, I. J., and Teyler, T. J. (2012). Translating longterm potentiation from animals to humans: a novel method for noninvasive assessment of cortical plasticity. *Biol. Psychiatry* 71, 496–502. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2011.08.021
- Collingridge, G. L., Kehl, S. J., and McLennan, H. (1983). Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus. *J. Physiol.* 334, 33–46.
- Cooney, J. R., Hurlburt, J. L., Selig, D. K., Harris, K. M., and Fiala, J. C. (2002). Endosomal compartments serve multiple hippocampal dendritic spines from

a widespread rather than a local store of recycling membrane. J. Neurosci. 22, 2215–2224.

- Correia, S. S., Bassani, S., Brown, T. C., Lise, M. F., Backos, D. S., El-Husseini, A., et al. (2008). Motor protein-dependent transport of AMPA receptors into spines during long-term potentiation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 457–466. doi: 10.1038/ nn2063
- Cui-Wang, T., Hanus, C., Cui, T., Helton, T., Bourne, J., Watson, D., et al. (2012). Local zones of endoplasmic reticulum complexity confine cargo in neuronal dendrites. *Cell* 148, 309–321. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.056
- Ehlers, M. D. (2000). Reinsertion or degradation of AMPA receptors determined by activity-dependent endocytic sorting. *Neuron* 28, 511–525. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)00129-x
- Ehlers, M. D. (2012). Hijacking hebb: noninvasive methods to probe plasticity in psychiatric disease. *Biol. Psychiatry* 71, 484–486. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012. 01.001
- Ehlers, M. D., Heine, M., Groc, L., Lee, M. C., and Choquet, D. (2007). Diffusional trapping of GluR1 AMPA receptors by input-specific synaptic activity. *Neuron* 54, 447–460. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.04.010
- Ernst, J. A., and Brunger, A. T. (2003). High resolution structure, stability and synaptotagmin binding of a truncated neuronal SNARE complex. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 8630–8636. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m211889200
- Fasshauer, D., Antonin, W., Margittai, M., Pabst, S., and Jahn, R. (1999). Mixed and non-cognate SNARE complexes. Characterization of assembly and biophysical properties. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 15440–15446. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.22. 15440
- Fernández-Chacón, R., Königstorfer, A., Gerber, S. H., García, J., Matos, M. F., Stevens, C. F., et al. (2001). Synaptotagmin I functions as a calcium regulator of release probability. *Nature* 410, 41–49. doi: 10.1038/35065004
- Fong, D. K., Rao, A., Crump, F. T., and Craig, A. M. (2002). Rapid synaptic remodeling by protein kinase C: reciprocal translocation of NMDA receptors and calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II. J. Neurosci. 22, 2153– 2164.
- Gardiol, A., Racca, C., and Triller, A. (1999). Dendritic and postsynaptic protein synthetic machinery. J. Neurosci. 19, 168–179.
- Geppert, M., Goda, Y., Hammer, R. E., Li, C., Rosahl, T. W., Stevens, C. F., et al. (1994). Synaptotagmin I: a major Ca2+ sensor for transmitter release at a central synapse. *Cell* 79, 717–727. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90556-8
- Gerges, N. Z., Backos, D. S., Rupasinghe, C. N., Spaller, M. R., and Esteban, J. A. (2006). Dual role of the exocyst in AMPA receptor targeting and insertion into the postsynaptic membrane. *EMBO J.* 25, 1623–1634. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj. 7601065
- Geschwind, D. H., and Levitt, P. (2007). Autism spectrum disorders: developmental disconnection syndromes. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 17, 103–111. doi: 10.1016/j. conb.2007.01.009
- Giese, K. P., Fedorov, N. B., Filipkowski, R. K., and Silva, A. J. (1998). Autophosphorylation at Thr286 of the alpha calcium-calmodulin kinase II in LTP and learning. *Science* 279, 870–873. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5352.870
- Giraudo, C. G., Eng, W. S., Melia, T. J., and Rothman, J. E. (2006). A clamping mechanism involved in SNARE-dependent exocytosis. *Science* 313, 676–680. doi: 10.1126/science.1129450
- Hawkins, L. M., Prybylowski, K., Chang, K., Moussan, C., Stephenson, F. A., and Wenthold, R. J. (2004). Export from the endoplasmic reticulum of assembled N-methyl-d-aspartic acid receptors is controlled by a motif in the c terminus of the NR2 subunit. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 28903–28910. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m402 599200
- Hayashi, T., McMahon, H., Yamasaki, S., Binz, T., Hata, Y., Südhof, T. C., et al. (1994). Synaptic vesicle membrane fusion complex: action of clostridial neurotoxins on assembly. *EMBO J.* 13, 5051–5061.
- Hayashi, Y., Shi, S. H., Esteban, J. A., Piccini, A., Poncer, J. C., and Malinow, R. (2000). Driving AMPA receptors into synapses by LTP and CaMKII: Requirement for GluR1 and PDZ domain interaction. *Science* 287, 2262–2267. doi: 10. 1126/science.287.5461.2262
- Heine, M., Groc, L., Frischknecht, R., Béïque, J. C., Lounis, B., Rumbaugh, G., et al. (2008). Surface mobility of postsynaptic AMPARs tunes synaptic transmission. *Science* 320, 201–205. doi: 10.1126/science.1152089
- Henley, J. M., Barker, E. A., and Glebov, O. O. (2011). Routes, destinations and delays: recent advances in AMPA receptor trafficking. *Trends Neurosci.* 34, 258– 268. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2011.02.004

- Holt, M., Varoqueaux, F., Wiederhold, K., Takamori, S., Urlaub, H., Fasshauer, D., et al. (2006). Identification of SNAP-47, a novel Qbc-SNARE with ubiquitous expression. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 17076–17083. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m513838200
- Horak, M., Chang, K., and Wenthold, R. J. (2008). Masking of the endoplasmic reticulum retention signals during assembly of the NMDA receptor. J. Neurosci. 28, 3500–3509. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5239-07.2008
- Horton, A. C., and Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Dual modes of endoplasmic reticulum-to-Golgi transport in dendrites revealed by live-cell imaging. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 6188– 6199.
- Horton, A. C., Rácz, B., Monson, E. E., Lin, A. L., Weinberg, R. J., and Ehlers, M. D. (2005). Polarized secretory trafficking directs cargo for asymmetric dendrite growth and morphogenesis. *Neuron* 48, 757–771. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005. 11.005
- Huang, G.-Z., Ujihara, H., Takahashi, S., Kaba, H., Yagi, T., and Inoue, S. (2000). Involvement of complexin II in synaptic plasticity in the CA1 region of the hippocampus: the use of complexin II-lacking mice. *Jpn. J. Pharmacol.* 84, 179– 187. doi: 10.1254/jjp.84.179
- Huganir, R. L., and Nicoll, R. A. (2013). AMPARs and synaptic plasticity: the last 25 years. *Neuron* 80, 704–717. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.025
- Huntwork, S., and Littleton, J. T. (2007). A complexin fusion clamp regulates spontaneous neurotransmitter release and synaptic growth. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1235–1237. doi: 10.1038/nn1980
- Jahn, R., and Fasshauer, D. (2012). Molecular machines governing exocytosis of synaptic vesicles. *Nature* 490, 201–207. doi: 10.1038/nature11320
- Jahn, R., and Scheller, R. H. (2006). SNAREs—engines for membrane fusion. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 9, 631–643. doi: 10.1038/nrm2002
- Jaskolski, F., Mayo-Martin, B., Jane, D., and Henley, J. M. (2009). Dynamindependent membrane drift recruits AMPA receptors to dendritic spines. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 12491–12503. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m808401200
- Jeyifous, O., Waites, C. L., Specht, C. G., Fujisawa, S., Schubert, M., Lin, E. I., et al. (2009). SAP97 and CASK mediate sorting of NMDA receptors through a previously unknown secretory pathway. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 1011–1019. doi: 10. 1038/nn.2362
- Jordan, B. A., Fernholz, B. D., Boussac, M., Xu, C., Grigorean, G., Ziff, E. B., et al. (2004). Identification and verification of novel rodent postsynaptic density proteins. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 3, 857–871. doi: 10.1074/mcp.m400045-mcp200
- Jurado, S., Goswami, D., Zhang, Y., Molina, A. J., Südhof, T. C., and Malenka, R. C. (2013). LTP requires a unique postsynaptic SNARE fusion machinery. *Neuron* 77, 542–558. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.11.029
- Kauer, J. A., and Malenka, R. C. (2007). Synaptic plasticity and addiction. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 844–858. doi: 10.1038/nrn2234
- Kauer, J. A., Malenka, R. C., and Nicoll, R. A. (1988). NMDA application potentiates synaptic transmission in the hippocampus. *Nature* 334, 250–252. doi: 10. 1038/334250a0
- Kennedy, M. J., Davison, I. G., Robinson, C. G., and Ehlers, M. D. (2010). Syntaxin-4 defines a domain for activity-dependent exocytosis in dendritic spines. *Cell* 141, 524–535. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.042
- Khvotchev, M., Dulubova, I., Sun, J., Dai, H., Rizo, J., and Südhof, T. C. (2007). Dual modes of Munc18–1/SNARE interactions are coupled by functionally critical binding to syntaxin-1 N terminus. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 12147–12155. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.3655-07.2007
- Kopec, C. D., Li, B., Wei, W., Boehm, J., and Malinow, R. (2006). Glutamate receptor exocytosis and spine enlargement during chemically induced long-term potentiation. J. Neurosci. 26, 2000–2009. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3918-05.2006
- Kopec, C. D., Real, E., Kessels, H. W., and Malinow, R. (2007). GluR1 links structural and functional plasticity at excitatory synapses. J. Neurosci. 27, 13706– 13718. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3503-07.2007
- Landry, M., Vila-Porcile, E., Hökfelt, T., and Calas, A. (2003). Differential routing of coexisting neuropeptides in vasopressin neurons. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 17, 579–589. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2002.00162.x-i1
- Lang, T., Bruns, D., Wenzel, D., Riedel, D., Holroyd, P., Thiele, C., et al. (2001). SNAREs are concentrated in cholesterol-dependent clusters that define docking and fusion sites for exocytosis. *EMBO J.* 20, 2202–2213. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20. 9.2202
- Lau, C. G., Takayasu, Y., Rodenas-Ruano, A., Paternain, A. V., Lerma, J., Bennett, M. V., et al. (2010). SNAP-25 is a target of protein kinaseC phosphorylation critical to NMDA receptor trafficking. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 242–254. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.4933-08.2010

- Lin, D. T., Makino, Y., Sharma, K., Hayashi, T., Neve, R., Takamiya, K., et al. (2009). Regulation of AMPA receptor extrasynaptic insertion by 4.1N, phosphorylation and palmitoylation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 879–887. doi: 10.1038/nn. 2351
- Lisman, J., Yasuda, R., and Raghavachari, S. (2012). Mechanisms of CaMKII action in long-term potentiation. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 13, 169–182. doi: 10. 1038/nrn3192
- Lledo, P. M., Hjelmstad, G. O., Mukherji, S., Soderling, T. R., Malenka, R. C., and Nicoll, R. A. (1995). Calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II and longterm potentiation enhance synaptic transmission by the same mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 92, 11175–11179. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.24. 11175
- Lledo, P. M., Zhang, X., Südhof, T. C., Malenka, R. C., and Nicoll, R. A. (1998). Postsynaptic membrane fusion and long-term potentiation. *Science* 279, 399–403. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5349.399
- Low, S. H., Vasanji, A., Nanduri, J., He, M., Sharma, N., Koo, M., et al. (2006). Syntaxins 3 and 4 are concentrated in separate clusters on the plasma membrane before the establishment of cell polarity. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 17, 977–989. doi: 10. 1091/mbc.e05-05-0462
- Lowenstein, P. R., Morrison, E. E., Bain, D., Shering, A. F., Banting, G., Douglas, P., et al. (1994). Polarized distribution of the trans-Golgi network marker TGN38 during the in vitro development of neocortical neurons: effects of nocodazole and brefeldin A. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 6, 1453–1465. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.1994. tb01007.x
- Lu, W., Man, H., Ju, W., Trimble, W. S., MacDonald, J. F., and Wang, Y. T. (2001). Activation of synaptic NMDA receptors induces membrane insertion of new AMPA receptors and LTP in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 29, 243– 254. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(01)00194-5
- Lüscher, C., Xia, H., Beattie, E. C., Carroll, R. C., von Zastrow, M., Malenka, R. C., et al. (1999). Role of AMPA receptor cycling in synaptic transmission and plasticity. *Neuron* 24, 649–658. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)81119-8
- MacGillavry, H. D., Kerr, J. M., and Blanpied, T. A. (2011). Lateral organization of the postsynaptic density. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 48, 321–331. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn. 2011.09.001
- Makino, H., and Malinow, R. (2009). AMPA receptor incorporation into synapses during LTP: the role of lateral movement and exocytosis. *Neuron* 64, 381–390. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.08.035
- Malenka, R. C., and Bear, M. F. (2004). LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. *Neuron* 44, 5–21. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.012
- Malenka, R. C., Kauer, J. A., Zucker, R. S., and Nicoll, R. A. (1988). Postsynaptic calcium is sufficient for potentiation of hippocampal synaptic transmission. *Science* 242, 81–84. doi: 10.1126/science.2845577
- Maletic-Savatic, M., and Malinow, R. (1998). Calcium-evoked dendritic exocytosis in cultured hippocampal neurons. Part I: trans-Golgi network-derived organelles undergo regulated exocytosis. J. Neurosci. 18, 6803–6813.
- Malinow, R., Schulman, H., and Tsien, R. W. (1989). Inhibition of postsynaptic PKC or CaMKII blocks induction but not expression of LTP. *Science* 245, 862– 866. doi: 10.1126/science.2549638
- Maximov, A., Tang, J., Yang, X., Pang, Z. P., and Südhof, T. C. (2009). Complexin controls the force transfer from SNARE complexes to membranes in fusion. *Science* 323, 516–521. doi: 10.1126/science.1166505
- McMahon, H. T., Missler, M., Li, C., and Südhof, T. C. (1995). Complexins: cytosolic proteins that regulate SNAP receptor function. *Cell* 83, 111–119. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(95)90239-2
- Miesenböck, G., De Angelis, D. A., and Rothman, J. E. (1998). Visualizing secretion and synaptic transmission with pH-sensitive green fluorescent proteins. *Nature* 394, 192–195. doi: 10.1038/28190
- Murakoshi, H., and Yasuda, R. (2012). Postsynaptic signaling during plasticity of dendritic spines. *Trends Neurosci.* 35, 135–143. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2011. 12.002
- Neves, G., Cooke, S. F., and Bliss, T. V. (2008). Synaptic plasticity, memory and the hippocampus: a neural network approach to causality. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 65–75. doi: 10.1038/nrn2303
- Ohara-Imaizumi, M., Nishiwaki, C., Kikuta, T., Kumakura, K., Nakamichi, Y., and Nagamatsu, S. (2004). Site of docking and fusion of insulin secretory granules in live MIN6 beta cells analyzed by TAT-conjugated anti-syntaxin 1 antibody and total internal reflection fluorescence microscopy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 8403–8408. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m308954200

- Opazo, P., and Choquet, D. (2011). A three-step model for the synaptic recruitment of AMPA receptors. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 46, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2010. 08.014
- Opazo, P., Labrecque, S., Tigaret, C. M., Frouin, A., Wiseman, P. W., De Koninck, P., et al. (2010). CaMKII triggers the diffusional trapping of surface AMPARs through phosphorylation of stargazin. *Neuron* 67, 239–252. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2010.06.007
- Pabst, S., Hazzard, J. W., Antonin, W., Südhof, T. C., Jahn, R., Rizo, J., et al. (2000). Selective interaction of complexin with the neuronal SNARE complex. Determination of the binding regions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 19808–19818. doi: 10. 1074/jbc.m002571200
- Pang, Z. P., Melicoff, E., Padgett, D., Liu, Y., Teich, A. F., Dickey, B. F., et al. (2006). Synaptotagmin-2 is essential for survival and contributes to Ca2+ triggering of neurotransmitter release in central and neuromuscular synapses. J. Neurosci. 26, 13493–13504. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3519-06.2006
- Park, M., Penick, E. C., Edwards, J. G., Kauer, J. A., and Ehlers, M. D. (2004). Recycling endosomes supply AMPA receptors for LTP. *Science* 305, 1972–1975. doi: 10.1126/science.1102026
- Park, M., Salgado, J. M., Ostroff, L., Helton, T. D., Robinson, C. G., Harris, K. M., et al. (2006). Plasticity-induced growth of dendritic spines by exocytic trafficking from recycling endosomes. *Neuron* 52, 817–830. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006. 09.040
- Passafaro, M., Piëch, V., and Sheng, M. (2001). Subunit-specific temporal and spatial patterns of AMPA receptor exocytosis in hippocampal neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 917–926. doi: 10.1038/nn0901-917
- Patterson, M. A., Szatmari, E. M., and Yasuda, R. (2010). AMPA receptors are exocytosed in stimulated spines and adjacent dendrites in a Ras-ERK-dependent manner during long-term potentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 15951– 15956. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0913875107
- Petrini, E. M., Lu, J., Cognet, L., Lounis, B., Ehlers, M. D., and Choquet, D. (2009). Endocytic trafficking and recycling maintain a pool of mobile surface AMPA receptors required for synaptic potentiation. *Neuron* 63, 92–105. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2009.05.025
- Pettit, D. L., Perlman, S., and Malinow, R. (1994). Potentiated transmission and prevention of further LTP by increased CaMKII activity in postsynaptic hippocampal slice neurons. *Science* 266, 1881–1885. doi: 10.1126/science. 7997883
- Puthenveedu, M. A., Lauffer, B., Temkin, P., Vistein, R., Carlton, P., Thorn, K., et al. (2010). Sequence-dependent sorting of recycling proteins by actinstabilized endosomal microdomains. *Cell* 143, 761–773. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010. 10.003
- Rizo, J., and Rosenmund, C. (2008). Synaptic vesicle fusion. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 15, 665–674. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1450
- Rizo, J., and Südhof, T. C. (1998). Mechanics of membrane fusion. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 5, 839–842. doi: 10.1038/2280
- Rizo, J., and Südhof, T. C. (2012). The membrane fusion enigma: SNAREs, Sec1/Munc18 proteins and their accomplices—guilty as charged? Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 28, 279–308. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101011-15 5818
- Sampo, B., Kaech, S., Kunz, S., and Banker, G. (2003). Two distinct mechanisms target membrane proteins to the axonal surface. *Neuron* 37, 611–624. doi: 10. 1016/s0896-6273(03)00058-8
- Sanes, J. R., and Lichtman, J. W. (1999). Can molecules explain long-term potentiation? Nat. Neurosci. 2, 597–604. doi: 10.1038/10154
- Schonn, J. S., Maximov, A., Lao, Y., Südhof, T. C., and Sørensen, J. B. (2008). Synaptotagmin-1 and -7 are functionally overlapping Ca2+ sensors for exocytosis in adrenal chromaffin cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 105, 3998–4003. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0712373105
- Scott, D. B., Blanpied, T. A., and Ehlers, M. D. (2003). Coordinated PKA and PKC phosphorylation suppresses RXR-mediated ER retention and regulates the surface delivery of NMDA receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 45, 755–767. doi: 10. 1016/s0028-3908(03)00250-8
- Shen, J., Tareste, D. C., Paumet, F., Rothman, J. E., and Melia, T. J. (2007). Selective activation of cognate SNAREpins by Sec1/Munc18 proteins. *Cell* 128, 183–195. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.12.016
- Shepherd, J. D., and Huganir, R. L. (2007). The cell biology of synaptic plasticity: AMPA receptor trafficking. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 23, 613–643. doi: 10. 1146/annurev.cellbio.23.090506.123516

- Shi, S. H., Hayashi, Y., Petralia, R. S., Zaman, S. H., Wenthold, R. J., Svoboda, K., et al. (1999). Rapid spine delivery and redistribution of AMPA receptors after synaptic NMDA receptor activation. *Science* 284, 1811–1816. doi: 10. 1126/science.284.5421.1811
- Sieber, J. J., Willig, K. I., Heintzmann, R., Hell, S. W., and Lang, T. (2006). The SNARE motif is essential for the formation of syntaxin clusters in the plasma membrane. *Biophys. J.* 90, 2843–2851. doi: 10.1529/biophysj.105.079574
- Sieber, J. J., Willig, K. I., Kutzner, C., Gerding-Reimers, C., Harke, B., Donnert, G., et al. (2007). Anatomy and dynamics of a supramolecular membrane protein cluster. *Science* 317, 1072–1076. doi: 10.1126/science.1141727
- Silva, A. J., Paylor, R., Wehner, J. M., and Tonegawa, S. (1992). Impaired spatial learning in alpha-calcium-calmodulin kinase II mutant mice. *Science* 257, 206– 211. doi: 10.1126/science.1321493
- Spacek, J., and Harris, K. M. (1997). Three-dimensional organization of smooth endoplasmic reticulum in hippocampal CA1 dendrites and dendritic spines of the immature and mature rat. J. Neurosci. 17, 190–203.
- Standley, S., Roche, K. W., McCallum, J., Sans, N., and Wenthold, R. J. (2000). PDZ domain suppression of an ER retention signal in NMDA receptor NR1 splice variants. *Neuron* 28, 887–898. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)00161-6
- Südhof, T. C. (2012). The presynaptic active zone. *Neuron* 75, 11–25. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2012.06.012
- Südhof, T. C., and Rothman, J. E. (2009). Membrane fusion: grappling with SNARE and SM proteins. *Science* 323, 474–477. doi: 10.1126/science.1161748
- Suh, Y. H., Terashima, A., Petralia, R. S., Wenthold, R. J., Isaac, J. T., Roche, K. W., et al. (2010). A neuronal role for SNAP-23 in postsynaptic glutamate receptor trafficking. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 338–343. doi: 10.1038/nn.2488
- Sutton, R. B., Fasshauer, D., Jahn, R., and Brunger, A. T. (1998). Crystal structure of a SNARE complex involved in synaptic exocytosis at 2.4 A resolution. *Nature* 395, 347–353. doi: 10.1038/26412
- Takahashi, S., Ujihara, H., Huang, G.-Z., Yagyu, K. I., Sanbo, M., Kaba, H., et al. (1999). Reduced hippocampal LTP in mice lacking a presynaptic protein: complexin II. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 11, 2359–2366. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.1999. 00652.x
- Tanaka, H., and Hirano, T. (2012). Visualization of subunit-specific delivery of glutamate receptors to postsynaptic membrane during hippocampal longterm potentiation. *Cell Rep.* 1, 291–298. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.02.004
- Tang, J., Maximov, A., Shin, O. H., Dai, H., Rizo, J., and Südhof, T. C. (2006). A complexin/synaptotagmin 1 switch controls fast synaptic vesicle exocytosis. *Cell* 126, 1175–1187. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.08.030
- Temkin, P., Lauffer, B., Jäger, S., Cimermancic, P., Krogan, N. J., and von Zastrow, M. (2011). SNX27 mediates retromer tubule entry and endosometo- plasma membrane trafficking of signalling receptors. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 715–721. doi: 10. 1038/ncb2252
- Torre, E. R., and Steward, O. (1996). Protein synthesis within dendrites: glycosylation of newly synthesized proteins in dendrites of hippocampal neurons in culture. J. Neurosci. 16, 5967–5978.
- Wang, Z., Edwards, J. G., Riley, N., Provance, D. W. Jr., Karcher, R., Li, X. D., et al. (2008). Myosin Vb mobilizes recycling endosomes and AMPA receptors for postsynaptic plasticity. *Cell* 135, 535–548. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008. 09.057
- Washbourne, P., Thompson, P. M., Carta, M., Costa, E. T., Mathews, J. R., Lopez-Benditó, G., et al. (2002). Genetic ablation of the t-SNARE SNAP-25 distinguishes mechanisms of neuroexocytosis. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 19–26. doi: 10.1038/ nn783
- Wisco, D., Anderson, E. D., Chang, M. C., Norden, C., Boiko, T., Fölsch, H., et al. (2003). Uncovering multiple axonal targeting pathways in hippocampal neurons. J. Cell Biol. 162, 1317–1328. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200307069
- Witkovsky, P., Patel, J. C., Lee, C. R., and Rice, M. E. (2009). Immunocytochemical identification of proteins involved in dopamine release from the somatodendritic compartment of nigral dopaminergic neurons. *Neuroscience* 164, 488–496. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.08.017
- Xu, J., Mashimo, T., and Südhof, T. C. (2007). Synaptotagmin-1, -2 and -9: Ca(2+) sensors for fast release that specify distinct presynaptic properties in subsets of neurons. *Neuron* 54, 567–581. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.05.004
- Xue, M., Lin, Y. Q., Pan, H., Reim, K., Deng, H., Bellen, H. J., et al. (2009). Tilting the balance between facilitatory and inhibitory functions of mammalian and Drosophila complexins orchestrates synaptic vesicle exocytosis. *Neuron* 64, 367– 380. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.09.043

- Xue, M., Stradomska, A., Chen, H., Brose, N., Zhang, W., Rosenmund, C., et al. (2008). Complexins facilitate neurotransmitter release at excitatory and inhibitory synapses in mammalian central nervous system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U S A 105, 7875–7880. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803012105
- Yang, B., Gonzalez, L. Jr., Prekeris, R., Steegmaier, M., Advani, R. J., and Scheller, R. H. (1999). SNARE interactions are not selective. Implications for membrane fusion specificity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 5649–5653. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274. 9.5649
- Yang, X., Kaeser-Woo, Y. J., Pang, Z. P., Xu, W., and Südhof, T. C. (2010). Complexin clamps asynchronous release by blocking a secondary Ca2+ sensor via its accessory a helix. *Neuron* 68, 907–920. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.11.001
- Yang, Y., Wang, X. B., Frerking, M., and Zhou, Q. (2008). Spine expansion and stabilization associated with long-term potentiation. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 5740–5751. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3998-07.2008
- Yap, C. C., Wisco, D., Kujala, P., Lasiecka, Z. M., Cannon, J. T., Chang, M. C., et al. (2008). The somatodendritic endosomal regulator NEEP21 facilitates axonal targeting of L1/NgCAM. J. Cell Biol. 180, 827–842. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200707143
- Ye, B., Zhang, Y., Song, W., Younger, S. H., Jan, L. Y., and Jan, Y. N. (2007). Growing dendrites and axons differ in their reliance on the secretory pathway. *Cell* 130, 717–729. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.032
- Yudowski, G. A., Puthenveedu, M. A., Leonoudakis, D., Panicker, S., Thorn, K. S., Beattie, E. C., et al. (2007). Real-time imaging of discrete exocytic events

mediating surface delivery of AMPA receptors. J. Neurosci. 27, 11112–11121. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2465-07.2007

Zhu, J. J., Qin, Y., Zhao, M., Van Aelst, L., and Malinow, R. (2002). Ras and Rap control AMPA receptor trafficking during synaptic plasticity. *Cell* 110, 443–455. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00897-8

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 25 September 2014; paper pending published: 22 October 2014; accepted: 11 November 2014; published online: 22 December 2014.

Citation: Jurado S (2014) The dendritic SNARE fusion machinery involved in AMPARs insertion during long-term potentiation. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8:407. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00407

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Jurado. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The role of AMPA receptors in postsynaptic mechanisms of synaptic plasticity

Thomas E. Chater * and Yukiko Goda

RIKEN, Brain Science Institute, Wako-shi, Japan

Edited by:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Lisa Mapelli, University of Pavia, Italy Davide Pozzi, Humanitas Research Hospital, Italy

*Correspondence:

Thomas E. Chater, RIKEN, Brain Science Institute, Neural Circuits and Genetics Research Building, 2-1 Hirosawa, Wako-shi, Saitama 351-0198, Japan e-mail: t.e.chater@brain.riken.jp In the mammalian central nervous system, excitatory glutamatergic synapses harness neurotransmission that is mediated by ion flow through α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs). AMPARs, which are enriched in the postsynaptic membrane on dendritic spines, are highly dynamic, and shuttle in and out of synapses in an activity-dependent manner. Changes in their number, subunit composition, phosphorylation state, and accessory proteins can all regulate AMPARs and thus modify synaptic strength and support cellular forms of learning. Furthermore, dysregulation of AMPAR plasticity has been implicated in various pathological states and has important consequences for mental health. Here we focus on the mechanisms that control AMPAR plasticity, drawing particularly from the extensive studies on hippocampal synapses, and highlight recent advances in the field along with considerations for future directions.

Keywords: AMPAR, homeostatic plasticity, Hebbian plasticity, synaptic plasticity, synaptic transmission, trafficking

INTRODUCTION

The birth of modern neuroscience arguably started with the seminal work of Cajal (1852-1934, Doyle, 1939) who identified neurons as individual units embedded within the vastly complex network of brain tissue. However, little was known about how these intricate and beautiful cells communicated with each other until the advent of more sophisticated techniques that allowed probing of the communication across the synaptic cleft. Studies at the neuromuscular junction, an experimental preparation that was more accessible than the brain, demonstrated that postsynaptic receptors were largely stable and were generally unresponsive to changes in activity level (Fambrough and Hartzell, 1972; Sanes and Lichtman, 1999). Whether this applied to the central nervous system was begun to be answered in the 1970s and 80s, when Bliss and Lømo, working in rabbit hippocampus, first demonstrated that a stimulus could cause an increase in synaptic strength that was long lasting, termed long-term potentiation (LTP: Bliss and Lømo, 1973). The discovery of LTP set in motion the background for the flurry of studies aimed to test if memories are stored at subsets of synapses distributed throughout neuronal networks, and if changes in these tiny structures underlie the ability to learn new behaviors. A particular class of glutamatergic receptors, the α amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs: Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2004), is a key determinant of synaptic strength, and the plasticity of AMPARs is the focus of this review. This is a large field that has spanned over three decades now, and its progress has relied on diverse experimental approaches using in vitro and in vivo preparations, from biochemistry, cell biology, electrophysiology, to state-ofthe-art imaging combined with increasingly sophisticated genetic manipulation.

After a brief introduction to the discovery and history of AMPARs, this review focuses on their role in postsynaptic plasticity in the hippocampus and the recent advances over the last few years. How do AMPARs initially get to the cell surface, and once there, how are they targeted to and retained at synapses? Neighboring synapses sharing the same dendrite may experience significantly different activity levels, and this impacts AMPAR mobility and synaptic retention. Furthermore, AMPAR subunits are differentially regulated by neuronal activity, especially with respect to enzyme-mediated phosphorylation/dephosphorylation cycles that drive their insertion or removal from the synapse. The incorporation of calcium-permeable AMPARs into synapses in response to stimuli is also an important modulation. Neurons are capable of a variety of plastic changes, and synapse strength is both regulated locally and across thousands of synapses cell-wide. How are AMPARs differentially regulated by these separate forms of plasticity? Finally we will discuss changes in AMPAR plasticity in age-related cognitive decline and brain pathologies, and the implications for normal neuronal function.

WHAT ARE AMPARs?

AMPARs are tetrameric, cation-permeable ionotropic glutamate receptors, and are expressed throughout the brain (Beneyto and Meador-Woodruff, 2004). The four AMPAR subunits (GluA1–GluA4) are encoded by the genes GRIA1-GRIA4, and are assembled as dimers-of-dimers to form the hetero-tetrameric receptors (Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994; Traynelis et al., 2010), although homo-tetrameric receptors have been reported (Wenthold et al., 1996; Lu et al., 2009). Upon binding of glutamate, the pore opening allows the influx of Na⁺ ions (along with K⁺ efflux) to depolarize the postsynaptic compartment; however, depending on the subunit composition and the RNA

editing, AMPARs also permit Ca^{2+} -influx, which has important consequences for plasticity by engaging Ca^{2+} -dependent signaling events.

The four AMPAR subunits are highly homologous (around 70% amino acid residue identity) with conserved transmembrane and extracellular domains (Collingridge et al., 2004). The C-terminal intracellular tails are diverse amongst the subunits, and alternative splicing and RNA editing contribute to additional variants. Alternative splicing at the so-called flip/flop exon produces subunit variants with distinct receptor desensitization properties (Lambolez et al., 1996). Moreover, in the adult brain, most GluA2 subunits undergo RNA editing that replaces a glutamine with a positively charged arginine in the pore-forming region of the assembled channel; this Q/R editing prevents Ca^{2+} influx. Therefore, in the adult brain, the majority of GluA2containing AMPARs are largely Ca²⁺-impermeable (99%, Greger et al., 2003) and they also show a lower single channel conductance (Cull-Candy et al., 2006; Traynelis et al., 2010) along with a slightly increased decay time. In contrast, GluA2-lacking AMPARs are Ca²⁺-permeable (CP-AMPARs), and have a higher single channel conductance (Swanson et al., 1997) and faster rise and decay kinetics. GluA2-lacking AMPARs also display an intracellular block by polyamines, which can be displaced by stimuli delivered close to one another; this phenomenon manifests as a postsynaptic form of paired-pulse facilitation of synaptic responses (Rozov and Burnashev, 1999). A precise role for CP-AMPARs in synaptic plasticity is hotly debated (see below).

WHERE ARE AMPARs LOCATED?

AMPARs are enriched at excitatory glutamatergic synapses, where they sit in the postsynaptic membrane opposite the presynaptic active zone where glutamate-filled vesicles fuse with the plasma membrane and release their contents into the synaptic cleft. The number of AMPARs at a particular synapse ranges from tens to hundreds, and at mature synapses, it correlates well with spine size and synaptic strength (Matsuzaki et al., 2001). AMPARs are highly dynamic, showing lateral mobility along the cell surface between synaptic and extrasynaptic regions and also undergo constitutive trafficking to and from the cell surface with a surface half-life measured in tens of minutes (Nishimune et al., 1998). Changes in AMPAR number at the synapse is one of the major ways by which the efficacy of synaptic transmission can be altered. Following patterned neuronal activity, AMPARs shuttle into or out of synapses, resulting in long lasting changes in synaptic strength (Lüscher et al., 1999). LTP and long-term depression (LTD) are the most actively studied forms of synaptic plasticity that are thought to represent cellular correlates of particular types of learning and memory.

Prior to reaching synapses, AMPAR trafficking from the endoplasmic reticulum is regulated by various accessory proteins (for example TARPs and cornichons, see Haering et al., 2014) and deficits in these proteins lead to dysregulation in AMPAR trafficking and their expression at synapses. Along dendrites, AMPARs are trafficked through interactions with kinesin (Perestenko and Henley, 2003; Shin et al., 2003) and GRIP1 (Setou et al., 2002), although dynein may also play a role (Kapitein et al., 2010). Some AMPARs may be inserted into the plasma membrane at the soma and then laterally diffuse along the cell surface to synapses (Adesnik et al., 2005). Importantly, the mRNA coding for GluA1 and GluA2 AMPAR subunits can be detected in dendrites together with protein translation machinery (Grooms et al., 2006). Accordingly, many studies have demonstrated the occurrence of local dendritic translation of GluA1 and GluA2, and that such events can supply AMPARs in these cellular compartments under basal conditions and in response to changes in neuronal network activity (Steward and Levy, 1982; Tang and Schuman, 2002; Ju et al., 2004; Grooms et al., 2006). As we will see below, synapses and their complement of glutamate receptors are able to be regulated at every level, from a single synapse, to a dendritic branch, and in some cases, across the entire neuronal arbor. How the control mechanisms operating at different subcellular domains interact with each other and are synergistically integrated within a single neuron is an exciting topic of research.

HOW DO AMPARS ARRIVE AT THE SYNAPSE?—AMPAR INSERTION AT THE PLASMA MEMBRANE

The site of exocytosis of AMPARs is not completely clear. Various studies have suggested the insertion site as the soma (Adesnik et al., 2005), dendrite (Yang et al., 2008; Makino and Malinow, 2009; Patterson et al., 2010), or the spine, directly (Wang et al., 2008; Kennedy et al., 2010, see Figure 1). The consensus is that AMPARs are first delivered to extrasynaptic regions, and then diffuse into synapses where they are retained, and both steps are regulated by neuronal activity. AMPAR exocytosis is mediated by SNARE proteins (soluble NSF attachment protein receptors; Lüscher et al., 1999) and synaptic receptors are removed by dynamin-dependent endocytosis (Carroll et al., 1999), although they may be first trafficked laterally along the cell surface away from the synapse. Different AMPAR subunits display distinct exocytosis properties. In general, short-tailed heterodimers (GluA2/3) cycle continuously in and out of the membrane, and maintain the surface pool of synaptic receptors (Passafaro et al., 2001; Shi et al., 2001), whilst AMPARs containing long-tailed subunits (GluA1/2 and GluA2/4) are inserted into synapses in an activity-dependent manner (Hayashi et al., 2000; Shi et al., 2001). Simply increasing the number of extrasynaptic AMPARs is not sufficient to potentiate synapses (for example by overexpression of stargazin, see Schnell et al., 2002), implying that other additional steps are required to stabilize the receptors at the synapse. Postsynaptic density (PSD)-95 appears to fulfill this role, as PSD-95 overexpression selectively promotes synaptic accumulation of AMPAR without altering surface AMPAR number (Bats et al., 2007).

That exocytosis of AMPARs mediates the increase in synaptic strength during LTP in hippocampal CA1 neurons is supported by findings in which blocking dendritic membrane fusion events with botulinum toxins or by infusing peptides that interfere with NSF binding to SNAP, impairs the magnitude of synaptic potentiation (Lledo et al., 1998). Conversely, inhibiting endocytosis or interfering with the interaction between NSF and GluA2 prevents LTD expression (Lüscher et al., 1999), highlighting the importance of AMPAR trafficking in the expression of synaptic plasticity.



Tagging AMPAR subunits extracellularly with the pH-sensitive GFP mutant, super ecliptic pHluorin (SEP, Miesenböck et al., 1998), which is quenched in acidic endosomes but fluoresces brightly at the surface, has facilitated direct monitoring of cell surface AMPARs. Imaging studies using these SEP-tagged AMPAR subunits have provided insights into the temporal relationship between spine structural changes and the delivery of receptors to the synaptic plasma membrane as well as the order of accumulation of different receptor subunits at synapses. Using a chemical LTP (chemLTP) induction protocol in hippocampal organotypic slices, Kopec et al. (2006) have shown that SEP-GluA1 (and to a lesser extent SEP-GluA2) enter spines upon stimulation, and this is preceded by a structural enlargement of the spine head. The timing of subunit insertion that follows the spine enlargement is also supported by electrophysiology experiments using pairinginduced LTP (Hayashi et al., 2000) and by in vivo experiencedriven forms of plasticity at the barrel cortex (Takahashi et al., 2003) and associative fear conditioning in the lateral amygdala (Rumpel et al., 2005). Another study in cultured hippocampal neurons used total internal reflection microscopy (TIRF) to limit the SEP-AMPAR signals to those very close to the membrane (Tanaka and Hirano, 2012). Careful monitoring of the temporal order of GluA1, GluA2 and GluA3 insertion following LTP-type stimuli has revealed a fast insertion of GluA1 (within 5 min) followed by GluA2 (5-10 min) and finally GluA3 (20-30 min).

Other imaging studies have suggested the existence of multiple types of AMPAR insertion events that are reminiscent of the

different modes of synaptic vesicle exocytosis at the presynaptic terminal. Similarly to full collapse vesicle fusion and kiss-andstay or kiss-and-run fusion events that have been reported for neurotransmitter release, on the postsynaptic side, some AMPAR insertion events involve receptor delivery to the plasma membrane followed by a quick diffusion of the receptors away from the insertion site that is compatible with full collapse, whilst others show retention of the AMPAR clusters at the cell surface for tens of seconds that is similar to the kiss-and-stay mode (Yudowski et al., 2007; Jullié et al., 2014). Whether these different classes of events indicate a difference in cargo function or content is not yet clear, nor whether neuronal activity can bias the delivery mode towards one or the other. However, it seems logical that these variations in the mode of AMPAR insertion are mechanistically linked to the cellular demand for synaptic components. As discussed below, the extrasynaptic pool of AMPARs acts as the source of receptors for synapses to capture. Petrini et al. (2009) showed that after potentiation synaptic AMPAR number increased due to increased receptor exocytosis and stabilization at the synapse. Curiously, disrupting peri-synaptic sites of receptor endocytosis also impaired potentiation, suggesting that constitutively cycling of AMPARs to and from the surface is required for the correct expression of plasticity. Several studies have suggested that the spine neck provides a mechanical intracellular diffusion barrier (Kusters et al., 2013), and that recruitment of AMPARs to the spine can be modified by endocytosis of membrane within the spine (Jaskolski et al., 2009). Clarifying



the sites of exo-endocytosis of AMPARs is therefore crucial for understanding the regulation of synaptic strength under basal conditions and in response to synaptic activity.

"AND YET IT MOVES"—AMPAR SURFACE DIFFUSION AND PLASTICITY

Once at the cell surface, AMPARs are highly mobile and they laterally diffuse along the cell surface. AMPAR diffusion in the plane of the plasma membrane has been mapped using singleparticle tracking, showing the contributions of their location, the level of neuronal activity, and the receptor subtype in affecting the type of movement. Whereas extrasynaptic AMPARs diffuse freely, within synapses they exhibit slowing and can become immobilized. In particular, GluA2 subunits diffuse slower in general as neurons mature, and exhibit trapping at synapses. The level of neuronal activity also affects the speed of diffusion, with increased activity slowing the movement of the subunits (Borgdorff and Choquet, 2002; Groc et al., 2004). That slowing of receptor diffusion within synapses could be mediated in part by the interaction with the synaptic scaffold proteins is suggested by the observations in which GluA1 diffusion is slowed at sites of exogenously overexpressed PSD-95, and that GluA1 diffusion is increased upon expressing a stargazin mutant lacking the PDZbinding motif, which also reduces the immobile fraction of GluA1 (Bats et al., 2007, illustrated in Figure 2).

The role of input activity in controlling receptor diffusion has been elegantly addressed using tetanus toxin (TetTx) to silence individual presynaptic inputs (Ehlers et al., 2007). Postsynapses apposed to TetTx-positive presynaptic boutons tend not to capture GluA1 subunits as they pass through the synapse, despite the slowing of their diffusion (**Figure 2**). Notably, short-term activity blockade (1–4 h of TTX/APV/CNQX) does not produce the same effect, suggesting that the change in GluA1 diffusion involves a chronic form of structural reorganization at postsynapses lacking presynaptic input activity. Interestingly this study by Ehlers et al. (2007) hints at the existence of nanodomains within the postsynapse (see below) by showing that the confinement radius of AMPARs at active synapses is smaller than at inactive synapses.

The diffusional exchange of AMPARs between synaptic and peri-synaptic regions allows neurons to fine-tune extremely short-term forms of plasticity. AMPARs have a relatively low affinity for glutamate (Lisman and Raghavachari, 2006), and for effective activation they need to be positioned close to or directly opposite presynaptic sites of glutamate release. Crosslinking of surface AMPARs with an antibody to retard their diffusion increases paired-pulse depression (PPD) and decreases the variability of excitatory postsynaptic current (EPSC) amplitude (Heine et al., 2008). This suggests that the rapid diffusional exchange of AMPARs to and from synapses contribute to the recovery from desensitization.

Several other factors can change the synaptic trapping and diffusional properties of AMPARs including corticosteroids (Groc et al., 2008), n-cofillin (Rust et al., 2010), extracellular matrix components (Frischknecht et al., 2009; Szepesi et al., 2014), CaMKII (Opazo et al., 2010) and the endocytosis and recycling of AMPARs (Petrini et al., 2009). It has also been demonstrated that loss of synaptic AMPARs is preceded by transient extrasynaptic endocytosis (Ashby et al., 2004), indicating that the pool of extrasynaptic AMPARs is co-regulated with the synaptic pool. In addition, blocking dynamin to interfere with AMPAR endocytosis can increase AMPAR lateral diffusion (Jaskolski et al., 2009). These observations further support the link between events related to synaptic strength regulation and AMPAR surface motility.

Recently even finer measurements of AMPAR surface diffusion have been made possible with the advent of light-based superresolution microscopy. Using three different super-resolution approaches (uPAINT, sptPALM, STED), Nair et al. (2013) have revealed the existence of nanodomains (between 60 and 130 nm in diameter) within spine heads where GluA1 and GluA2 subunits are concentrated. Reducing PSD-95 protein levels in neurons decreases the number of receptors per cluster and also reduces miniature EPSC (mEPSC) amplitude, suggesting that these clusters correspond to the postsynaptic target of the presynaptically released glutamate. In a parallel study, a detailed examination of the fine structure of PSD-95 (MacGillavry et al., 2013) has similarly revealed small enriched nanodomains of PSD-95 within the PSD and that these structures can concentrate AMPARs (depicted in Figure 3). The precise functionality of these nanodomains remains to be elucidated, but modeling data suggests that the concentration of AMPARs (and associated scaffold proteins) into nanodomains can strongly affect basal transmission, EPSC variability, and recovery from desensitization (MacGillavry et al., 2013; Nair et al., 2013).



Collectively, these data demonstrate that the level of neuronal activity and modulation of neuronal signaling can control subunit-specific behavior of AMPARs, particularly their incorporation and retention at synaptic sites, and in turn, affect synaptic plasticity. In a simplified model, at synapses, PSD proteins trap and anchor surface AMPARs in response to increases in neuronal or synaptic signaling and release the receptors when activity levels are low. How different forms of activity-dependent synaptic plasticity affect the distribution and composition of synaptic nanodomains is an extremely exciting and promising topic for future research. The postsynaptic nanodomain might be equally matched by the heterogeneous presynaptic organization, for example, representing hotspots of synaptic vesicle priming and fusion.

LTP—MAKING A MEMORY

LTP of synaptic strength can be induced by a variety of electrical, pharmacological and behavioral paradigms. Classical LTP, as originally described by Bliss and Lømo (1973) can be stable for months, and presumably mechanisms such as these underlie our own memories, which in humans can span several decades. The key change during LTP is an increase in the number of AMPARs at a subset of synapses (see **Figure 4**). Presynaptic changes can also contribute to LTP (for reviews, see Kullmann, 2012; Padamsey and Emptage, 2013), but here we focus exclusively on postsynaptic mechanisms.

LTP is typically induced by high frequency tetanic stimulation, which leads to Na⁺-influx through AMPARs, depolarization of the postsynaptic compartment, and activation of NMDARs to permit Ca²⁺-influx; this sets off a cascade of phosphorylation events to potentiate synaptic transmission. The primary change following tetanic stimulation is the gross increase in AMPAR number at the synapse, but hidden within this is a series of subtle temporal and subunit-specific effects. The primary signaling effector (and the most studied molecule) is CaMKII in the postsynaptic neuron. This kinase is transiently activated following LTP induction (Lee et al., 2009), translocates to the synapse (Shen and Meyer, 1999) and phosphorylates target proteins, including GluA1 (Barria et al., 1997; Mammen et al., 1997), whose phosphorylation at S831 enhances single channel conductance (Derkach et al., 1999) and open probability (Banke et al., 2001). Therefore, CaMKII signaling alone can potentiate synaptic transmission, although more recent work suggests that formation of GluA1/2 heterotetramers occludes the S831-mediated increases in channel conductance/open probability (Oh and Derkach, 2005), and places the GluA2 subunit in the dominant role for the secondary modulation of AMPAR function associated with LTP.

In addition to S831, S845 on the GluA1 subunit, which is targeted by PKA, is also found to be phosphorylated after LTP in the hippocampal CA1 region (Barria et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2000). The degree of phosphorylation however depends on the activity history of the synapse (Lee et al., 2000). Knock-in mice that carry at these sites either phosphomimic or phosphonull residues display a lower threshold for spike-timing dependent plasticity and either deficits in LTP or LTD (Lee et al., 2003, 2010; see below for LTD).

PKC is also capable of phosphorylating GluA1, and phosphorylation at S818, which is increased during LTP, is required for LTP induction (Boehm et al., 2006). PKC can also phosphorylate T840, and mutating this site results in deficient LTP in slices prepared from older animals (over 3 months of age) but not from juvenile animals (3–4 weeks old); this suggests an age-dependent component to this form of phosphorylation-dependent modulation of plasticity (Lee et al., 2007).

LTP AND SILENT SYNAPSES

Some synapses have no AMPARs at their resting state and instead just contain NMDARs. Following LTP induction, AMPARs are rapidly trafficked into these "silent synapses" and contribute to the depolarization of the postsynaptic neuron (Isaac et al., 1995; Liao et al., 1995). The existence of silent synapses has been supported by immunolabeling studies in cultured neurons where some synapses only label for NMDARs and not AMPARs (Gomperts et al., 1998; Liao et al., 1999, 2001). The fast "unsilencing" of these synapses during LTP may enable the network to quickly and strongly encode new memories, although more work is needed to clarify how such a form of potentiation could be advantageous over inserting additional AMPARs into existing synapses. Moreover, the detailed molecular basis by which particular silent synapses switch to active ones remains to be established. Presumably alterations in the PSD traps AMPARs at the target synapse, which is paralleled by increased extrasynaptic trafficking of AMPARs to maintain the surface pool.

CALCIUM-PERMEABLE AMPARs IN PLASTICITY

As discussed above, CP-AMPARs, which lack a GluA2 subunit or contain an unedited GluA2 subunit, have a capacity to augment or even replace Ca^{2+} -entry through NMDARs to play a role in synaptic plasticity. Exactly how CP-AMPARs contribute to plasticity is unclear, with conflicting evidence in the literature. In one study, LTP induction has been shown to trigger a rapid but transient synaptic insertion of CP-AMPARs that are replaced by GluA2-containing AMPARs within 30 min, and where blocking



Hebbian forms of plasticity synapses change their number of AMPARs in an input-specific fashion. Different patterns of activity can either cause strengthening (LTP, top left) or weakening of synapses (LTD, bottom left) via AMPAR trafficking. Potentiation or depression is limited to stimulated synapses, and neighbors are unaffected. In contrast, during homeostatic plasticity altered levels of neuronal activity drives changes in synaptic AMPAR number across the entire dendritic arbor. Blocking pre- and postsynaptic spiking with TTX causes AMPARs to accumulate at excitatory synapses (bottom right). Conversely increasing network activity (for example with a GABA_AR antagonist) causes a reduction in synaptic AMPAR (top right). Crucially this form of plasticity conserves the relative strength difference between synapses.

CP-AMPARs reduces the magnitude of potentiation and CP-AMPARs (Plant et al., 2006). Others have presented data suggesting that CP-AMPARs are delivered to peri-synaptic sites prior to LTP expression (Yang et al., 2008), and that CP-AMPARs maintain the ability of synapses to undergo LTP and spine size expansion (Yang et al., 2010).

Insertion of CP-AMPARs involves phosphorylation events. Guire et al. (2008) showed that CP-AMPAR insertion depends upon CaMKI activity, which in turn requires actin polymerization to recruit synaptic CP-AMPARs, and others have demonstrated a role for PKC phosphorylation (Yang et al., 2010). Another study has linked CP-AMPARs to mEPSC amplitude increases and spine head enlargement following chemLTP in cultured neurons (Fortin et al., 2010), and suggested that downstream of CP-AMPARs, the Rac/PAK/LIM kinase pathway can control spine actin turnover. Phosphorylation of GluA1 at S845 has been reported to play a role in stabilizing GluA1 homomers and retaining CP-AMPARs at peri-synaptic sites (He et al., 2009). The same study has also demonstrated that LTD is accompanied by a reduction of these receptors, and that in mice expressing a GluA1-S845A mutant, peri-synaptic CP-AMPARs are lost. In contrast, no involvement of CP-AMPARs has been seen in hippocampal CA1 LTP in other studies (Adesnik and Nicoll, 2007; Gray et al., 2007).

Multiple studies using GluA2 KO mouse models have demonstrated enhanced LTP in these animals LTP (Jia et al., 1996; Meng et al., 2003; Asrar et al., 2009). Consistently, conditional loss of GluA2 in mice results in increased LTP with no requirement for NMDARs and with no effect on LTD (Wiltgen et al., 2010). These studies also highlight non-overlapping roles of proteins involved in LTP, in that CP-AMPAR-dependent LTP is independent of CaMKII (Asrar et al., 2009) and animals lacking both GluA2 and GluA3 are still able to undergo potentiation (although they show deficits in basal synaptic transmission; Meng et al., 2003).

As discussed below, CP-AMPARs appear to have a role in compensatory, homeostatic forms of plasticity. Perhaps the reported differences in the requirement for CP-AMPARs in LTP and LTD reflect differences in the experimental set up including synapse type, their history of activity, the experimental protocol used to elicit plasticity, and the developmental state of the tissue. The ionic properties of these receptors make them potentially very powerful plasticity players at the synapse. Notably, the mechanism that orchestrates the transient synaptic incorporation of CP-AMPARs is a fascinating one to study. How might some synapses be able to selectively trap GluA2-lacking AMPARs for a short period, only to replace them with GluA2-containing receptors? Does it require a specific set of scaffold proteins with a high binding affinity for GluA2-lacking AMPARs that become unmasked in the PSD?

LTD—WEAKENING OF SYNAPSES

Hippocampal synapses are typically bidirectionally plastic, and while LTP may be the cellular correlate of learning and memory, a mechanism to weaken synapses is necessary too. LTD is one such process, and it may underlie forgetting (Nabavi et al., 2014; see Figure 4). Classical hippocampal LTD is dependent on NMDARs (Dudek and Bear, 1992), and its induction engages high affinity Ca²⁺-sensing molecules downstream of the NMDAR activation (Mulkey and Malenka, 1992) such as calcineurin (Mulkey et al., 1994; Jurado et al., 2010). This in turn triggers dephosphorylation events on targets such as GluA1 (Lee et al., 1998, 2000, 2003), leading to depression of synaptic strength via removal of AMPARs (Beattie et al., 2000; Carroll et al., 2001). Although both LTP and LTD are dependent on NMDAR activation and culminate in changes in the number of synaptic AMPARs, the spatio-temporal nature of the intracellular Ca²⁺ rise dramatically impacts the direction of plasticity. GluA1 S845 on the C-terminal tail appears to be required for LTD, as mice carrying an alanine replacement display perturbed LTD (Lee et al., 2010). In contrast, GluA1 \$831A mutants show no LTD (or LTP) deficits, whilst the double phosphomutants show impaired LTD as well as a faster decay of LTP (Lee et al., 2003). Interactions between GluA2 and AP2 also contribute to LTD (Lee et al., 2002), and the same region on GluA2 overlaps with the site for NSF interaction, which is required to maintain synaptic AMPAR (Nishimune et al., 1998), but the domain itself is not directly involved in LTD.

A kinase anchoring protein 150 (AKAP150) plays a key role in LTD. AKAP150 can interact with calcineurin and drives NMDARdependent removal of AMPARs from the synapse (Jurado et al., 2010). The interplay between AKAP150, PKA and PSD-95 seems particularly important. AKAP150 targets both PKA and PKC to synapses, and the loss of AKAP150 perturbs synaptic transmission (Tunquist et al., 2008). Additionally, preventing PSD-95 interaction with AKAP150 blocks NMDAR-dependent LTD but leaves metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR)-LTD intact in cultured neurons (Bhattacharyya et al., 2009). PSD-95 itself undergoes dephosphorylation at S295 following chemLTD induction (by bath applied NMDA) in cultured neurons, and overexpressing a PSD-95 S295A mutant prevents LTD (Kim et al., 2007).

Another key protein regulating LTD and AMPAR endocytosis is Protein Interacting with C Kinase 1 (PICK1). GluA2 is endocytosed upon phosphorylation at S880 by interacting with PICK1, which also involves PICK1-mediated inhibition of actin polymerization via the Arp2/3 complex (Rocca et al., 2008). This mechanism of AMPAR endocytosis is further regulated by the small GTPase Arf1, and overexpressing a mutant Arf1 that cannot bind PICK1 blocks NMDAR-dependent LTD (Rocca et al., 2013). Additional evidence for the importance of S880 phosphorylation on GluA2 in LTD is provided by the demonstration of increased phosphorylation of this residue following LTD induction (Kim et al., 2001) and of inhibition of LTD upon blocking GluA2/PICK1 interaction (Steinberg et al., 2006). However other groups have shown that S880 phosphorylation of GluA2 can reverse LTD and drive AMPARs to the cell surface by

competing with PICK1 binding for GluA2 with GRIP/ABP (Daw et al., 2000). Furthermore, PICK1 knock-down does not prevent NMDA-driven AMPAR removal (Lin and Huganir, 2007). Altogether, these observations point to a role of PICK1 in regulating the intracellular pool of AMPARs after endocytosis, which in turn, can indirectly impact AMPAR internalization.

In the cerebellum there are different forms of LTD; one of the best studied is expressed at synapses between presynaptic parallel fibers and postsynaptic Purkinje cells. This cerebellar parallel fiber LTD shows several key differences compared to hippocampal LTD, including the requirement for GluA2 (Chung et al., 2003), NMDAR-independence (De Zeeuw et al., 1998) and mGluR1 activation (Linden and Connor, 1991). Knocking out GluA2 blocks cerebellar parallel fiber LTD (Chung et al., 2003) as does removing other AMPAR interactors, including PICK1 (Steinberg et al., 2006), and GRIP1 and GRIP2 (Takamiva et al., 2008). Tellingly, reducing endocytosis with inhibitors can block parallel fiber LTD (Wang and Linden, 2000) pointing at a general mechanistic requirement for the removal of AMPARs in LTD regardless of the synapse. Elsewhere in the cerebellum, a form of LTD has been identified at the synapses between mossy fibers and deep cerebellar nuclei. This too is NMDAR-independent, but requires postsynaptic calcium (Zhang and Linden, 2006).

Another well-studied form of LTD crucially involves mGluR activation. Activation of group 1 mGluRs (for example by (R,S)-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine, DHPG) induces a rapid removal of synaptic AMPARs. Whilst not covered here, we direct the reader to several excellent review articles on the subject (Gladding et al., 2009; Lüscher and Huber, 2010).

Many other proteins have been shown to modulate LTD to varying extents. Small GTPases Rap1 and Rab5 have both been implicated in hippocampal LTD (Zhu et al., 2002; Brown et al., 2005), along with PI3 γ (Kim et al., 2011) and the JAK/STAT signaling pathway (Nicolas et al., 2012). The immediate early gene Arc/Arg3.1 also appears to play a role, as mice lacking this gene have impaired LTD and memory deficits (Plath et al., 2006).

The above notwithstanding, exactly how the behavior of AMPARs determines the outcome of LTD is still unclear, as mice lacking GluA1 (Selcher et al., 2012) or mice lacking both GluA2 and GluA3 (Meng et al., 2003) all show normal hippocampal LTD. In fact, even deleting all four AMPAR subunits and replacing them with kainate receptors can support LTD (Granger and Nicoll, 2014). That LTD generally requires a loss of AMPARs from the synapse seems to be a consistent result. Nevertheless, the exact series of events that drive this loss, and similarly to some aspects of LTP (Granger et al., 2013), the basis for the apparent redundancy of AMPAR subunits remains to be clarified.

HOMEOSTATIC PLASTICITY—NON-LOCAL AND ALL-ENCOMPASSING SYNAPTIC STRENGTH CHANGE

In addition to input-specific forms of plasticity, neurons respond to changes in the overall level of network activity, in a cellautonomous fashion (Maffei and Fontanini, 2009; Vitureira et al., 2012). Individual cells must monitor the level of activity they experience (for example by the state of somatic Ca²⁺-flux following action potentials) and compare it to some pre-set value, and then be able to adjust their synaptic protein complement to offset changes in external activity. In most mammals large changes in network activity happen on a diurnal basis with the onset of sleep (Tononi and Cirelli, 2014), and in pathological states neuronal populations may lose their inputs due to tumorigenesis. focal brain damage or general degenerative syndromes (Small, 2004; Santos et al., 2010). Chronic disease can cripple specific populations of neurons in the brain (for example dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease) leading to long-term changes in circuit function. This may develop in two stages, with a primary gradual reduction in drive of the affected population, followed by an eventual complete cessation of activity. Other disease states may selectively alter excitatory or inhibitory synapses across the neocortex. These synaptopathies will lead to imbalances across the central nervous system that neurons will attempt to correct as far as their internal mechanisms allow them. Dysregulation of AMPARs at the synapse is the vanguard for many of these diseases, and understanding the mechanisms that counterbalance these perturbations is critical for our understanding of the brain.

Investigations of homeostatic plasticity have often relied on simple, neuronal culture preparations. Experimentally, activity manipulation is achieved in a variety of ways: global pharmacological blockade of synaptic AMPARs and NMDARs heavily suppresses network activity, as does the addition of TTX that prevents action potentials, whereas GABAA receptor blockers increase the overall network activity through disinhibition (Figure 4). In a first demonstration of homeostatic synaptic response monitored by mEPSCs, visual cortical cultures were treated with various channel blockers for 2 days (Turrigiano et al., 1998). Both TTX and AMPAR inhibitor treatment were found to increase the amplitude of mEPSCs whereas bicuculline (a GABA_A blocker) decreased the mEPSC amplitude, with the overall effect of maintaining the firing rate of the neuron despite the activity manipulation. Neurons thus adjust their synaptic AMPAR number in a manner that opposes the external changes in activity. Moreover, this is cell-wide and multiplicative such that the differences in individual synaptic weights are conserved. Consequently, this phenomenon-the activity-dependent bidirectional change in mEPSC amplitude-has been termed "synaptic scaling" as all of the individual postsynaptic strengths across the entire neuron are apparently scaled up or down by a uniform amount. Crucially, such a scaling process retains the information encoded in the relative original strengths of the connections, and thus a strong synapse will still be stronger than its weak neighbor after scaling (thus all the work described above on input-specific LTP and LTD is not in vain!). Further studies have indicated that GluA1 and GluA2 increase in a coordinated fashion during scaling up, and AMPA/NMDA ratios are also conserved (Watt et al., 2000). The latter point is interesting to consider with respect to LTP, where in the short-term, the number of AMPARs increases first, and later, NMDARs also increase to restore the ratio (Watt et al., 2004). Similar to LTP and LTD, both scaling up and down of synaptic AMPARs requires Ca²⁺-dependent signaling pathways, some of which are shared (e.g., somatic Ca²⁺-entry), but unlike LTP/LTD, synaptic scaling appears to rely strongly on signaling linked to GluA2 (see below).

Studies have also used local perfusion of drugs to selectively perturb synapses. Interestingly, global action potential firing and

local spontaneous mEPSC events appear to play different but overlapping roles in regulating AMPARs. Sutton et al. (2006) has demonstrated that local blockade of NMDARs relieves a brake on local translation to promote the insertion of GluA1. This intriguing finding suggests that individual synapses sense alterations in presynaptic behavior, and are able to respond accordingly. Other strategies to induce local changes in activity have used presynaptic silencing using Kir2.1 (a hyperpolarizing K⁺ channel, which when overexpressed, reduces AP firing, see Burrone et al., 2002) or expressing TetTx to prevent SNAREdependent neurotransmitter release (Harms et al., 2005), and in both cases synapse-specific responses to the loss of input activity are observed. In addition, local application of TTX onto neuronal somata increases dendritic GluA2 fluorescence within 4 h (Ibata et al., 2008), suggesting that neurons are monitoring their activity level as a function of somatic activity. That this might be somatic Ca²⁺-flux is supported by the finding that blocking all Ca²⁺ channels with NiCl₂, or L-type Ca²⁺ channels with nifedipine, have the same outcome.

At the level of AMPAR subunits, GluA2 is critical for homeostatic scaling up. Overexpressing a dominant-negative GluA2 Cterminal tail (but not GluA1 C-terminus) blocks this form of plasticity both in cultures and in vivo (Gainey et al., 2009). GluA2 KD via siRNA has no effect on basal mESPCs, suggesting that other subunits (largely GluA1) can compensate for the reduced GluA2. GluA2 KD however occluded synaptic scaling but not chemical LTP. As mentioned above, GluA2 KO animals can still express LTP (Jia et al., 1996; Meng et al., 2003; Asrar et al., 2009), and thus altogether these observations hint at non-overlapping functions for GluA2 in different forms of plasticity. A recent study in organotypic hippocampal slices by Arendt et al. (2013) first induced synaptic scaling with TTX and then induced LTP by electrical stimulation. They find that previous activity blockade enhances the subsequent LTP, which appears to be due to the formation of more silent synapses during the activity blockade that are then unsilenced during LTP induction. This suggests that larger structural changes that are not readily discernable may be associated with synaptic scaling.

As of now, multiple proteins have been implicated in synaptic scaling, including Arc (Shepherd et al., 2006), CaMKIV (Ibata et al., 2008), eIF4AIII (Giorgi et al., 2007), retinoic acid (Aoto et al., 2008), Plk2 (Seeburg et al., 2008; Evers et al., 2010), MeCP2 (Blackman et al., 2012), TNF alpha (Stellwagen and Malenka, 2006; Steinmetz and Turrigiano, 2010), beta3 integrins (Cingolani and Goda, 2008; Cingolani et al., 2008), and both PSD-93 and PSD-95 (Sun and Turrigiano, 2011). Beta-catenin KD occludes both scaling up and scaling down and also alters spine shape and decreases mEPSC amplitude without affecting mEPSC frequency. Interestingly, overexpression of a dominant-negative form of N-cadherin mimics the effects of beta-catenin knock down (Okuda et al., 2007; see also Vitureira et al., 2011), supporting the requirement for the N-cadherin/catenin adhesion complex in regulating synaptic AMPARs.

AMPAR PLASTICITY IN DISEASE—WHERE IS MY MIND?

Deficits in synaptic proteins are increasingly implicated in a variety of neurological disorders and neurodegenerative diseases. Any pathological processes affecting the brain will impact synaptic function, although some more directly than others. For example, in Alzheimer's disease, dysregulated endocytosis of synaptic AMPARs and NMDARs may contribute to progressive memory loss (Tang, 2009). Moreover, amyloid-beta peptide, which is closely linked to Alzheimer's disease pathology, has been shown to impair synaptic plasticity (Shankar et al., 2008), facilitate hippocampal LTD (Li et al., 2009), and interfere with CaMKII activity and disrupt activity-dependent AMPAR trafficking (Gu et al., 2009). Animal models of Alzheimer's disease also highlight defects in synaptic AMPAR trafficking and abnormalities in LTP and LTD (Walsh and Selkoe, 2007).

Other disease states or brain syndromes involve alterations in AMPAR subunit composition. Epilepsy causes a loss of GluA1containing AMPARs across the brain (Grigorenko et al., 1997), whilst exposure to cocaine drives increased levels of CP-AMPARs in dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA: Argilli et al., 2008; Bowers et al., 2010; Mameli et al., 2011). In particular, for the latter effect with cocaine exposure, a single dose delivered to a naïve animal produces changes in the VTA that mimics LTP (Ungless et al., 2001; Argilli et al., 2008). Within 3 h, CP-AMPAR expression increases, and renders such synapses unable to undergo a spike-timing-dependent form of LTP. The same VTA response follows injections of morphine, nicotine, ethanol or amphetamine (Saal et al., 2003). Whilst these drug effects are alarming, they at least indicate a potential target for treatment of addiction. Fascinatingly, voluntary administration of cocaine produces a potentiation of these synapses that lasts up to 3 months without further drug use (Chen et al., 2008), as opposed to less than 10 days following a single injection (Ungless et al., 2001).

WHERE DO WE GO FROM HERE? WHAT ARE THE OPEN QUESTIONS IN AMPAR PLASTICITY?

Undoubtedly, the list of proteins able to regulate synaptic AMPAR levels and their activity remains incomplete. A recent study on AMPAR auxiliary subunits in hippocampal dentate granule cells (DG-GCs) underscores the subtleties still being elucidated (Khodosevich et al., 2014). TARP- γ 8 and CKAMP44 are both highly expressed in DG-GCs where they promote AMPAR surface expression and decrease the rate of receptor deactivation. However these two auxiliary subunits have opposite effects on AMPAR desensitization, leading to distinct short-term plasticity; furthermore, only TARP- γ 8 is required for LTP expression. This study not only highlights how AMPAR behavior can be uniquely shaped by the cell-type specific expression of modulators with which they complex, but also emphasizes the diversity and flexible control of AMPAR function across the brain.

Whereas AMPAR auxiliary proteins undeniably expand the variety of AMPAR function, in what way do AMPARs with distinct subunit composition contribute to their functional diversity? As discussed above, GluA2-lacking CP-AMPARs participate in different forms of plasticity. Intriguingly, however, a recent report has raised questions about the subunit-specific requirements for recruiting AMPARs to synapses during LTP (Granger et al., 2013). By taking advantage of conditional mice mutants carrying floxed alleles of genes encoding for GluA1, GluA2 and

GluA3, Granger et al. tested the effects of genetically ablating any combination of these three subunits on LTP. Surprisingly, they find that any one of the GluA subunits is sufficient for maintaining the enhanced synaptic strength, and even overexpressed kainate receptors can restore LTP in these animals. Using the same approach they have shown that LTD expression is also independent of glutamate receptor subtype (Granger and Nicoll, 2014). Altogether this data suggests that the extra-synaptic surface population of AMPARs is the key factor for providing synaptic receptors for LTP and LTD, although this may depend on the type of stimulus delivered. The unexpected degree of subunit redundancy is remarkable, and even more so given the presence of different accessory proteins that interact with specific glutamatergic receptors to confer the differences in receptor properties. Perhaps experimentally induced LTP is an extreme case of plasticity with reduced discrimination, and under physiological conditions, various aspects of cognitive functions could be driven by controlling and deciphering the subtle variations in synaptic AMPARs. Moreover, changes in AMPAR number, amongst other processes, across a widely distributed set of synapses contribute to network function that ultimately guides behavior, memories, and consciousness. Indeed, how close can we come to physiological stimuli that are sufficient to encode behaviors, whilst we watch the formation of necessary neuronal traces or engrams? This lofty goal may require more than simply changes in AMPARs in synapse remodeling, or the formation of new synaptic and neuronal connections, but would be a genuine high point in our scientific endeavors.

Live super-resolution light microscopy has only just begun to reveal the intricacies of molecular movement at the synapse. Whilst not quite reaching electron microscopy levels of resolution, the advantage of being able to image live tissues at resolutions well below 100 nm makes the technique highly attractive for studying the behavior of synaptic proteins in response to activity. Where exactly do AMPARs undergo exo-endocytic recycling and is this dependent on the subunit composition? Are the nanodomains described for AMPARs and PSD components mirrored by the organization of presynaptic structures? At the active zone, precisely where does presynaptic vesicle fusion take place and in what manner does the released glutamate affect the diffusion properties of synaptic and extra-synaptic AMPARs? Furthermore, targeting super-resolution imaging to in vivo synapses in their native milieu, especially in behaving animals, will likely uncover new aspects of AMPAR plasticity that may have been lost in in vitro preparations.

In another direction, different disease states are now being unraveled, with the causative genes and protein products being identified in humans and reassembled in animal models. Many pathological states of the brain feature deficits in synaptic transmission at their core, which have been termed "synaptopathies", and the aging global population has created a serious social and medical issue that neuroscientists must play their part in solving.

REFERENCES

Adesnik, H., and Nicoll, R. A. (2007). Conservation of glutamate receptor 2containing AMPA receptors during long-term potentiation. J. Neurosci. 27, 4598–4602. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0325-07.2007

- Adesnik, H., Nicoll, R. A., and England, P. M. (2005). Photoinactivation of native AMPA receptors reveals their real-time trafficking. *Neuron* 48, 977–985. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2005.11.030
- Aoto, J., Nam, C. I., Poon, M. M., Ting, P., and Chen, L. (2008). Synaptic signaling by all-trans retinoic acid in homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Neuron* 60, 308–320. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.08.012
- Arendt, K. L., Sarti, F., and Chen, L. (2013). Chronic inactivation of a neural circuit enhances LTP by inducing silent synapse formation. J. Neurosci. 33, 2087–2096. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3880-12.2013
- Argilli, E., Sibley, D. R., Malenka, R. C., England, P. M., and Bonci, A. (2008). Mechanism and time course of cocaine-induced long-term potentiation in the ventral tegmental area. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 9092–9100. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1001-08.2008
- Ashby, M. C., De La Rue, S. A., Ralph, G. S., Uney, J., Collingridge, G. L., and Henley, J. M. (2004). Removal of AMPA receptors (AMPARs) from synapses is preceded by transient endocytosis of extrasynaptic AMPARs. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 5172–5176. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1042-04.2004
- Asrar, S., Zhou, Z., Ren, W., and Jia, Z. (2009). Ca(2+) permeable AMPA receptor induced long-term potentiation requires PI3/MAP kinases but not Ca/CaM-dependent kinase II. *PLoS One* 4:e4339. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.000 4339
- Banke, T. G., Greenwood, J. R., Christensen, J. K., Liljefors, T., Traynelis, S. F., Schousboe, A., et al. (2001). Identification of amino acid residues in GluR1 responsible for ligand binding and desensitization. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 3052–3062. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00289.x
- Barria, A., Muller, D., Derkach, V., Griffith, L. C., and Soderling, T. R. (1997). Regulatory phosphorylation of AMPA-type glutamate receptors by CaM-KII during long-term potentiation. *Science* 276, 2042–2045. doi: 10.1126/science. 276.5321.2042
- Bats, C., Groc, L., and Choquet, D. (2007). The interaction between Stargazin and PSD-95 regulates AMPA receptor surface trafficking. *Neuron* 53, 719–734. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.01.030
- Beattie, E. C., Carroll, R. C., Yu, X., Morishita, W., Yasuda, H., von Zastrow, M., et al. (2000). Regulation of AMPA receptor endocytosis by a signaling mechanism shared with LTD. *Nat. Neurosci.* 3, 1291–1300. doi: 10.1038/81823
- Beneyto, M., and Meador-Woodruff, J. H. (2004). Expression of transcripts encoding AMPA receptor subunits and associated postsynaptic proteins in the macaque brain. J. Comp. Neurol. 468, 530–554. doi: 10.1002/cne.10981
- Bhattacharyya, S., Biou, V., Xu, W., Schlüter, O., and Malenka, R. C. (2009). A critical role for PSD-95/AKAP interactions in endocytosis of synaptic AMPA receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 172–181. doi: 10.1038/nn.2249
- Blackman, M. P., Djukic, B., Nelson, S. B., and Turrigiano, G. G. (2012). A critical and cell-autonomous role for MeCP2 in synaptic scaling up. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 13529–13536. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3077-12.2012
- Bliss, T. V., and Lømo, T. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J. Physiol. 232, 331–356.
- Boehm, J., Kang, M. G., Johnson, R. C., Esteban, J., Huganir, R. L., and Malinow, R. (2006). Synaptic incorporation of AMPA receptors during LTP is controlled by a PKC phosphorylation site on GluR1. *Neuron* 51, 213–225. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2006.06.013
- Borgdorff, A. J., and Choquet, D. (2002). Regulation of AMPA receptor lateral movements. *Nature* 417, 649–653. doi: 10.1038/nature00780
- Bowers, M. S., Chen, B. T., and Bonci, A. (2010). AMPA receptor synaptic plasticity induced by psychostimulants: the past, present and therapeutic future. *Neuron* 67, 11–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.06.004
- Brown, T. C., Tran, I. C., Backos, D. S., and Esteban, J. A. (2005). NMDA receptordependent activation of the small GTPase Rab5 drives the removal of synaptic AMPA receptors during hippocampal LTD. *Neuron* 45, 81–94. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2004.12.023
- Burrone, J., O'Byrne, M., and Murthy, V. N. (2002). Multiple forms of synaptic plasticity triggered by selective suppression of activity in individual neurons. *Nature* 420, 414–418. doi: 10.1038/nature01242
- Carroll, R. C., Beattie, E. C., von Zastrow, M., and Malenka, R. C. (2001). Role of AMPA receptor endocytosis in synaptic plasticity. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 315–324. doi: 10.1038/35072500
- Carroll, R. C., Beattie, E. C., Xia, H., Lüscher, C., Altschuler, Y., Nicoll, R. A., et al. (1999). Dynamin-dependent endocytosis of ionotropic glutamate receptors.

Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 96, 14112-14117. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.24. 14112

- Chen, B. T., Bowers, M. S., Martin, M., Hopf, F. W., Guillory, A. M., Carelli, R. M., et al. (2008). Cocaine but not natural reward self-administration nor passive cocaine infusion produces persistent LTP in the VTA. *Neuron* 59, 288–297. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.05.024
- Chung, H. J., Steinberg, J. P., Huganir, R. L., and Linden, D. J. (2003). Requirement of AMPA receptor GluR2 phosphorylation for cerebellar long-term depression. *Science* 300, 1751–1755. doi: 10.1126/science.1082915
- Cingolani, L. A., and Goda, Y. (2008). Differential involvement of beta3 integrin in pre- and postsynaptic forms of adaptation to chronic activity deprivation. *Neuron Glia Biol.* 4, 179–187. doi: 10.1017/S1740925X0999024X
- Cingolani, L. A., Thalhammer, A., Yu, L. M., Catalano, M., Ramos, T., Colicos, M. A., et al. (2008). Activity-dependent regulation of synaptic AMPA receptor composition and abundance by beta3 integrins. *Neuron* 58, 749–762. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuron.2008.04.011
- Collingridge, G. L., Isaac, J. T., and Wang, Y. T. (2004). Receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 5, 952–962. doi: 10.1038/nrn 1556
- Cull-Candy, S., Kelly, L., and Farrant, M. (2006). Regulation of Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors: synaptic plasticity and beyond. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 16, 288– 297. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2006.05.012
- Daw, M. I., Chittajallu, R., Bortolotto, Z. A., Dev, K. K., Duprat, F., Henley, J. M., et al. (2000). PDZ proteins interacting with C-terminal GluR2/3 are involved in a PKC-dependent regulation of AMPA receptors at hippocampal synapses. *Neuron* 28, 873–886. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)00160-4
- Derkach, V., Barria, A., and Soderling, T. R. (1999). Ca2+/calmodulin-kinase II enhances channel conductance of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionate type glutamate receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 96, 3269–3274. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.6.3269
- De Zeeuw, C. I., Hansel, C., Bian, F., Koekkoek, S. K., van Alphen, A. M., Linden, D. J., et al. (1998). Expression of a protein kinase C inhibitor in Purkinje cells blocks cerebellar LTD and adaptation of the vestibulo-ocular reflex. *Neuron* 20, 495–508. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80990-3
- Doyle, J. B. (1939). Santiago Ramón y Cajal. Cal. West. Med. 51, 97-99.
- Dudek, S. M., and Bear, M. F. (1992). Homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of hippocampus and effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor blockade. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 89, 4363–4367.
- Ehlers, M. D., Heine, M., Groc, L., Lee, M. C., and Choquet, D. (2007). Diffusional trapping of GluR1 AMPA receptors by input-specific synaptic activity. *Neuron* 54, 447–460. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.04.010
- Evers, D. M., Matta, J. A., Hoe, H. S., Zarkowsky, D., Lee, S. H., Isaac, J. T., et al. (2010). Plk2 attachment to NSF induces homeostatic removal of GluA2 during chronic overexcitation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1199–1207. doi: 10.1038/nn. 2624
- Fambrough, D. M., and Hartzell, H. C. (1972). Acetylcholine receptors: number and distribution at neuromuscular junctions in rat diaphragm. *Science*. 176, 189–191. doi: 10.1126/science.176.4031.189
- Fortin, D. A., Davare, M. A., Srivastava, T., Brady, J. D., Nygaard, S., Derkach, V. A., et al. (2010). Long-term potentiation- dependent spine enlargement requires synaptic Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors recruited by CaM-kinase I. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 11565–11575. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1746-10.2010
- Frischknecht, R., Heine, M., Perrais, D., Seidenbecher, C. I., Choquet, D., and Gundelfinger, E. D. (2009). Brain extracellular matrix affects AMPA receptor lateral mobility and short-term synaptic plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 897–904. doi: 10.1038/nn.2338
- Gainey, M. A., Hurvitz-Wolff, J. R., Lambo, M. E., and Turrigiano, G. G. (2009). Synaptic scaling requires the GluR2 subunit of the AMPA receptor. J. Neurosci. 29, 6479–6489. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3753-08.2009
- Giorgi, C., Yeo, G. W., Stone, M. E., Katz, D. B., Burge, C., Turrigiano, G., et al. (2007). The EJC factor eIF4AIII modulates synaptic strength and neuronal protein expression. *Cell* 130, 179–191. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.028
- Gladding, C. M., Fitzjohn, S. M., and Molnár, E. (2009). Metabotropic glutamate receptor-mediated long-term depression: molecular mechanisms. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 61, 395–412. doi: 10.1124/pr.109.001735
- Gomperts, S. N., Rao, A., Craig, A. M., Malenka, R. C., and Nicoll, R. A. (1998). Postsynaptically silent synapses in single neuron cultures. *Neuron* 21, 1443– 1451. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80662-5

- Granger, A. J., and Nicoll, R. A. (2014). LTD expression is independent of glutamate receptor subtype. Front. Synaptic. Neurosci. 6:15. doi: 10.3389/fnsyn.2014.00015
- Granger, A. J., Shi, Y., Lu, W., Cerpas, M., and Nicoll, R. A. (2013). LTP requires a reserve pool of glutamate receptors independent of subunit type. *Nature* 493, 495–500. doi: 10.1038/nature11775
- Gray, E. E., Fink, A. E., Sarinaña, J., Vissel, B., and O'Dell, T. J. (2007). Long-term potentiation in the hippocampal CA1 region does not require insertion and activation of GluR2-lacking AMPA receptors. J. Neurophysiol. 98, 2488–2492. doi: 10.1152/jn.00473.2007
- Greger, I. H., Khatri, L., Kong, X., and Ziff, E. B. (2003). AMPA receptor tetramerization is mediated by Q/R editing. *Neuron* 40, 763–774. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00668-8
- Grigorenko, E., Glazier, S., Bell, W., Tytell, M., Nosel, E., Pons, T., et al. (1997). Changes in glutamate receptor subunit composition in hippocampus and cortex in patients with refractory epilepsy. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 153, 35–45. doi: 10. 1016/s0022-510x(97)00180-9
- Groc, L., Choquet, D., and Chaouloff, F. (2008). The stress hormone corticosterone conditions AMPAR surface trafficking and synaptic potentiation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 868–870. doi: 10.1038/nn.2150
- Groc, L., Heine, M., Cognet, L., Brickley, K., Stephenson, F. A., Lounis, B., et al. (2004). Differential activity-dependent regulation of the lateral mobilities of AMPA and NMDA receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 695–696. doi: 10.1038/nn1270
- Grooms, S. Y., Noh, K. M., Regis, R., Bassell, G. J., Bryan, M. K., Carroll, R. C., et al. (2006). Activity bidirectionally regulates AMPA receptor mRNA abundance in dendrites of hippocampal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 8339–8351. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.0472-06.2006
- Gu, Z., Liu, W., and Yan, Z. (2009). beta-Amyloid impairs AMPA receptor trafficking and function by reducing Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II synaptic distribution. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 10639–10649. doi: 10.1074/jbc. m806508200
- Guire, E. S., Oh, M. C., Soderling, T. R., and Derkach, V. A. (2008). Recruitment of calcium-permeable AMPA receptors during synaptic potentiation is regulated by CaM- kinase I. J. Neurosci. 28, 6000–6009. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0384-08. 2008
- Haering, S. C., Tapken, D., Pahl, S., and Hollmann, M. (2014). Auxiliary subunits: shepherding AMPA receptors to the plasma membrane. *Membranes (Basel)* 4, 469–490. doi: 10.3390/membranes4030469
- Harms, K. J., Tovar, K. R., and Craig, A. M. (2005). Synapse-specific regulation of AMPA receptor subunit composition by activity. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 6379–6388. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0302-05.2005
- Hayashi, Y., Shi, S. H., Esteban, J. A., Piccini, A., Poncer, J. C., and Malinow, R. (2000). Driving AMPA receptors into synapses by LTP and CaMKII: requirement for GluR1 and PDZ domain interaction. *Science* 287, 2262–2267. doi: 10. 1126/science.287.5461.2262
- He, K., Song, L., Cummings, L. W., Goldman, J., Huganir, R. L., and Lee, H. K. (2009). Stabilization of Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors at perisynaptic sites by GluR1–S845 phosphorylation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 106, 20033–20038. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0910338106
- Heine, M., Groc, L., Frischknecht, R., Béïque, J. C., Lounis, B., Rumbaugh, G., et al. (2008). Surface mobility of postsynaptic AMPARs tunes synaptic transmission. *Science* 320, 201–205. doi: 10.1126/science.1152089
- Hollmann, M., and Heinemann, S. (1994). Cloned glutamate receptors. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 17, 31–108. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.17.1.31
- Ibata, K., Sun, Q., and Turrigiano, G. G. (2008). Rapid synaptic scaling induced by changes in postsynaptic firing. *Neuron* 57, 819–826. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008. 02.031
- Isaac, J. T., Nicoll, R. A., and Malenka, R. C. (1995). Evidence for silent synapses: implications for the expression of LTP. *Neuron* 15, 427–434. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90046-2
- Jaskolski, F., Mayo-Martin, B., Jane, D., and Henley, J. M. (2009). Dynamindependent membrane drift recruits AMPA receptors to dendritic spines. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 12491–12503. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m808401200
- Jia, Z., Agopyan, N., Miu, P., Xiong, Z., Henderson, J., Gerlai, R., et al. (1996). Enhanced LTP in mice deficient in the AMPA receptor GluR2. *Neuron* 17, 945– 956. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80225-1
- Ju, W., Morishita, W., Tsui, J., Gaietta, G., Deerinck, T. J., Adams, S. R., et al. (2004). Activity-dependent regulation of dendritic synthesis and trafficking of AMPA receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 244–253. doi: 10.1038/nn1189

- Jullié, D., Choquet, D., and Perrais, D. (2014). Recycling endosomes undergo rapid closure of a fusion pore on exocytosis in neuronal dendrites. J. Neurosci. 34, 11106–11118. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0799-14.2014
- Jurado, S., Biou, V., and Malenka, R. C. (2010). A calcineurin/AKAP complex is required for NMDA receptor-dependent long-term depression. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1053–1055. doi: 10.1038/nn.2613
- Kapitein, L. C., Schlager, M. A., Kuijpers, M., Wulf, P. S., van Spronsen, M., MacKintosh, F. C., et al. (2010). Mixed microtubules steer dynein-driven cargo transport into dendrites. *Curr. Biol.* 20, 290–299. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2009.12.052
- Kennedy, M. J., Davison, I. G., Robinson, C. G., and Ehlers, M. D. (2010). Syntaxin-4 defines a domain for activity-dependent exocytosis in dendritic spines. *Cell* 141, 524–535. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.042
- Khodosevich, K., Jacobi, E., Farrow, P., Schulmann, A., Rusu, A., Zhang, L., et al. (2014). Coexpressed auxiliary subunits exhibit distinct modulatory profiles on AMPA receptor function. *Neuron* 83, 601–615. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014. 07.004
- Kim, C. H., Chung, H. J., Lee, H. K., and Huganir, R. L. (2001). Interaction of the AMPA receptor subunit GluR2/3 with PDZ domains regulates hippocampal long-term depression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 98, 11725–11730. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.211132798
- Kim, M. J., Futai, K., Jo, J., Hayashi, Y., Cho, K., and Sheng, M. (2007). Synaptic accumulation of PSD-95 and synaptic function regulated by phosphorylation of serine-295 of PSD-95. *Neuron* 56, 488–502. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007. 09.007
- Kim, J. I., Lee, H. R., Sim, S. E., Baek, J., Yu, N. K., Choi, J. H., et al. (2011). PI3Kγ is required for NMDA receptor-dependent long-term depression and behavioral flexibility. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1447–1454. doi: 10.1038/nn.2937
- Kopec, C. D., Li, B., Wei, W., Boehm, J., and Malinow, R. (2006). Glutamate receptor exocytosis and spine enlargement during chemically induced longterm potentiation. J. Neurosci. 26, 2000–2009. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3918-05. 2006
- Kullmann, D. M. (2012). The mother of all battles 20 years on: is LTP expressed pre- or postsynaptically? J. Physiol. 590, 2213–2216. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011. 221127
- Kusters, R., Kapitein, L. C., Hoogenraad, C. C., and Storm, C. (2013). Shapeinduced asymmetric diffusion in dendritic spines allows efficient synaptic AMPA receptor trapping. *Biophys. J.* 105, 2743–2750. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2013. 11.016
- Lambolez, B., Ropert, N., Perrais, D., Rossier, J., and Hestrin, S. (1996). Correlation between kinetics and RNA splicing of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptors in neocortical neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 93, 1797–1802. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.5.1797
- Lee, H. K., Barbarosie, M., Kameyama, K., Bear, M. F., and Huganir, R. L. (2000). Regulation of distinct AMPA receptor phosphorylation sites during bidirectional synaptic plasticity. *Nature* 405, 955–959. doi: 10.1038/35016089
- Lee, S. J., Escobedo-Lozoya, Y., Szatmari, E. M., and Yasuda, R. (2009). Activation of CaMKII in single dendritic spines during long-term potentiation. *Nature* 458, 299–304. doi: 10.1038/nature07842
- Lee, H. K., Kameyama, K., Huganir, R. L., and Bear, M. F. (1998). NMDA induces long-term synaptic depression and dephosphorylation of the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors in hippocampus. *Neuron* 21, 1151–1162. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80632-7
- Lee, S. H., Liu, L., Wang, Y. T., and Sheng, M. (2002). Clathrin adaptor AP2 and NSF interact with overlapping sites of GluR2 and play distinct roles in AMPA receptor trafficking and hippocampal LTD. *Neuron* 36, 661–674. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(02)01024-3
- Lee, H. K., Takamiya, K., Han, J. S., Man, H., Kim, C. H., Rumbaugh, G., et al. (2003). Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit is required for synaptic plasticity and retention of spatial memory. *Cell* 112, 631–643. doi: 10. 1016/s0092-8674(03)00122-3
- Lee, H. K., Takamiya, K., He, K., Song, L., and Huganir, R. L. (2010). Specific roles of AMPA receptor subunit GluR1 (GluA1) phosphorylation sites in regulating synaptic plasticity in the CA1 region of hippocampus. *J. Neurophysiol.* 103, 479– 489. doi: 10.1152/jn.00835.2009
- Lee, H. K., Takamiya, K., Kameyama, K., He, K., Yu, S., Rossetti, L., et al. (2007). Identification and characterization of a novel phosphorylation site on the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 36, 86–94. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn. 2007.06.003

- Li, S., Hong, S., Shepardson, N. E., Walsh, D. M., Shankar, G. M., and Selkoe, D. (2009). Soluble oligomers of amyloid Beta protein facilitate hippocampal longterm depression by disrupting neuronal glutamate uptake. *Neuron* 62, 788–801. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.05.012
- Liao, D., Hessler, N. A., and Malinow, R. (1995). Activation of postsynaptically silent synapses during pairing-induced LTP in CA1 region of hippocampal slice. *Nature* 375, 400–404. doi: 10.1038/375400a0
- Liao, D., Scannevin, R. H., and Huganir, R. (2001). Activation of silent synapses by rapid activity-dependent synaptic recruitment of AMPA receptors. J. Neurosci. 21, 6008–6017.
- Liao, D., Zhang, X., O'Brien, R., Ehlers, M. D., and Huganir, R. L. (1999). Regulation of morphological postsynaptic silent synapses in developing hippocampal neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 37–43.
- Lin, D. T., and Huganir, R. L. (2007). PICK1 and phosphorylation of the glutamate receptor 2 (GluR2) AMPA receptor subunit regulates GluR2 recycling after NMDA receptor-induced internalization. J. Neurosci. 27, 13903–13908. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.1750-07.2007
- Linden, D. J., and Connor, J. A. (1991). Participation of postsynaptic PKC in cerebellar long-term depression in culture. *Science* 254, 1656–1659. doi: 10. 1126/science.1721243
- Lisman, J., and Raghavachari, S. (2006). A unified model of the presynaptic and postsynaptic changes during LTP at CA1 synapses. *Sci. STKE* 2006:re11. doi: 10. 1126/stke.3562006re11
- Lledo, P. M., Zhang, X., Südhof, T. C., Malenka, R. C., and Nicoll, R. A. (1998). Postsynaptic membrane fusion and long-term potentiation. *Science* 279, 399– 403. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5349.399
- Lu, W., Shi, Y., Jackson, A. C., Bjorgan, K., During, M. J., Sprengel, R., et al. (2009). Subunit composition of synaptic AMPA receptors revealed by a single-cell genetic approach. *Neuron* 62, 254–268. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009. 02.027
- Lüscher, C., and Huber, K. M. (2010). Group 1 mGluR-dependent synaptic longterm depression: mechanisms and implications for circuitry and disease. *Neuron* 65, 445–459. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.01.016
- Lüscher, C., Xia, H., Beattie, E. C., Carroll, R. C., von Zastrow, M., Malenka, R. C., et al. (1999). Role of AMPA receptor cycling in synaptic transmission and plasticity. *Neuron* 24, 649–658. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)81119-8
- MacGillavry, H. D., Song, Y., Raghavachari, S., and Blanpied, T. A. (2013). Nanoscale scaffolding domains within the postsynaptic density concentrate synaptic AMPA receptors. *Neuron* 78, 615–622. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013. 03.009
- Maffei, A., and Fontanini, A. (2009). Network homeostasis: a matter of coordination. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 19, 168–173. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2009.05.012
- Makino, H., and Malinow, R. (2009). AMPA receptor incorporation into synapses during LTP: the role of lateral movement and exocytosis. *Neuron* 64, 381–390. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.08.035
- Mameli, M., Bellone, C., Brown, M. T., and Lüscher, C. (2011). Cocaine inverts rules for synaptic plasticity of glutamate transmission in the ventral tegmental area. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 414–416. doi: 10.1038/nn.2763
- Mammen, A. L., Kameyama, K., Roche, K. W., and Huganir, R. L. (1997). Phosphorylation of the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole4-propionic acid receptor GluR1 subunit by calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 32528–32533. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.51.32528
- Matsuzaki, M., Ellis-Davies, G. C., Nemoto, T., Miyashita, Y., Iino, M., and Kasai, H. (2001). Dendritic spine geometry is critical for AMPA receptor expression in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 1086–1092. doi: 10. 1038/nn736
- Meng, Y., Zhang, Y., and Jia, Z. (2003). Synaptic transmission and plasticity in the absence of AMPA glutamate receptor GluR2 and GluR3. *Neuron* 39, 163–176. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00368-4
- Miesenböck, G., De Angelis, D. A., and Rothman, J. E. (1998). Visualizing secretion and synaptic transmission with pH-sensitive green fluorescent proteins. *Nature* 394, 192–195. doi: 10.1038/28190
- Mulkey, R. M., Endo, S., Shenolikar, S., and Malenka, R. C. (1994). Involvement of a calcineurin/inhibitor-1 phosphatase cascade in hippocampal long-term depression. *Nature* 369, 486–488. doi: 10.1038/369486a0
- Mulkey, R. M., and Malenka, R. C. (1992). Mechanisms underlying induction of homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of the hippocampus. *Neuron* 9, 967–975. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(92)90248-c

- Nair, D., Hosy, E., Petersen, J. D., Constals, A., Giannone, G., Choquet, D., et al. (2013). Super-resolution imaging reveals that AMPA receptors inside synapses are dynamically organized in nanodomains regulated by PSD95. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 13204–13224. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2381-12.2013
- Nabavi, S., Fox, R., Proulx, C. D., Lin, J. Y., Tsien, R. Y., and Malinow, R. (2014). Engineering a memory with LTD and LTP. *Nature* 511, 348–352. doi: 10. 1038/nature13294
- Nicolas, C. S., Peineau, S., Amici, M., Csaba, Z., Fafouri, A., Javalet, C., et al. (2012). The Jak/STAT pathway is involved in synaptic plasticity. *Neuron* 73, 374–390. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.11.024
- Nishimune, A., Isaac, J. T., Molnar, E., Noel, J., Nash, S. R., Tagaya, M., et al. (1998). NSF binding to GluR2 regulates synaptic transmission. *Neuron* 21, 87– 97. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80517-6
- Oh, M. C., and Derkach, V. A. (2005). Dominant role of the GluR2 subunit in regulation of AMPA receptors by CaMKII. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 853–854. doi: 10. 1038/nn1476
- Okuda, T., Yu, L. M., Cingolani, L. A., Kemler, R., and Goda, Y. (2007). beta-Catenin regulates excitatory postsynaptic strength at hippocampal synapses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 104, 13479–13484. doi: 10.1073/pnas.070233 4104
- Opazo, P., Labrecque, S., Tigaret, C. M., Frouin, A., Wiseman, P. W., De Koninck, P., et al. (2010). CaMKII triggers the diffusional trapping of surface AMPARs through phosphorylation of stargazin. *Neuron* 67, 239–252. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2010.06.007
- Padamsey, Z., and Emptage, N. (2013). Two sides to long-term potentiation: a view towards reconciliation. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 369:20130154. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0154
- Passafaro, M., Piëch, V., and Sheng, M. (2001). Subunit-specific temporal and spatial patterns of AMPA receptor exocytosis in hippocampal neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 917–926. doi: 10.1038/nn0901-917
- Patterson, M. A., Szatmari, E. M., and Yasuda, R. (2010). AMPA receptors are exocytosed in stimulated spines and adjacent dendrites in a Ras-ERK-dependent manner during long-term potentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 15951– 15956. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0913875107
- Perestenko, P. V., and Henley, J. M. (2003). Characterization of the intracellular transport of GluR1 and GluR2 alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid receptor subunits in hippocampal neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 43525–43532. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m306206200
- Petrini, E. M., Lu, J., Cognet, L., Lounis, B., Ehlers, M. D., and Choquet, D. (2009). Endocytic trafficking and recycling maintain a pool of mobile surface AMPA receptors required for synaptic potentiation. *Neuron* 63, 92–105. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2009.05.025
- Plant, K., Pelkey, K. A., Bortolotto, Z. A., Morita, D., Terashima, A., McBain, C. J., et al. (2006). Transient incorporation of native GluR2-lacking AMPA receptors during hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 602–604. doi: 10. 1038/nn1678
- Plath, N., Ohana, O., Dammermann, B., Errington, M. L., Schmitz, D., Gross, C., et al. (2006). Arc/Arg3.1 is essential for the consolidation of synaptic plasticity and memories. *Neuron* 52, 437–444. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006. 08.024
- Rocca, D. L., Amici, M., Antoniou, A., Blanco Suarez, E., Halemani, N., Murk, K., et al. (2013). The small GTPase Arf1 modulates Arp2/3-mediated actin polymerization via PICK1 to regulate synaptic plasticity. *Neuron* 79, 293–307. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.05.003
- Rocca, D. L., Martin, S., Jenkins, E. L., and Hanley, J. G. (2008). Inhibition of Arp2/3-mediated actin polymerization by PICK1 regulates neuronal morphology and AMPA receptor endocytosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 10, 259–271. doi: 10. 1038/ncb1688
- Rozov, A., and Burnashev, N. (1999). Polyamine-dependent facilitation of postsynaptic AMPA receptors counteracts paired-pulse depression. *Nature* 401, 594–598.
- Rumpel, S., LeDoux, J., Zador, A., and Malinow, R. (2005). Postsynaptic receptor trafficking underlying a form of associative learning. *Science* 308, 83–88. doi: 10. 1126/science.1103944
- Rust, M. B., Gurniak, C. B., Renner, M., Vara, H., Morando, L., Görlich, A., et al. (2010). Learning, AMPA receptor mobility and synaptic plasticity depend on ncofilin-mediated actin dynamics. *EMBO J.* 29, 1889–1902. doi: 10.1038/emboj. 2010.72

- Saal, D., Dong, Y., Bonci, A., and Malenka, R. C. (2003). Drugs of abuse and stress trigger a common synaptic adaptation in dopamine neurons. *Neuron* 37, 577– 582. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00021-7
- Sanes, J. R., and Lichtman, J. W. (1999). Development of the vertebrate neuromuscular junction. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 22, 389–442. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro. 22.1.389
- Santos, S. F., Pierrot, N., and Octave, J. N. (2010). Network excitability dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease: insights from in vitro and in vivo models. *Rev. Neurosci.* 21, 153–171. doi: 10.1515/revneuro.2010.21.3.153
- Schnell, E., Sizemore, M., Karimzadegan, S., Chen, L., Bredt, D. S., and Nicoll, R. A. (2002). Direct interactions between PSD-95 and stargazin control synaptic AMPA receptor number. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 99, 13902–13907. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.172511199
- Seeburg, D. P., Feliu-Mojer, M., Gaiottino, J., Pak, D. T., and Sheng, M. (2008). Critical role of CDK5 and Polo-like kinase 2 in homeostatic synaptic plasticity during elevated activity. *Neuron* 258, 571–583. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008. 03.021
- Selcher, J. C., Xu, W., Hanson, J. E., Malenka, R. C., and Madison, D. V. (2012). Glutamate receptor subunit GluA1 is necessary for long-term potentiation and synapse unsilencing, but not long-term depression in mouse hippocampus. *Brain Res.* 1435, 8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011.11.029
- Setou, M., Seog, D. H., Tanaka, Y., Kanai, Y., Takei, Y., Kawagishi, M., et al. (2002). Glutamate-receptor-interacting protein GRIP1 directly steers kinesin to dendrites. *Nature* 417, 83–87. doi: 10.1038/nature743
- Shankar, G. M., Li, S., Mehta, T. H., Garcia-Munoz, A., Shepardson, N. E., Smith, I., et al. (2008). Amyloid-beta protein dimers isolated directly from Alzheimer's brains impair synaptic plasticity and memory. *Nat. Med.* 14, 837–842. doi: 10. 1038/nm1782
- Shen, K., and Meyer, T. (1999). Dynamic control of CaMKII translocation and localization in hippocampal neurons by NMDA receptor stimulation. *Science* 284, 162–166. doi: 10.1126/science.284.5411.162
- Shepherd, J. D., Rumbaugh, G., Wu, J., Chowdhury, S., Plath, N., Kuhl, D., et al. (2006). Arc/Arg3.1 mediates homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPA receptors. *Neuron* 52, 475–484. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.08.034
- Shi, S., Hayashi, Y., Esteban, J. A., and Malinow, R. (2001). Subunit-specific rules governing AMPA receptor trafficking to synapses in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Cell* 105, 331–343. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(01) 00321-x
- Shin, H., Wyszynski, M., Huh, K. H., Valtschanoff, J. G., Lee, J. R., Ko, J., et al. (2003). Association of the kinesin motor KIF1A with the multimodular protein liprin-alpha. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 11393–11401. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m2118 74200
- Small, D. H. (2004). Mechanisms of synaptic homeostasis in Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 1, 27–32. doi: 10.2174/1567205043480573
- Steinberg, J. P., Takamiya, K., Shen, Y., Xia, J., Rubio, M. E., Yu, S., et al. (2006). Targeted in vivo mutations of the AMPA receptor subunit GluR2 and its interacting protein PICK1 eliminate cerebellar long-term depression. *Neuron* 49, 845–860. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.02.025
- Steinmetz, C. C., and Turrigiano, G. G. (2010). Tumor necrosis factor-α signaling maintains the ability of cortical synapses to express synaptic scaling. J. Neurosci. 30, 14685–14690. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2210-10.2010
- Stellwagen, D., and Malenka, R. C. (2006). Synaptic scaling mediated by glial TNFalpha. Nature 440, 1054–1059. doi: 10.1038/nature04671
- Steward, O., and Levy, W. B. (1982). Preferential localization of polyribosomes under the base of dendritic spines in granule cells of the dentate gyrus. J. Neurosci. 2, 284–291.
- Sun, Q., and Turrigiano, G. G. (2011). PSD-95 and PSD-93 play critical but distinct roles in synaptic scaling up and down. J. Neurosci. 31, 6800–6808. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.5616-10.2011
- Sutton, M. A., Ito, H. T., Cressy, P., Kempf, C., Woo, J. C., and Schuman, E. M. (2006). Miniature neurotransmission stabilizes synaptic function via tonic suppression of local dendritic protein synthesis. *Cell* 125, 785–799. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2006.03.040
- Swanson, G. T., Kamboj, S. K., and Cull-Candy, S. G. (1997). Single-channel properties of recombinant AMPA receptors depend on RNA editing, splice variation and subunit composition. *J. Neurosci.* 17, 58–69.
- Szepesi, Z., Hosy, E., Ruszczycki, B., Bijata, M., Pyskaty, M., Bikbaev, A., et al. (2014). Synaptically released matrix metalloproteinase activity in control of

structural plasticity and the cell surface distribution of GluA1-AMPA receptors. *PLoS One* 9:e98274. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098274

- Takahashi, T., Svoboda, K., and Malinow, R. (2003). Experience strengthening transmission by driving AMPA receptors into synapses. *Science* 299, 1585–1588. doi: 10.1126/science.1079886
- Takamiya, K., Mao, L., Huganir, R. L., and amd Linden, D. J. (2008). The glutamate receptor-interacting protein family of GluR2-binding proteins is required for long-term synaptic depression expression in cerebellar Purkinje cells. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 5752–5755. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0654-08.2008
- Tanaka, H., and Hirano, T. (2012). Visualization of subunit-specific delivery of glutamate receptors to postsynaptic membrane during hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Cell Rep.* 1, 291–298. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.02.004
- Tang, B. L. (2009). Neuronal protein trafficking associated with Alzheimer disease: from APP and BACE1 to glutamate receptors. *Cell Adh. Migr.* 3, 118–128. doi: 10.4161/cam.3.1.7254
- Tang, S. J., and Schuman, E. M. (2002). Protein synthesis in the dendrite. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 57, 521–529. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2001.0887
- Tononi, G., and Cirelli, C. (2014). Sleep and the price of plasticity: from synaptic and cellular homeostasis to memory consolidation and integration. *Neuron* 81, 12–34. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.12.025
- Traynelis, S. F., Wollmuth, L. P., McBain, C. J., Menniti, F. S., Vance, K. M., Ogden, K. K., et al. (2010). Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation and function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 62, 405–496. doi: 10.1124/pr.109.002451
- Tunquist, B. J., Hoshi, N., Guire, E. S., Zhang, F., Mullendorff, K., Langeberg, L. K., et al. (2008). Loss of AKAP150 perturbs distinct neuronal processes in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 105, 12557–12562. doi: 10.1073/pnas.08059 22105
- Turrigiano, G. G., Leslie, K. R., Desai, N. S., Rutherford, L. C., and Nelson, S. B. (1998). Activity-dependent scaling of quantal amplitude in neocortical neurons. *Nature* 391, 892–896.
- Ungless, M. A., Whistler, J. L., Malenka, R. C., and Bonci, A. (2001). Single cocaine exposure in vivo induces long-term potentiation in dopamine neurons. *Nature* 411, 583–587. doi: 10.1038/35079077
- Vitureira, N., Letellier, M., and Goda, Y. (2012). Homeostatic synaptic plasticity: from single synapses to neural circuits. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 22, 516–521. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2011.09.006
- Vitureira, N., Letellier, M., White, I. J., and Goda, Y. (2011). Differential control of presynaptic efficacy by postsynaptic N-cadherin and β-catenin. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 81–89. doi: 10.1038/nn.2995
- Walsh, D. M., and Selkoe, D. J. (2007). A beta oligomers a decade of discovery. J. Neurochem. 101, 1172–1184. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04426.x
- Wang, Z., Edwards, J. G., Riley, N., Provance, D. W. Jr., Karcher, R., Li, X. D., et al. (2008). Myosin Vb mobilizes recycling endosomes and AMPA receptors for postsynaptic plasticity. *Cell* 135, 535–548. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.057
- Wang, Y. T., and Linden, D. J. (2000). Expression of cerebellar long-term depression requires postsynaptic clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *Neuron* 25, 635–647. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)81066-1
- Watt, A. J., Sjöström, P. J., Häusser, M., Nelson, S. B., and Turrigiano, G. G. (2004). A proportional but slower NMDA potentiation follows AMPA potentiation in LTP. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 518–524. doi: 10.1038/nn1220
- Watt, A. J., van Rossum, M. C., MacLeod, K. M., Nelson, S. B., and Turrigiano, G. G. (2000). Activity coregulates quantal AMPA and NMDA currents at neocortical synapses. *Neuron* 26, 659–670. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)81202-7
- Wenthold, R. J., Petralia, R. S., and Blahos, J. II, and Niedzielski, A. S. (1996). Evidence for multiple AMPA receptor complexes in hippocampal CA1/CA2 neurons. J. Neurosci. 16, 1982–1989.
- Wiltgen, B. J., Royle, G. A., Gray, E. E., Abdipranoto, A., Thangthaeng, N., Jacobs, N., et al. (2010). A role for calcium-permeable AMPA receptors in synaptic plasticity and learning. *PLoS One* 5:e12818. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012818
- Yang, Y., Wang, X. B., Frerking, M., and Zhou, Q. (2008). Delivery of AMPA receptors to perisynaptic sites precedes the full expression of long-term potentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 105, 11388–11393. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802978105
- Yang, Y., Wang, X. B., and Zhou, Q. (2010). Perisynaptic GluR2-lacking AMPA receptors control the reversibility of synaptic and spines modifications. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 11999–12004. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0913004107
- Yudowski, G. A., Puthenveedu, M. A., Leonoudakis, D., Panicker, S., Thorn, K. S., Beattie, E. C., et al. (2007). Real-time imaging of discrete exocytic events

mediating surface delivery of AMPA receptors. J. Neurosci. 27, 11112–11121. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2465-07.2007

- Zhang, W., and Linden, D. J. (2006). Long-term depression at the mossy fiber-deep cerebellar nucleus synapse. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 6935–69344. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci. 0784-06.2006
- Zhu, J. J., Qin, Y., Zhao, M., Van Aelst, L., and Malinow, R. (2002). Ras and Rap control AMPA receptor trafficking during synaptic plasticity. *Cell* 110, 443–455. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00897-8

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. Received: 20 September 2014; accepted: 06 November 2014; published online: 27 November 2014.

Citation: Chater TE and Goda Y (2014) The role of AMPA receptors in postsynaptic mechanisms of synaptic plasticity. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8:401. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00401

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Chater and Goda. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



AMPAR interacting protein CPT1C enhances surface expression of GluA1-containing receptors

Esther Gratacòs-Batlle^{1,2†}, Natalia Yefimenko^{1,2†}, Helena Cascos-García^{1,2} and David Soto^{1,2}*

¹ Laboratori de Neurobiologia, Area de Neurobiologia Cellular i Molecular, Institut d'Investigació Biomèdica de Bellvitge-IDIBELL, L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Spain ² Department of Pathology and Experimental Therapeutics, Faculty of Medicine, University of Barcelona, L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Spain

Edited by:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Inmaculada Maria Gonzalez-Gonzalez, Centro de Investigacion Medica Aplicada, Spain Dan Rocca, University of Bristol, UK

*Correspondence:

David Soto, Laboratori de Neurobiologia, Departament de Patologia i Terapèutica Experimental, Universitat de Barcelona – IDIBELL, Feixa Llarga s/n, 08907 L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Spain e-mail: dsoto@idibell.cat

[†] These authors have contributed equally to this work.

AMPARs mediate the vast majority of fast excitatory synaptic transmission in the brain and their biophysical and trafficking properties depend on their subunit composition and on several posttranscriptional and posttranslational modifications. Additionally, in the brain AMPARs associate with auxiliary subunits, which modify the properties of the receptors. Despite the abundance of AMPAR partners, recent proteomic studies have revealed even more interacting proteins that could potentially be involved in AMPAR regulation. Amongst these, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1C (CPT1C) has been demonstrated to form an integral part of native AMPAR complexes in brain tissue extracts. Thus, we aimed to investigate whether CPT1C might be able to modulate AMPAR function. Firstly, we confirmed that CPT1C is an interacting protein of AMPARs in heterologous expression systems. Secondly, CPT1C enhanced whole-cell currents of GluA1 homomeric and GluA1/GluA2 heteromeric receptors. However, CPT1C does not alter the biophysical properties of AMPARs and co-localization experiments revealed that AMPARs and CPT1C are not associated at the plasma membrane despite a strong level of co-localization at the intracellular level. We established that increased surface GluA1 receptor number was responsible for the enhanced AMPAR mediated currents in the presence of CPT1C. Additionally, we revealed that the palmitoylable residue C585 of GluA1 is important in the enhancement of AMPAR trafficking to the cell surface by CPT1C. Nevertheless, despite its potential as a depalmitoylating enzyme, CPT1C does not affect the palmitoylation state of GluA1. To sum up, this work suggests that CPT1C plays a role as a novel regulator of AMPAR surface expression in neurons. Fine modulation of AMPAR membrane trafficking is fundamental in normal synaptic activity and in plasticity processes and CPT1C is therefore a putative candidate to regulate neuronal AMPAR physiology.

Keywords: glutamate receptors, GluA1, CPT1C, AMPAR trafficking, surface expression, electrophysiological recordings, cortical neurons, palmitoylation

INTRODUCTION

Glutamate is the neurotransmitter involved in the majority of excitatory synaptic processes in the brain. This amino acid activates primarily ionotropic glutamate receptors (iGluRs): NMDA, AMPA, and Kainate receptors. Amongst iGluRs, the AMPA receptors (AMPARs) are essential as they mediate 90% of the fast excitatory neurotransmission in the central nervous system (CNS). Although their main role relates to synaptic transmission, AMPARs are also responsible for some forms of activity-dependent synaptic plasticity, the process thought to underlie higher order cognitive functions such as learning and memory (Barry and Ziff, 2002; Malinow and Malenka, 2002; Song and Huganir, 2002; Bredt and Nicoll, 2003).

AMPARs are tetrameric structures formed by four different subunits: GluA1–A4 and can be found as homo- or heterotetrameric structures (Traynelis et al., 2010), heteromeric receptors being the most common combinations found in neurons, amongst different brain regions (Gallo et al., 1992; Kondo et al., 1997; Lu et al., 2009; Reimers et al., 2011). Their subunit

composition is crucial for AMPAR properties and their roles in neurons largely rely on the different intracellular carboxylterminal (C-terminal) domains, which vary between subunits. AMPAR subunits can be found with long (GluA1, GluA2-long, and GluA4) or short (GluA2, GluA3, and GluA4-short) intracellular C-terminal domains (Köhler et al., 1994). The different C-termini of AMPAR subunits permit a great variability in protein-to-protein interactions dependant on both the distinct AMPAR subunits (Palmer et al., 2005) and the class of PDZ binding domain (Sheng and Sala, 2001; Cai et al., 2002). The C-terminal domain of GluA subunits also contains most of the well-characterized phosphorylation and palmitoylation sites. These posttranslational modifications allow a fine and complex regulation of AMPARs through the specific interaction of the receptor with multiple intracellular proteins, which play crucial roles in AMPAR trafficking and function (Anggono and Huganir, 2012; Lu and Roche, 2012).

Of the multiple proteins that transiently interact with AMPARs and that determine their trafficking, synaptic targeting and

recycling in neurons, some special attention must be given to transmembrane proteins that form integral part of the functional receptor. In addition to trafficking, these proteins modulate channel gating properties hence acting as genuine auxiliary subunits of the AMPARs. Amongst these, the most important are the *Transmembrane AMPA receptor Regulatory Proteins* (TARPs; Kato et al., 2010a; Straub and Tomita, 2012). Indeed, the vast majority of AMPARs in the CNS are associated with TARPs (Menuz et al., 2008; but see Schwenk et al., 2009) and they appear to be crucial for correct trafficking and synaptic targeting (Tomita et al., 2005). Depending on the TARP subtype, AMPAR trafficking properties are differentially modulated resulting in a differential synaptic integration (Jackson and Nicoll, 2011).

A recent proteomic study confirming the interaction of AMPARs with transient and integral partners of AMPARs has also identified a number of proteins capable of interacting with AMPAR subunits. One of them is Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1C (CPT1C), which forms part of some macromolecular complexes of AMPARs in the brain (Schwenk et al., 2012). This protein is a member of Carnitine palmitoyltransferases, a family of enzymes that catalyzes the exchange of acyl groups between carnitine and CoA to facilitate the transport of long chain fatty acids from the cytoplasm to the mitochondria for β-oxidation (McGarry and Brown, 1997). CPT1C is a specific CPT1 brain isoform strongly expressed in the hypothalamus, the hippocampus, cortex, and cerebellum (Price et al., 2002). CPT1C is highly homologous to the other CPT1s: it has the ability to bind palmitoyl-CoA and maintains the same binding affinity as CPT1A for malonyl-CoA (the endogenous allosteric CPT1 inhibitor). However, CPT1C has a 100-fold lower catalytic activity than the other isoforms (Sierra et al., 2008). Moreover, it is located in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) instead of the mitochondria (Sierra et al., 2008; Carrasco et al., 2012). The molecular mechanism of CPT1C action has not been unraveled yet, but some clues about its importance in mammalian brain function derive from CPT1C knockout mice studies. These KO mice show an impairment of motor functions, muscle strength, hypoactivity (Carrasco et al., 2013), behavioral learning deficits (Carrasco et al., 2012) and altered maturation of dendritic spines in hippocampal neurons indicating an important role of CPT1C in the CNS. Additionally, some results indicate that CPT1C is also involved in the control of food intake and energy expenditure (Wolfgang et al., 2006). It has also been described that a gain-of-function of CPT1C in the brain of transgenic mice results in severe growth retardation and in a reduction of brain weight (Reamy and Wolfgang, 2011).

In the present study we investigate whether CPT1C might affect AMPAR function. Our results confirm that GluA subunits are able to interact with CPT1C and this interaction modulates AMPAR surface expression in a subunit-dependent manner, without altering the gating properties of the receptor. Moreover we find that the palmitoylable cysteine residue located in the 585 position of GluA1 is crucial for CPT1C modulation of AMPAR surface level. Since it is clear that regulation of AMPAR membrane trafficking is critical for normal synaptic activity and for several forms of synaptic plasticity in the brain, the involvement of CPT1C in these processes is relevant for understanding AMPAR physiology.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

EXPRESSION CONSTRUCTS

AMPAR subunit cDNAs were a gift from Prof. Dr. Stephen Heinemann (Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA) and Prof. Dr. Peter Seeburg (Max Planck Institute, Heidelberg, Germany). pDs-Red-ER-KDEL was a generous gift of Juan Pablo Muñoz (IRB, Barcelona). GluA1-pIRES-mCherry: a pIRES vector expressing GluA1 and mCherry translated from a single bicistronic mRNA (used for heteromeric GluA1/GluA2 electrophysiological experiments). CPT1C plasmid vectors were a generous gift from Dr. Núria Casals (Universitat Internacional de Catalunva) and CPT1A-GFP was a gift from Dr. Dolors Serra (Universitat de Barcelona). Characteristics of CPT1C and CPT1A plasmid vectors were: (1) CPT1C-GFP: a plasmid containing CPT1C cDNA sequence C-terminally tagged with EGFP; this construct produces a protein of approximately 100 kDa (all experiments involving CPT1C have been performed with this plasmid unless otherwise stated); (2) CPT1C-pIRES: a pIRES vector expressing CPT1C and EGFP translated from a single bicistronic mRNA and (3) CPT1A-GFP: contains CPT1A cDNA sequence C-terminally tagged with EGFP. All cDNAs are from rat and plasmid vectors are all under the control of the same promoter (CMV promoter).

To obtain GluA1 cDNAs with mutations in the palmitoylation sites we used site-directed mutagenesis to change specific base pairs. Primers containing the mutation/s were designed and then synthetized by Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT). GluA1(C585S) and GluA1(C811S) mutant cDNAs resulted from changing the codon TGT to TCT and TGC to TCC, respectively. Both changes produce a cysteine to serine switch making these palmitoylation targets disappear. For the double mutant GluA1(C585,811S) we used GluA1(C585S) cDNA as a template and introduced the C811S mutation to create the GluA1(C585,811S) product, in which both palmitoylation sites from GluA1 were eliminated. The primers used for introducing the mutations were the following:

C585S: AAGGATCTGACATTTCCCCCAGGTCCC C811S: CCTTAATCGAGTTCTCCTACAAATCCCGTAGCG

All constructs were fully sequenced to verify sequence integrity.

CELL CULTURE AND TRANSFECTION

tsA201 cells – derived from HEK293, which do not express CPT1C protein (Sierra et al., 2008)—were maintained in DMEM:F12 containing 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin–streptomycin solution in 5% CO₂/95% air at 37°C. 24 h before transfection, 1.5×10^6 cells were plated into T25 flasks for coimmunoprecipitation (Co-IP) and Acyl Biotin Exchange assays (ABE) or 0.5×10^5 cells onto poly-D-lysine-coated coverslips for immunofluorescence (IF) and electrophysiological (EP) experiments. Cells were transiently co-transfected with 5.4 µg total cDNA (for Co-IP and ABE) and 0.6 µg total cDNA (for IF and EP) using X-tremeGENE transfection reagent (Roche) according to the manufacturers' directions. In all transfections the ratio used was 1:2 (GluA:CPT1C). Media was replaced 24 h after transfection with fresh media containing 2,3-dioxo-6-nitro-1,2,3,4tetrahydrobenzo[f]quinoxaline-7-sulfonamide 50 μ M (NBQX; Tocris-ABCam, Abcam) to prevent AMPAR-mediated toxicity. For EP experiments, cells were re-plated on glass coverslips to allow optimal density. All experiments were performed 48 h later.

NEURONAL CULTURES AND TRANSFECTION

Cortical neuron cultures were prepared from mouse embryos (E18). The cerebral cortex was isolated and maintained in cold Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS, Gibco) supplemented with 0.45 % glucose. After removal of the meninges, the cortical tissue was digested mildly with trypsin for 17 min at 37°C and mechanically dissociated. Cells were washed three times in HBSS and resuspended in Neurobasal medium supplemented with 2 mM Glutamax (Gibco) before filtering in 70 µm mesh filters (BD Falcon). Cells were plated onto glass coverslips (5 \times 10⁴ cells/cm²) coated with 0.1 mg/ml poly-L-lysine (Sigma). 2 h after seeding, the plating medium was replaced by complete growth medium (Neurobasal medium supplemented with 2% B27 (Invitrogen) and 2 mM Glutamax) and the coverslips were incubated at 37°C in a humidified 5 % CO2 atmosphere. Every 3-4 days, half of the conditioned medium was removed and replaced by fresh growth medium. Primary cultures were transfected with Lipofectamine 2000 on day 7 in vitro (7 DIV), according to the manufacturer's, instructions and the cells were fixed 72 h after transfection. All the experimental procedures were carried out according to European Union guidelines (Directive 2010/63/EU) and following protocols that were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Bellvitge Biomedical Research Institute (IDIBELL).

COIMMUNOPRECIPITATION

48 h after transfection, tsA201 cells were washed twice with room temperature PBS and collected in 1 ml 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) with Protease Inhibitor cocktail (Sigma) on ice. All subsequent steps were performed at 4°C. Cells were lysed in a Polytron (VDI 12; VWR) at force 5, for 20 s, twice. Lysates were centrifuged at 1000 ×g for 10 min to pellet nuclei and unlysed cells. The supernatant was further centrifuged at 20,000 \times g for 30 min, and the membrane fraction (pellet) was resuspended in solubilisation buffer (1 % Triton X-100, 150 mM NaCl and 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, containing protease inhibitors) and homogenized with a Polytron for 20 s. After 20 min on ice, insoluble material was pelleted with a 30 min centrifugation at 20,000 ×g and the supernatant was quantified using the BCA method (Thermo Scientific). 200-400 µg of total protein were incubated with 4 µg of antibody overnight at 4°C with orbital agitation (antibodies: mouse anti-GluA1-NT (N-terminus), rabbit anti-GluA2 (cytoplasmic domain) both from Merck Millipore, rabbit serum anti-GFP from Invitrogen). Antibody-protein complexes were pulled down by incubating with 80 µl of Protein-A sepharose beads (Sigma) pre-equilibrated with solubilisation buffer, for 2 h. Precipitated complexes were washed in solubilisation buffer three times and eluted with 2 × SDS/DTT sample buffer, heated 10 min at 76°C and separated on SDS/PAGE. Before adding the antibodies, 10% of total protein $(100 \,\mu l)$ was removed as input samples. $500 \,\mu l$ of pre-cooled acetone was added to the input samples, the mixture was vortexed and incubated overnight at -20° C. The precipitated proteins were cleared by centrifugation at 20,000 ×g for 20 min, supernatant was removed, and pellets were air-dried for 15–30 min and resuspended with appropriate volume of 2 × SDS/DTT buffer.

IMMUNOBLOTTING

Samples were separated by SDS/PAGE in 4-15% mini-protean TGX precast gels, transferred using Trans-Blot Turbo transfer system on nitrocellulose membranes (all from BioRad). Membranes were blocked in TBS with 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS-T) containing 5% (wt/vol) BSA or non-fat skim milk. Peroxidase-conjugated sheep anti-mouse or donkey anti-rabbit secondary antibodies (Dako) diluted in blocking solution at 1:1000 dilution, were detected by using ECL reagent (Amersham) and a LAS3000 Intelligent Dark Box (Fujifilm) was used to report western-blots. Quantification of the western blots was performed with Image J (NIH).

IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY

Immunofluorescence was performed in tsA201 cells grown on lysine treated coverslips, 48 h after transfections. Washes were always performed by immersion of the coverslips in PBS or PBS-G (20 mM Glycine in PBS). Composition of different solutions: Fixation solution (2% PFA in PBS), permeabilization solution (0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS-G), blocking solution (10% NGS, 2% BSA, 0.1% Triton X-100 in PBS-G), antibody incubation solution (4% normal goat serum and 0.1% BSA in PBS-G) and triton-antibody solution (antibody incubation solution containing 0.1% Triton X-100). Antibodies incubations were performed in a humid chamber at 37°C for 1 h.

For co-localization of CPT1C with GluA1 or GluA2 and for determining the level of surface expression of GluA1 in tsA201, the following method was used: staining surface AMPARs was achieved by labeling live cells with the mouse anti-GluA1-NT or mouse anti-GluA2 antibodies (both from Merck Millipore) in a 1:200 solution in DMEM:F12, for 7-10 min at 37°C. In neuronal cultures, the surface staining step was performed for 1 h at 37°C on fixed neurons (4% PFA + 4% sucrose). After washes in room temperature PBS, tsA201 cells were fixed for 15 min at room temperature and incubated with goat anti-mouse Alexafluor 555 (Molecular Probes) at 1:250 in antibody incubation solution. After several washes in PBS-G, cells were fixed again to preserve the binding of the first secondary antibody. Cells were subsequently permeabilized for 5-10 min and blocked for 30 min. Next, and in order to determine the total expression of AMPARs in each cell, GluA1 or GluA2 were labeled incubating the coverslips with the same mouse anti-GluA1-NT or mouse anti-GluA2 antibodies at 1:200 (in triton-antibody incubation solution). Following washes in PBS-G, cells were incubated with goat anti-mouse Alexafluor 647 (Molecular Probes) at 1:500 (in triton-antibody incubation solution). Coverslips were then washed and mounted with Fluoromount (Invitrogen).

For co-localization of CPT1C with GM-130 (Golgi marker), cells were transfected with CPT1C-GFP and Golgi staining was performed on fixed, permeabilized and blocked tsA201 cells by incubating cells with mouse anti-GM-130 (BD-Biosciences) at 1:50 in triton-antibody incubation solution and subsequently

with goat anti-mouse Alexafluor 555 (Molecular Probes) at 1:500.

For co-localization of CPT1C with an ER marker we cotransfected tsA201 cells with 600 ng of total DNA at a ratio of 1:2 (ER-KDEL: CPT1C). 48h after transfection cells were fixed for 15 min in 4% PFA, washed and mounted in Fluoromount.

CONFOCAL IMAGING AND IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE QUANTIFICATION

Confocal images were acquired on a spectral confocal microscope (Leica TCS-SL, CCiTUB), using $40 \times$ or $63 \times$ oil objective lenses, in multitracking mode to minimize channel crosstalk. Each image was taken through laser excitation lines 488, 543, and 633 and Differential Interference Contrast (DIC). For immunofluorescence quantification experiments the same settings for each condition and throughout experiments were used. For tsA201 cells, stacks of 0.7 μ m were taken from different areas and for cortical neurons stacks were of 0.3 μ m.

Quantification of GluA1 surface expression was performed using Image J (NIH). Each stack was Z-projected to the maximum intensity. With the freehand selection tool individual cells or dendrites co-expressing the receptor and CPT1C-GFP or GFP (expression verified by tracking fluorescence intensity in the green channel) were traced and fluorescence in each channel was measured. The fluorescence values of each cell/dendrite were then analyzed, red integrated density (INTDEN) being the value corresponding to surface expression of the receptor in that cell/dendrite, and blue INTDEN being the value for total expression of GluA1 in the same cell/dendrite (tsA201 cells with low levels of blue fluorescence were not quantified). The mean background intensity was obtained from three different areas of each image and subtracted from each measurement using the following formula:

$$CTCF = INTDEN - (AREA^* MEAN FLUORESC BKGD) (1)$$

where CTCF stands for corrected total cell fluorescence. Then, the ratio surface to total was obtained from the CTCF value from red fluorescence (surface) divided by the CTCF value from blue fluorescence (total), and normalized to the reference condition (GluA1+GFP or GFP transfected neurons). Finally, column graphics including the mean ratio of each condition were plotted and the error bars (SEM) were obtained. A set of at least 3 different immunofluorescences for each condition was performed and 10–50 cells of each condition were analyzed for each immunofluorescence. For neuronal experiments, three separate independent cultures were performed and 70 and 80 dendrites from 21 and 23 neurons from control and test condition were analyzed.

Quantification of co-localization was performed using the Manders Overlap Coefficient (MOC) calculated in Image J via the JACoP plugin from images of single cells. This coefficient ranges between 1 and zero with values close to 1 being high co-localization, and values close to zero being low.

ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY: GENERAL PROCEDURES

Cells were visualized with an inverted microscope (IX50; Olympus). Electrodes were fabricated from borosilicate glass (1.5 mm o.d., 0.86 mm i.d., Harvard Apparatus) pulled with a PC-10 vertical puller (Narishige). Electrode resistance varied between configurations (see below). Macroscopic currents were recorded at room temperature (22-25°C) in the whole-cell configuration (wc) or from outside-out patches (o) excised from GFP-positive cells. Currents were recorded with Axopatch 200B amplifier, filtered at 2 kHz (wc) or 10 kHz (o) and digitized at 5 kHz (wc) or 50 kHz (o) using Digidata 1440A interface with pClamp 10 software (Molecular Devices Corporation). For all configurations the "extracellular" solution contained (in mM): 145 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1 CaCl₂, 1 MgCl₂, 10 glucose and 10 HEPES (pH to 7.42 with NaOH). For fast agonist application, 10 mM glutamate was added to the "extracellular" solution. The "intracellular" solution contained (in mM): 145 CsCl, 2.5 NaCl, 1 Cs-EGTA, 4 MgATP, and 10 HEPES (pH to 7.2 with CsOH). Spermine tetrahydrochloride (Sigma Aldrich) was added to intracellular solution at 100 μ M in all cases.

WHOLE-CELL RECORDINGS

Whole-cell recordings were made from isolated cells using thickwalled electrodes with a resistance of 3–5 MΩ, giving a final series resistance of 5–15 MΩ. A voltage ramp protocol was used to change the holding potential (0 to –80 mV then to +80 mV at a rate of 160 mV/s; with the voltage held at –80 mV for 200 ms previous to the ramp). Receptors were activated by a bath application of 1 mM glutamate plus 25 μ M cyclothiazide (CTZ) to prevent receptor desensitization. Control traces were subtracted from stable agonist-activated responses and the average current recorded at –80 mV was measured. In all recordings, to control for differences in cell surface area, the response to glutamate was expressed as current density (–pA/pF; maximum current divided by input capacitance as measured from the amplifier settings).

The rectification index (RI) was defined as the absolute value of glutamate-evoked current at +60 mV divided by that at -60 mV:

$$RI + 60mV / - 60mV = |I_{+60mV}| / |I_{-60mV}|$$
(2)

AGONIST APPLICATION TO EXCISED PATCHES

For out-side out patches we used electrodes with a final resistance of 8–12 M Ω . Rapid agonist application was achieved by switching between a continuously flowing control solution (extracellular solution diluted by 4%) and a glutamate-containing solution (extracellular solution plus 2.5 μ g/ml sucrose and 10 mM glutamate). Solution switching was achieved by piezoelectric translation of a theta-barrel application tool made from borosilicate glass (1.5 mm o.d.; Sutter Instruments) mounted on a piezoelectric translator (P-601.30; Physik Instrumente). 100 ms jumps were applied to outside-out patches at a holding potential of –60 mV. At the end of each experiment, the adequacy of the solution exchange was tested by destroying the patch and measuring the liquid-junction current at the open pipette (10–90% rise time normally 200–300 μ s).

The kinetics of desensitization of the glutamate-activated currents were determined by fitting the glutamate-evoked responses at $V_{\rm m}$ -60 mV to a double-exponential function in order to determine the weighted time constant ($\tau_{\rm w,des}$):

$$\tau_{w,des} = \tau_f \left(\frac{A_f}{A_f + A_s} \right) + \tau_s \left(\frac{A_s}{A_f + A_s} \right)$$
(3)

where A_f and τ_f are the amplitude and time constant of the fast component of desensitization and A_s and τ_s are the amplitude and time constant of the slow component of desensitization.

NON-STATIONARY FLUCTUATION ANALYSIS (NSFA)

To deduce channel properties from macroscopic responses, glutamate (10 mM) was applied to outside-out patches (100 ms duration, 1 Hz, V_{hold} –60 mV) and the ensemble variance of all successive pairs of current responses were calculated. The single channel current (i) and the total number of channels in the patch (N) were calculated by plotting this ensemble variance against mean current (\overline{I}) and fitting with a parabolic function:

$$\sigma^{2} = \sigma_{B}^{2} + \left(i\bar{I} - \left(\frac{\bar{I}^{2}}{N}\right)\right)$$
(4)

where σ_B^2 is the background variance. Along with normal peakto-peak variation in the currents due to stochastic channel gating, some patches presented a gradual decline in peak amplitude. The mean response was calculated from the periods of the recordings showing stable responses that were identified using a Spearman rank-order correlation test (Igor Pro with Neuromatic). The weighted-mean single-channel conductance was determined from the single-channel current and the holding potential corrected for the calculated liquid-junction potential (+4.9 mV; pClamp 10).

ACYL-BIOTIN EXCHANGE (ABE) ASSAY

Detection of palmitoylation levels of GluA1 subunits was performed as described in Brigidi and Bamji (2013). 48h after transfection, tsA201 cells co-expressing GluA1 and GFP or GluA1 and CPT1C-GFP, were washed with ice-cold PBS and lysed with a 30 G syringe 6 times in ice-cold lysis buffer (1% IGEPAL, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 10% Glycerol, Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Roche) and PMSF) containing 50 mM N-ethylmaleimide (NEM) (Sigma). All steps where performed at 4°C. Lysates were cleared by centrifugation at 16,000 xg for 30 min and the amount of protein in the supernatant was determined using the BCA method (Thermo Scientific). $750 \,\mu\text{g} - 1.5 \,\text{mg}$ of protein were used for overnight immunoprecipitation of GluA1 [4µg of anti-GluA1-NT antibody (Merck Millipore)]. Then, protein-antibody complexes were pulled-down with Protein-A sepharose beads (Sigma) for 1-2 h. The total immunoprecipitate was then resuspended in lysis buffer with 10 mM NEM and it was split into two equivalent samples: one sample for specific cleavage and unmasking of the palmitoylated cysteine's thiol group by 1 M hydroxylamine treatment (+HAM sample) and a second equivalent sample but without the presence of HAM to control non-specific incorporation of biotin (-HAM sample). Before performing HAM treatment, samples were totally washed to avoid any presence of unbound NEM. 1 M HAM solution was prepared in pH 7.2 lysis buffer and \pm HAM treatment was performed for 1 h at room temperature. After washes, selective labeling of the palmitoylated cysteine using a thiol-reactive biotinylation reagent, biotin-BMCC $(1 \mu M)$

(Thermo Scientific) in pH 6.2 lysis buffer was performed for 1 h at 4°C in \pm HAM samples. Then, the thiol-biotinylated proteins following the ABE steps were resolved by SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting was performed. Membranes were blocked with 3% BSA in TBS-T and incubated with Streptavidin-HRP (Invitrogen) (1:5000 from a 1 mg/ml stock in 0.3 % BSA). After stripping, the same membrane was incubated with an anti-GluA1-NT antibody (1:1000) to normalize palmitoylation levels to the amount of immunoprecipitated protein.

ANALYSIS AND STATISTICS

Electrophysiological recordings were analyzed using IGOR Pro (Wavemetrics Inc.) with NeuroMatic (Jason Rothman, UCL). Data are presented in the text as the mean \pm SEM from n patches and in the figures as bar plots of the group mean, with error bars denoting the SEM. Comparisons between two groups were performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test. Differences were considered significant at p < 0.05. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 5.0d for Mac OS X (GraphPad Software, San Diego California USA, www. graphpad.com).

RESULTS

AMPAR SUBUNITS COIMMUNOPRECIPITATE WITH CPT1C IN HETEROLOGOUS EXPRESSION SYSTEM

CPT1C has been shown to interact with native AMPAR subunits in rat brain tissue (Schwenk et al., 2012). Thus we first sought to determine if in our expression system CPT1C also interacted with AMPAR subunits. To analyse the interaction of GluA1 with CPT1C we performed coimmunoprecipitation assays from tsA201 cells transiently transfected with GluA1 and the construct CPT1C tagged with the green fluorescence protein GFP (CPT1C-GFP; see methods) (Figure 1). Membranes of these cells were immunoprecipitated either with anti-GluA1 or anti-GFP and subsequently detected using Western blot. Antibodies recognizing GFP were able to pull down GluA1 when co-expressed with CPT1C-GFP (Figure 1A; upper middle panel). The ~ 100 KDa band was not detected with GluA1 antibody in anti-GFP immunoprecipitates from cells transfected only with GluA1 or CPT1C-GFP. Additionally, coimmunoprecipitation was observed by pulling down CPT1C-GFP with an anti-GluA1 antibody (Figure 1A; lower right panel). Correct expression of the different constructs was confirmed by Western blot of the input samples (Figure 1A; upper and lower left panels). Our results confirm previous observations and indicate that in tsA201 cells CPT1C physically associates with GluA1 subunit.

Equivalent conditions were used for detecting interaction of GluA2 with CPT1C and the same negative controls were performed. **Figure 1B** shows that GluA2 subunit coimmunoprecipitated with CPT1C-GFP when the latter was pulled-down with an anti-GFP antibody (upper middle panel). Additionally, the anti-GluA2 antibody was able to pull-down CPT1C (**Figure 1B**; lower right panel). The presence of both proteins was detected in the input samples (**Figure 1B**; upper and lower left panels). These results confirm that both GluA1 and GluA2 interact with CPT1C in tsA201 cells when both proteins are co-expressed.



FIGURE 1 | GluA1 and GluA2 coimmunoprecipitate with CPT1C in expression systems. (A) Co-IP of the membranous fraction of tsA201 cells co-expressing either GluA1 alone or together with CPT1C-GFP confirming the interaction between CPT1C and GluA1. As a negative control GluA1 was co-expressed with an empty plasmid expressing GFP alone (pEGFP) and CPT1C-GFP was co-expressed with an empty plasmid (pcDNA3.0). Transfected cells were lysed and membranes were solubilized. 200-400 μ g of solubilized membranes was immunoprecipitated with an anti-GFP antibody (IP: antiGFP) or with anti-GluA1-NT antibody (IP: antiGluA1). An input sample collected prior to immunoprecipitation of

CPT1C INCREASES WHOLE-CELL CURRENTS OF GluA1-CONTAINING AMPARs

Previous results (Schwenk et al., 2012) and our coimmunoprecipitation experiments suggest that CPT1C and AMPARs form part of the same complex at some stage either during the biosynthetic pathway or as an integral part of the receptor at the cell surface. Given that, we wondered if the interaction between AMPAR subunits and CPT1C could have any functional consequences on AMPARs. To explore that possibility we transiently transfected tsA201 cells with GluA1 subunit in the absence and presence of CPT1C-GFP and we measured glutamate-evoked whole-cell currents at different holding potentials by applying a voltage ramp in the presence of 1 mM glutamate and $25 \,\mu M$ CTZ. Figures 2A,B illustrate two examples of currents recorded between -80 and +80 mV in cells transfected with GluA1 and GluA1+CPT1C, respectively. Our results show that wholecell current density measured at -80 mV from cells expressing GluA1 together with CPT1C was higher than those currents recorded for GluA1 alone (Figure 2C; 66.97 \pm 18.77 pA/pF for GluA1 vs. 159.4 \pm 39.43 pA/pF for GluA1+CPT1C; *p* = 0.0431; Mann–Whitney *U*-test; n = 11 and 8 respectively).

For the coimmunoprecipitation experiments performed in **Figure 1** we used a GFP-tagged form of CPT1C due to the lack of a good commercially available anti-CPT1C antibody. To be consistent between experiments we carried out the

these extracts is shown as "INPUT." Inputs and immunoprecipitated samples were separated using SDS-PAGE and Western Blot was performed using anti-GluA1-NT (WB: antiGluA1) or anti-GFP (WB: antiGFP) antibodies. Immunoprecipitations were performed three times. **(B)** Same as in **(A)** but for tsA201 cells expressing GluA2 or GluA2 plus CPT1C-GFP. Membrane lysates were immunoprecipitated with an anti-GFP antibody (IP: antiGFP) or a rabbit polyclonal anti-GluA2 (cytoplasmic domain) (IP: antiGluA2). Western Blots were performed using mouse anti-GluA2 (WB: antiGluA2) or anti-GFP (WB: antiGFP) antibodies. Immunoprecipitations were replicated three times.

electrophysiological experiments with the GFP-tagged form of CPT1C. However, we could not rule out that the fused GFP could somehow account for the whole-cell current increase seen in our recordings. To exclude that possibility we repeated our experiments with a non-tagged form of CPT1C protein (CPT1C-pIRES; see methods). We found a similar increase in the current density to that obtained with the GFP-tagged form (data not shown). Further, the effect of CPT1C on GluA1 could be due to a general CPT1 activity or feature and not due to the specific interaction of the isoform CPT1C with GluA1. To test this possibility we overexpressed the most ubiquitous form of CPT1, CPT1A, together with GluA1. We found similar current density values to those obtained with GluA1 alone (Figure 2C; 66.97 \pm 18.77 pA/pF for GluA1 vs. 78.69 \pm 37.10 pA/pF for GluA1+CPT1A; p = 1.0000; Mann–Whitney *U*-test; n = 11 and 5 respectively). This demonstrates the specificity of the CPT1C effect on AMPAR-mediated currents.

CPT1C is also present in AMPAR complexes isolated with GluA2 antibody (Schwenk et al., 2012 and **Figure 1B**). Therefore we investigated whether the effect of CPT1C on GluA2 subunit was similar to the one seen for GluA1 subunits by doing whole-cell density current experiments in GluA2 homomeric AMPARs. Unlike GluA1, **Figure 2D** shows that there was no increase in current density when CPT1C was co-expressed with GluA2 in tsA201 cells (61.85 ± 16.48 pA/pF for GluA2 vs. 52.28 ± 20.27 pA/pF for



FIGURE 2 | CPT1C specifically increases glutamate-evoked currents of GluA1-containing AMPARs. (A) Whole-cell current-voltage (IV)

relationship for a tsA201 cell expressing GluA1 homomeric receptors. The IV plot was obtained by ramping membrane potential from -80 to +80 mV at a rate of 160 mV/s in the presence of 1 mM glutamate plus $25 \,\mu$ M CTZ to avoid receptor desensitization. 100 µM spermine was added to the pipette solution. Inset represents the voltage protocol used. (B) Same as (A) but for a cell expressing GluA1 plus CPT1C-GFP (CPT1C). (C) Average normalized currents at -80 mV for GluA1 alone or together with CPT1C or CPT1A. GluA1 current density (-pA/pF) was increased by co-expression with CPT1C (*p < 0.05; Mann-Whitney U-test) but was unaffected by CPT1A co-expression (p > 0.05; Mann-Whitney U-test). Numbers in bars denote the number of recordings. (D) Average current density for GluA2 alone or with CPT1C (p > 0.05; Mann-Whitney U-test). Numbers in bars denote the number of recordings. (E) Whole-cell IV in the same conditions as (A) but for a cell expressing GluA1/GluA2 heteromeric AMPARs. Rectification index (RI; I_{+60mV}/I_{-60mV}) gives a read-out of GluA2 incorporation. (F). Same as (E) but for a cell expressing GluA1/GluA2 plus CPT1C. (G). Average normalized currents at -80 mV for GluA1/GluA2 AMPARs with or without CPT1C. GluA1/A2 current density (-pA/pF) was increased by co-expression with CPT1C (*p < 0.05; Mann-Whitney U-test). Numbers in bars denote the number of recordings. (H). Average RI for the cells recorded in both conditions showing no differences between groups.

GluA2+CPT1C; p = 0.2991; Mann–Whitney *U*-test; n = 7 and 9 respectively).

Most of glutamatergic neurons in CNS express GluA2containing AMPARs either with GluA1, GluA3 or GluA4 (Gallo et al., 1992; Kondo et al., 1997; Lu et al., 2009; Reimers et al., 2011). Thus we decided to evaluate whether GluA1/GluA2 heteromeric receptors currents were similarly affected by CPT1C. Figures 2E-G shows that CPT1C was able to increase current density from heteromeric receptors (152.1 \pm 23.94 pA/pF for GluA1/GluA2 vs. 246.9 \pm 30.26 pA/pF for GluA1/GluA2+CPT1C; p = 0.0236; Mann–Whitney U-test; n =19 and 18 respectively). In these experiments, in order to favor GluA2 presence in the receptor we transfected in a 1:2 ratio (GluA1:GluA2) and the GluA1 plasmid expressed the mCherry protein (see methods) thus allowing the recording of GluA1containing receptors. In fact, for both conditions, the red fluorescence patched cells displayed linear responses, which were not different between both groups confirming the presence of GluA2 (Figure 2H; $RI_{+60/-60} = 0.84 \pm 0.04$ without CPT1C vs. 0.82 \pm 0.04 with CPT1C; p = 0.8910; Mann–Whitney U-test; n = 19and 18 respectively).

CPT1C DOES NOT ALTER GATING PROPERTIES OF AMPARs

In the current density experiments described above we found a significant increase in the glutamate-evoked GluA1-mediated currents when CPT1C was present. The total amount of current carried by a given population of receptors depends on several factors, which include the single channel conductance, the kinetics, the open probability of the receptor and the number of receptors contributing to the current. Any alteration in these parameters might result in changes in the current magnitude. So, one possibility would be that CPT1C could modulate the single channel conductance or open probability of AMPARs either by a direct interaction (Soto et al., 2007, 2014; Suzuki et al., 2008; Coombs et al., 2012; Shelley et al., 2012) or indirectly by phosphorylation (Derkach et al., 1999; Banke et al., 2000; Kristensen et al., 2011). So, we decided to investigate the mechanisms contributing to the current increase observed in AMPARs together with CPT1C. To determine whether AMPAR single channel conductance was altered by CPT1C we transfected GluA1 either alone or together with CPT1C in tsA201 cells and applied fast applications of glutamate (10 mM; 100 ms duration; 1 kHz) onto out-side out patches followed by non-stationary fluctuation analysis of the glutamate-evoked responses.

Figures 3A,B show typical responses for GluA1 homomers alone (**Figure 3A**) or together with CPT1C (**Figure 3B**). The single channel conductance of GluA1 homomers was not altered when co-expressed with CPT1C (**Figure 3C**; 16.53 ± 1.07 pS for GluA1 alone vs. 17.07 ± 1.31 pS for GluA1+CPT1C; p = 0.8095, Mann–Whitney *U*-test; n = 17 for both). CPT1C did not alter peak open probability ($P_{o,peak}$) of AMPARs (**Figure 3D**; 0.43 ± 0.04 for GluA1 vs. 0.40 ± 0.05 for GluA1+CPT1C; p = 0.6052, Mann–Whitney *U*-test; n = 17 for both). Similarly, the AMPARs kinetics measured as the desensitization decay time constant (see methods) were not changed (**Figure 3E**; 2.32 ± 0.18 ms for cells expressing GluA1 alone vs. 2.53 ± 0.17 ms for cells expressing



GluA1+CPT1C; p = 0.3112, Mann–Whitney *U*-test; n = 18 for both). Since AMPAR auxiliary subunits attenuate the strong block by polyamine of calcium permeable AMPARs (CP-AMPARs) (Soto et al., 2007, 2009), we evaluated if CPT1C was able to have a similar effect. We therefore measured the rectification index (RI) at +60/–60 mV (see methods) from the IV ramps experiments (**Figures 2A–C**), however we did not see any alteration in the strong inwardly rectifying IV relationship of CP-AMPARs (**Figure 3F**; 0.051 ± 0.009 for cells expressing GluA1 alone vs. 0.049 ± 0.011 for cells expressing GluA1+CPT1C; p = 0.8554, Mann–Whitney *U*-test; n = 11 and 8 respectively).

Taken together, data from **Figures 2**, **3** show that glutamateevoked current density is increased by co-expression of CPT1C in GluA1 expressing cells but not those expressing only GluA2 subunit. Nonetheless, GluA1 channel properties (single channel conductance, peak open probability and desensitization kinetics) are unaffected suggesting an increase in receptor number at the cell surface. These results could also be indicating that both proteins do not associate at the plasma membrane despite a larger amount of current when CPT1C is co-expressed with GluA1.

AMPARS CO-LOCALIZE WITH CPT1C AT THE ER BUT NOT AT THE PLASMA MEMBRANE

Our results show a functional effect of CPT1C on GluA1. This effect though, seems not to be similar to that of "bona fide"

auxiliary subunits, which exert several modulatory effects on AMPAR at the plasma membrane level (Jackson and Nicoll, 2011; Shanks et al., 2012). Therefore, to study the presence or absence of CPT1C at the cell surface, we visualized the location of the interaction between CPT1C and AMPAR subunits. With this aim, we co-transfected cells with CPT1C-GFP and GluA1 or GluA2 and performed immunofluorescence to differentially visualize surface AMPARs (red in **Figures 4A,B**) and the total pool of AMPARs subunits (blue in **Figures 4A,B**) by using confocal microscopy (for details, see methods).

Results in **Figures 4A,B** using cell lines indicate that CPT1C co-localize with both intracellular GluA1 and GluA2 (**Figures 4A,B**; light blue in left panels). Quantification of these co-localizations using Manders Overlap coefficient (MOC; see methods) is shown in **Figure 4D** (0.67 \pm 0.14 for GluA1 and 0.59 \pm 0.12 for GluA2; blue columns; n = 10). In fact, CPT1C expression seems to be restricted to areas close to the nucleus and with a reticular pattern (**Figures 4A,B**; green signal). Interestingly, there is no co-localization of CPT1C with surface receptors confirming that the interaction does not take place at the cell-surface (**Figures 4A,B**; right panels). **Figure 4D** (red columns) shows MOC for CPT1C and surface GluA1 (0.13 \pm 0.09; n = 10) or surface GluA2 (0.11 \pm 0.08; n = 10).

CPT1C has been described to co-localize with ER markers in transfected cell lines and in neurons (Sierra et al., 2008;





FIGURE 4 | Continued

from surface GluAs and CPT1C (red columns; ***p < 0.001 for both comparisons; Mann–Whitney *U*-test; n = 10 for all conditions). MOC values for CPT1C-ER marker (pDsRed-KDEL) show strong co-localization (yellow bar). MOC values for CPT1C-GM130 (GA marker; green bar) were similar to those of surface GluAs-CPT1C.

Carrasco et al., 2012). We confirmed this previous localization of CPT1C in the ER in our expression system (**Figure 4C**; left panel and **Figure 4D**; yellow column; MOC of 0.77 \pm 0.04). Since GluA subunits dwell in the Golgi Apparatus during posttranscriptional modifications (Greger et al., 2002) we wondered if CPT1C and GluAs might interact at this level. However, we found that CPT1C shows poor co-localization with a Golgi Apparatus marker (GM-130) as shown in **Figure 4C** (right panel) and **Figure 4D** (green column; MOC of 0.11 \pm 0.05; n = 10).

This data clearly demonstrates that GluA subunits are together with CPT1C at the ER level but not at the plasma membrane.

SURFACE EXPRESSION OF GIUA1 IS INCREASED IN THE PRESENCE OF CPT1C

Our results showing that AMPAR gating at the plasma membrane level is not altered by CPT1C suggests that the increase in whole-cell currents might be explained by an increased number of receptors present at the cell surface.

To test this hypothesis we determined GluA1 surface expression using immunofluorescence quantification. We immunostained surface GluA1 in live transfected tsA201 cells (**Figures 5A,B**; red signal). We then permeabilized the cells and stained the total GluA1 pool (**Figures 5A,B**; blue signal). Given the variability in expression levels we calculated the ratio of the surface expression of GluA1 vs. the total expression level of GluA1 for the same cell.

As shown in **Figure 5C** the normalized ratio surface to total GluA1 was increased in cells co-expressing GluA1 and CPT1C-GFP (100 \pm 5.53% for cells expressing GluA1 alone vs. 160.6 \pm 6.24% for cells expressing GluA1+CPT1C; p < 0.0001, Mann–Whitney *U*-test; n = 84 and 90 cells respectively from 4 immunocytochemistry experiments for each condition). This result indicates a possible role of CPT1C in increasing GluA1 trafficking to the cell surface.

We wanted to extend these findings by studying CPT1C influence on surface expression of native AMPARs from neuronal cultures. Hence, we carried out immunofluorescence experiments in primary cortical neurons cultures at 10 DIV (**Figures 5D–F**). By using an equivalent methodology performed with tsA201 cells, we measured the GluA1 surface to total ratio in dendrites from GFP transfected neurons (**Figure 5D**) compared with CPT1C-GFP overexpressed neurons (**Figure 5E**). **Figures 5D2–D4, E2–E4** show examples of the analyzed dendrites. Neurons transfected with CPT1C increased the GluA1 surface to total ratio (100 ± 3.58 % for control GFP transfected neurons; p = 0.0226; n = 70 and 80 dendrites respectively from 3 different cultures each; **Figure 5F**).



FIGURE 5 | CPT1C enhances surface expression of GluA1. (A,B)

Representative single confocal images of tsA201 cells co-expressing GluA1 and GFP (**A**) or GluA1 and CPT1C-GFP (**B**). Surface GluA1 was labeled in live cells with anti-GluA1-NT and Alexafluor 555 (red signal in the images). Subsequently cells were permeabilized and total GluA1 expression level was labeled with the same primary antibody but with Alexafluor 647 (blue signal in the images). Scale bars: 20 μ m. (**C**) Quantification of the GluA1 surface to total ratio normalized to GluA1, expressed as a percentage. GluA1 surface expression was increased by co-expression with CPT1C (***p < 0.001; Mann–Whitney *U*-test). Data are means \pm SEM. Numbers in bars denote the number of cells quantified from 4 different immunofluorescence experiments. (**D**) Example of a DIV 10 cortical neuron transfected with GFP. Surface GluA1 was labeled in fixed cells with anti-GluA1-NT and Alexafluor 555 (red signal in the images). Subsequently cells were permeabilized and total GluA1 expression level was labeled with the same primary antibody but

These results show that CPT1C favors the trafficking of GluA1-containing AMPARs in both heterologous cells and neurons.

CPT1C ENHANCING EFFECT ON SURFACE EXPRESSION AND CURRENT DENSITY IS MEDIATED BY GluA1 C585

Our data suggest an effect of CPT1C on the trafficking of GluA1. This effect could be performed by a chaperone-like activity of CPT1C or by some posttranslational modification mediated by this protein directly on GluA1. It has been demonstrated that the posttranslational modification palmitoylation affects AMPAR trafficking (Hayashi et al., 2005; Lin et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2009).

with Alexafluor 647 (blue signal in the images). D1: field image showing the GFP in green, the surface GluA1 in red and the total GluA1 in blue. Scale bar: 50 μ m. D2: magnification of the dendritic boxed area in D1 for total GluA1. D3: same as D2 but for surface GluA1. D4: overlay of intracellular and surface GluA1 for box in D1. (**E**) Example of a DIV 10 cortical neuron transfected with CPT1C-GFP in the same conditions as D. E1: field image showing the CPT1C-GFP in green, the surface GluA1 in red and the total GluA1 in blue. Scale bar: 50 μ m. E2: magnification of the dendritic boxed area in E1 for total GluA1. E3: same as E2 but for surface GluA1. E4: overlay of total and surface GluA1 for box in E1. (**F**) Quantification of endogenous GluA1 surface to total ratio normalized to GFP transfected neurons, expressed as a percentage. GluA1 surface to total ratio was increased by overexpression of CPT1C-GFP (*p = 0.0226; Mann–Whitney *U*-test). Data represent means \pm SEM. Numbers in bars denote the number of dendrites quantified from 3 different cultures.

This modification consists in the reversible introduction of a lipid palmitate in some specific cysteine residues present in proteins. Given that it has been described that CPT1C can bind palmitoyl-CoA (Sierra et al., 2008) we addressed the question whether the observed increase in surface expression of GluA1 could be mediated by changes in the palmitoylation state of GluA1 due to CPT1C.

To check this possibility we first obtained two mutant forms of GluA1 that cannot be palmitoylated at previously described palmitoylable cysteine residues 585 and 811 (Hayashi et al., 2005) by changing the cysteine for a serine (C585S or C811S; see methods). We also tested the double mutant form GluA1(C585,811S). Hence, we studied the effect of these mutations and their co-expression with CPT1C-GFP in cell lines firstly using the immunofluorescence quantification of surface receptors and also studying the current density.

Figures 6A–C show confocal images of surface GluA1 quantification experiments for GluA1 constructs alone (left panels) and together with CPT1C (right images). Quantification of 3 immunocytochemistry experiments for each condition is presented in **Figure 6D** and **Table 1**. In parallel we carried out whole-cell current density experiments as described in **Figure 2** to directly assess the effect of CPT1C on the glutamate-evoked currents of GluA1 mutants (**Figure 6E** and **Table 2**).

We replicated the immunofluorescence and electrophysiology results obtained in **Figures 2**, **5** in parallel with the mutant forms of GluA1. As previously found, CPT1C increased the surface/total ratio of GluA1 (100.0 \pm 4.86% for GluA1 vs. 182.6 \pm 10.25% for GluA1+CPT1C; p < 0.001; **Figure 6D** and **Table 1**) and the current density of homomeric GluA1 (85.86 \pm 21.95 pA/pF for GluA1 vs. 155.5 \pm 24.22 pA/pF for GluA1+CPT1C; p = 0.0334; **Figure 6E** and **Table 2**).

We observed that in the absence of CPT1C, GluA1(C585S) expression was enhanced at the cell surface by 1.97-fold compared to native GluA1 (p < 0.001; Figure 6D and Table 1) and that the glutamate-evoked current carried by GluA1(C585S) was



and surface expression by CPT1C. (A–C). Representative single confocal images of tsA201 cells co-expressing different versions of GluA1 with (right panels) or without (left panels) CPT1C-GFP. In the images, surface GluA1 is shown in red and total GluA1 in blue. Scale bar: $50 \,\mu$ m. (A) Native GluA1 co-expressing GFP (+GFP) as the control condition, or CPT1C-GFP (+CPT1C). (B). Same as (A) but for cells expressing GluA1 containing the point mutation C585S that abolishes palmitoylation at this residue. (C) Same as (A,B) but for GluA1 with the point mutation C811S. (D) Quantification of the GluA1 surface to total ratio normalized to GluA1, expressed as a percentage. GluA1 surface expression was increased by co-expression of CPT1C for both GluA1 and

GluA1(C811S) (***p < 0.001; Mann–Whitney *U*-test) but not for GluA1(C585S). Non-palmitoylable forms of GluA1 increased surface expression of the receptors when compared to wild-type GluA1 (WT) (###p < 0.001; Mann–Whitney *U*-test). Numbers in bars denote the number of cells quantified from 3 different immunofluorescence experiments. (**E**) Averaged normalized currents at -80 mV for different versions of GluA1 alone or together with CPT1C. Current density (-pA/pF) was increased by co-expression of CPT1C with native GluA1 (WT) or mutant GluA1(C811S) (*p < 0.05; Mann–Whitney *U*-test) but not for GluA1(C585S). GluA1(2585S) increased the current density when compared to native GluA1 (#p < 0.01; Mann–Whitney *U*-test). Numbers in bars denote the number of recordings. increased to the same degree (2.15-fold; p = 0.0041, Figure 6E and Table 2). These results are in keeping with previous findings (Hayashi et al., 2005). Interestingly, the effects of CPT1C co-expression and the GluA1(C585S) mutation were not additive.

Receptor		Normalized fluorescence ratio (Surface/ Total) (%)	n	<i>p</i> -value (vs. no CPT1C)	<i>p</i> -value (vs. GluA1)
GluA1	_	100.0 ± 4.86	88		
	+CPT1C	182.6 ± 10.25	91	<0.001	
GluA1(C585S)	_	196.9 ± 9.41	63		<0.001
	+CPT1C	191.3 ± 9.47	67	0.4876	
GluA1(C811S)	_	146.5 ± 7.08	71		<0.001
	+CPT1C	198.2 ± 8.99	70	<0.001	
GluA1(C585,811S)	_	208.2 ± 11.55	35		< 0.001
	+CPT1C	208.1 ± 7.87	37	0.9014	

Transiently transfected tsA201 cells for different conditions were immunostained against surface and total GluA1 (see methods) and the ratio of GluA1 surface expression vs. GluA1 total expression was calculated and normalized to that of GluA1 control group. Three different immunofluorescence experiments were performed for each condition and the total number of analyzed cells is shown (n). Each p value is from a Mann–Whitney U-test comparing normalized fluorescence values of the distinct GluA1 receptors in the absence or presence of CPT1C ("vs. no CPT1C" column) or normalized fluorescence values of mutant versions of GluA1 against wild type GluA1 ("vs. GluA1" column).

 Table 2 | Current density values for GluA1 mutants with or without CPT1C.

Receptor		Current density (pA/pF)	n	<i>p</i> -value (vs. no CPT1C)	<i>p</i> -value (vs. GluA1)
GluA1	_	85.86±21.95	16		
	+CPT1C	155.5 ± 24.22	13	0.0334	
GluA1(C585S)	_	184.3 ± 19.19	13		0.0041
	+CPT1C	198.0 ± 41.25	11	0.7721	
GluA1(C811S)	_	97.32 ± 20.26	12		0.4166
	+CPT1C	213.0 ± 36.12	11	0.0210	
GluA1(C585,811S)	_	153.8 ± 14.58	10		0.0143
	+CPT1C	178.9 ± 34.89	10	0.8534	

Transiently transfected tsA201 cells for different conditions were whole-cell patch clamped and voltage ramps from -80 to +80 mV were applied (see methods for details). The maximum current at -80 mV was then normalized against the cell capacitance to obtain the current density values (-pA/pF). The total number of recorded cells is shown (n). Each p value is from a Mann-Whitney U-test comparing current density values for each GluA1 receptor in the absence or presence of CPT1C ("vs. no CPT1C" column) or current density values of mutant versions of GluA1 against wild type GluA1 ("vs. GluA1" column).

Specifically, CPT1C did not further increase the surface expression of GluA1(C585S) (p = 0.4876, **Figure 6D** and **Table 1**) or the current density of GluA1(C585S) (p = 0.7721, **Figure 5E** and **Table 2**). Likewise CPT1C did not vary the high surface expression or further enhance current density of the double mutant GluA1(C585,811S) (p = 0.9014 and p = 0.8534, **Tables 1**, **2**). This suggests that C585 might be crucial in the CPT1C effect on trafficking of GluA1.

In addition, GluA1(C811S) surface expression was also enhanced compared to GluA1 (p < 0.0001; Figure 6D and Table 1). Nevertheless, although significantly different from GluA1, GluA1(C811S) seems to be less efficiently expressed at the membrane surface compared the other GluA1 mutants (p < 0.001 for GluA1(C811S) vs. GluA1(C585S) or GluA1(C585,811S); Mann–Whitney *U*-test for both comparisons) and clearly GluA1(C811S) was not able to increase current density compared with GluA1 (p = 0.4166, Figure 6E and Table 2). However CPT1C co-expression does have an effect on both GluA1(C811S) surface expression (146.5 \pm 7.08 % for GluA1(C811S) vs. 198.2 \pm 8.99 % for GluA1(C811S)+CPT1C; p < 0.001; Figure 6D and Table 1) and current density (97.32 \pm 20.26 pA/pF for GluA1(C811S) vs. 213.0 \pm 36.12 pA/pF for GluA1(C811S)+CPT1C; p = 0.0210; Figure 6E and Table 2).

Finally, the effect of CPT1C on GluA1(C811S) is equivalent to the effect of the C585S mutation alone in terms of both, surface expression (**Figure 6D**; p = 0.9623) and current density (**Figure 6E**; p = 0.6430). These results suggest that the enhancing effect of CPT1C on surface expression and current density is mediated by a modification of cysteine 585 of GluA1 subunits.

PALMITOYLATION STATE OF GluA1 IS UNAFFECTED BY CPT1C OVEREXPRESSION

It has been previously demonstrated that palmitoylation of GluA1 at the C585 residue retains AMPARs in the Golgi Apparatus (Hayashi et al., 2005) implying that depalmitoylated GluA1 at C585 traffics more efficiently to the plasma membrane. Our data corroborate these findings since the number of receptors at the surface in the mutant C585S (where cysteine 585 cannot be palmitoylated) is increased. Interestingly, the surface expression of GluA1(C585S) is approximately the same as GluA1(C811S) expressed with CPT1C (where CPT1C effect can only be on the intact cysteine 585). This result seems to point to CPT1C being a potential depalmitoylating enzyme of GluA1.

To test this hypothesis we analyzed the palmitoylation level of GluA1 when expressed in the absence or presence of CPT1C. We performed the <u>Acyl Biotin Exchange</u> assay as described in Brigidi and Bamji (2013) (see methods). This assay allows the replacement of a pre-existing palmitate bound to cysteines of a given protein with a biotin group. The biotin is subsequently detected with streptavidin to give a read-out of palmitoylation levels. Therefore we transfected tsA201 cells with GluA1 alone or GluA1 plus CPT1C-GFP. Palmitoylation levels of GluA1 in the absence of CPT1C were equivalent to GluA1 palmitoylation levels in the presence of CPT1C (**Figure 7A**; upper panel, second and forth lane and **Figure 7B**). Immunoprecipitated GluA1 was quantified to normalize palmitoylation levels (**Figure 7A**; lower panel).



streptavidin-HRP (palmitoylation). After stripping the membranes the total amount of immunoprecipitated GluA1 was detected by Western blotting with anti-GluA1-NT antibody (anti-GluA1, bottom). (B) Quantification of palmitoylation levels for GluA1 alone (open circles) or GluA1 plus CPT1C (filled circles) in tsA201 cells. Ratio of palmitoylated GluA1 to total GluA1 for

the boxes). Transfected cells were lysed and membranes were solubilized as described in Figure 1 and methods. An input sample collected prior to immunoprecipitation of these extracts is shown as "INPUT" Inputs and immunoprecipitated samples were separated and Western Blotted as described in Figure 1. Immunoprecipitations were replicated three times.

Figure 7B display the single experiments ratio values of palmitoylated GluA1 vs. total GluA1 for both conditions where it can be observed there is no significant difference $(0.523 \pm 0.084$ for GluA1 vs. 0.431 ± 0.11 for GluA1+CPT1C; p = 0.3228; n = 8 for both).

Thus, by using this methodology we could not confirm the role of CPT1C as a depalmitoylating enzyme.

Given that C585 seems critical to favor AMPARs trafficking but its palmitoylation state is not changed by CPT1C we wondered if the lack of palmitate group could perhaps interfere with the physical interaction between GluA1 and CPT1C. In order to check if CPT1C ability to interact with GluA1 was eliminated when residue 585 was non-palmitoylated, we did co-IP assays with the GluA1(C585S) and CPT1C. As shown in Figure 7C, GluA1 and CPT1C retained the ability to interact even when cysteines 585, 811 or both were mutated to non-palmitoylable forms. This result indicates that the binding of both proteins depends on other domains/residues and that palmitoylable C585 does not determine this interaction despite its importance in CPT1C effect on trafficking properties of AMPARs.

DISCUSSION

In this study we describe a novel function of CPT1C in regulating AMPAR surface expression in both heterologous cells and neurons. In tsA201 cells CPT1C increases whole-cell glutamate-evoked currents of homomeric GluA1 and heteromeric GluA1/GluA2 AMPARs. Moreover, CPT1C overexpression enhances the number of endogenous AMPARs trafficked to the dendritic surface in rat cortical neurons. This trafficking effect is specific to the brain isoform CPT1C since the canonical CPT1 isoform also expressed in neurons (CPT1A) is not able to increase GluA1 mediated currents. Additionally, CPT1C modulation seems to be subunit specific since GluA2 homomeric AMPARs are unaffected by CPT1C co-expression. Despite GluA1 and CPT1C coimmunoprecipitating, both proteins do not colocalize at the plasma membrane level and no further biophysical modulation of AMPARs by CPT1C exists. Finally, the palmitoylable cysteine 585 of the GluA1 subunit seems to be crucial for the CPT1C alteration of AMPARs trafficking properties although no changes in the palmitoylation state of the receptor seem to occur.

ROLE OF CPT1C IN AMPARs TRAFFICKING

In our experiments, both current density and cell surface expression are increased when CPT1C is co-expressed with GluA1. Despite this, GluA2 homomeric AMPARs seem not to be regulated by CPT1C, while GluA2-containing AMPARs, which are the most abundant form of AMPARs in neurons, are also sensitive to CPT1C. This points to a significant role of CPT1C in the delivery of GluA1 to the membrane in neurons. Indeed, the important role of CPT1C in synaptic transmission is evident since CPT1C knock-out mice have spatial learning problems, motor impairment and hypoactivity (Carrasco et al., 2012, 2013). Alterations in AMPAR-mediated signaling might underlie these phenotypes since in immature spines AMPAR content is low compared with mature synapses (Petralia et al., 1999). In fact, CPT1C KO animals show poor dendritic spine maturation in hippocampal neurons (Carrasco et al., 2012). In agreement with low AMPAR content at synapse level, recent unpublished electrophysiological data by our group has proved that synaptic transmission is altered in CPT1C KO animals (submitted manuscript). In these animals the lack of CPT1C translates to less efficient synaptic trafficking since AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs in pyramidal hippocampal neurons are diminished. All these findings reveal an important relationship between CPT1C and AMPARs. Our data and the functional evidence from the KO studies together with the ability of CPT1C to interact with AMPARs (Figure 1 and Schwenk et al., 2012) makes CPT1C a suitable candidate to be a regulating partner of AMPARs and an important protein for the correct function of AMPARs.

SUBUNIT SPECIFICITY OF CPT1C MODULATION

Our coimmunoprecipitation experiments showed direct interaction of CPT1C with both GluA1 and GluA2 subunits. Nevertheless the observed effects of CPT1C on whole-cell currents and surface expression were specific for GluA1-containing AMPARs since the results were not replicated in cells expressing GluA2 homomeric AMPARs. GluA1 and GluA2 subunits have distinct features in their structure including the Q/R site and the intracellular C-terminal domain, which translate to important functional differences (Traynelis et al., 2010). Remarkably, the important C585 palmitoylable residue in GluA1 (C610 in GluA2) for CPT1C effect is located +3 aminoacids from the crucial Q/R site. Another significant difference is the short C-terminal domain of GluA2. In fact, variations in the C-tails and the Q/R site between both isoforms determine different trafficking properties of GluA1 and GluA2 (Greger et al., 2002; Henley and Wilkinson, 2013). Therefore, it could be possible that a differential modulation by CPT1C was dependent on the C-tail length, the specific C-terminal aminoacid composition or on Q/R site editing state of AMPARs. The majority of AMPARs in the CNS are heteromeric combinations (Lu et al., 2009; Traynelis et al., 2010) and trafficking properties are determined by the dominant effect of long forms of AMPARs (Henley and Wilkinson, 2013). Our results are in line with this dominant effect of long forms. However, it remains to be studied whether other features of GluAs account for the subunit selectivity. Future experiments with other AMPAR forms might unravel the subunit features accounting for the specific modulation of CPT1C.

Moreover, it would be interesting to investigate whether CPT1C protein similarly modulates AMPARs together with auxiliary subunits.

It is noteworthy that the effect of CPT1C on GluA2-containing heteromeric AMPARs and native AMPARs-mostly heteromeric combinations containing GluA2-is less pronounced than the one observed for GluA1 homomeric AMPARs. Perhaps the 2-fold enhancement of GluA1 density at the cell membrane could be partially occluded in GluA2-containing receptors due to generally better trafficking properties of heteromeric combinations. Indeed, the current density values we obtained for heteromeric receptors were higher than for homomeric receptors (either GluA1 or GluA2). This reflects the fact that heteromeric combinations of AMPARs are favored at the expense of homomeric receptors when both subunits are present during the synthesis process at the ER (Cull-Candy et al., 2006). The enhanced trafficking of heteromeric combinations might translate into a less evident CPT1C influence on GluA2-containing receptors. Alternatively, stoichiometry might be an important determinant in CPT1C effect. This possibility could be studied in the future.

CPT1C IS NOT A GENUINE AUXILIARY SUBUNIT OF AMPARs

From our results, it looks like that this new AMPAR interactor has a putative role in the delivery of AMPAR subunits to the cell surface. It has been described that many other AMPAR interacting proteins control AMPAR trafficking (Palmer et al., 2005; Anggono and Huganir, 2012; Lu and Roche, 2012). This is the case for auxiliary AMPAR subunits such as the TARPs that affect the channel properties of AMPARs while also playing an important role in surface trafficking (Nicoll et al., 2006). CNIH proteins also increase AMPARs surface expression (Schwenk et al., 2009) and modify the behavior of AMPARs both in expression systems and in neurons (Kato et al., 2010b; Coombs et al., 2012). Conversely this is not the case for CPT1C, as we have shown that this protein does not alter GluA1 channel properties. This fact is supported by the confocal imaging experiments where we could not see any co-localization between CPT1C and surface GluA1. Consequently CPT1C cannot be considered a TARP-like "bona fide" auxiliary subunit and it seems that its role is restricted to controlling AMPARs trafficking.

CPT1C AND AMPARs INTERACT AT THE ER LEVEL

Even though CPT1C does not associate with AMPAR subunits at the plasma membrane level, it is clear that both proteins interact at some stage of the AMPAR synthesis pathway (Schwenk et al., 2012 and **Figures 1**, **4**). The fact that CPT1C shows a clear ER pattern (**Figures 4C–D**; Sierra et al., 2008; Carrasco et al., 2012) makes this organelle a meeting point for both proteins where CPT1C could posttranslationally modify AMPARs accounting for the increased traffic to plasma membrane. Further, our colocalization studies also demonstrate that CPT1C does not seem to interact with GluA1 outside of the ER at all, as CPT1C does not co-localize with the Golgi Apparatus marker GM-130. Thus, our results suggest that the effect of the interaction of CPT1C/GluA1 might take place exclusively at the ER level. They also point out that the complex CPT1C-AMPAR would dissociate at some stage before AMPARs subunits move forward to the Golgi during their biosynthesis.

MECHANISMS UNDERLYING CPT1C MODULATION OF AMPARs: ROLE OF CYSTEINE 585 OF GluA1

AMPAR subunits are subject to several posttranslational modifications during biosynthesis that affect the trafficking of the receptors to the cell surface. This is the case for the reversible palmitoylation of AMPARs. All four AMPA receptor subunits are palmitoylated at two conserved sites, (C585 and C811 in GluA1) and palmitoylation/depalmitoylation of these two residues determine AMPARs trafficking properties (Hayashi et al., 2005; Lin et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2009). Given that CPT1s have palmitoylCoA as a substrate it seemed plausible to consider whether CPT1C was involved in a modification such as protein palmitoylation/depalmitoylation, thus potentially affecting AMPARs surface expression.

When studying the role of cysteine residues in CPT1C effect, we found that C585S mutation alone increased whole-cell currents and surface expression of GluA1 by 2-fold. These results are in accordance with previous ones demonstrating that depalmitoylation of AMPARs at C585 acts as a triggering signal for receptor forward trafficking (Hayashi et al., 2005). Interestingly, in the presence of CPT1C, the GluA1(C585S) no longer increased receptor trafficking. This points toward a crucial role of C585 residue for the CPT1C effect. This is confirmed by the fact that the GluA1(C811S) mutant is modulated by CPT1C to the same degree as GluA1 ruling out the involvement of C811 residue. Moreover the fact that CPT1C increases GluA1(C811S) trafficking to the same extent as GluA1(C585S) alone or with CPT1C suggests that the effect of CPT1C is dependent on the C585 residue.

Finally, our findings show that GluA1(C811S) increases surface expression when detected by immunofluorescence but current density is not increased in the same extent. This might be explained due to a different number of cells analyzed with each technique. Despite that discrepancy, the significant increment in both parameters when CPT1C is together with GluA1 (C811S) indicates that GluA1 C811 is not crucial for the CPT1C effect.

CPT1C DOES NOT ALTER GluA1 PALMITOYLATION STATE

Given that CPT1C produces an increase in GluA1 surface expression to the same extent as the non-palmitoylable form of GluA1(C585S), we hypothesized that the effect of CPT1C on GluA1 subunits could be via depalmitoylation of C585. However, the palmitoylation state of GluA1 seems to be unaffected by coexpression with CPT1C, at least when detecting palmitoylation levels with the ABE assay. A possible issue with this methodology might be that the ABE assay not only detects palmitoylation but also other S-acylation modifications of GluA1, which have not yet been described. Therefore other techniques might be necessary to detect the palmitoylation levels of GluA1 C585 unambiguously. Alternatively, a necessary depalmitoylation process performed in the ER by CPT1C could be counteracted by additional palmitoylation of the receptor at other cell locations, thus making it difficult to detect changes in the palmitoylation state. Therefore,

this hypothesis should be closely examined with future specific refinements of palmitoylation assays.

HOW CAN CPT1C MODULATE AMPARs TRAFFICKING?

Though it appears that CPT1C does not depalmitoylate GluA1, the involvement of cysteine 585 is clear. It is possible therefore that the role of C585 is not related to the palmitoylation capacity of the amino acid. Perhaps the physical interaction of CPT1C with GluA1 masks the palmitate on this residue (or produces a conformational change in GluA1) facilitating its exit from the ER and the forward movement toward the Golgi. If that was the case, the masking would not be due to a direct interaction of CPT1C with the palmitate of C585 from GluA1, as both proteins still interact in the absence of this palmitate group. Otherwise, it may be possible that CPT1C acts as a chaperone during the synthesis of GluA1 and this chaperone effect could be related to the ER palmitoylation of C585. It has been described for other proteins (for instance the yeast polytopic membrane protein chitin synthase-Chs3) that the parallel action of palmitoyl acyl thioesterases and chaperones is necessary to achieve the correct folding and export from the ER (Lam et al., 2006) suggesting a relation between palmitoylation state and chaperone activity.

To gain insight into CPT1C modulation of AMPAR it would be important to elucidate the domains participating in the interaction. The topology of CPT1A shows that N- and C-terminal domains face the cytoplasm (Fraser et al., 1997). Presumably CPT1C displays the same topology thus restricting the interaction with AMPAR subunits to their C-terminal tail or transmembrane domains.

CPT1C AND DISEASE

Even though CPT1C expression is restricted to the brain in healthy individuals, it functions as a stress-responsive gene under a variety of conditions, as its mRNA is up-regulated in cell lines from several different tissues as well as in mice following exposure to any one of a number of p53-activating stresses (Reilly and Mak, 2012). Therefore, it is suggested that CPT1C promotes cancer cell survival and tumor growth and it has been proposed as a new therapeutic target in cancer treatment. It is noteworthy that recent studies report an aberrant expression of CPT1C in gliomas (Cirillo et al., 2014; Wakamiya et al., 2014). These findings highlight the importance of unraveling the molecular mechanisms of CPT1C, which could be of great interest across a range of fields, for example in the study of new anticancer therapies and new diagnostic or prognostic markers.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Esther Gratacòs-Batlle and David Soto designed the work; Esther Gratacòs-Batlle, Natalia Yefimenko, Helena Cascos-García and David Soto performed the research and analyzed the data; Esther Gratacòs-Batlle and David Soto interpreted the data and wrote the paper. This work is supported by: the Spanish Ministry of Science and Technology co-funded with European Union funds FEDER (grant BFU2011-24725), the European Commission (FP7-PEOPLE-2011-CIG; grant 293498) and the local Government of Generalitat de Catalunya (grant SGR 2009-152). David Soto is supported by the "Ramón y Cajal" Programme (RyC-2010-05970). We thank all members of the "Unitat d'Histologia," especially the Head of the unit Professor Carles Solsona and Professor Joan Blasi for helpful assistance and discussion. We thank Dr. José Luis Rosa (Universitat de Barcelona) for the GM-130 antibody, Dr. Xavier Altajaf and Cristina Grau (IDIEBLL) for cortical neuronal cultures, Dr. Benjamín Torrejón (CCiTUB) for technical assistance with confocal microscopy, Dr. Francisco Ciruela for assistance with coimmunoprecipitation and Dr. Ian Coombs (University College London) for help and discussion.

REFERENCES

- Anggono, V., and Huganir, R. L. (2012). Regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 22, 461–469. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2011.12.006
- Banke, T. G., Bowie, D., Lee, H., Huganir, R. L., Schousboe, A., and Traynelis, S. F. (2000). Control of GluR1 AMPA receptor function by cAMP-dependent protein kinase. J. Neurosci. 20, 89–102.
- Barry, M. F., and Ziff, E. B. (2002). Receptor trafficking and the plasticity of excitatory synapses. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 12, 279–286. doi: 10.1016/S0959-4388(02)00329-X
- Bredt, D. S., and Nicoll, R. A. (2003). AMPA receptor trafficking at excitatory synapses. *Neuron* 40, 361–379. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03) 00640-8
- Brigidi, G. S., and Bamji, S. X. (2013). Detection of protein palmitoylation in cultured hippocampal neurons by immunoprecipitation and acyl-biotin exchange (ABE). J. Vis. Exp. 72:e50031. doi: 10.3791/50031
- Cai, C., Coleman, S. K., Niemi, K., and Keinänen, K. (2002). Selective binding of synapse-associated protein 97 to GluR-A alpha-amino-5-hydroxy-3-methyl-4isoxazole propionate receptor subunit is determined by a novel sequence motif. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 31484–31490. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M204354200
- Carrasco, P., Jacas, J., Sahún, I., Muley, H., Ramírez, S., Puisac, B., et al. (2013). Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1C deficiency causes motor impairment and hypoactivity. *Behav. Brain Res.* 256, 291–297. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2013. 08.004
- Carrasco, P., Sahún, I., McDonald, J., Ramírez, S., Jacas, J., Gratacós, E., et al. (2012). Ceramide levels regulated by carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1C control dendritic spine maturation and cognition. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 21224–21232. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.337493
- Cirillo, A., Di Salle, A., Petillo, O., Melone, M. A., Grimaldi, G., Bellotti, A., et al. (2014). High grade glioblastoma is associated with aberrant expression of ZFP57, a protein involved in gene imprinting, and of CPT1A and CPT1C that regulate fatty acid metabolism. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 15, 735–741. doi: 10.4161/cbt.28408
- Coombs, I. D., Soto, D., Zonouzi, M., Renzi, M., Shelley, C., Farrant, M., et al. (2012). Cornichons modify channel properties of recombinant and glial AMPA receptors. J. Neurosci. 32, 9796–9804. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0345-12.2012
- Cull-Candy, S., Kelly, L., and Farrant, M. (2006). Regulation of Ca²⁺-permeable AMPA receptors: synaptic plasticity and beyond. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 16, 288–297. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2006.05.012
- Derkach, V., Barria, A., and Soderling, T. R. (1999). Ca2+/calmodulin-kinase II enhances channel conductance of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionate type glutamate receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 3269–3274. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.6.3269
- Fraser, F., Corstorphine, C. G., and Zammit, V. A. (1997). Topology of carnitine palmitoyltransferase I in the mitochondrial outer membrane. *Biochem. J.* 323(pt 3), 711–718.
- Gallo, V., Upson, L. M., Hayes, W. P., Vyklicky, L., Winters, C. A., and Buonanno, A. (1992). Molecular cloning and development analysis of a new glutamate receptor subunit isoform in cerebellum. *J. Neurosci.* 12, 1010–1023.
- Greger, I. H., Khatri, L., and Ziff, E. B. (2002). RNA editing at arg607 controls AMPA receptor exit from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Neuron* 34, 759–772. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00693-1
- Hayashi, T., Rumbaugh, G., and Huganir, R. L. (2005). Differential regulation of AMPA receptor subunit trafficking by palmitoylation of two distinct sites. *Neuron* 47, 709–723. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.06.035

- Henley, J. M., and Wilkinson, K. A. (2013). AMPA receptor trafficking and the mechanisms underlying synaptic plasticity and cognitive aging. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosc.* 15, 11–27.
- Jackson, A. C., and Nicoll, R. A. (2011). The expanding social network of ionotropic glutamate receptors: TARPs and other transmembrane auxiliary subunits. *Neuron* 70, 178–199. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.04.007
- Kato, A. S., Gill, M. B., Ho, M. T., Yu, H., Tu, Y., Siuda, E. R., et al. (2010b). Hippocampal AMPA receptor gating controlled by both TARP and cornichon proteins. *Neuron* 68, 1082–1096. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.11.026
- Kato, A. S., Gill, M. B., Yu, H., Nisenbaum, E. S., and Bredt, D. S. (2010a). TARPs differentially decorate AMPA receptors to specify neuropharmacology. *Trends. Neurosci.* 33, 241–248. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2010.02.004
- Köhler, M., Kornau, H. C., and Seeburg, P. H. (1994). The organization of the gene for the functionally dominant alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptor subunit GluR-B. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 17367–17370.
- Kondo, M., Sumino, R., and Okado, H. (1997). Combinations of AMPA receptor subunit expression in individual cortical neurons correlate with expression of specific calcium-binding proteins. J. Neurosci. 17, 1570–1581.
- Kristensen, A. S., Jenkins, M. A., Banke, T. G., Schousboe, A., Makino, Y., Johnson, R. C., et al. (2011). Mechanism of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinase II regulation of AMPA receptor gating. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 727–735. doi: 10.1038/ nn.2804
- Lam, K. K., Davey, M., Sun, B., Roth, A. F., Davis, N. G., and Conibear, E. (2006). Palmitoylation by the DHHC protein Pfa4 regulates the ER exit of Chs3. J. Cell Biol. 174, 19–25. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200602049
- Lin, D. T., Makino, Y., Sharma, K., Hayashi, T., Neve, R., Takamiya, K., et al. (2009). Regulation of AMPA receptor extrasynaptic insertion by 4.1N, phosphorylation and palmitoylation. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 879–887. doi: 10.1038/nn.2351
- Lu, W., and Roche, K. W. (2012). Posttranslational regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking and function. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 22, 470–479. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2011.09.008
- Lu, W., Shi, Y., Jackson, A. C., Bjorgan, K., During, M. J., and Nicoll, R.A., et al. (2009). Subunit composition of synaptic AMPA receptors revealed by a singlecell genetic approach. *Neuron* 62, 254–268. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.02.027
- Malinow, R., and Malenka, R. C. (2002). AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 25, 103–126. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.25.112701.142758
- McGarry, J. D., and Brown, N. F. (1997). The mitochondrial carnitine palmitoyltransferase system. From concept to molecular analysis. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 244, 1–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1997.00001.x
- Menuz, K., O'Brien, J. L., Karmizadegan, S., Bredt, D. S., and Nicoll, R. A. (2008). TARP redundancy is critical for maintaining AMPA receptor function. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 8740–8746. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1319-08.2008
- Nicoll, R. A., Tomita, S., and Bredt, D. S. (2006). Auxiliary subunits assist AMPAtype glutamate receptors. *Science* 311, 1253–1256. doi: 10.1126/science.11 23339
- Palmer, C. L., Cotton, L., and Henley, J. M. (2005). The molecular pharmacology and cell biology of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 57, 253–277. doi: 10.1124/pr.57.2.7
- Petralia, R. S., Esteban, J. A., Wang, Y. X., Partridge, J. G., Zhao, H. M., Wenthold, R. J., et al. (1999). Selective acquisition of AMPA receptors over postnatal development suggests a molecular basis for silent synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 31–36. doi: 10.1038/4532
- Price, N., van der Leij, F., Jackson, V., Corstorphine, C., Thomson, R., Sorensen, A., et al. (2002). A novel brain-expressed protein related to carnitine palmitoyltransferase I. *Genomics* 80, 433–442. doi: 10.1006/geno.2002.6845
- Reamy, A. A., and Wolfgang, M. J. (2011). Carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1c gainof-function in the brain results in postnatal microencephaly. *J. Neurochem.* 118, 388–398. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07312.x
- Reilly, P. T., and Mak, T. W. (2012). Molecular pathways: tumor cells Co-opt the brain-specific metabolism gene CPT1C to promote survival. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 18, 5850–5855. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3281
- Reimers, J. M., Milovanovic, M., and Wolf, M. E. (2011). Quantitative analysis of AMPA receptor subunit composition in addiction-related brain regions. *Brain Res.* 1367, 223–233. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2010.10.016
- Schwenk, J., Harmel, N., Brechet, A., Zolles, G., Berkefeld, H., Müller, C. S., et al. (2012). High-resolution proteomics unravel architecture and molecular diversity of native AMPA receptor complexes. *Neuron* 74, 621–633. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.034
- Schwenk, J., Harmel, N., Zolles, G., Bildl, W., Kulik, A., Heimrich, B., et al. (2009). Functional proteomics identify cornichon proteins as auxiliary subunits of AMPA receptors. *Science* 323, 1313–1319. doi: 10.1126/science. 1167852
- Shanks, N. F., Savas, J. N., Maruo, T., Cais, O., Hirao, A., Oe, S., et al. (2012). Differences in AMPA and kainate receptor interactomes facilitate identification of AMPA receptor auxiliary subunit GSG1L. *Cell Rep.* 1, 590–598. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.05.004
- Shelley, C., Farrant, M., and Cull-Candy, S. G. (2012). TARP-associated AMPA receptors display an increased maximum channel conductance and multiple kinetically distinct open states. *J. Physiol.* 590, 5723–5738. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.238006
- Sheng, M., and Sala, C. (2001). PDZ domains and the organization of supramolecular complexes. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 24, 1–29. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro. 24.1.1
- Sierra, A. Y., Gratacós, E., Carrasco, P., Clotet, J., Ureña, J., Serra, D., et al. (2008). CPT1c is localized in endoplasmic reticulum of neurons and has carnitine palmitoyltransferase activity. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 6878–6885. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M707965200
- Song, I., and Huganir, R. L. (2002). Regulation of AMPA receptors during synaptic plasticity. *Trends. Neurosci.* 25, 578–588. doi: 10.1016/S0166-2236(02) 02270-1
- Soto, D., Coombs, I. D., Gratacòs-Batlle, E., Farrant, M., and Cull-Candy, S. G. (2014). Molecular mechanisms contributing to TARP regulation of channel conductance and polyamine block of calcium-permeable AMPA receptors. J. Neurosci. 34, 11673–11683. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0383-14.2014
- Soto, D., Coombs, I. D., Kelly, L., Farrant, M., and Cull-Candy, S. G. (2007). Stargazin attenuates intracellular polyamine block of calcium-permeable AMPA receptors. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1260–1267. doi: 10.1038/nn1966
- Soto, D., Coombs, I. D., Renzi, M., Zonouzi, M., Farrant, M., and Cull-Candy, S. G. (2009). Selective regulation of long-form calcium-permeable AMPA receptors by an atypical TARP, gamma-5. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 277–285. doi: 10.1038/nn.2266
- Straub, C., and Tomita, S. (2012). The regulation of glutamate receptor trafficking and function by TARPs and other transmembrane auxiliary subunits. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 22, 488–495. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2011.09.005

- Suzuki, E., Kessler, M., and Arai, A. C. (2008). The fast kinetics of AMPA GluR3 receptors is selectively modulated by the TARPs gamma 4 and gamma 8. *Mol. Cell Neurosci.* 38, 117–123. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2008.01.018
- Tomita, S., Adesnik, H., Sekiguchi, M., Zhang, W., Wada, K., Howe, J. R., et al. (2005). Stargazin modulates AMPA receptor gating and trafficking by distinct domains. *Nature* 435, 1052–1058. doi: 10.1038/nature03624
- Traynelis, S. F., Wollmuth, L. P., McBain, C. J., Menniti, F. S., Vance, K. M., Ogden, K. K., et al. (2010). Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 62, 405–496. doi: 10.1124/pr.109.002451
- Wakamiya, T., Suzuki, S. O., Hamasaki, H., Honda, H., Mizoguchi, M., Yoshimoto, K., et al. (2014). Elevated expression of fatty acid synthase and nuclear localization of carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1C are common among human gliomas. *Neuropathology* 34, 465–474. doi: 10.1111/neup.12132
- Wolfgang, M. J., Kurama, T., Dai, Y., Suwa, A., Asaumi, M., Matsumoto, S., et al. (2006). The brain-specific carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1c regulates energy homeostasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 7282–7287. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0602205103
- Yang, G., Xiong, W., Kojic, L., and Cynader, M. S. (2009). Subunit-selective palmitoylation regulates the intracellular trafficking of AMPA receptor. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 30, 35–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06788.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 08 September 2014; accepted: 29 December 2014; published online: 02 February 2015.

Citation: Gratacòs-Batlle E, Yefimenko N, Cascos-García H and Soto D (2015) AMPAR interacting protein CPT1C enhances surface expression of GluA1-containing receptors. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8:469. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00469

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2015 Gratacòs-Batlle, Yefimenko, Cascos-García and Soto. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





SYNGAP1: Mind the Gap

Nallathambi Jeyabalan¹ and James P. Clement^{2*}

¹ Narayana Nethralaya Post-Graduate Institute of Ophthalmology, Narayana Nethralaya Foundation, Narayana Health City, Bangalore, India, ² Neuroscience Unit, Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research, Bangalore, India

A cardinal feature of early stages of human brain development centers on the sensory, cognitive, and emotional experiences that shape neuronal-circuit formation and refinement. Consequently, alterations in these processes account for many psychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders. Neurodevelopment disorders affect 3-4% of the world population. The impact of these disorders presents a major challenge to clinicians, geneticists, and neuroscientists. Mutations that cause neurodevelopmental disorders are commonly found in genes encoding proteins that regulate synaptic function. Investigation of the underlying mechanisms using gain or loss of function approaches has revealed alterations in dendritic spine structure, function, and plasticity, consequently modulating the neuronal circuit formation and thereby raising the possibility of neurodevelopmental disorders resulting from synaptopathies. One such gene, SYNGAP1 (Synaptic Ras-GTPase-activating protein) has been shown to cause Intellectual Disability (ID) with comorbid Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and epilepsy in children. SYNGAP1 is a negative regulator of Ras, Rap and of AMPA receptor trafficking to the postsynaptic membrane, thereby regulating not only synaptic plasticity, but also neuronal homeostasis. Recent studies on the neurophysiology of SYNGAP1, using Syngap1 mouse models, have provided deeper insights into how downstream signaling proteins and synaptic plasticity are regulated by SYNGAP1. This knowledge has led to a better understanding of the function of SYNGAP1 and suggests a potential target during critical period of development when the brain is more susceptible to therapeutic intervention.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Sathyanarayanan Puthanveettil, The Scripps Research Institute, USA Nathalie Sans, University of Bordeaux, France

*Correspondence: James P. Clement

chelliah@jncasr.ac.in

Received: 19 May 2015 Accepted: 29 January 2016 Published: 15 February 2016

Citation:

Jeyabalan N and Clement JP (2016) SYNGAP1: Mind the GAP. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 10:32. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2016.00032 Keywords: SYNGAP, synaptic plasticity, intellectual disability, autism spectrum disorders, learning and memory, neurodevelopmental disorders

INTRODUCTION

The brain is the center of the nervous system and is the most complex organ in the body. All day-to-day activities including executive decisions, memories, emotions, and cognitive tasks are mediated by the cerebral activity. Apart from coordinating the ability to smell, touch, hear, taste, and see, the brain enables people to form words, perform mathematical calculations, communicate using different languages, grasp and appreciate music, make decisions, organize and plan everyday activities and above all, imagine. Therefore, normal development of brain is imperative for performing these and other essential functions. A cardinal feature of early stages of human brain development centers on the sensory, cognitive, and emotional experiences that shape neuronal-circuit formation and refinement. Consequently, alteration in any of these features accounts for many psychiatric and neurological disorders (Spooren et al., 2012; Kroon et al., 2013).

The human brain consists of 86 billion neurons and 85 billion non-neuronal cells (Azevedo et al., 2009), which play a vital role in information processing and transmission in the form of electrical signals through specialized junctions called synapses. Neuroscientists have made great progress in unraveling the cellular and molecular mechanisms of dendritic spine synapse formation and function, which is considered as one of the most remarkable developments in biology in the last three decades. A precise control of synaptic development and neuronal connectivity has been found to be necessary for normal brain development. Conversely, abnormal dendritic spine morphology and function can lead to disruption of neuronal circuits, and consequently can result in various psychiatric and neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs; Melom and Littleton, 2011).

Altered dendritic spine function and neuronal circuit formation account for one of the major underlying mechanisms of Intellectual Disability (ID) and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD; Chechlacz and Gleeson, 2003; Kroon et al., 2013), which are often co-diagnosed in young children with NDDs and affect 1–3% of the general population. Due to high rates of comorbidity of these NDDs, it has been broadly hypothesized that ID and ASD share common neurodevelopmental pathologies that lead to various behavioral and cognitive symptoms that define these disorders. The underlying cause of these NDDs are believed to be mutations in genes, parental drug use and aging process, viral infections and other environmental factors (van Spronsen and Hoogenraad, 2010).

Recent evidences from many animal models of ID and ASD suggest that mutations that cause NDDs occur in genes encoding the proteins that regulate synaptic function and/or structure (Boda et al., 2002; Bear et al., 2004; Ramocki and Zoghbi, 2008; Südhof, 2008; Gauthier et al., 2011; Penzes et al., 2011). Mutations in many of these single-genes are the major cause of syndromic and non-syndromic ID (NSID; Bhakar et al., 2012; Zoghbi and Bear, 2012). The most common singlegene mutations in ASD with ID are associated with Fragile X syndrome (FXS; FMRI), Tuberous Sclerosis (TSC1, TSC2), Angelman Syndrome (UBE3A), Rett Syndrome (MECP2), and Phlean-McDermid syndrome (SHANK3). Rare mutations in single-genes, such as those encoding for Neuroligin (NLGN3, NLGN2) and Neurexin (NRXN1), are also implicated in ID and ASD. These genes are just a few of many implicated in NDDs, suggesting that highly penetrant mutations of genes play an important role in regulating synaptic function. Heterozygous mutation in SYNGAP1 cause ID and ASD, and whose product is now established as a major regulator of synaptic function.

Numerous studies have shown that a major share of dendritic spine synapses utilize the excitatory neurotransmitter, glutamate, to activate N-methyl D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs), which are associated with a vast array of transmembrane proteins, scaffolding proteins and many signaling proteins (Pèrez-Otaño and Ehlers, 2004; Lau and Zukin, 2007; Kerchner and Nicoll, 2008; Lai and Ip, 2013; Fan et al., 2014). SYNGAP1, is a downstream component of NMDAR-associated signaling complex that negatively regulates activation of small GTP-ase

(Ras- and Rap-GAP) and of α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPAR) trafficking to excitatory postsynaptic membrane (Rumbaugh et al., 2006; Huang, 2009; Walkup et al., 2015). SYNGAP1 is a ~140 kDa protein located on Chromosome 6p21.3¹ (Figure 1; Husi et al., 2000). Phosphorylation of SYNGAP1 is regulated by CaMKII, which reduces SYNGAP1's control of Ras-GTPase, leading to Ras activation by increasing the GTP-bound form of Ras. It is now established as a major signaling protein that plays a pivotal role in regulating fundamental molecular changes in dendritic spine synaptic morphological and functional modifications. Moreover, mutations in SYNGAP1 are established as relevant for human pathology, because they have been associated with ID comorbid with ASD in children (Hamdan et al., 2009, 2011a,b, 2014; Gauthier et al., 2011; Berryer et al., 2013).

Until a few years ago, the neurophysiological mechanism that causes ID in patients with *SYNGAP1* mutation was not clear. Using mouse models of *Syngap1* heterozygous mutations (*Syngap1^{-/+}*), several labs have shown that 50% reduction of the level of SYNGAP1 is sufficient to cause significant increases in the presence of mushroom-shaped dendritic spines during early stages of development resulting from a lack of inhibition of Ras-GTPase, which in turn allows more AMPARs to be transported to the postsynaptic membrane. Moreover, it has been shown that in *Syngap1^{-/+}* models certain critical periods of neuronal growth and maturation are disrupted, leading to developmental brain disorders, that in turn cause cognitive and social dysfunctions (Guo et al., 2009).

Syngap1 EXPRESSION, FUNCTIONAL DOMAINS, AND ISOFORMS

SYNGAP1 is a ~140 kDa protein, first characterized by Chen et al. (1998) using a mouse model of $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mutation and followed by Kim et al. (1998) who developed a truncated form of SYNGAP1 using yeast two-hybrid system (See Table 1 for Historical perspective). Based on these studies, it can be understood that the N-terminal half of SYNGAP1 has a Ras-GAP domain, along with the region that is loosely homologous to Pleckstrin homology and a C2 domain which is potentially involved in binding of Ca²⁺and phospholipids. Interestingly, the alignment of GAP domain of SYNGAP1 with other Ras-GAPs suggests that the amino acids in GAP domain are vital for interaction with Ras and for the stimulation of Ras-GTPase activity (Chen et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1998). Given the Ras-GAP-interacting domain of a newly discovered protein and its presence in excitatory synapses (Chen et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1998), this protein was termed SYNGAP1 (Synaptic Ras-GAP activator protein). Moreover, studies have shown that SYNGAP1 is expressed only in brain tissue and not in other tissues (Chen et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1998). In the brain, it is primarily expressed in the excitatory neurons, where it is localized to synapses. On the contrary, SYNGAP1 was absent

¹http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/8831

SYGP1_HUMAN SYGP1 RAT	MSRSRASIHRGSIPAMSYAPFRDVRGPSMHRTQYVHSPYDRPGWNPRFCIISGNQLLMLD MSRSRASIHRGSIPAMSYAPFRDVRGPPMHRTOYVHSPYDRPGWNPRFCIISGNOLLMLD	60		
SYGP1_MOUSE	MSRSRASIHRGSIPAMSYAPFRDVRGPPMHRTQYVHSPYDRPGWNPRFCIISGNQLLMLD			
SYGP1_HUMAN SYGP1_RAT	EDEIHPLLIRDRRSESSRNKLLRRTVSVPVEGRPHGEHEYHLGRSRRKSVPGGKQYSMEG EDEIHPLLIRDRRSESSRNKLLRRTVSVPVEGRPHGEHEYHLGRSRRKSVPGGKQYSMEA	120		
SYGP1_MOUSE	EDEIHPLLIRDRRSESSRNKLLRRTVSVPVEGRPHGEHEYHLGRSRRKSVPGGKQYSMEA			
SYGP1_HUMAN SYGP1_RAT SYGP1_MOUSE	ISTALRNPNIQRQPSRQSERPRPQPVVLRGPSAEMQGYMMRDLNSSIDLQSFMARGLNSS ISTALRNPNIQRQPSRQSERARSQPMVLRGPSAEMQGYMMRDLNSSIDLQSFMARGLNSS ISTALRNPNIQRQPSRQSERTRSQPMVLRGPSAEMQGYMMRDLNSSIDLQSFMARGLNSS	780		
SYGP1_HUMAN AAGMRLSQMGVTTDGVPAQQLRIPLSFQNPLFHMAADGPGPPGGHGGGGGGGGGGGGGPPSSHHHH SYGP1_RAT AAGMRLSQMGVTTDGVPAQQLRIPLSFQNPLFHMAADGPGPPAGHGGSSGHGPPSSHHHH SYGP1_MOUSE AAGMRLSQMGVTTDGVPAQQLRIPLSFQNPLFHMAADGPGPPAGHGGSSGHGPPSSHHHH				
SYGP1_HUMAN SYGP1_RAT SYGP1_MOUSE	HHHHHHRGGEPPGDTFAPFHGYSKSEDLSSGVPKPPAASILHSHSYSDEFGPSGTDFTRR HHHHHHRGGEPPGDTFAPFHGYSKSEDLSTGVPKPPAASILHSHSYSDEFGPSGTDFTRR HHHHHHRGGEPPGDTFAPFHGYSKSEDLSSGVPKPPAASILHSHSYSDEFGPSGTDFTRR	1020		
SYGP1_HUMAN SYGP1_RAT SYGP1_MOUSE	QLSLQDNLQHMLSPPQITIGPQRPAPSGPGGGSGGGSGGGGGGQPPPLQRGKSQQLTVSA QLSLQDNLQHMLSPPQITIGPQRPAPSGPGGGSGGGSGGGGGGQPPPLQRGKSQQLTVSA QLSLQDSLQHMLSPPQITIGPQRPAPSGPGGGSGGGSGGGQPPPLQRGKSQQLTVSA	1080 1077		
	EIHSLKERLHMSNRKLEEYERRLLSQEEQTSKILMQYQARLEQSEKRLRQQQAEKDSQIK	1260		
SYGP1_RAT SYGP1_MOUSE	EIHSLKERLHMSNRKLEEYERRLLSQEEQTSKILMQYQARLEQSEKRLRQQQVEKDSQIK EIHSLKERLHMSNRKLEEYERRLLSQEEQTSKILMQYQARLEQSEKRLRQQQVEKDSQIK	1257		
SYGP1 HUMAN	SIIGRLMLVEEELRRDHPAMAEPLPEPKKRLLDAQ <mark>ERQ</mark> LPP <mark>LGPTNPR</mark> VTLAPPWNGLAP	1320		
SYGP1_RAT	SIIGRLMLVEEELRRDHPAMAEPLPEPKKRLLDAQRGSFPPWVQQTRV	1308		
SYGP1 MOUSE	SIIGRLMLVEEELRRDHPAMAEPLPEPKKRLLDAQ <mark>ERQL</mark> PPLGPTNPRVTLAPPWNGLAP	1317		

FIGURE 1 | Amino acid sequence of human SYNGAP1 and its difference with mouse SYNGAP1. Amino acid sequence differences of SYNGAP1 between *Homo* sapiens (SYGP1_Human), *Rattus rattus* (SYGP1_RAT) and *Mus musculus* (SYGP1_MOUSE). Variations in the sequences were indicated in red colored fonts. Dashed line indicates empty sequences.

in inhibitory neurons. Chen et al. (1998) have shown that the carboxyl terminal tail of SYNGAP1 interacts with postsynaptic density protein (PSD-95), as confirmed by their coprecipitation (Kim et al., 1998). In addition, Kim et al. (1998) have shown that the C-terminal half consists of a repeat of 10 histidines that may be involved in metal chelation, several potential serine and tyrosine phosphorylation sites and a T/SXV motif necessary for interaction with SAP102 and PSD-95. This study further suggested that SYNGAP1 is a cytosolic protein without a signal peptide or any transmembrane domain (Kim et al., 1998).

Studies have shown that functionally distinct proteins may be produced via regulated alternate splicing of mRNA (Lipscombe, 2005; Li et al., 2007; Grabowski, 2011; Raj and Blencowe, 2015). It is evident that *Syngap1* is a complex gene that gives rise to multiple protein domains. This further implies that *Syngap1* may be spliced differentially, which can lead to different isoforms. Indeed, Chen et al. (1998) showed that two splice variants were observed, one at the amino terminus and one at carboxyl terminus, which further encode four variants with molecular weights of 134, 137, 140 and 143 KDa. The amino acid terminal contains a putative Pleckstrin homology (PH) domain (Chen et al., 1998), which may attach the protein to the membrane (Lemmon and Ferguson, 2000). In support of this finding, a recent study has identified distinct isoforms of SYNGAP1 (Figure 2), differing in their N- and Cterminals (McMahon et al., 2012). The existence of different isoforms was further confirmed when anti-SYNGAP1 antibody recognized doublet or triplet of proteins at 130 kDa only in the brain, with no detection of SYNGAP1 and its isoforms in any other parts of the body such as kidney, heart or lung (Chen et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2003). Each isoform contains a central GAP domain to regulate the activity of GTPase in small GTPases such as Ras and Rap. Three distinct Syngap1 isoforms, SYNGAP A, B and C, differing in their N-termini arising from different promoter regions have been identified (McMahon et al., 2012). A and B isoforms contain unique peptide sequence and a complete PH domain, whereas isoform C is a shorter, truncated protein with no unique peptide sequence and no PH domain. Furthermore, SYNGAP A, B, and C isoforms

TABLE 1 | Historical perspective of major findings of SYNGAP1.

Observation/findings of SYNGAP1	Referrences	Model/samples		
First Syngap1 Het mouse model	Chen et al. (1998)	Mouse		
Binds to CaMKII /PSD95	Chen et al. (1998)	Mouse		
	Kim et al. (1998)	Yeast two-hybrid hippocampal cDNA library		
Amino acid sequences and molecular weight	Chen et al. (1998)	Mouse		
	Kim et al. (1998)	Yeast two-hybrid hippocampal cDNA library		
	Husi et al. (2000)	Mouse		
	McMahon et al. (2012)	Mouse		
Domain structure of SYNGAP1 and Isoforms	Chen et al. (1998)	Mouse		
	McMahon et al. (2012)	Mouse		
Localized in excitatory neurons	Chen et al. (1998)	Mouse		
	Kim et al. (1998)			
	Kim et al. (1998)	Yeast two-hybrid hippocampal cDNA library		
Syngap1 Homozygous mice die within a week	Komiyama et al. (2002)	Mouse/Primary neuronal culture		
	Kim et al. (2003)	Mouse/cortical culture		
Synaptic transmission and LTP	Komiyama et al. (2002)	Mouse/Primary neuronal culture		
	Kim et al. (2003)	Mouse/cortical culture		
Learning and Memory deficits	Komiyama et al. (2002)	Mouse/Primary neuronal culture		
Altered ERK, Ras, Rac p-Cofilin	Komiyama et al. (2002)	Mouse/Primary neuronal culture (ERK)		
	Carlisle et al. (2008)	Mouse/Hippocampi neuronal culture		
Dendritic spine structure	Vazquez et al. (2004)	Mouse/primary neuronal culture		
•	Carlisle et al. (2008)	Mouse/Hippocampi neuronal culture		
Cognitive and social dysfunction	Guo et al. (2009)	Mouse		
с , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Muhia et al. (2010)	Mouse		
Intellectual disability in children	Hamdan et al. (2009)	Human		
Prematuration of dendritic spines	Clement et al. (2012)	Mouse		
·	Aceti et al. (2015)	Mouse (in vivo)		
Altered critical period of plasticity	Clement et al. (2013)	Mouse		

This table summarizes the major findings/observations of function of SYNGAP1 by various groups.

can be subdivided based on transcription start sites (A1–A11; B1; C1–C8). To determine whether the multiple promoters were also present in humans, a sequence comparison with mouse and rat revealed a highly conserved regions with no predicted functional moieties (McMahon et al., 2012). Finally, alternate splicing of *Syngap1* mRNA leads to multiple isoforms of C-termini, designated as α , β and γ . Of these, the most studied C-terminus isoform is SYGNAP1 α 1, which contains the PDZ-binding domain and mediates binding to scaffolding proteins of PSD.

The expression of various genes that encode proteins regulating synaptic formation and function are shown to reach their peak level of expression during early stages of development. Moreover, several of these proteins have recently been implicated in ID (State and Levitt, 2011; State and Sestan, 2012). Indeed, expression of SYNGAP1 in neurons reaches its peak 14 days after birth, i.e., at Postnatal day 14 (PND 14 days) in rodents (Kim et al., 1998; Clement et al., 2012), but steadily decreases to adult level by 2 months of age (Porter et al., 2005). Further, SYNGAP1 is highly expressed in hippocampus and cortex, and less in striatum (Komiyama et al., 2002). The expression of SYNGAP1 was reduced by 50% in *Syngap1^{-/+}* mice (Komiyama et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2003; Clement et al., 2012). However, no abnormal gross development of brain was observed in *Syngap1^{-/+}* mice (Kim et al., 2003).

It is well known that development and synaptic activity plays a major role in differential splicing of genes involved in synaptic function. The N-termini SYNGAP1 isoforms, A and B had a pattern of regulation during development (gradual increase in expression till PND14), while isoform C was expressed at very low level till PND14 (McMahon et al., 2012). However, all three isoforms, A, B, and C reached their peak expression at PND14. Further, it is shown that Syngap B and C were upregulated two-fold after 4 h of bicuculline treatment, whereas SYNGAP A was down-regulated (McMahon et al., 2012). These changes were inhibited in the presence of tetrodotoxin. This confirms that differential splicing of Syngap1 occurs based on neuronal activity, which leads to opposing functional effects of Syngap1 isoforms; SYNGAP A had silencing effect, while SYNGAP B and C had positive effect on synaptic transmission and strength. Unlike N-termini isoforms, the protein levels of C-termini isoforms did not change when stimulated with bicuculline. Importantly, it is not clear from previous studies which combination of N- and C- termini isoforms exists in neurons. Using isoform-specific antibodies, it is clear that both C-terminal isoforms exist in hippocampus and cortex (McMahon et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2013) and that α2-containing isoforms localize to PSDs, although they do not contain a QTRV region to bind to PDZ domain. This could be because, when non-phosphorylated CaMKII is inactive at rest, both isoforms are localized within PSD core and a1 binding to PSD-95 serves a distinct function, that of blocking the other portions from binding to PSD-95. Furthermore, upon activation of NMDARs, both $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ isoforms move out of the PSD core, but this change was reversed within 30-45 min following the NMDAR activation.



This movement of SYNGAP1 a1 and a2 out of PSD core could have two significant effects. The first major effect could be a displacement of GAP activity and thus induces activity-dependent synaptic modification (Yang et al., 2013; Araki et al., 2015). The second major effect of SYNGAP1 al and a2 isoforms moving out of the PSD core is to create an empty slot for the association of an AMPAR (Yang et al., 2013), thereby regulating synaptic strength. In fact, overexpression of SYNGAP1 a1 isoform reduces AMPAR-mediated miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs), whereas overexpression of SYNGAP1 a2 isoform enhances mEPSCs. Nevertheless, these studies illustrate the fact that different isoforms exert opposing effects on synaptic strength and that both full peptide sequences, N- and C-terminal, and their isoforms must be considered when examining the functional properties of the protein.

SYNGAP1 MUTATIONS IN INTELLECTUAL DISABILITY

ID, formerly characterized as Mental Retardation, is defined by three criteria: (a) an intelligent quotation of less than 70; (b) limitations in two or more adaptive behaviors such as communication, self-care and social skills, community use, selfdirection, health, and safety; and (c) evidence that the mental manifestations began before the age of 18 (van Bokhoven, 2011). ID comprises a diverse collection of syndromic and non-syndromic disorders. Unlike NSID, which is characterized by intellectual deficits as the only clinical feature, syndromic ID patients typically exhibit other abnormal clinical features, such as cranial, facial, and skeletal dysmorphisms. Major causes of ID and ASD stem from mutations of genes encoding for proteins that are critical regulators of synaptic function. *De novo* mutations in individual genes explain an important aspect of NSID characterized by the absence of associated morphologic, radiologic and metabolic features, as opposed to ID associated with more complex chromosomal aberrations (Ropers and Hamel, 2005). The genetic factors involved in NSID are not clearly known. So far, 29 X-linked and five autosomal recessive genes have been identified by linkage and cytogenetic analysis (Bienvenu and Chelly, 2006; Chelly et al., 2006; Gécz et al., 2009). In addition, mutations in autosomal dominant genes are still to be identified in NDDs, as ID and ASD result in lower reproductive probability, which further reduces the chances of identifying families that are open to linkage analysis. Yet, de novo mutations are the most commonly recognized cause of ID, which suggests that monoallelic lesions are sufficient to cause this disorder. In fact, studies have shown that one to three de novo mutations per zygote affect amino acid sequences (Crow, 2000a,b, 2006).

In the past decade, novel autosomal de novo mutations were identified in genes encoding for proteins involved in synaptic plasticity. In relation to that, recent studies from children have shown that de novo truncating mutations in SYNGAP1 cause NSID (Hamdan et al., 2009, 2011a,b, 2014; Berryer et al., 2013). Hamdan et al. (2009) identified protein-truncating de novo mutations in SYNGAP1 in 3 of 94 patients with NSID. These patients ranged from 4-11 years and had similar clinical features as described in the Mullen Scale of Early Learning and the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales (Hamdan et al., 2009). Of those three patients, two patients were heterozygous for nonsense mutations, while the third patient was heterozygous for a frameshift mutation starting at codon 813, producing a premature stop codon at 835. All these children were born to nonconsanguineous parents. During early stages of development, these children presented with hypotonia and global delay of development with the onset of walking at 2-years. Apart from these defects, two of these children had presented with tonicclonic and myoclonic seizures.

In order to further explore the association of SYNGAP1 to ID, particularly to understand whether patients with epilepsy and ASD had SYNGAP1 de novo mutations, Hamdan et al. (2011a) sequenced exons of SYNGAP1 from additional cohorts of patients. De novo out-of-frame deletions were identified in two patients with NSID presented with microcephaly and generalized epilepsy. The authors also described a *de novo* splicing mutation in a patient with autism that had not acquired microcephaly or epilepsy (Refer to Table 2). Moreover, missense mutations in SYNGAP1 were detected in three patients. Surprisingly, all these patients were born to non-consanguineous parents. Furthermore, other studies (Krepischi et al., 2010; Zollino et al., 2011; Writzl and Knegt, 2013) have identified de novo microdeletions in chromosome region 6p21.3 in patients with ID, epilepsy and severe language impairment. Therefore, it is evident from the studies that heterozygous mutations in SYNGAP1 are the major cause of NSID.

SYNGAP1 IN SCHIZOPHRENIA

Although several studies have shown the role of Syngap1 mutations in neurodevelopmental disorders, a little is known

about its relevance to schizophrenia. Converging evidence suggest that dysfunction of NMDARs and the signaling complex associated with them is now considered to be one of the major causes of schizophrenia (Belsham, 2001). Hypofunction of NMDARs was first implicated when reduced concentration of glutamate were found in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with schizophrenia (Kim et al., 1980). The alteration in the function of activation-ready NMDAR complexes localized in the PSD can lead to a defect in downstream signaling pathways. It has been shown that a major function of SYNGAP1 is to transduce the activation of synaptic NMDA receptors to a biochemical signal that is necessary for proper neuronal function. Therefore, SYNGAP1 and its interacting proteins may be abnormal in patients with schizophrenia.

A study by Funk et al. (2009) has shown that SYNGAP1 and its interacting proteins, such as PSD95, were reduced in patients with schizophrenia. Interestingly, patients who were non-medicated for 6 weeks prior to the time of their death showed decreased levels of SYNGAP1 compared to medicated patients. A similar observation was made for SYNGAP1interacting proteins such as PSD-95. This study hypothesized that $SYNGAP1^{-/+}$ are associated with schizophrenia-like behavioral phenotypes. Indeed, reduced expression of SYNGAP1 results in abnormal behaviors that are strikingly similar to that reported in mice with reduced NMDAR function (Guo et al., 2009). This suggests that proteins downstream of NMDAR, including SYNGAP1, participate in a common pathway that may be dysfunctional in people with schizophrenia. However, other studies (Hamdan et al., 2009) did not find any de novo mutations, splicing or truncating, in their patients with schizophrenia. As the sample number of patients with schizophrenia studied in their work is low, more samples are needed to confirm the role of SYNGAP1 Het in schizophrenia.

MOUSE MODELS OF Syngap1

The recent advances in genomic science and the development of transgenic technology in mice have advanced research into the effect of monoallelic mutations in genes that are associated with synaptic transmission and neuronal circuit formation. SYNGAP1 is highly conserved across species (McMahon et al., 2012), which has allowed for the development of different animal models of $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice (Komiyama et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2003; Vazquez et al., 2004; Muhia et al., 2010). The SYNGAP1 mouse ortholog, Syngap1, is located on chromosome 17². Interestingly, $Syngap1^{-/-}$ mutant mice do not survive for more than a week (Kim et al., 2003). This is due to increased levels of caspase-3 activation in $Syngap1^{-/-}$, which suggests that apoptosis is enhanced by reduction of SYGNAP1 (Knuesel et al., 2005). The different animal models of $Syngap1^{-/+}$ are extensively discussed in a recent review (Ogden et al., 2015).

²http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/240057

Patient no	Gene	DNM	Age	Sex	ID	Epilepsy	Cranial MRI/CT
1	SYNGAP1	p.Lys138X	4 yrs. 5 months	F	++/+++	GN	Normal/ND
2	SYNGAP1	p.Arg579X	5 yrs. 10 months	F	++/+++	GN	Normal/ND
3	SYNGAP1	p.Leu813ArgfsX23	12 yrs. 10 months	F	++/+++	-	ND/Normal
4	STXBP1	p.Arg388X	15 yrs.	F	+++	PC	Normal/Normal
5	STXBP1	c.169–1G>A	27 yrs.	F	+++	PC	ND/Normal
6	SHANK3	c.601–1G>A	15 yrs.	Μ	+	-	ND/Normal
7	KIF1A	p.Thr99Met	3 yrs. 5 months	F	+++	-	Atrophy/ND
8	GRIN1	p.Glu662Lys	10 yrs.	F	++	-	ND/Normal
9	GRIN1	p.Ser560dup	7 yrs. 6 months	М	+++	PC	Normal/ND
10	EPB41L1	p.Pro854Ser	6 yrs.	Μ	+++	-	Normal/ND
11	CACNG2	p.Val143Leu	8 yrs.	Μ	++	-	Normal/ND
12	KIFC1, PHF1, CUTA, SYNGAP1	-	6 yrs.	М	++	-	Normal/ND
13	SYNGAP1, CUTA, PHF1	-	5 yrs.	F	+++	GN	Normal/ND
14	SYNGAP1, CUTA, PHF1	-	9 yrs.	М	++	PC	Normal/ND

Summary of clinical features observed in patients with SYNGAP1 heterozygous mutation. ID Scale: + denotes mild, ++ moderate, +++ severe. Abbreviations used ND, not determined; PC, Partial complex epilepsy; GN, Generalized epilepsy. These features are based on different sources (Hamdan et al., 2009, 2011a,b, 2014; Krepischi et al., 2010; Zollino et al., 2011; Berryer et al., 2013; Writzl and Knegt, 2013).

Due to a rapid increase in the availability of the types of genetically modified mice (Branchi et al., 2003), it is critical to meticulously characterize their biochemical, pathological and behavioral features and compare them with human phenotypes (Bailey et al., 2006; Crawley, 2008). Generally, laboratories involved in testing the phenotypes of genetically modified mice subject them to a battery of behavioral features to assess cognitive, motor, and sensory functions. In addition, to consider a genetically modified mouse as a disease model, the transgenic animal must fulfil at least two levels of validity to judge its psychopharmacology (van der Staay et al., 2009). An animal model should score high on the following validities: face validity, i.e., resemblances of behavioral phenotypes of mouse model to that of human disorder; construct validity, i.e., closely reconstructs and mimics the underlying cause of the disease or disorder; and predictive validity, i.e., drug treatments alleviate symptoms in mouse and human. A mouse model should fulfil at least face and construct validity. Indeed, various mouse models of $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice satisfied face validity (Komiyama et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2003; Guo et al., 2009; Muhia et al., 2010). These various $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mouse models recapitulated many of the phenotypes observed in humans. For example, Komiyama et al. (2002) were the first to observe learning and memory deficits in Syngap $1^{-/+}$ mice. Using a different model described by Kim et al. (2003), $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice displayed altered social/conspecific interaction, abnormal spatial working memory, decreased anxiety-related response, hyperactivity, impaired cued conditioning behavior, increased startle reflex, increased horizontal stereotypic behavior and reduced prepulse inhibition, as well as learning deficits (Guo et al., 2009). Later, using another genetic model of $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice (Muhia et al., 2010), Muhia et al. observed cognitive dysfunctions similar to the Guo et al. (2009) study. As mentioned previously, epilepsy is a prominent clinical feature observed in SYNGAP1 patients. Accordingly, $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice are prone to audiogenic seizures and have reduced seizure threshold and altered electroencephalogram (EEG; Clement et al., 2012; Ozkan et al., 2014). Therefore, based on these studies, it is clear that mouse models of $Syngap1^{-/+}$ (Ogden et al., 2015) mutation phenocopy the deficits observed in SYNGAP1 patients, thereby allowing a better understanding of $SYNGAP1^{-/+}$ mutation in neuronal function and its consequence in ID.

ROLE OF Syngap1 IN NEUROLOGICAL PATHWAY

For nearly two decades, neuroscientists have studied SYNGAP1related signaling pathways. Synapses are extremely ordered structures that facilitate the transmission of information from presynaptic terminal to the postsynaptic membrane and, subsequently, activate signal transduction cascades that lead to suitable cellular events. In the postsynaptic membrane, two major ionotropic glutamate receptor subtypes are present-NMDARs and AMPARs. NMDARs are glutamate-sensitive ion channels that open up when glutamate and its co-agonist are bound to them. However, the actual permeation of ions through NMDAR channels occurs after the removal of Mg²⁺ block achieved by depolarization of the postsynaptic membrane. This depolarization is induced by glutamate binding to AMPARs. Subsequently to activation of NMDARs in the postsynaptic membrane, Ca²⁺ enters the dendritic spine, triggering activation of kinase cascades and thereby mediating various synaptic functions (Fan et al., 2014). NMDARs are an integral component of the PSD and bind to several PSD-enriched scaffold and signaling molecules, resulting in creation of a vast protein complex (Niethammer et al., 1996; Kennedy, 1997; Xu, 2011). This NMDAR-PSD protein complex is believed to play a vital role in the precise tuning of synapses in response to changing input stimuli pattern (Grant and O'dell, 2001; Yashiro and Philpot, 2008). SYNGAP1, one of the most abundant proteins in the PSD, is associated with NMDAR protein complex (Figure 3), which was first shown by Chen et al. (1998) and followed by Kim et al. (1998). Establishing SYNGAP1's role in the

NMDAR-mediated protein complex and signaling cascade is important to further our understanding of the etiology of SYNGAP1-mediated ID and ASD (**Figure 3**). SYNGAP1 has been shown to co-immunoprecipitate with PSD-95 protein complex from deoxycholate-solubilized mouse brain membrane preparations (Chen et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1998).

The GAP domain of SYNGAP1 is homologous to that of p120GAP and neurofibromin, two canonical Ras-GAPs that do not regulate Rap (Chen et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1998). However, SYNGAP1 has been shown to regulate Rap-GTPase more potently than Ras-GTPase (Pena et al., 2008). A recent study by Walkup et al. (2015) has shown that recombinant SYNGAP1 lacking 102 residues at the N-terminus is phosphorylated by cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (CDK5), as well as by CaMKII. Interestingly, phosphorylation of SYNGAP1 by CDK5 and CaMKII increases overall SYNGAP1 activity, but also alters the ratio of its GAP activity towards Rasand Rap-GTPases. Phosphorylation of SYNGAP1 by CaMKII increases its Ras-GAP activity by 25% and its Rap-GAP activity by 76%. CDK5 increases recombinant SYNGAP1 activity on Ras-GAP by 98% and its Rap-GAP activity by 20%. Furthermore, upon NMDAR stimulation, Ca²⁺ entering the synapse dissociates CaMKII from SYNGAP1 and phosphorylates SYNGAP1 (pSYNGAP1). This leads to activation of Ras that activates proteins downstream, consequently to AMPAR insertion in the postsynaptic membrane. Therefore, the phosphorylation of SYNGAP1 is believed to be important in regulating transient changes in the number of surface AMPA receptors or gradually adjusting their steady-state level.

By biochemical analysis of proteins containing the GAP, Krapivinsky et al. (2004) have identified the C2 domain as essential for the Rap-GAP activity of SYNGAP1, which is in line with the recent observation (Walkup et al., 2015). The homology of SYNGAP1 with other Ras-GAP domains across species and *in vivo* associations of SYNGAP1 with the NMDA receptor complex indicate that SYNGAP1 plays a role in Ras-mediated signaling in excitatory synapses, particularly in response to Ca²⁺ (Kim et al., 1998; Carlisle et al., 2008). Apart from regulating Rasmediated signaling, SYNGAP1 has been shown to mediate the activity of other major signaling proteins, such as Rac, p-Cofilin, p21-activated kinase (PAK) and LIMK (Carlisle et al., 2008) and these proteins were shown to be elevated at basal conditions in *Syngap1^{-/+}* mice.

ROLE OF SYNGAP1 IN REGULATING DENDRITIC SPINE MORPHOLOGY AND PLASTICITY

The neuronal signaling cascades underlying synaptic plasticity and dendritic spine structure have been intensely studied and a multitude of signaling molecules have been identified (Kennedy et al., 2005; Patterson and Yasuda, 2011). Initial stages of dendritic spine formation and neuronal connections depend on cytoskeleton protein, F-actin, which is regulated by Rasand Rac-GTPases. Therefore, it is possible that the dendritic spine structure and function would be altered in $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mutations, which may explain the behavioral deficits observed in $SYNGAP1^{-/+}$ patients.

Ras- and Rac-mediated signaling cascade, including ERK and MAPK, has also been shown to play a major role in normal synaptic transmission and in long-term potentiation (LTP; Carlisle and Kennedy, 2005; Kennedy et al., 2005) by modulating insertion of AMPARs into the postsynaptic membrane (**Figure 3**). On the contrary, opposite effects were observed in *Syngap1* knockout in neuronal cultures using small interfering RNA. Studies from neuronal culture have demonstrated that overexpression of *Syngap1* resulted in a remarkable down regulation of AMPAR-mediated currents (Rumbaugh et al., 2006). In contrast, AMPAR-mediated currents were increased in *Syngap1*^{-/+} in neuronal cultures treated with small interfering RNA.

Under basal conditions, when fEPSPs, which are predominantly mediated by AMPARs, were measured from adult mouse CA1 hippocampal pyramidal region, $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice did not show any abnormal excitatory synaptic responses (Komiyama et al., 2002). Furthermore, the presynaptic fibers were required to evoke an equivalent postsynaptic response in slices from wild type (WT), and $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mouse responses were not altered suggesting that the activity of postsynaptic AMPARs were unchanged. However, these experiments were performed in adults and the genes encoding the proteins that regulate synaptic function reach their peak level of expression during early stages of development (State and Levitt, 2011; State and Sestan, 2012). Indeed, Syngap1 Het mutations can affect synaptic transmission during early developmental period. Thus, Vazquez et al. (2004) have reported that the Syngap $1^{-/+}$ mice form dendritic spines and synapses prematurely, and that spines ultimately become larger in $Syngap1^{-/+}$. In addition, Clement et al. (2012, 2013) have shown elevated input-output relationship in extracellular field recording and AMPARmediated mEPSCs, which reached WT adult level 2 weeks after birth (PND14), confirming the earlier findings (Vazquez et al., 2004). These studies suggest that SYNGAP1 controls the trajectory of synapse maturation during a particular period of development by controlling protein synthesis and homeostatic synaptic plasticity during development (Wang et al., 2013).

In hippocampal pyramidal neurons, spine structure is tightly correlated with synaptic function (Noguchi et al., 2011). Syngap1^{-/+} mutation disrupts proper development of dendritic spine structures. Syngap1^{-/+} mice have more mature, mushroom-shaped spines during early stages of development (PND14) suggesting precarious prematuration of dendritic excitatory spine structures (Clement et al., 2012, 2013). Further, accelerated spine formation and premature spine pruning have been observed in developing neocortical tissue of Syngap1^{-/+} mice (Aceti et al., 2015). These abnormalities observed during development in Syngap1^{-/+} mutation persisted into adulthood (Vazquez et al., 2004; Carlisle et al., 2008; Clement et al., 2012), consistent with the spine dysfunction theory of cognitive disorders.



Altered maturation of dendritic spine morphology and function can lead to various learning and memory deficits (Peca et al., 2011; Goncalves et al., 2013). Indeed, patients with *SYNGAP1* Het mutations were observed to have learning and memory deficits (Hamdan et al., 2009, 2011a). To understand the impact of early maturation of dendritic spine morphology and function on learning and memory in *Syngap1^{-/+}* mice, synaptic plasticity studies were carried out by various labs. There are two

major forms of synaptic plasticity, LTP and LTD (long term depression), which have been considered to represent the cellular correlates of learning and memory and are both dependent on local protein synthesis (Volianskis et al., 2015). Deficits in LTP have been observed in many animal models of ID and ASD (Volk et al., 2007, 2015; Pavlowsky et al., 2012). Alterations in signaling proteins function can lead to anomalous synaptic plasticity and dendritic spine structure and can correlate with

SYNGAP1: Mind the GAP

cognitive impairments in patients with ID and ASD (McKinney, 2005; Penzes et al., 2011; van Bokhoven, 2011; Kroon et al., 2013). Interestingly, adult $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice do show reduced LTP in the CA1 hippocampal region, which is likely due to reduced activation of Ras and ERK during LTP (Komiyama et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2003; Ozkan et al., 2014), suggesting that reduced level of SYNGAP1 derepresses the resting levels of activated Ras and ERK. Additionally, SYNGAP1 has been shown to rapidly disperse from spines during and after LTP because of the phosphorylation of SYNGAP at Ser1108/1138 by CaMKII. Subsequently, SYNGAP1 activates Ras, which triggers long-term changes in spine size, suggesting the inhibition of stable LTP by SYNGAP1 (Araki et al., 2015).

CRITICAL PERIOD OF PLASTICITY

Steady increase of synaptic AMPARs and subsequent functional unsilencing of glutamatergic inputs are characteristics of early postnatal development (Kerchner and Nicoll, 2008). Premature acquisition of functional AMPARs during development is suggestive of an acceleration of neurodevelopmental pattern during a critical period of development. A critical period is a regulated time window during which the sensory experience and intrinsic neuronal activity provide information that are essential for normal development and refinement of neuronal circuits (Meredith et al., 2012). Any alteration to dendritic spine structure and function during this critical period can have a lasting effect on cognitive functions, the development of which requires the formation and refinement of synaptic networks of neurons in the brain. Precariously high AMPAR/NMDAR ratios observed in $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice could lead to altered duration of plasticity-related critical periods. In the thalamocortical pathway, generation of LTP becomes difficult towards the end of the first postnatal week (Crair and Malenka, 1995). However, high frequency stimulation failed to elicit LTP in PND4 and PND7 in $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice, while LTP was generated in PND4 WT animals. Given that SYNGAP1 has been shown to suppress AMPAR insertion in the postsynaptic membrane, the main explanation for LTP failure at synapses would be a precocious unsilencing of the developing thalamocortical pathway. Indeed, Syngap $1^{-/+}$ mice have altered unsilencing of post-synapses during early stages of development in the thalamocortical pathway (Clement et al., 2013) and altered formation and elimination of dendritic spines (Aceti et al., 2015). These studies further confirm the hypothesis that prematuration of dendritic spine structure due to accumulation of AMPAR at synapses shortens the duration of the critical window of plasticity leading to altered behavioral function (Figure 4).

In addition to LTP, another form of synaptic plasticity, LTD is important for proper formation and refinement of neuronal connections (Feldman and Knudsen, 1998; Hensch, 2005). Thus, it would be predicted that thalamocortical synapses exhibits LTP as well as LTD. Similar to LTP, the amount of LTD induced in thalamocortical connections exhibited a developmental reduction with little or no depression remaining by P10–12 (Feldman et al., 1998). This signals the end of critical period of plasticity in thalamocortical synapses. In

addition, this study suggests that NMDAR dependent LTD modulates the efficacy of synapses previously unsilenced by LTP (Daw et al., 2007), thereby, allowing the synapses to modulate the connections based on the input specific activity. However, it is not clear LTD can induce resilencing of functional synapses during critical period of development. Given the importance of LTD in critical period of plasticity, it is not clear whether LTD is altered during critical period of development in *Syngap1*^{-/+} mice.

PROPOSED MODEL OF Syngap1^{-/+} MUTATION IN NEURONAL DEVELOPMENT AND MATURATION

One of the common features observed in most forms of ID is the inability to develop and maintain normal dendritic spine architecture and proper function at synapses, which lead to abnormal neuronal connections. Based on the above discussion, it is evident that $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mutations lead to abnormal dendritic spine maturation during development. All mutations in *Syngap1* are predicted to truncate the protein, thus decreasing the ability of SYNGAP1 to bind to the molecules downstream in the signaling pathway. Phosphorylation of SYNGAP1 is regulated by CaMKII, which reduces SYNGAP1's control of Ras-GTPase, leading to Ras activation by increasing the GTP-bound form of Ras. Further, phosphorylation of SYNGAP1 by CaMKII increases the ratio of Rap1-GAP to Ras-GAP (Walkup et al., 2015). This would shift the steady-state balance of AMPAR trafficking at the synapse towards exocytosis by decreasing the level of active Rap1 compared to active Ras, which would result in an increased surface AMPAR. In contrast, phosphorylation of SYNGAP1 by CDK5 decreases its ratio of Rap1-GAP to Ras-GAP activity, which would allow more AMPAR to be endocytosed from the postsynaptic surface. Therefore, SYNGAP1 negatively regulates Ras activation and insertion of AMPA receptors in the postsynaptic membrane. Phosphorylation of SYNGAP1 creates transient changes in the number of AMPARs and gradually adjusts the steady-state level of AMPARs in the postsynaptic membrane (Figure 3). However, due to $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mutation, truncated SYGNAP1 fails to inhibit Ras activity, thereby facilitating conversion of inactive, GDP-bound Ras to an active, GTP-bound form and increasing the level of Ras activation. Ras is one of the important components of the signaling pathway underlying NMDA receptor mediated activation of ERK (Iida et al., 2001). Thus, increase in Ras activity elevates the level of phosphorylated ERK, which further facilitates the insertion of AMPARs to the postsynaptic membrane (Derkach et al., 2007). In this aspect, SYNGAP1 is a key molecule that facilitates a cross talk between CaMKII and Ras/MAPK signaling pathways that leads to AMPAR trafficking, thereby controlling the excitatory synaptic strength, particularly in developing neurons. However, SYNGAP1's control of excitatory synaptic strength during development is lacking in ID patients or in the $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice model.

Furthermore, increased level of Ras activation leads to activation of LIMKII, CDC42 and p-cofilin, which regulate actin



prematuration of dendritic spine morphology during early stages of development (**A**). This causes abnormal formation and elimination of spines that leads to altered spine density and excitatory neuronal connections during development in the cortex (Aceti et al., 2015). Further, the abnormal cortical excitatory neuronal connections lead to E/I imbalance during early stages of development, which persists, into adult stages in Syngap1 Hets (**B**). Consequently, these abnormalities bring about altered duration of critical period of development (**C**), which leads to cognitive and social dysfunction (**D**). PND, Post-natal Day. The gene products implicated in intellectual disability (ID) and/or autism spectrum disorder (ASD) are marked in Red color text. Some features are modified with permission based on Clement et al. (2012).

cytoskeleton (**Figure 3**). Actin is the major cytoskeletal element in dendritic spines, where it serves both as framework for the spine structure and as a scaffold for postsynaptic proteins (Dillon and Goda, 2005). Cofilin is best known as a regulator of actin whose assembly and disassembly depends upon the concentration of cofilin. In $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice, increased levels of p-Cofilin shift the equilibrium towards the more stable actin form, F-actin. This makes the dendritic spine more stable at

an early stage of development. Thus, more stable form of actin combined with an increase in insertion of AMPAR into the postsynaptic membrane during development (PND14–16 in hippocampus in Hets) causes the dendritic spines to mature into mushroom shaped spines, which occurs earlier in $Syngap1^{-/+}$ than in WT animals (**Figure 4**).

This leads to elevated excitatory synaptic transmission causing Excitatory/Inhibitory (E/I) imbalance, particularly during the critical period of development. Due to the altered E/I balance, humans, as well as $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice, are prone to epileptic seizures. The altered E/I balance observed in Syngap $1^{-/+}$ mice is representative of an altered form of synaptic homeostasis that degrades the ability of mature neurons to optimally balance excitation relative to inhibition. Indeed, truncation of SYNGAP1 occludes the ability of neurons to scale up synaptic strength in response to activity, suggesting that SYNGAP1 associated signaling is necessary for maintaining homeostatic synaptic plasticity (Wang et al., 2013). In fact, altered dendritic spine morphology and function during the critical period of development causes a coordinated acceleration of dendritic elongation, spine formation, and elimination (pruning) in cortical neurons, which may result in altered neuronal connectivity and abnormal closure of critical period plasticity (**Figure 4**). Interestingly, E/I imbalance in $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mutation leads to altered pruning of spines, which in turn causes abnormal connections (non-target) in neurons and negatively affects the organization of neuronal circuits (Aceti et al., 2015). The abnormal pruning of spines and connections between neurons could be a consequence of an altered duration of critical period observed in $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice. This would prevent the neuronal connections to be actively refined by the surrounding environment in which the individual exists.

There appear to be independent critical periods of development for different modalities, ranging from basic visual processing to language and social skills, which are observed to be affected in patients with SYNGAP1 heterozygous mutation. Syngap $1^{-/+}$ mice displayed early closure of critical period of plasticity during development (Clement et al., 2013). The precise development of the timing of critical periods during cortical development is essential for the proper organization of synaptic connections and neuronal circuit formation. Thus, premature closure of plasticity window during development could contribute to altered refinement of cortical circuits that persist throughout the life of an animal and thus contributing to cognitive deficits in $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mice. Thus, transient neurodevelopmental events induced by Syngap1 mutations could cause life-long disruptions to cognition and behavior that are difficult to treat in adulthood.

ROLE OF ASTROCYTES IN ID AND ASD

While neurons are considered as major players in brain function such as perception, social behavior and memory, astrocytes have been relegated to a far lesser supporting role. However, in recent years, emerging evidences suggest that signaling between astrocytes and neurons at the tripartite synapse plays an important role during the critical period of development

(Stevens, 2008; Clarke and Barres, 2013). Although astrocytes were considered to play a passive onlooker in the synapse, but studies show that, they are necessary for neuronal maturation, function, and development of neurons. During early stages of development, astrocytes and neurons are formed from neuronal precursor cells (Freeman, 2010). Three-dimensonal reconstructions of dye-filled astrocytes reveal that astrocytes extend thousands of intricate processes that are organized into large, non-overlapping anatomical domains. It has been estimated that a single astrocyte can associate with multiple neurons and over 100,000 synapses (Bushong et al., 2002; Halassa et al., 2007a,b). While astrocytes are incapable of generating action potentials, they do secrete a wide array of gliotransmitters and express many of the same channels, receptors and cell surface molecules similar to neurons (Haydon, 2000; Fields and Stevens-Graham, 2002; Fiacco and Mccarthy, 2006).

Neurons rely on astrocytes to instruct the formation and elimination of their synapses lead to the possibility that astrocytes work in parallel with and interacts with, the neuronal processes that control circuit formation. One of the first evidences that astrocytes contribute majorly in critical period of development came from a study by Muller and Best (1989) that injection of immature astrocytes into the adult visual cortex reopened the window of ocular dominance plasticity. Further, a study from purified rodent ganglion cells (RGCs) suggested that RGCs formed very few syanpses in the absesnce of astrocytes. However, when cultured in the presence of astrocytes, or in a medium that had been conditioned with any other soluble signals released by astrocytes, RGCs can form ten-fold more excitatory synapses and synaptic functionality was increased (Pfrieger and Barres, 1997; Ullian et al., 2001). Not only astrocytes regulate the development, maturation, and function of excitatory neurons, they are a requisite for the development of inhibitory synapses. Liu et al. (1996) showed that local contact between neurons and astrocytes significantly increased the amplitude and density of GABAA receptors in developing hippocampal neurons. In addition, astrocytes were shown to regulate chloride ion gradient in cultured spinal cord neurons and convert GABAergic neurons from excitatory to inhibitory (Li et al., 1998). These studies suggest that immature astrocytes are necessary for critical period of development and it is linked to maturation of astrocytes.

It is evident from the above mentioned studies that astrocytes play a major role in normal neuronal development and function, it would not be surprising that astrocytes contribute in some capacity to almost all pathological conditions of the nervous system (Lin and Koleske, 2010; Parpura et al., 2012). Consequently, astrocyte-dysregulated function has been linked with the progressive pathology of ischemic stroke, epilepsy and to a number of neurodegenerative disorders including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Huntington's disease, Parkinson's disease, Rett syndrome, FXS, and autism (Yamamuro et al., 2015). FXS is one of the most common form of ID and affects 1 in 4000 males and 1 in 6000 females. Fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP) is reported to be expressed in Oligodendritic precursor cells but not mature oligodendrocytes (Wang et al., 2004). However, a study by Pacey and Doering (2007) reported expression of FMRP in astrocytes. Further, they showed that WT neurons grown

on *Fmr1* KO astrocytes exhibited significantly altered dendritic arbor morphologies, whereas *Fmr1* KO neurons cultured with WT astrocytes, the alterations in dendritic morphologies and synaptic protein expression were prevented (Jacobs and Doering, 2010; Jacobs et al., 2010). These experiments were the first to suggest that astrocytes contribute to the normal development of dendritic spine morphology and function. Therefore, it is important to study the role of astrocytes in *Syngap1*^{-/+} mutations. However, there are no studies to date to suggest expression of *Syngap1* in astrocytes or its role in ID due to *Syngap1*^{-/+}.

CONCLUSION

Basic research in ID and ASD using model organisms has been critical in advancing our understanding of many NDDs. Important insights into the neurophysiology of $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mutations, especially the regulation of dendritic spine formation and function, has been gained from the study of $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mouse models. Although it is clear from these studies that SYNGAP1 is a negative regulator of AMPAR insertion in the postsynaptic membrane that regulates dendritic spine structure and function, certain questions still remain unanswered, such as which downstream proteins are regulated by affected by Syngap $1^{-/+}$ mutations. The other major question is to find the precise window during development to address the symptoms observed in ID. In fact, repairing pathogenic $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mutation after the end of critical period of development failed to rescue neurophysiological and cognitive functions. Therefore, it is important to find the right period of development in order to rescue the cognitive deficits observed in $Syngap1^{-/+}$

REFERENCES

- Aceti, M., Creson, T. K., Vaissiere, T., Rojas, C., Huang, W. C., Wang, Y. X., et al. (2015). Syngap1 haploinsufficiency damages a postnatal critical period of pyramidal cell structural maturation linked to cortical circuit assembly. *Biol. Psychiatry* 77, 805–815. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.08.001
- Araki, Y., Zeng, M., Zhang, M., and Huganir, R. L. (2015). Rapid dispersion of SynGAP from synaptic spines triggers AMPA receptor insertion and spine enlargement during LTP. *Neuron* 85, 173–189. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014. 12.023
- Auerbach, B. D., Osterweil, E. K., and Bear, M. F. (2011). Mutations causing syndromic autism define an axis of synaptic pathophysiology. *Nature* 480, 63–68. doi: 10.1038/nature10658
- Azevedo, F. A., Carvalho, L. R., Grinberg, L. T., Farfel, J. M., Ferretti, R. E., Leite, R. E., et al. (2009). Equal numbers of neuronal and nonneuronal cells make the human brain an isometrically scaled-up primate brain. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 513, 532–541. doi: 10.1002/cne.21974
- Bailey, K. R., Rustay, N. R., and Crawley, J. N. (2006). Behavioral phenotyping of transgenic and knockout mice: practical concerns and potential pitfalls. *ILAR J.* 47, 124–131. doi: 10.1093/ilar.47.2.124
- Bear, M. F., Huber, K. M., and Warren, S. T. (2004). The mGluR theory of fragile X mental retardation. *Trends Neurosci.* 27, 370–377. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2004. 04.009
- Belsham, B. (2001). Glutamate and its role in psychiatric illness. *Hum. Psychopharmacol.* 16, 139–146. doi: 10.1002/hup.279.abs
- Berryer, M. H., Hamdan, F. F., Klitten, L. L., Moller, R. S., Carmant, L., Schwartzentruber, J., et al. (2013). Mutations in SYNGAP1 cause intellectual disability, autism and a specific form of epilepsy by inducing

mutation. One of the means of finding therapeutic targets is to find a protein which has been implicated in another ID and ASD that produces similar or opposite cellular and behavioral phenotypes as that of $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mutants. The opposing effects of these mutations may balance one another at synaptic and behavioral function (Auerbach et al., 2011). Understanding the effect of complementary pathways to rescue a gene of interest, for example $Syngap1^{-/+}$ mutation, would allow better therapeutic designs to alleviate ID symptoms (earlier the better). It is important to understand where an ID and ASD patient lies on the spectrum of synaptic and behavioral dysfunction to choose an appropriate therapy. Thus, continued study of various disorders that exhibit ID and ASD phenotypes may lead to better therapeutic targets.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

NJ and JPC would like to thank Ms. Varsha Ramakrishna and Ms. Vrushali Rao for their assistance in preparing the figures. NJ and JPC would like to thank Department of Science and Technology (DST)-Science and Engineering Board (SERB) for the support. JPC would like to thank Dr. Ravi Manjithaya for critical comments and suggestions. NJ and JPC would like to thank Narayana Nethrayala Foundation and Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research (JNCASR) respectively for their constant support.

haploinsufficiency. Hum. Mutat. 34, 385-394. doi: 10.1002/humu. 22248

- Bhakar, A. L., Dolen, G., and Bear, M. F. (2012). The pathophysiology of fragile X (and what it teaches us about synapses). Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 35, 417–443. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-060909-153138
- Bienvenu, T., and Chelly, J. (2006). Molecular genetics of Rett syndrome: when DNA methylation goes unrecognized. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 7, 415–426. doi: 10. 1038/nrg1878
- Boda, B., Mas, C., and Muller, D. (2002). Activity-dependent regulation of genes implicated in X-linked non-specific mental retardation. *Neuroscience* 114, 13–17. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4522(02)00218-x
- Branchi, I., Bichler, Z., Berger-Sweeney, J., and Ricceri, L. (2003). Animal models of mental retardation: from gene to cognitive function. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 27, 141–153. doi: 10.1016/s0149-7634(03)00016-2
- Bushong, E. A., Martone, M. E., Jones, Y. Z., and Ellisman, M. H. (2002). Protoplasmic astrocytes in CA1 stratum radiatum occupy separate anatomical domains. J. Neurosci. 22, 183–192. doi: 0270-6474/01/220183-10
- Carlisle, H. J., and Kennedy, M. B. (2005). Spine architecture and synaptic plasticity. *Trends Neurosci.* 28, 182–187. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2005.01.008
- Carlisle, H. J., Manzerra, P., Marcora, E., and Kennedy, M. B. (2008). SynGAP regulates steady-state and activity-dependent phosphorylation of cofilin. J. Neurosci. 28, 13673–13683. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.4695-08.2008
- Chechlacz, M., and Gleeson, J. G. (2003). Is mental retardation a defect of synapse structure and function?. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 29, 11–17. doi: 10.1016/s0887-8994(03)00152-8
- Chelly, J., Khelfaoui, M., Francis, F., Chérif, B., and Bienvenu, T. (2006). Genetics and pathophysiology of mental retardation. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 14, 701–713. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201595

- Chen, H. J., Rojas-Soto, M., Oguni, A., and Kennedy, M. B. (1998). A synaptic Ras-GTPase activating protein (p135 SynGAP) inhibited by CaM kinase II. *Neuron* 20, 895–904. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80471-7
- Clarke, L. E., and Barres, B. A. (2013). Emerging roles of astrocytes in neural circuit development. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 311–321. doi: 10.1038/nrn3484
- Clement, J. P., Aceti, M., Creson, T. K., Ozkan, E. D., Shi, Y., Reish, N. J., et al. (2012). Pathogenic SYNGAP1 mutations impair cognitive development by disrupting maturation of dendritic spine synapses. *Cell* 151, 709–723. doi: 10. 1016/j.cell.2012.08.045
- Clement, J. P., Ozkan, E. D., Aceti, M., Miller, C. A., and Rumbaugh, G. (2013). SYNGAP1 links the maturation rate of excitatory synapses to the duration of critical-period synaptic plasticity. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 10447–10452. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.0765-13.2013
- Crair, M. C., and Malenka, R. C. (1995). A critical period for long-term potentiation at thalamocortical synapses. *Nature* 375, 325-328. doi: 10. 1038/375325a0
- Crawley, J. N. (2008). Behavioral phenotyping strategies for mutant mice. *Neuron* 57, 809–818. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2008.03.001
- Crow, J. F. (2000a). The origins, patterns and implications of human spontaneous mutation. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 1, 40–47. doi: 10.1038/35049558
- Crow, J. F. (2000b). Two centuries of genetics: a view from halftime. Annu. Rev. Genomics. Hum. Genet. 1, 21-40. doi: 10.1146/annurev.genom.1.1.21
- Crow, J. F. (2006). Age and sex effects on human mutation rates: an old problem with new complexities. J. Radiat. Res. 47 (Suppl. B), B75–B82. doi: 10.1269/jrr. 47.b75
- Daw, M. I., Scott, H. L., and Isaac, J. T. (2007). Developmental synaptic plasticity at the thalamocortical input to barrel cortex: mechanisms and roles. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 34, 493–502. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2007.01.001
- Derkach, V. A., Oh, M. C., Guire, E. S., and Soderling, T. R. (2007). Regulatory mechanisms of AMPA receptors in synaptic plasticity. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 101–113. doi: 10.1038/nrn2055
- Dillon, C., and Goda, Y. (2005). The actin cytoskeleton: integrating form and function at the synapse. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 28, 25–55. doi: 10.1146/annurev. neuro.28.061604.135757
- Fan, X., Jin, W. Y., and Wang, Y. T. (2014). The NMDA receptor complex: a multifunctional machine at the glutamatergic synapse. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 8:160. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00160
- Feldman, D. E., and Knudsen, E. I. (1998). Experience-dependent plasticity and the maturation of glutamatergic synapses. *Neuron* 20, 1067–1071. doi: 10. 1016/s0896-6273(00)80488-2
- Feldman, D. E., Nicoll, R. A., Malenka, R. C., and Isaac, J. T. (1998). Long-term depression at thalamocortical synapses in developing rat somatosensory cortex. *Neuron* 21, 347–357. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)80544-9
- Fiacco, T. A., and Mccarthy, K. D. (2006). Astrocyte calcium elevations: properties, propagation and effects on brain signaling. *Glia* 54, 676–690. doi: 10.1002/glia. 20396
- Fields, R. D., and Stevens-Graham, B. (2002). New insights into neuron-glia communication. *Science* 298, 556–562. doi: 10.1126/science.298.5593.556
- Freeman, M. R. (2010). Specification and morphogenesis of astrocytes. *Science* 330, 774–778. doi: 10.1126/science.1190928
- Funk, A. J., Rumbaugh, G., Harotunian, V., Mccullumsmith, R. E., and Meador-Woodruff, J. H. (2009). Decreased expression of NMDA receptor-associated proteins in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Neuroreport* 20, 1019–1022. doi: 10.1097/wnr.0b013e3283 2d30d9
- Gauthier, J., Siddiqui, T. J., Huashan, P., Yokomaku, D., Hamdan, F. F., Champagne, N., et al. (2011). Truncating mutations in NRXN2 and NRXN1 in autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia. *Hum. Genet.* 130, 563–573. doi: 10.1007/s00439-011-0975-z
- Gécz, J., Shoubridge, C., and Corbett, M. (2009). The genetic landscape of intellectual disability arising from chromosome X. *Trends Genet.* 25, 308–316. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2009.05.002
- Goncalves, J. T., Anstey, J. E., Golshani, P., and Portera-Cailliau, C. (2013). Circuit level defects in the developing neocortex of Fragile X mice. *Nat. Neurosci.* 16, 903–909. doi: 10.1038/nn.3415
- Grabowski, P. (2011). Alternative splicing takes shape during neuronal development. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 21, 388–394. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2011. 03.005

- Grant, S. G., and O'dell, T. J. (2001). Multiprotein complex signaling and the plasticity problem. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 11, 363–368. doi: 10.1016/s0959-4388(00)00220-8
- Guo, X., Hamilton, P. J., Reish, N. J., Sweatt, J. D., Miller, C. A., and Rumbaugh, G. (2009). Reduced expression of the NMDA receptor-interacting protein SynGAP causes behavioral abnormalities that model symptoms of Schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 34, 1659–1672. doi: 10.1038/npp. 2008.223
- Halassa, M. M., Fellin, T., and Haydon, P. G. (2007a). The tripartite synapse: roles for gliotransmission in health and disease. *Trends. Mol. Med.* 13, 54–63. doi: 10. 1016/j.molmed.2006.12.005
- Halassa, M. M., Fellin, T., Takano, H., Dong, J. H., and Haydon, P. G. (2007b). Synaptic islands defined by the territory of a single astrocyte. J. Neurosci. 27, 6473–6477. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1419-07.2007
- Hamdan, F. F., Daoud, H., Piton, A., Gauthier, J., Dobrzeniecka, S., Krebs, M. O., et al. (2011a). De novo SYNGAP1 mutations in nonsyndromic intellectual disability and autism. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, 898–901. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych. 2010.11.015
- Hamdan, F. F., Gauthier, J., Araki, Y., Lin, D. T., Yoshizawa, Y., Higashi, K., et al. (2011b). Excess of de novo deleterious mutations in genes associated with glutamatergic systems in nonsyndromic intellectual disability. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 88, 306–316. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.02.001
- Hamdan, F. F., Gauthier, J., Spiegelman, D., Noreau, A., Yang, Y., Pellerin, S., et al. (2009). Mutations in SYNGAP1 in autosomal nonsyndromic mental retardation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 360, 599–605. doi: 10.1056/nejmx0 90052
- Hamdan, F. F., Srour, M., Capo-Chichi, J. M., Daoud, H., Nassif, C., Patry, L., et al. (2014). De novo mutations in moderate or severe intellectual disability. *PLoS Genet.* 10:e1004772. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen. 1004772
- Haydon, P. G. (2000). Neuroglial networks: neurons and glia talk to each other. *Curr. Biol.* 10, R712–R714. doi: 10.1016/s0960-9822(00)00708-9
- Hensch, T. K. (2005). Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 877–888. doi: 10.1038/nrn1787
- Huang, K. (2009). SYNGAP: bridging the gap between genetic factors and autosomal non-syndromic mental retardation. *Clin. Genet.* 76, 149–151. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0004.2009.01247_3.x
- Husi, H., Ward, M. A., Choudhary, J. S., Blackstock, W. P., and Grant, S. G. (2000). Proteomic analysis of NMDA receptor-adhesion protein signaling complexes. *Nat. Neurosci.* 3, 661–669. doi: 10.1038/76615
- Iida, N., Namikawa, K., Kiyama, H., Ueno, H., Nakamura, S., and Hattori, S. (2001). Requirement of Ras for the activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase by calcium influx, cAMP and neurotrophin in hippocampal neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 6459–6466. doi: 0270-6474/01/216459-08
- Jacobs, S., and Doering, L. C. (2010). Astrocytes prevent abnormal neuronal development in the fragile x mouse. J. Neurosci. 30, 4508–4514. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.5027-09.2010
- Jacobs, S., Nathwani, M., and Doering, L. C. (2010). Fragile X astrocytes induce developmental delays in dendrite maturation and synaptic protein expression. *BMC Neurosci.* 11:132. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-11-132
- Kennedy, M. B. (1997). The postsynaptic density at glutamatergic synapses. Trends Neurosci. 20, 264–268.
- Kennedy, M. B., Beale, H. C., Carlisle, H. J., and Washburn, L. R. (2005). Integration of biochemical signalling in spines. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 6, 423–434. doi: 10.1038/nrn1685
- Kerchner, G. A., and Nicoll, R. A. (2008). Silent synapses and the emergence of a postsynaptic mechanism for LTP. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 813–825. doi: 10. 1038/nrn2501
- Kim, J. H., Lee, H. K., Takamiya, K., and Huganir, R. L. (2003). The role of synaptic GTPase-activating protein in neuronal development and synaptic plasticity. J. Neurosci. 23, 1119–1124.
- Kim, J. H., Liao, D., Lau, L. F., and Huganir, R. L. (1998). SynGAP: a synaptic RasGAP that associates with the PSD-95/SAP90 protein family. *Neuron* 20, 683–691. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)81008-9
- Kim, J. S., Kornhuber, H. H., Schmid-Burgk, W., and Holzmuller, B. (1980). Low cerebrospinal fluid glutamate in schizophrenic patients and a new hypothesis on schizophrenia. *Neurosci. Lett.* 20, 379–382. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(80)90178-0

- Knuesel, I., Elliott, A., Chen, H. J., Mansuy, I. M., and Kennedy, M. B. (2005). A role for synGAP in regulating neuronal apoptosis. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 21, 611–621. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.03908.x
- Komiyama, N. H., Watabe, A. M., Carlisle, H. J., Porter, K., Charlesworth, P., Monti, J., et al. (2002). SynGAP regulates ERK/MAPK signaling, synaptic plasticity and learning in the complex with postsynaptic density 95 and NMDA receptor. J. Neurosci. 22, 9721–9732. doi: 0270-6474/02/229721-12
- Krapivinsky, G., Medina, I., Krapivinsky, L., Gapon, S., and Clapham, D. E. (2004). SynGAP-MUPP1-CaMKII synaptic complexes regulate p38 MAP kinase activity and NMDA receptor-dependent synaptic AMPA receptor potentiation. *Neuron* 43, 563–574. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.08.003
- Krepischi, A. C., Rosenberg, C., Costa, S. S., Crolla, J. A., Huang, S., and Vianna-Morgante, A. M. (2010). A novel de novo microdeletion spanning the SYNGAP1 gene on the short arm of chromosome 6 associated with mental retardation. Am. J. Med. Genet. A 152A, 2376–2378. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a. 33554
- Kroon, T., Sierksma, M. C., and Meredith, R. M. (2013). Investigating mechanisms underlying neurodevelopmental phenotypes of autistic and intellectual disability disorders: a perspective. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 7:75. doi: 10.3389/fnsys. 2013.00075
- Lai, K. O., and Ip, N. Y. (2013). Structural plasticity of dendritic spines: the underlying mechanisms and its dysregulation in brain disorders. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1832, 2257–2263. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.08.012
- Lau, C. G., and Zukin, R. S. (2007). NMDA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 413–426. doi: 10.1038/nrn2171
- Lemmon, M. A., and Ferguson, K. M. (2000). Signal-dependent membrane targeting by pleckstrin homology (PH) domains. *Biochem. J.* 350, 1–18. doi: 10. 1042/bj3500001
- Li, Q., Lee, J. A., and Black, D. L. (2007). Neuronal regulation of alternative premRNA splicing. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 819–831. doi: 10.1038/nrn2237
- Li, Y. X., Schaffner, A. E., Walton, M. K., and Barker, J. L. (1998). Astrocytes regulate developmental changes in the chloride ion gradient of embryonic rat ventral spinal cord neurons in culture. *J. Physiol.* 509, 847–858. doi: 10.1111/j. 1469-7793.1998.847bm.x
- Lin, Y. C., and Koleske, A. J. (2010). Mechanisms of synapse and dendrite maintenance and their disruption in psychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 33, 349–378. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-060909-153204
- Lipscombe, D. (2005). Neuronal proteins custom designed by alternative splicing. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 15, 358–363. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2005.04.002
- Liu, Q. Y., Schaffner, A. E., Li, Y. X., Dunlap, V., and Barker, J. L. (1996). Upregulation of GABAA current by astrocytes in cultured embryonic rat hippocampal neurons. J. Neurosci. 16, 2912–2923.
- McKinney, R. A. (2005). Physiological roles of spine motility: development, plasticity and disorders. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 33, 1299–1302. doi: 10. 1042/bst0331299
- McMahon, A. C., Barnett, M. W., O'leary, T. S., Stoney, P. N., Collins, M. O., Papadia, S., et al. (2012). SynGAP isoforms exert opposing effects on synaptic strength. *Nat. Commun.* 3:900. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1900
- Melom, J. E., and Littleton, J. T. (2011). Synapse development in health and disease. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 21, 256–261. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2011.01.002
- Meredith, R. M., Dawitz, J., and Kramvis, I. (2012). Sensitive time-windows for susceptibility in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Trends Neurosci.* 35, 335–344. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2012.03.005
- Muhia, M., Yee, B. K., Feldon, J., Markopoulos, F., and Knuesel, I. (2010). Disruption of hippocampus-regulated behavioural and cognitive processes by heterozygous constitutive deletion of SynGAP. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 31, 529–543. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07079.x
- Muller, C. M., and Best, J. (1989). Ocular dominance plasticity in adult cat visual cortex after transplantation of cultured astrocytes. *Nature* 342, 427–430. doi: 10. 1038/342427a0
- Niethammer, M., Kim, E., and Sheng, M. (1996). Interaction between the C terminus of NMDA receptor subunits and multiple members of the PSD-95 family of membrane-associated guanylate kinases. J. Neurosci. 16, 2157–2163.
- Noguchi, J., Nagaoka, A., Watanabe, S., Ellis-Davies, G. C., Kitamura, K., Kano, M., et al. (2011). *In vivo* two-photon uncaging of glutamate revealing the structure-function relationships of dendritic spines in the neocortex of

adult mice. J. Physiol. Lond. 589, 2447-2457. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011. 207100

- Ogden, K. K., Ozkan, E. D., and Rumbaugh, G. (2015). Prioritizing the development of mouse models for childhood brain disorders. *Neuropharmacology*. 100, 2–16. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.07.029
- Ozkan, E. D., Creson, T. K., Kramar, E. A., Rojas, C., Seese, R. R., Babyan, A. H., et al. (2014). Reduced cognition in Syngap1 mutants is caused by isolated damage within developing forebrain excitatory neurons. *Neuron* 82, 1317–1333. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.05.015
- Pacey, L. K., and Doering, L. C. (2007). Developmental expression of FMRP in the astrocyte lineage: implications for fragile X syndrome. *Glia* 55, 1601–1609. doi: 10.1002/glia.20573
- Parpura, V., Heneka, M. T., Montana, V., Oliet, S. H., Schousboe, A., Haydon, P. G., et al. (2012). Glial cells in (patho)physiology. *J. Neurochem.* 121, 4–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2012.07664.x
- Patterson, M., and Yasuda, R. (2011). Signalling pathways underlying structural plasticity of dendritic spines. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 163, 1626–1638. doi: 10.1111/j. 1476-5381.2011.01328.x
- Pavlowsky, A., Chelly, J., and Billuart, P. (2012). Emerging major synaptic signaling pathways involved in intellectual disability. *Mol. Psychiatry* 17, 682–693. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.139
- Peca, J., Feliciano, C., Ting, J. T., Wang, W., Wells, M. F., Venkatraman, T. N., et al. (2011). Shank3 mutant mice display autistic-like behaviours and striatal dysfunction. *Nature* 472, 437–442. doi: 10.1038/nature09965
- Pena, V., Hothorn, M., Eberth, A., Kaschau, N., Parret, A., Gremer, L., et al. (2008). The C2 domain of SynGAP is essential for stimulation of the Rap GTPase reaction. *EMBO Rep.* 9, 350–355. doi: 10.1038/embor.2008.20
- Penzes, P., Cahill, M. E., Jones, K. A., Vanleeuwen, J. E., and Woolfrey, K. M. (2011). Dendritic spine pathology in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 285–293. doi: 10.1038/nn.2741
- Pèrez-Otaño, I., and Ehlers, M. D. (2004). Learning from NMDA receptor trafficking: clues to the development and maturation of glutamatergic synapses. *Neurosignals* 13, 175–189. doi: 10.1159/000077524
- Pfrieger, F. W., and Barres, B. A. (1997). Synaptic efficacy enhanced by glial cells in vitro. Science 277, 1684–1687. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5332.1684
- Porter, K., Komiyama, N. H., Vitalis, T., Kind, P. C., and Grant, S. G. N. (2005). Differential expression of two NMDA receptor interacting proteins, PSD-95 and SynGAP during mouse development. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 21, 351–362. doi: 10. 1111/j.1460-9568.2005.03874.x
- Raj, B., and Blencowe, B. J. (2015). Alternative splicing in the mammalian nervous system: recent insights into mechanisms and functional roles. *Neuron* 87, 14–27. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.05.004
- Ramocki, M. B., and Zoghbi, H. Y. (2008). Failure of neuronal homeostasis results in common neuropsychiatric phenotypes. *Nature* 455, 912–918. doi: 10. 1038/nature07457
- Ropers, H. H., and Hamel, B. C. (2005). X-linked mental retardation. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 6, 46–57. doi: 10.1038/nrg1501
- Rumbaugh, G., Adams, J. P., Kim, J. H., and Huganir, R. L. (2006). SynGAP regulates synaptic strength and mitogen-activated protein kinases in cultured neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 103, 4344–4351. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0600084103
- Spooren, W., Lindemann, L., Ghosh, A., and Santarelli, L. (2012). Synapse dysfunction in autism: a molecular medicine approach to drug discovery in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 33, 669–684. doi: 10. 1016/j.tips.2012.09.004
- State, M. W., and Levitt, P. (2011). The conundrums of understanding genetic risks for autism spectrum disorders. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1499–1506. doi: 10.1038/nn. 2924
- State, M. W., and Sestan, N. (2012). The emerging biology of Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Science* 337, 1301–1303. doi: 10.1126/science. 1224989
- Stevens, B. (2008). Neuron-astrocyte signaling in the development and plasticity of neural circuits. *Neurosignals* 16, 278–288. doi: 10.1159/000123038
- Südhof, T. C. (2008). Neuroligins and neurexins link synaptic function to cognitive disease. Nature 455, 903–911. doi: 10.1038/nature07456
- Ullian, E. M., Sapperstein, S. K., Christopherson, K. S., and Barres, B. A. (2001). Control of synapse number by glia. *Science* 291, 657–661. doi: 10.1126/science. 291.5504.657

- van Bokhoven, H. (2011). Genetic and epigenetic networks in intellectual disabilities. Annu. Rev. Genet. 45, 81–104. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-110410-132512
- van der Staay, F. J., Arndt, S. S., and Nordquist, R. E. (2009). Evaluation of animal models of neurobehavioral disorders. *Behav. Brain Funct.* 5:11. doi: 10. 1186/1744-9081-5-11
- van Spronsen, M., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2010). Synapse pathology in psychiatric and neurologic disease. *Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep.* 10, 207–214. doi: 10. 1007/s11910-010-0104-8
- Vazquez, L. E., Chen, H. J., Sokolova, I., Knuesel, I., and Kennedy, M. B. (2004). SynGAP regulates spine formation. J. Neurosci. 24, 8862–8872. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.3213-04.2004
- Volianskis, A., France, G., Jensen, M. S., Bortolotto, Z. A., Jane, D. E., and Collingridge, G. L. (2015). Long-term potentiation and the role of N-methyl-daspartate receptors. *Brain Res.* 1621, 5–16. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015.01.016
- Volk, L., Chiu, S. L., Sharma, K., and Huganir, R. L. (2015). Glutamate synapses in human cognitive disorders. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 38, 127–149. doi: 10. 1146/annurev-neuro-071714-033821
- Volk, L. J., Pfeiffer, B. E., Gibson, J. R., and Huber, K. M. (2007). Multiple Gq-Coupled receptors converge on a common protein synthesis-dependent longterm depression that is affected in fragile X syndrome mental retardation. J. Neurosci. 27, 11624–11634. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2266-07.2007
- Walkup, W. G. T., Washburn, L., Sweredoski, M. J., Carlisle, H. J., Graham, R. L., Hess, S., et al. (2015). Phosphorylation of synaptic GTPase-activating protein (synGAP) by Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) and cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (CDK5) alters the ratio of its GAP activity toward Ras and Rap GTPases. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 4908–4927. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m114. 614420
- Wang, C. C., Held, R. G., and Hall, B. J. (2013). SynGAP regulates protein synthesis and homeostatic synaptic plasticity in developing cortical networks. *PLoS One* 8:e83941. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083941
- Wang, H., Ku, L., Osterhout, D. J., Li, W., Ahmadian, A., Liang, Z., et al. (2004). Developmentally-programmed FMRP expression in oligodendrocytes: a potential role of FMRP in regulating translation in oligodendroglia progenitors. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 13, 79–89. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddh009

- Writzl, K., and Knegt, A. C. (2013). 6p21.3 microdeletion involving the SYNGAP1 gene in a patient with intellectual disability, seizures and severe speech impairment. Am. J. Med. Genet. A. 161A, 1682–1685. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a. 35930
- Xu, W. (2011). PSD-95-like membrane associated guanylate kinases (PSD-MAGUKs) and synaptic plasticity. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 21, 306–312. doi: 10. 1016/j.conb.2011.03.001
- Yamamuro, K., Kimoto, S., Rosen, K. M., Kishimoto, T., and Makinodan, M. (2015). Potential primary roles of glial cells in the mechanisms of psychiatric disorders. *Front. Cell. Neurosci.* 9:154. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00154
- Yang, Y., Tao-Cheng, J. H., Bayer, K. U., Reese, T. S., and Dosemeci, A. (2013). Camkii-mediated phosphorylation regulates distributions of Syngapalpha1 and -alpha2 at the postsynaptic density. *PLoS One* 8:e71795. doi: 10. 1371/journal.pone.0071795
- Yashiro, K., and Philpot, B. D. (2008). Regulation of NMDA receptor subunit expression and its implications for LTD, LTP and metaplasticity. *Neuropharmacology* 55, 1081–1094. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.07.046
- Zoghbi, H. Y., and Bear, M. F. (2012). Synaptic dysfunction in neurodevelopmental disorders associated with autism and intellectual disabilities. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 4:a009886. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009886
- Zollino, M., Gurrieri, F., Orteschi, D., Marangi, G., Leuzzi, V., and Neri, G. (2011). Integrated analysis of clinical signs and literature data for the diagnosis and therapy of a previously undescribed 6p21.3 deletion syndrome. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 19, 239–242. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2010.172

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Jeyabalan and Clement. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Cross-talk and regulation between glutamate and GABA_B receptors

Sriharsha Kantamneni *

Bradford School of Pharmacy, School of Life Sciences, University of Bradford, Bradford, West Yorkshire, UK

Brain function depends on co-ordinated transmission of signals from both excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitters acting upon target neurons. NMDA, AMPA and mGluR receptors are the major subclasses of glutamate receptors that are involved in excitatory transmission at synapses, mechanisms of activity dependent synaptic plasticity, brain development and many neurological diseases. In addition to canonical role of regulating presynaptic release and activating postsynaptic potassium channels, GABAB receptors also regulate glutamate receptors. There is increasing evidence that metabotropic GABA_B receptors are now known to play an important role in modulating the excitability of circuits throughout the brain by directly influencing different types of postsynaptic glutamate receptors. Specifically, GABA_B receptors affect the expression, activity and signaling of glutamate receptors under physiological and pathological conditions. Conversely, NMDA receptor activity differentially regulates GABA_B receptor subunit expression, signaling and function. In this review I will describe how GABAB receptor activity influence glutamate receptor function and vice versa. Such a modulation has widespread implications for the control of neurotransmission, calcium-dependent neuronal function, pain pathways and in various psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Rostislav Turecek, Academy of Sciences of Czech Republic, Czech Republic William Martin Connelly, Cardiff University, UK

*Correspondence:

Sriharsha Kantamneni, Bradford School of Pharmacy, School of Life Sciences, University of Bradford, Norcroft Building 2.12, Richmond Road, Bradford, West Yorkshire - BD7 1DP, UK Tel: 0044 (0) 1274 236072 s.kantamneni@bradford.ac.uk

> Received: 17 October 2014 Accepted: 23 March 2015 Published: 10 April 2015

Citation:

Kantamneni S (2015) Cross-talk and regulation between glutamate and GABA_B receptors. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 9:135. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00135 Keywords: glutamate receptor, NMDAR, GABA_BR, AMPAR, AKAP, receptor regulation, receptor trafficking and mGluR

Introduction

Most excitatory signals that a neuron receives are mediated via glutamate receptors whereas most inhibitory signals are mediated via γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors (Cherubini et al., 1991; Hollmann and Heinemann, 1994). Many factors influence the regulation of excitatory and inhibitory synaptic inputs on a given neuron. One important factor is the subtype of neurotransmitter receptors present at not only the correct location to receive the appropriate signals but also their abundance at synapses (Dingledine et al., 1999; Sheng and Kim, 2011). Thus the molecular mechanisms that regulate receptor expression and localization at specific sites are of considerable importance. This review will describe the recent advances in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying glutamate and GABA_B receptors cross-talk and discuss the roles of specific proteins that might control these processes.

Glutamate receptors are the major excitatory neurotransmitter receptors in the brain and play an important role in neural plasticity and development. Improper function of glutamate receptors is involved in various psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases (Mattson, 2008; Musazzi et al., 2013). N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs), α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate receptors (AMPARs) and kainate receptors are glutamate-gated ion channels, whereas metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) are G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) that signal downstream via interaction with heterotrimeric Gproteins. Pharmacological and molecular biological studies have revealed that glutamate receptors exist as different subclasses, where receptor subtypes comprise multiple subunits such as NMDA receptors (GluN1 to GluN3), AMPA receptors (GluA1 to GluA4), kainate receptors (GluK1 to GluK5) and mGlu receptors (mGluR1 to mGluR8) (for reviews, see Nakanishi et al., 1998; Lodge, 2009; Nicoletti et al., 2011).

Conversely, GABA receptors are the primary proteins responsible for inhibitory responses in the brain. Metabotropic GABA receptors (GABA_BRs) are GPCRs that can mediate slow inhibitory neurotransmission in the CNS. GABA_BRs are located at both presynaptic and postsynaptic compartments and changes in their number, localization and activity affect the level of synaptic inhibition. Presynaptic GABA_BRs inhibit release of neurotransmitter by inhibiting Ca²⁺ channels (Wu and Saggau, 1995; Takahashi et al., 1998). Activation of postsynaptic GABA_BRs activates inwardly rectifying K^+ channels (GIRK) to generate slow inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (reviewed in Marshall et al., 1999; Bowery et al., 2002; Gainetdinov et al., 2004). The GABA_BR is a heteromeric GPCR consisting of GABA_{B1} and GABA_{B2} subunits that exert much longer lasting synaptic inhibition compared to GABA_A ion channels (Marshall et al., 1999; Watanabe et al., 2002). The ligandbinding domain (Malitschek et al., 1999) is present in GABA_{B1} subunit and G-proteins interact with GABA_{B2} to regulate adenylate cyclase, GIRK channels and Ca²⁺ channels (Robbins et al., 2001). A large body of work over the last 20 years has demonstrated that GABAB receptors are regulated via mechanisms distinct from those utilized by many classical GPCRs such as the β_2 -adrenergic receptor (Bettler and Tiao, 2006). For example, following agonist exposure most GPCRs are phosphorylated and endocytosed from the cell surface into intracellular compartments and then either down-regulated via lysosomal or proteasomal degradation or recycled back to the cell surface following agonist removal. In contrast, cell surface GABA_B receptor levels are not significantly altered upon receptor stimulation in cultured cortical and hippocampal neurons (Fairfax et al., 2004; Bettler and Tiao, 2006). GABAB receptors are very stable at the plasma membrane even after agonist exposure with little internalization in cultured neurons. The absence of receptor endocytosis correlates with lack of arrestin recruitment and agonist-induced phosphorylation (Fairfax et al., 2004). Surprisingly, increased phosphorylation at serine 892 in GABA_{B2} subunit decreased degradation rates and stabilizes surface GABA_BRs in neurons (Couve et al., 2004; Fairfax et al., 2004).

The main regulatory sites on both glutamate receptors and GABA_BRs are their intracellular C-terminal tails. Depending on the activity or stimulation received by the receptors, the C-terminal domains bind to various proteins including enzymes, scaffolds, and trafficking and signaling proteins (De La Rue and Henley, 2002). These sites sometimes also mediate complex formation during a cross-talk between the receptors. Many immunocytochemical and electron microscopy studies have

demonstrated that glutamatergic synapses are enriched with GABA_BRs (Fritschy et al., 1999; Luján and Shigemoto, 2006). There is also increasing evidence that NMDARs, AMPARs and mGluRs are modulated directly and sometimes indirectly by GABA_BRs (Morrisett et al., 1991; Hirono et al., 2001; Otmakhova and Lisman, 2004; Tabata et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2006; Chalifoux and Carter, 2010; Gandal et al., 2012; Terunuma et al., 2014). Conversely, GABA_BR subunits are differentially regulated by glutamate receptor subtypes under various stimulation protocols (Vargas et al., 2008; Cimarosti et al., 2009; Guetg et al., 2010; Maier et al., 2010; Terunuma et al., 2010; Kantamneni et al., 2014). The sections below in this review will follow this theme of regulation or modulation between GABA_B and glutamate receptors. This cross-talk provides important regulatory mechanisms, for example, in altering presynaptic release or changes to membrane potential, but also alters the function of glutamate receptors, which may prove useful in a therapeutic context.

GABA_BR-Mediated Regulation of Glutamate Receptor Function

GABA_BR Regulation of NMDAR-Dependent Post-Synaptic Calcium Signals

The major synaptic Ca²⁺ signals in the brain are mediated via NMDARs, which are crucial for activity-dependent changes in synaptic plasticity (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993; Mainen et al., 1999; Malenka and Bear, 2004). These Ca²⁺ signals are thought to be inhibited by GABA_B receptors via modulation of K⁺ channels, resulting in a hyperpolarization that decreases the Ca²⁺ influx and overall current by enhancing Mg^{2+} blockade of NMDARs. (Morrisett et al., 1991; Otmakhova and Lisman, 2004; Deng et al., 2009). Interestingly, it has also been demonstrated recently that Ca²⁺ influx via NMDARs is inhibited by GABA_B receptor activation (Chalifoux and Carter, 2010). This effect on NMDARs is independent of K⁺ channel and voltage sensitive Ca²⁺ channel activation, $G\beta\gamma$ subunits and internal Ca²⁺ stores. Via coupling to $G\alpha_i/G\alpha_o$ G proteins, GABA_BRs inhibit adenylate cyclase to reduce PKA activity by decreasing cAMP levels. The Ca²⁺ influx via NMDA receptors is normally increased by PKA activity and reduction of PKA activity by GABA_BRs inhibits Ca²⁺ signals (Chalifoux and Carter, 2010). GABA_BR-mediated postsynaptic modulation through the PKA pathway does not affect synaptic currents mediated by NMDA or AMPA receptors (Chalifoux and Carter, 2010). As outlined below, protein kinases such as PKA and phosphatases such as PP1/2 and calcineurin (CaN) are regulated via AKAPs (A Kinase Anchoring Proteins) and mediate signaling where they act as scaffold molecules (see below for further insights).

NMDAR and GABA_BR Cross-Talk in Disease

Recently it has been demonstrated that, there is clear interplay between $GABA_B$ and NMDA receptors not only in physiological functions but also in pathological situations. Altered NMDAR activity is observed in models of pain and neuropsychiatric disorders, but an interesting phenomenon is that these phenotypes can be rescued with GABA_BR ligands. For example,

in diabetic neuropathy, NMDAR expression is increased in spinal cord dorsal horn, while GABA_B receptors are down regulated at protein level (Wang et al., 2011). Using streptozotocin (STZ)-induced diabetic neuropathy rat models (STZ), it has been found that intrathecal injection of the GABA_BR agonist baclofen significantly increased paw withdrawal threshold. This effect was blocked with pre-treatment of CGP55845, a GABA_BR—selective antagonist (Bai et al., 2014). In STZ rats, changes in expression were observed in both cyclic AMP response element-binding protein (CREB) and GluN2B, which were significantly increased at the protein (CREB and GluN2B) and mRNA level (GluN2B) in spinal cord. The higher expression levels of both GluN2B and phosphorylated CREB proteins were significantly reduced by administration of baclofen (Liu et al., 2014). Importantly, baclofen-induced reduction of GluN2B and CREB expression was abolished when CGP55845 was preadministered, suggesting that GABA_BR activation in the spinal cord dorsal horn can normalize NMDAR expression levels in diabetic neuropathic pain (Wang et al., 2011; Bai et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2014).

In contrast, reduced NMDA receptor functionality has been observed in neuropsychiatric disorders like intellectual disability, autism and schizophrenia (Gonda, 2012). For example, a mouse model expressing a reduced amount of GluN1 subunit (NR1^{neo-/-} mice) was characterized to mimic schizophreniclike behavior (Mohn et al., 1999). These mice have increased power in the gamma (30-80 Hz) EEG range during rest, but show a reduced auditory-stimulus evoked gamma power (reduced gamma signal-to-noise), causing changes in excitatory/inhibitory balance, and express treatment resistant symptoms of autism and schizophrenia (Gandal et al., 2012). Treating NR1neo-/mice with baclofen restored excitatory/inhibitory balance, neural synchrony and also improved social function and spatial memory deficits (Gandal et al., 2012). To summarize, diseases characterized by NMDA receptor dysfunction, have the additional possibility of using GABA_B receptors as an appropriate target for therapy that could possibly pave the way to restore abnormalities in many other neurological diseases.

GABA_BR Cross-Talk with AMPARs

Surface expression of AMPA receptors was increased in a knock-in mouse model in which wild-type GABA_{B2}R was replaced with a S783A-mutated version which cannot be phosphorylated (Terunuma et al., 2014). The S783 on GABAB2 subunit is phosphorylated by AMP-dependent protein kinase (AMPK), which in-turn enhances receptor coupling to GIRKs (Kuramoto et al., 2007). Activating NMDARs transiently results in increased phosphorylation whereas prolonged activation results in dephosphorylation of GABA_BRs by protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A). GABA_BRs stability at cell surface is due to high constitutive phosphorylation of GABA_{B2}R and dephosphorylation of this subunit selectively targets the receptors for lysosomal degradation (Fairfax et al., 2004; Terunuma et al., 2010). The expression of GABA_BR was increased with the mutation due to reduced degradation, leading to decreased level of Arc/Arg3.1 protein necessary for memory consolidation. This, in turn, increased the number of

GABA_BR Cross-Talk with mGluRs

Long-term depression (LTD) at cerebellar parallel fiber Purkinje cell synapses is a form of synaptic plasticity critical for cerebellar motor learning and requires the activation of the metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR1 (Ichise et al., 2000; Ito, 2001). GABA_BRs are concentrated at cerebellar parallel fiber Purkinje cell synapses and have many functions that are both dependent and independent of GABA. GABA_BRs and mGluR1 are highly co-expressed in cerebellar Purkinje cells, and display very similar subcellular localizations throughout development (Ige et al., 2000; Luján and Shigemoto, 2006; Rives et al., 2009). Electrophysiological studies have shown that at Purkinje cell synapses, GABABR activation inhibits neurotransmitter release by inhibiting calcium channels as well as affecting release processes (Dittman and Regehr, 1996, 1997; Vigot and Batini, 1997). Extracellular Ca²⁺ interacts with GABA_BR in cerebellar Purkinje cells, leading to an increase in the glutamate sensitivity of mGluR1. This sensitization of mGluR1 to glutamate is specifically mediated by GABA_BRs as it is absent in cells from $GABA_{B1}^{-/-}$ animals. It has also been shown that both GPCRs form a complex in cerebellum and that extracellular Ca²⁺-mediated crosstalk is not mediated via Gi/o proteins (Tabata et al., 2004). Activity-dependent GABABR inhibition by selective antagonists reduces the magnitude of LTD at parallel fiber Purkinje cell synapses (Kamikubo et al., 2007; Rives et al., 2009). In summary GABABRs not only mediate classical synaptic GABAergic neurotransmission but also regulate mGluR signaling and cerebellar synaptic plasticity.

NMDAR-Mediated Regulation of $GABA_{B}R$ Function

GABA_BRs are very stable at cell surface in terms of agonist stimulation and the number of cell surface GABA_BRs is primarily controlled by glutamate and not GABA in central neurons (Fairfax et al., 2004; Vargas et al., 2008). Sustained application of glutamate leads to GABA_BR endocytosis, trafficking to lysosomes and subsequent degradation, resulting in a decrease in receptor expression at the cell membrane (Vargas et al., 2008; Maier et al., 2010). Further dissection of the effect of glutamate indicated that activation of AMPA and NMDA receptors is required for the down-regulation of GABA_BRs and that this effect is enhanced by activation of the group I mGluRs (mGlu1 and mGlu5) (Maier et al., 2010). Activation of NMDARs alone leads to downregulation and degradation of GABA_{B1} and GABA_{B2} subunits, thereby reducing cell surface expression (Guetg et al., 2010; Terunuma et al., 2010; Kantamneni et al., 2014). Mechanistically, NMDAR activation triggers GABA_{B1} subunit phosphorylation on Ser867 by CaMKII, causing a CaMKII-dependent down regulation (Guetg et al., 2010). In both hippocampal and cortical cultured neurons NMDAR activation also alters the

phosphorylation state of GABA_{B2} subunit on Ser783, resulting in endocytosis and lysosomal degradation of the receptor complex (Terunuma et al., 2010). The GABA_{B2} subunit is also rapidly phosphorylated by AMPK upon NMDAR activation. Prolonged NMDAR activation subsequently results in GABA_{B2} subunit dephosphorylation by PP2A, which decreases the number of cell surface receptors (Terunuma et al., 2010).

Recently it has been shown that selective activation of synaptic NMDARs using chemically induced LTP (long-term potentiation) protocol (chem-LTP) leads to an increase in surface GABA_B receptors (Kantamneni et al., 2014). In the chem-LTP protocol, glycine (along with strychnine and bicuculline-to block glycine and GABA_A receptors, respectively) was used to specifically activate synaptic NMDARs, leading to significant increase in surface expression of AMPARs (Lu et al., 2001; Park et al., 2004). Prolonged activation of extrasynaptic NMDARs promotes cell death, whereas activation of synaptic NMDARs mediates synaptic plasticity and is thought to be involved in neuroprotection via modulation of nuclear Ca²⁺ signaling (Hardingham and Bading, 2010). Using the chem-LTP method, both GABA_{B1} and GABA_{B2} receptor subunit expression on the cell surface were increased in cultured rat hippocampal neurons due to enhanced receptor recycling from intracellular pools (Kantamneni et al., 2014).

GABA_BR subunits are differentially regulated under oxygen/glucose deprivation (OGD) conditions, which stimulates release of excess glutamate resulting in excitotoxic activation of NMDARs (Papadia and Hardingham, 2007; Cimarosti et al., 2009; Kantamneni et al., 2014). After OGD, expression of GABA_{B1} subunits at the cell surface is increased via enhanced recycling, while total cellular and cell surface expression levels of GABA_{B2} subunits are decreased due to reduced recycling (Cimarosti et al., 2009; Kantamneni et al., 2014; Maier et al., 2014). Removing GABA_{B2} subunit will decrease the number of functional GABABRs, as both subunits are required for normal signaling. In conclusion, the above findings demonstrate that the expression and regulation of GABA_BR subunits are dynamically regulated in response to synaptic and prolonged/global stimulation of NMDARs. Moreover, NMDAR regulation of GABA_BRs may be important under conditions of neurological disease, such as epilepsy or ischemia.

Anchoring and Scaffold Proteins as Possible Mediators of GABA/Glutamate Receptor Cross-Talk

Both GABAergic and glutamatergic receptor complexes are regulated and orchestrated by anchoring and scaffold proteins, which are increasingly being implicated in the cross-talk between the two systems. Components of receptor signalosome are typically localized together via scaffold proteins, which coassemble receptors with regulatory proteins such as protein kinases and phosphatases. AKAPs are typical examples of this class of scaffold proteins (Wong and Scott, 2004). For example, AKAP5 (or AKAP79/150) is thought to localize PKA, protein kinase C (PKC) and the calmodulin-activated protein phosphatase calcineurin (CaN) at specific synaptic sites to regulate excitatory synaptic strength (Gomez et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2006; Robertson et al., 2009; Jurado et al., 2010). AKAP5 is linked to NMDARs via PSD-95 (Colledge et al., 2000). AKAP5 is known to be a master scaffolding protein that links many proteins including kinases, phosphatases, cadherins, F-actin, MAGUKs and PIP₂ together with ion channels and receptors to regulate activity dependent signaling processes at synapses (Tunquist et al., 2008; Sanderson and Dell'Acqua, 2011). Many of the proteins binding to AKAP5 (such as PKA, PP2B) also regulate GABA_BRs and perhaps there is possibility that AKAP5 scaffolding function may be required for glutamate/GABA receptors cross-talk.

Yotiao is another AKAP protein derived from alternative splicing of AKAP9 (also known as AKAP350/450) and plays a major role in regulating NMDARs. Yotiao was first identified as a binding partner of the GluN1 subunit and later found to be an AKAP via its ability to bind PKA-RII subunits *in vitro* (Lin et al., 1998; Westphal et al., 1999). Yotiao binds both protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) and PKA to form a phosphatase-kinase signaling complex with the GluN1A receptor splice variant. The Yotiao-PP1-PKA complex functions as dual switch, in that activation of anchored PKA enhances NMDAR currents while activation of PP1 exerts an inhibitory effect on NMDAR activity (Westphal et al., 1999; Colledge et al., 2000).

GABA_{B1}Rs were previously shown to interact with a scaffold protein, GISP that enhances cell surface expression of heteromeric complex GABA_{B1}/GABA_{B2} (Kantamneni et al., 2007). GISP is an AKAP9 C-terminal splice variant with more than 90% similarity to AKAP9 but lacking any RII domain, which are PKA binding sites (Kantamneni et al., 2007). As mentioned previously, the NMDAR binding protein Yotiao is also an AKAP9 splice variant, but within the N-terminal region. Therefore, theoretically, AKAP9 could interact simultaneously with NMDARs and GABA_BRs as well as regulatory protein kinases and phosphatases. Thus, while speculative, it is tempting to suggest that AKAP9 functions to assemble the signaling complex responsible for mediating the observed cross-talk between the NMDARs and GABA_BRs. From expression studies it is known that AKAP9 is expressed in the brain and localized to synapses (Collado-Hilly and Coquil, 2009). In similarity to the AKAP5-CaN_PP2B-PKA complex, the AKAP9-PKA-PP1 complex might exist as one large macromolecular complex held together with receptor proteins such as GABABRs and NMDARs. At least in yeast-two hybrid assay it has been confirmed that GISP does not interact with NMDAR sub-type 1 (Kantamneni et al., 2007). GISP binding to other subtypes of NMDARs or Yotiao binding to GABA_BRs has not been tested, and that this warrants further work. Another protein that may potentially mediate direct crosstalk between GABABR signaling and glutamate receptor signaling is CaMKII. CaMKII is a Ca²⁺ calmodulin dependent protein kinase, previously been shown to interact with both GABAB and NMDA receptors and regulate NMDAR mediated plasticity (Bayer et al., 2001; Guetg et al., 2010; El Gaamouch et al., 2012). Unlike the earlier examples of indirect receptor modulation, AKAPs and other signaling molecules like CaMKII potentially function as direct links between glutamate

and $GABA_B$ receptors. If further characterized these complexes may eventually serve as potential drug targets.

Conclusions

Taken together we can conclude that there is very tight regulation between glutamate and GABA_B receptors. Regulation of NMDAR-mediated synaptic signals by GABA_BRs comprises a powerful mechanism for controlling the major excitatory systems in brain. Conversely, NMDAR-mediated control of GABA_BRs is clearly an important emerging concept in dictating the balance of excitability in the brain. Studying the trafficking and signaling pathways utilized by these excitatory and inhibitory receptors in an integrated manner will undoubtedly provide more understanding of these critical regulatory mechanisms and will ultimately shed light on how the balance between

References

- Bai, H., Liu, P., Wu, Y., Guo, W., Guo, Y., and Wang, X. (2014). Activation of spinal GABAB receptors normalizes N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in diabetic neuropathy. J. Neurol. Sci. 341, 68–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2014.04.002
- Bayer, K., De Koninck, P., Leonard, A., Hell, J., and Schulman, H. (2001). Interaction with the NMDA receptor locks CaMKII in an active conformation. *Nature* 411, 801–805. doi: 10.1038/35081080
- Bettler, B., and Tiao, J. (2006). Molecular diversity, trafficking and subcellular localization of GABAB receptors. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 110, 533–543. doi: 10. 1016/j.pharmthera.2006.03.006
- Bliss, T., and Collingridge, G. (1993). A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature* 36, 31–39. doi: 10.1038/361031a0
- Bowery, N., Bettler, B., Froestl, W., Gallagher, J., Marshall, F., Raiteri, M., et al. (2002). International union of pharmacology. XXXIII. Mammalian γ aminobutyric acid(B) receptors: structure and function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 54, 247–264. doi: 10.1124/pr.54.2.247
- Chalifoux, J., and Carter, A. (2010). GABAB receptors modulate NMDA receptor calcium signals in dendritic spines. *Neuron* 66, 101–113. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron. 2010.03.012
- Cherubini, E., Gaiarsa, J., and Ben-Ari, Y. (1991). GABA: an excitatory transmitter in early postnatal life. *Trends Neurosci.* 14, 515–519. doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(91)90003-d
- Cimarosti, H., Kantamneni, S., and Henley, J. (2009). Ischaemia differentially regulates GABA(B) receptor subunits in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. *Neuropharmacology* 56, 1088–1096. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2009. 03.007
- Collado-Hilly, M., and Coquil, J. (2009). Ins(1,4,5)P3 receptor type 1 associates with AKAP9 (AKAP450 variant) and protein kinase A type IIbeta in the Golgi apparatus in cerebellar granule cells. *Biol. Cell* 101, 469–480. doi: 10. 1042/BC20080184
- Colledge, M., Dean, R., Scott, G., Langeberg, L., Huganir, R., and Scott, J. (2000). Targeting of PKA to glutamate receptors through a MAGUK-AKAP complex. *Neuron* 27, 107–119. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(00)00013-1
- Couve, A., Calver, A., Fairfax, B., Moss, S., and Pangalos, M. (2004). Unravelling the unusual signalling properties of the GABA(B) receptor. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 68, 1527–1536. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2004.06.036
- De La Rue, S. A., and Henley, J. M. (2002). Proteins involved in the trafficking and functional synaptic expression of AMPA and KA receptors. *ScientificWorldJournal* 2, 461–482. doi: 10.1100/tsw.2002.97
- Deng, P.-Y., Xiao, Z., Yang, C., Rojanathammanee, L., Grisanti, L., Watt, J., et al. (2009). GABA(B) receptor activation inhibits neuronal excitability and spatial learning in the entorhinal cortex by activating TREK-2 K+ channels. *Neuron* 63, 230–243. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2009.06.022
- Dingledine, R., Borges, K., Bowie, D., and Traynelis, S. (1999). The glutamate receptor ion channels. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 51, 7–61.

excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission is dictated in the brain. While many examples of interactions between glutamate and $GABA_B$ receptors have been discovered, importantly, the molecular players involved in mediating this cross-talk are only just beginning to be discovered. With this in mind, investigation of the potential players in these processes, such as the AKAPs, is an exciting future avenue of study. Ultimately, targeting these specific regulatory pathways may form the basis of new therapies to treat a number of neurological disorders that are characterized by aberrant balance between excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitter systems in the brain.

Acknowledgments

I thank Dr. Kevin Wilkinson, Dr. Daniel Rocca, Prof. Tim Palmer and Dr. Sonia Correa, for critical comments on manuscript.

- Dittman, J. S., and Regehr, W. G. (1996). Contributions of calcium-dependent and calcium-independent mechanisms to presynaptic inhibition at a cerebellar synapse. J. Neurosci. 16, 1623–1633.
- Dittman, J., and Regehr, W. (1997). Mechanism and kinetics of heterosynaptic depression at a cerebellar synapse. J. Neurosci. 17, 9048–9059.
- El Gaamouch, F., Buisson, A., Moustié, O., Lemieux, M., Labrecque, S., Bontempi, B., et al. (2012). Interaction between αCaMKII and GluN2B controls ERKdependent plasticity. J. Neurosci. 32, 10767–10779. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 5622-11.2012
- Fairfax, B., Pitcher, J., Scott, M., Calver, A., Pangalos, M., Moss, S., et al. (2004). Phosphorylation and chronic agonist treatment atypically modulate GABAB receptor cell surface stability. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 12565–12573. doi: 10.1074/jbc. m311389200
- Fritschy, J., Meskenaite, V., Weinmann, O., Honer, M., Benke, D., and Mohler, H. (1999). GABAB-receptor splice variants GB1a and GB1b in rat brain: developmental, regulation, cellular distribution and extrasynaptic localization. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 11, 761–768. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.1999.00481.x
- Gainetdinov, R., Premont, R., Bohn, L., Lefkowitz, R., and Caron, M. (2004). Desensitization of G protein-coupled receptors and neuronal functions. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 27, 107–144. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144206
- Gandal, M., Sisti, J., Klook, K., Ortinski, P., Leitman, V., Liang, Y., et al. (2012). GABAB-mediated rescue of altered excitatory-inhibitory balance, gamma synchrony and behavioral deficits following constitutive NMDARhypofunction. *Transl. Psychiatry* 2:e142. doi: 10.1038/tp.2012.69
- Gomez, L., Alam, S., Smith, K., Horne, E., and Dell'Acqua, M. (2002). Regulation of A-kinase anchoring protein 79/150-cAMP-dependent protein kinase postsynaptic targeting by NMDA receptor activation of calcineurin and remodeling of dendritic actin. J. Neurosci. 22, 7027–7044.
- Gonda, X. (2012). Basic pharmacology of NMDA receptors. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 18, 1558–1567. doi: 10.2174/138161212799958521
- Guetg, N., Abdel Aziz, S., Holbro, N., Turecek, R., Rose, T., Seddik, R., et al. (2010). NMDA receptor-dependent GABAB receptor internalization via CaMKII phosphorylation of serine 867 in GABAB1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 13924–13929. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000909107
- Hardingham, G. E., and Bading, H. (2010). Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 682–696. doi: 10.1038/nrn2911
- Hirono, M., Yoshioka, T., and Konishi, S. (2001). GABA(B) receptor activation enhances mGluR-mediated responses at cerebellar excitatory synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 1207–1216. doi: 10.1038/nn764
- Hollmann, M., and Heinemann, S. (1994). Cloned glutamate receptors. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 17, 31–108. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.17.1.31
- Ichise, T., Kano, M., Hashimoto, K., Yanagihara, D., Nakao, K., Shigemoto, R., et al. (2000). mGluR1 in cerebellar Purkinje cells essential for longterm depression, synapse elimination and motor coordination. *Science* 288, 1832–1835. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5472.1832

- Ige, A., Bolam, J., Billinton, A., White, J., Marshall, F., and Emson, P. (2000). Cellular and sub-cellular localisation of GABA(B1) and GABA(B2) receptor proteins in the rat cerebellum. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 83, 72–80. doi: 10. 1016/s0169-328x(00)00199-6
- Ito, M. (2001). Cerebellar long-term depression: characterization, signal transduction and functional roles. *Physiol. Rev.* 81, 1143–1195.
- Jurado, S., Biou, V., and Malenka, R. (2010). A calcineurin/AKAP complex is required for NMDA receptor-dependent long-term depression. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1053–1055. doi: 10.1038/nn.2613
- Kamikubo, Y., Tabata, T., Kakizawa, S., Kawakami, D., Watanabe, M., Ogura, A., et al. (2007). Postsynaptic GABAB receptor signalling enhances LTD in mouse cerebellar Purkinje cells. J. Physiol. 585, 549–563. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2007. 141010
- Kantamneni, S., Corrêa, S., Hodgkinson, G., Meyer, G., Vinh, N., Henley, J., et al. (2007). GISP: a novel brain-specific protein that promotes surface expression and function of GABA(B) receptors. *J. Neurochem.* 100, 1003–1017. doi: 10. 1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04271.x
- Kantamneni, S., Gonzàlez-Gonzàlez, I., Luo, J., Cimarosti, H., Jacobs, S., Jaafari, N., et al. (2014). Differential regulation of GABAB receptor trafficking by different modes of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 6681–6694. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.487348
- Kuramoto, N., Wilkins, M., Fairfax, B., Revilla-Sanchez, R., Terunuma, M., Tamaki, K., et al. (2007). Phospho-dependent functional modulation of GABA(B) receptors by the metabolic sensor AMP-dependent protein kinase. *Neuron* 53, 233–247. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.12.015
- Lin, J., Wyszynski, M., Madhavan, R., Sealock, R., Kim, J., and Sheng, M. (1998). Yotiao, a novel protein of neuromuscular junction and brain that interacts with specific splice variants of NMDA receptor subunit NR1. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 2017–2027.
- Liu, P., Guo, W., Zhao, X., Bai, H., Wang, Q., Wang, X., et al. (2014). Intrathecal baclofen, a GABAB receptor agonist, inhibits the expression of p-CREB and NR2B in the spinal dorsal horn in rats with diabetic neuropathic pain. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 92, 655–660. doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2013-0463
- Lodge, D. (2009). The history of the pharmacology and cloning of ionotropic glutamate receptors and the development of idiosyncratic nomenclature. *Neuropharmacology* 56, 6–21. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.08.006
- Lu, W., Man, H., Ju, W., Trimble, W., MacDonald, J. F., and Wang, Y. T. (2001). Activation of synaptic NMDA receptors induces membrane insertion of new AMPA receptors and LTP in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 29, 243–254. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(01)00194-5
- Luján, R., and Shigemoto, R. (2006). Localization of metabotropic GABA receptor subunits GABAB1 and GABAB2 relative to synaptic sites in the rat developing cerebellum. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 23, 1479–1490. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006. 04669.x
- Maier, P., Marin, I., Grampp, T., Sommer, A., and Benke, D. (2010). Sustained glutamate receptor activation down-regulates GABAB receptors by shifting the balance from recycling to lysosomal degradation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 35606–35614. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.142406
- Maier, P., Zemoura, K., Acuña, M., Yévenes, G., Zeilhofer, H., and Benke, D. (2014). Ischemia-like oxygen and glucose deprivation mediates downregulation of cell surface γ-aminobutyric acidB receptors via the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress-induced transcription factor CCAAT/enhancerbinding protein (C/EBP)-homologous protein (CHOP). J. Biol. Chem. 289, 12896–12907. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.550517
- Mainen, Z., Malinow, R., and Svoboda, K. (1999). Synaptic calcium transients in single spines indicate that NMDA receptors are not saturated. *Nature* 399, 151–155. doi: 10.1038/20187
- Malenka, R. C., and Bear, M. F. (2004). LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. *Neuron* 44, 5–21. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.012
- Malitschek, B., Schweizer, C., Keir, M., Heid, J., Froestl, W., Mosbacher, J., et al. (1999). The N-terminal domain of γ -aminobutyric Acid(B) receptors is sufficient to specify agonist and antagonist binding. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 56, 448–454.
- Marshall, F. H., Jones, K. A., Kaupmann, K., and Bettler, B. (1999). GABA_B receptors—the first 7TM heterodimers. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 20, 396–399. doi: 10.1016/s0165-6147(99)01383-8
- Mattson, M. (2008). Glutamate and neurotrophic factors in neuronal plasticity and disease. *Ann. N Y Acad. Sci.* 1144, 97–112. doi: 10.1196/annals.1418.005

- Mohn, A., Gainetdinov, R., Caron, M., and Koller, B. (1999). Mice with reduced NMDA receptor expression display behaviours related to schizophrenia. *Cell* 98, 427–436. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81972-8
- Morrisett, R., Mott, D., Lewis, D., Swartzwelder, H., and Wilson, W. (1991). GABAB-receptor-mediated inhibition of the N-methyl-D-aspartate component of synaptic transmission in the rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 11, 203–209.
- Musazzi, L., Treccani, G., Mallei, A., and Popoli, M. (2013). The action of antidepressants on the glutamate system: regulation of glutamate release and glutamate receptors. *Biol. Psychiatry* 12, 1180–1188. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych. 2012.11.009
- Nakanishi, S., Nakajima, Y., Masu, M., Ueda, Y., Nakahara, K., Watanabe, D., et al. (1998). Glutamate receptors: brain function and signal transduction. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 26, 230–235. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0173(97)00033-7
- Nicoletti, F., Bockaert, J., Collingridge, G., Conn, P., Ferraguti, F., Schoepp, D., et al. (2011). Metabotropic glutamate receptors: from the workbench to the bedside. *Neuropharmacology* 60, 1017–1041. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010. 10.022
- Otmakhova, N., and Lisman, J. (2004). Contribution of Ih and GABAB to synaptically induced afterhyperpolarizations in CA1: a brake on the NMDA response. *J. Neurophysiol.* 92, 2027–2039. doi: 10.1152/jn.00427.2004
- Papadia, S., and Hardingham, G. E. (2007). The dichotomy of NMDA receptor signaling. *Neuroscientist* 13, 572–579. doi: 10.1177/1073858407305833
- Park, M., Penick, E., Edwards, J., Kauer, J., and Ehlers, M. (2004). Recycling endosomes supply AMPA receptors for LTP. *Science* 305, 1972–1975. doi: 10. 1126/science.1102026
- Rives, M., Vol, C., Fukazawa, Y., Tinel, N., Trinquet, E., Ayoub, M., et al. (2009). Crosstalk between GABAB and mGlu1a receptors reveals new insight into GPCR signal integration. *EMBO J.* 28, 2195–2208. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.177
- Robbins, M., Calver, A., Filippov, A., Hirst, W., Russell, R., Wood, M., et al. (2001). GABA(B2) is essential for g-protein coupling of the GABA(B) receptor heterodimer. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 8043–8052.
- Robertson, H., Gibson, E., Benke, T., and Dell'Acqua, M. (2009). Regulation of postsynaptic structure and function by an A-kinase anchoring proteinmembrane-associated guanylate kinase scaffolding complex. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 7929–7943. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6093-08.2009
- Sanderson, J. L., and Dell'Acqua, M. L. (2011). AKAP signaling complexes in regulation of excitatory synaptic plasticity. *Neuroscientist* 3, 321–336. doi: 10. 1177/1073858410384740
- Sheng, M., and Kim, E. (2011). The postsynaptic organization of synapses. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3:a005678. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a005678
- Smith, K., Gibson, E., and Dell'Acqua, M. (2006). cAMP-dependent protein kinase postsynaptic localization regulated by NMDA receptor activation through translocation of an A-kinase anchoring protein scaffold protein. J. Neurosci. 26, 2391–2402. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3092-05.2006
- Sun, H., Ma, C., Kelly, J., and Wu, S. (2006). GABAB receptor-mediated presynaptic inhibition of glutamatergic transmission in the inferior colliculus. *Neurosci. Lett.* 399, 151–156. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.01.049
- Tabata, T., Araishi, K., Hashimoto, K., Hashimotodani, Y., van der Putten, H., Bettler, B., et al. (2004). Ca2+ activity at GABAB receptors constitutively promotes metabotropic glutamate signaling in the absence of GABA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 101, 16952–16957. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0405387101
- Takahashi, T., Kajikawa, Y., and Tsujimoto, T. (1998). G-Protein-coupled modulation of presynaptic calcium currents and transmitter release by a GABAB receptor. J. Neurosci. 18, 3138–3146.
- Terunuma, M., Revilla-Sanchez, R., Quadros, I., Deng, Q., Deeb, T., Lumb, M., et al. (2014). Postsynaptic GABAB receptor activity regulates excitatory neuronal architecture and spatial memory. J. Neurosci. 34, 804–816. doi: 10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.3320-13.2013
- Terunuma, M., Vargas, K., Wilkins, M., Ramírez, O., Jaureguiberry-Bravo, M., Pangalos, M., et al. (2010). Prolonged activation of NMDA receptors promotes dephosphorylation and alters postendocytic sorting of GABAB receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 13918–13923. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000 853107
- Tunquist, B., Hoshi, N., Guire, E., Zhang, F., Mullendorff, K., Langeberg, L., et al. (2008). Loss of AKAP150 perturbs distinct neuronal processes in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 105, 12557–12562. doi: 10.1073/pnas.080 5922105

- Vargas, K., Terunuma, M., Tello, J., Pangalos, M., Moss, S., and Couve, A. (2008). The availability of surface GABA B receptors is independent of gammaaminobutyric acid but controlled by glutamate in central neurons. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 24641–24648. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M802419200
- Vigot, R., and Batini, C. (1997). GABA(B) receptor activation of Purkinje cells in cerebellar slices. *Neurosci. Res.* 29, 151–160. doi: 10.1016/s0168-0102(97)00087-4
- Wang, X., Zhang, Q., Zhang, Y., Liu, Y., Dong, R., Wang, Q., et al. (2011). Downregulation of GABAB receptors in the spinal cord dorsal horn in diabetic neuropathy. *Neurosci. Lett.* 490, 112–115. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.12.038
- Watanabe, M., Maemura, K., Kanbara, K., Tamayama, T., and Hayasaki, H. (2002). GABA and GABA receptors in the central nervous system and other organs. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 213, 1–47. doi: 10.1016/s0074-7696(02)13011-7
- Westphal, R., Tavalin, S., Lin, J., Alto, N., Fraser, I., and Langeberg, L. (1999). Regulation of NMDA receptors by an associated phosphatase-kinase signaling complex. *Science* 285, 93–96. doi: 10.1126/science.285.5424.93

- Wong, W., and Scott, J. (2004). AKAP signalling complexes: focal points in space and time. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5, 959–970. doi: 10.1038/nrm1527
- Wu, L. G., and Saggau, P. (1995). GABAB receptor-mediated presynaptic inhibition in guinea-pig hippocampus is caused by reduction of presynaptic Ca2+ influx. J. Physiol. 485, 649–657. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1995.sp020759

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Kantamneni. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Nicotinic α 7 receptor activation selectively potentiates the function of NMDA receptors in glutamatergic terminals of the nucleus accumbens

Stefania Zappettini^{1†}, Massimo Grilli^{2†}, Guendalina Olivero², Jiayang Chen², Cristina Padolecchia², Anna Pittaluga^{2,3}, Angelo R. Tomé^{4,5}, Rodrigo A. Cunha^{4,6} and Mario Marchi^{2,3}*

¹ Faculté de Médecine, Institut de Neurosciences des Systèmes Inserm UMR1106, Aix Marseille Université La Timone, Marseille, France

² Department of Pharmacy, University of Genoa, Viale Cembrano, Genoa, Italy

³ Center of Excellence for Biomedical Research, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy

⁴ CNC-Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

⁵ Department of Life Sciences, Faculty of Sciences and Technology, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

⁶ Faculty of Medicine, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

Edited by:

Milos Petrovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

Reviewed by:

Jan Krusek, Czech Academy of Sciences, Czech Republic Thomas Edward Chater, RIKEN, Japan

*Correspondence:

Mario Marchi, Department of Pharmacy, University of Genoa, Viale Cembrano 4, 16148 Genoa, Italy

e-mail: marchi@pharmatox.unige.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

We here provide functional and immunocytochemical evidence supporting the co-localization and functional interaction between nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) and N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors (NMDARs) in glutamatergic terminals of the nucleus accumbens (NAc). Immunocytochemical studies showed that a significant percentage of NAc terminals were glutamatergic and possessed GluN1 and a7-containing nAChR. A short-term pre-exposure of synaptosomes to nicotine (30 µM) or choline (1 mM) caused a significant potentiation of the 100 μ M NMDA-evoked [³H]D-aspartate $([^{3}H]D-Asp)$ outflow, which was prevented by α -bungarotoxin (100 nM). The pre-exposure to nicotine (100 μ M) or choline (1 mM) also enhanced the NMDA-induced cytosolic free calcium levels, as measured by FURA-2 fluorescence imaging in individual NAc terminals, an effect also prevented by α-bungarotoxin. Pre-exposure to the α4-nAChR agonists 5IA85380 (10 nM) or RJR2429 (1 μM) did not modify NMDA-evoked (I³H]D-Asp) outflow and calcium transients. The NMDA-evoked ([³H]D-Asp) overflow was partially antagonized by the NMDAR antagonists MK801, D-AP5, 5,7-DCKA and R(-)CPP and unaffected by the GluN2B-NMDAR antagonists Ro256981 and ifenprodil. Notably, pre-treatment with choline increased GluN2A biotin-tagged proteins. In conclusion, our results show that the GluN2A-NMDA receptor function can be positively regulated in NAc terminals in response to a brief incubation with α 7 but not α 4 nAChRs agonists. This might be a general feature in different brain areas since a similar nAChR-mediated bolstering of NMDA-induced ([³H]D-Asp) overflow was also observed in hippocampal synaptosomes.

Keywords: nicotinic receptors, NMDA receptors, nicotine treatment, neurotransmitters release, synaptosomes, nucleus accumbens

INTRODUCTION

Adaptive changes in the glutamatergic inputs triggering information processing in the nucleus accumbens (NAc)

Abbreviations: ECL, enhanced chemiluminescence; NAc, nucleus accumbens; nAChR, nicotinic acetylcholine receptors; NMDAR, N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor; PBS, phosphate-buffered saline; BSA, bovine serum albumin; *t*-TBS, Tris-buffered saline-Tween; 5IA85380, 5-iodo-A-85380; FURA-2AM, Fura-2-acetoxymethyl ester; DHβE, dihydro-β-erythroidine; R(-) CPP, 3-((R)-2-Carboxypiperazin-4-yl)-propyl-1-phosphonic acid; MK801, (5*R*,10*S*)-(-)-5-Methyl-10,11-dihydro-5*H*-dibenzo[*a*,*d*]cylcohepten-5,10-imine maleate; 5,7-DCKA, 5,7-Dichloro-4-hydroxyquinoline-2-carboxylic acid; D-AP5, D-(-)-2-Amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid; Ro256981, (α*R*,β*S*)-α - (4-Hydroxyphenyl)-β-methyl-4-(phenylmethyl)-1-piperidinepropanol maleate; RJR2403, (*E*)-*N*-Methyl-4-(3-pyridinyl)-3-buten-1-amine oxalate.

are increasingly recognized as key features underlying mood dysfunction and addiction (Carlezon and Thomas, 2009; Reissner and Kalivas, 2010). In particular N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptors (NMDARs) play a critical role in these adaptive changes (Ma et al., 2009), which are modulated by the cholinergic system, namely through nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs; Giocomo and Hasselmo, 2007; Timofeeva and Levin, 2011). These two signaling systems are intertwined as heralded by the ability of nicotine to modulate both the subunit composition (Delibas et al., 2005; Levin et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2007) and several functions of NMDAR (Yamazaki et al., 2006; Liechti and Markou, 2008; Lin et al., 2010; Li et al., 2013; Ávila-Ruiz et al., 2014; Callahan et al., 2014; Salamone et al., 2014). This interaction between nAChR and NMDAR seems most evident in nerve terminals (Lin et al., 2010; Salamone et al., 2014): this is of particular interest in view of the increasingly recognized role of presynaptic NMDARs in the control of synaptic plastic changes in different brain areas (Sjöström et al., 2003; Corlew et al., 2008; Bidoret et al., 2009). Thus, we now combined immunological, pharmacological and neurochemical approaches applied to purified nerve terminals to study NMDAR function in glutamatergic terminals in the NAc and we tested whether these presynaptic NMDARs were controlled by nAChRs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

ANIMALS AND BRAIN TISSUE PREPARATION

Adult male rats (Sprague–Dawley, 200–250 g) were housed at constant temperature ($22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C) and relative humidity (50%) under a regular light–dark schedule (light 7.00 a.m.–7.00 p.m.) with food and water freely available. The experimental procedures were approved by the Ethical Committee of the Pharmacology and Toxicology Section (University of Genoa) (protocol number 124/2003-A), in accordance with the Italian and European legislation on animal experimentation (2010/63/EU). All efforts were made to minimize animal suffering and to use the minimal number of animals required to produce reliable results.

PREPARATION OF SYNAPTOSOMES

Synaptosomes were prepared essentially as previously described (Grilli et al., 2008, 2009). Rats were killed by decapitation, their brains were rapidly removed at 0-4°C and dissected to collect the NAc (sections between Bregma 0.7-2.2 mm), according to the atlas of Paxinos and Watson (1986), or the hippocampus. The tissue was homogenized in 40 volumes of 0.32 M sucrose, buffered to pH 7.4 with phosphate (final concentration 0.01 M). The homogenate was centrifuged at 1000 g for 5 min, to remove nuclei and cellular debris, and crude synaptosomes were isolated from the supernatant by centrifugation at 12,000 g for 20 min. The synaptosomal pellet was then resuspended in Krebs medium with the following composition (mM): NaCl 128, KCl 2.4, CaCl₂ 3.2, KH₂PO₄ 1.2, MgSO₄ 1.2, HEPES 25, glucose 10, pH 7.2-7.4. The purification of nerve terminals for calcium imaging and immunocytochemical assays was carried out using a sucrose/Percoll fractionation, as previously described (Rodrigues et al., 2005).

NEUROTRANSMITTER RELEASE

The release of glutamate was gauged using the non-metabolizable tracer [³H]D-aspartate ([³H]D-Asp), which was loaded by incubation of the synaptosomes for 20 min at 37°C with 0.08 μ M [³H]D-Asp. Identical samples of the synaptosomal suspension were then layered over microporous filters at the bottom of parallel superfusion chambers thermostated at 37°C and the synaptosomes were superfused with a flow rate of 0.5 mL/min with Krebs medium. After 36 min (t = 36 min), four consecutive 3-min fractions of the eluent were collected. Synaptosomes were then exposed to NMDAR agonists (100 μ M NMDA and 10 μ M glycine) or to depolarizing agent (4-aminopyridine, 4AP, 10 μ M) from t = 39 min onwards, while antagonists were present from 8 min before addition of the agonists onwards. Exposure to nAChR agonists was done at t = 29 min for 10 min in absence or in

presence of nAChR antagonists. The superfusate samples and the synaptosomes were then counted for radioactivity. Agonist effects were expressed as percent of the induced outflow over basal outflow, upon subtraction of the radioactivity released in the four fractions collected under basal condition (no drug added) from that released in presence of the stimulus.

CALCIUM IMAGING

Purified nerve terminals (500 μ g of protein) were resuspended in 1 mL of HEPES-buffered medium (HBM with 122 mM NaCl, 3.1 mM KCl, 0.4 mM KH2PO4, 5 mM NaHCO3, 1.2 mM MgSO₄, 10 mM HEPES, 10 mM glucose, pH 7.4). They were loaded with FURA-2 through incubation with HBM supplemented with 5 μ M FURA-2-AM, 0.02% pluronic acid F-127, 0.1% bovine serum albumin (BSA, fatty-acid free) and 1.33 mM CaCl₂ for 1 h at 25°C and then allowed to attach onto poly-D-lysine-coated coverslips. The terminals were washed with HBM containing 1.33 mM CaCl₂ and mounted in a small superfusion chamber (RC-20; Warner Instruments, Harvard, UK) on the stage of an inverted fluorescence microscope (Axiovert 200; Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany).

Nerve terminals were alternately excited with UV light centered at 340 and 380 nm using an optical splitter (Lambda DG4; Sutter Instruments, Novato, CA, USA), with an exposure time of 2360 ms, and the emitted fluorescence images were captured through a 40× oil objective and a 510 nm band-pass filter (Carl Zeiss) connected to a digital camera (Cool SNAP; Roper Scientific, Trenton, NJ, USA). Results were expressed by plotting the time course of the ratio, *R*, of the average fluorescence light intensity emitted by a small elliptical region inside each terminal upon alternated excitation at 340 and 380 nm (R = F340/F380).

Increases in R correspond to increases of the levels of cytosolic free calcium, [Ca²⁺] (Lev-Ram et al., 1992; Castro et al., 1995). The basal ratio was measured during 60 s (i.e., 12 cycles) before stimulating the nerve terminals by superfusion with NMDA (100 μ M) + glycine (10 μ M) for 60 s. To measure the effects of the pretreatment with different agonists and antagonists, nicotine (100 μM), 5IA85380 (10 nM), choline (1 mM) and α-bungarotoxin (10 nM) were added 1 min before the stimulus. A 30 s pulse of KCl (25 mM) was applied at the end of each experiment to confirm the viability of the studied nerve terminals. Changes in Calcium response were measured as ΔR , subtracting the baseline (before the drug stimulation) to the peak (after the drug stimulation). All tested compounds were prepared in HBM medium lacking Mg²⁺ ions to disclose the NMDA receptor-mediated effect, and they were added to the superfused nerve terminals, through a pressurized fast-exchange solution delivery system (AutoMate Scientific, Berkeley, CA, USA), with constant gassing of all superfusion solution with 95% $O_2/5\%$ CO_2 .

IMMUNOCYTOCHEMICAL ASSAYS

Nerve terminals (500 μ g of protein) were resuspended in 1 mL of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, composed of 137 mM NaCl, 2.6 mM KCl, 1.5 mM KH₂PO₄, 8.1 mM Na₂HPO₄, pH 7.4) and allowed to attach onto poly-D-lysine-coated coverslips. The follow-up immuno-characterization of the nerve terminals used in FURA-2 fluorescence imaging experiments required the use

of grid-etched glass coverslips. The platted nerve terminals were fixed with 4% (w/v) paraformaldehyde for 15 min, washed twice with PBS, permeabilized in PBS with 0.2% Triton X-100 for 10 min, and then blocked for 1 h in PBS with 3% BSA and 5% normal horse serum and washed twice with PBS. Triplicate coverslips from each sample were incubated at 25°C for 1 h and the primary antibodies were diluted in PBS with 3% BSA and 5% normal horse serum: mouse anti-GluN1 (1:500), guinea pig anti-vGLUT (1:1000), rabbit anti-α7 nAChR (1:500), rabbit anti-a4 nAChR (1:500). After three washes with PBS containing 3% BSA and 3% normal horse serum, the nerve terminals were incubated for 1 h at room temperature with AlexaFluor-594 (red)labeled goat anti-rat IgG secondary antibodies (1:200) together with Alexa Fluor-488 (green)-labeled donkey anti-rabbit and with Alexa Fluor-350 (blue)-labeled donkey anti-mouse IgG secondary antibodies (1:200). We confirmed that the secondary antibodies only yielded a signal in the presence of the adequate primary antibodies and that the individual signals obtained in doublelabeled fields were not enhanced over the signals obtained under single-labeling conditions. After washing and mounting onto slides with Prolong Antifade, the preparations were visualized in a Zeiss Axiovert 200 inverted fluorescence microscope equipped with a cooled CCD camera and analyzed with AxioVision software (version 4.6). Each coverslip was analyzed by counting three different fields containing a minimum of 500 elements each.

BIOTINYLATION AND IMMUNOBLOTTING

Synaptosomes from the NAc of two rats were re-suspended in HBM at 4°C. The cell surface density of GluN2A was evaluated by performing surface biotinylation followed by immunoblots analysis, as previously described (Ciruela et al., 2006), with minimal modications. The synaptosomes were divided into two aliquots (500 µg protein each) and both were incubated for 10 min at 37°C under mild shaking; one aliquot was then treated for 10 min with 1 mM choline (T) while the other was kept as control (C). Choline exposure was terminated by dilution in cold washing buffer composed of 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.2% BSA, 20 mM Tris, pH 8.6. After washing twice in ice-cold washing buffer, the synaptosomes were labeled with 2 mg/ml of sulfo-NHS-SS-biotin in PBS with 1.5 mM MgCl₂ and 0.2 mM CaCl₂, pH 7.4 (PBS/Ca-Mg) for 1 h at 4°C. The biotinylation reaction was stopped by incubating with 1 M NH₄Cl for 15 min at 4°C, followed by two washes with ice cold 100 mM NH₄Cl in PBS/Ca-Mg, to quench biotin. Subsequently, biotinylated synaptosomes were lysed in RIPA buffer (500 µL) composed of 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.1% SDS, 1% Triton X-100, 1% sodium deoxycholate, 1 mM orthovanadate, protease inhibitor cocktail and 10 mM Tris, pH 7.4. The lysate was centrifuged at 20,000 \times g for 10 min at 4°C, and samples (100 µg) were incubated with streptavidin magnetic beads (40 µL) for 1 h at room temperature under shaking. Biotinylated proteins, linked to streptavidin magnetic beads, were then added to pulled-down by exposure of the mixture to a magnetic field. After extensive washes, $1 \times$ SDS-PAGE buffer was added and samples were boiled for 5 min at 95°C. Proteins were then loaded and electrophoretically separated on a 10% sodium dodecyl sulfate-PAGE gel and then transferred to PVDF membranes and probed for the proteins

of interest by incubation with rabbit anti-GluN2A (1:2,000) or mouse anti- β -actin (1:10,000) primary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature with Tween 20-containing Tris-buffered saline (t-TBS), composed of 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween 20, 5% non-fat dried milk and 20 mM Tris, pH 7.4. After washing, membranes were incubated for 1 h at room temperature with the appropriate horseradish peroxidase-linked secondary antibody (1:20,000), and immunoblots were visualized with an ECL (enhanced chemiluminescence) Plus Western blotting detection system. GluN2A subunit density was determined in the total synaptosomal lysate (Syn) and in the streptavidin-pulled-down fraction of control and choline-pretreated biotinylated synaptosomes (Ctr and Ch, respectively).

DATA ANALYSIS

Statistical comparison of the results was carried out using a Student's *t*-test for independent means (for single pairs comparison); multiple comparisons were performed with one- or two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey-Kramer *post hoc* test. Values are expressed as means \pm SEM and are considered significant for p < 0.05.

MATERIALS

[2,3-³H]D-aspartate (specific activity 11.3 Ci/mmol) was from Perkin Elmer (Boston, MA, USA); nicotine hydrogen tartrate salt, 4-aminopyridine (4-AP), N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), fattyacid free BSA, anti-β-actin monoclonal mouse IgG1, horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse and anti-rabbit secondary antibodies and the protease inhibitor cocktail were from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA); 5-iodo-A-85380, ifenprodil, Ro256981, 5,7-dicholoro-kynuremic acid (DCKA), D-AP5, MK-801, (R)-CPP and RJR-2403 oxalate were from Tocris (Bristol, UK); FURA-2 AM, pluronic acid F-127 were performed by Molecular Probes, Leiden, Netherlands. β-actin monoclonal mouse IgG1, horseradish peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse and anti-rabbit secondary antibodies protease inhibitor cocktail were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). Sulfo-NHS-SS-biotin and Streptavidin 14. Magnetic Beads were purchased from Pierce Thermo Scientific (Rockford, IL, USA), Western blotting detection system was purchased from GeHealthcare (Italy). Guinea pig anti-vGLUT, mouse anti-GluN1, AlexaFluor-594 (red)-labeled goat guinea pig IgG, Alexa Fluor-488 (green)-labeled donkey anti-rabbit, Alexa Fluor-350 (blue)labeled donkey anti-mouse, secondary antibodies were from Invitrogen. Rabbit anti-α4 nAChR (1:500), rabbit anti-α7 nAChR and anti-rabbit polyclonal GluN1 antibody was from Chemicon International (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA).

RESULTS

CO-LOCALIZATION AND FUNCTIONAL INTERACTION OF nAChR AND NMDAR IN GLUTAMATERGIC TERMINALS OF THE RAT NUCLEUS ACCUMBENS

Figure 1 shows that NMDA (100 μ M, plus 1 μ M glycine) triggered the release of [³H]D-Asp from pre-labeled NAc synaptosomes. A 10 min pre-exposure of the synaptosomes to nicotine (100 μ M) or choline (1 mM) significantly potentiated the NMDA-induced [³H]D-Asp outflow (+58%, and



+56%, respectively). This potentiation was abolished in synaptosomes pretreated with the selective α 7 nAChR antagonist α -bungarotoxin (100 nM; **Figure 1**). In contrast, the pre-exposure of the synaptosomes to the selective α 4-nAChR agonist 5IA85380 (10 nM) or RJR2403 (1 μ M) did not modify the NMDA-induced [³H]D-Asp outflow. It should be noted that the pre-treatment of NAc synaptosomes with nicotine failed to modify the 4-AP-induced [³H]D-Asp outflow (**Figure 1**).

The amplitude of the NMDA (100 μ M, plus 10 μ M glycine)induced increase in cytosolic free calcium in individual NAc terminals (**Figures 2A,B**) was also potentiated by preexposure to nicotine (100 μ M; **Figures 2A,B**) or choline (1 mM; **Figures 2C,D**), an effect that was blunted by α -bungarotoxin (10 nM; **Figures 2E,F**). These observations provide further evidence that the activation of α 7-containing nAChR bolsters NMDAR-mediated functions in NAc synaptosomes.

We next carried out an immunocytochemical characterization of NAc nerve endings to gauge the extent of the co-localization between a7 nAChR and NMDAR in glutamatergic nerve terminals. As shown in Figure 3, we identified individual nerve terminals (e.g., terminal 1) that were glutamatergic (vGluT1positive) and endowed with both GluN1 and a7 subunits (Figures 3B,C), where the pre-treatment with choline (1 mM) potentiated the NMDA (100 µM)-induced calcium transient (Figure 3A). In fact, this analysis revealed that more than 40% of glutamatergic nerve terminals (vGluT1-positive) possessed GluN1 and α7 subunits (Figure 3D), thus confirming that the colocalization of NMDAR and α 7 nAChR on the same glutamatergic terminal is a generalized feature in the NAc. The analysis of individual NAc terminals further revealed non-glutamatergic (vGluT1-negative) NAc terminals (e.g., terminal 2) containing both GluN1 and α 7 subunits (Figures 3B,C), where choline (1 mM) failed to modify the NMDA (100 µM)-induced calcium transient (Figure 3A). We also found terminals that responded



FIGURE 2 | (A, C, E) Time course of FURA-2 fluorescence emission in individual nerve terminals from the rat NAc, which were challenged twice with NMDAR agonists (100 μ M NMDA and 10 μ M glycine), before and 60 s after pre-treatment with either 100 μ M nicotine (**A**), 1 mM choline (**C**) or 1 mM choline together with 10 nM α -bungarotoxin (**E**). (**B**, **D**, **F**) Comparison of the average modification of calcium transients caused by NMDA agonists before (open bars) and 60 s after (filled bars) the exposure to 100 μ M nicotine (**B**), 1 mM choline (**D**) or 1 mM choline together with 10 nM α -bungarotoxin (**F**). Drugs were applied for 60 s, at the end of the wash out of the previous application and the arrows identify the peaks. Values are mean \pm SEM of at least four experiments *p < 0.05 and ***p < 0.001, using a paired Student's *t* test.

only to the α 7 nAChR agonist (e.g., terminal 3 in Figure 3A) or to NMDA (e.g., terminal 4 in Figure 3A).

We also identified individual glutamatergic nerve terminals (vGluT1-positive) containing both GluN1 and α4 subunits (terminal 2; Figures 4B,C), where the pre-treatment with 5IA85380 (10 nM) did not modify the NMDA (100 µM)-induced calcium transient (Figure 4A). Interestingly, we found other terminals (e.g., terminal 1) also containing both GluN1 and $\alpha 4$ subunits, where the pre-treatment with 5IA85380 (10 nM) actually reduced the NMDA (100 µM)-induced calcium transients (Figure 4A), a phenomenon previously observed in dopaminergic NAc terminals (Salamone et al., 2014). Additionally, we also observed nerve terminals responding only to NMDA (e.g., terminal 3) or to an a4 nAChR agonist (e.g., terminal 4 in Figure 4A). The average co-localization between GluN1 and $\alpha 4$ subunits (Figure 4D) showed that only 3-4% of the NAc glutamatergic nerve endings were endowed with both subunits, in contrast to the frequent co-localization of GluN1 and a7 subunits (Figure 3D).



PHARMACOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF NMDAR PRESENT IN NAc GLUTAMATERGIC TERMINALS

The pharmacological characterization of the NMDAR involved in the NMDA (100 μ M)-evoked [³H]D-Asp outflow from NAc synaptosomes is presented in **Figure 5**. The NMDA (100 μ M)-evoked [³H-]D-Asp outflow was antagonized by MK801 (10 μ M) and by D-AP5 (1 μ M), as well as by the selective GluN1 antagonist 5,7-DCKA (1 μ M). Furthermore, the GluN2A-preferring antagonist (R)-CPP $(1~\mu M)$ also attenuated the NMDA (100 $\mu M)$ -evoked $[^3H]D\text{-}Asp$ outflow (-48%), while the GluN2B-selective antagonists Ro256981 (1 $\mu M)$ and ifenprodil (1 $\mu M)$ were ineffective.

nAChR ACTIVATION DRIVES GIUN2A TRAFFICKING TO THE PLASMA MEMBRANE

We next tested whether nicotine pre-treatment selectively impacts this NR2A-mediated component of the NMDA-evoked



 $[{}^{3}$ H]D-Asp outflow. As shown in **Figure 6A**, after (Choline 1 mM) pre-treatment, the inhibitory effect of the NR2A-preferring antagonist (R)-CPP (1 μ M) was significantly increased (-78%) compared to the effects on control (non-pre-treated) synaptosomes (-48%; **Figure 5**). By contrast, nicotine pre-treatment did not enhance the inhibition caused by the NR2B-selective antagonist Ro256981 (1 μ M), which was still non-significant (**Figure 6A**).

Since we have previously shown that nAChR can control the responses of presynaptic ionotropic glutamate receptors through the regulation of their trafficking in and out of the plasma membrane (Grilli et al., 2012; Salamone et al., 2014), we posited that the nicotine-induced increase of the NMDA response in NAc glutamatergic terminals would also rely on a control of the trafficking of GluN2A-containing NMDAR. Indeed, the quantification of the density of biotin-tagged



GluN2A subunit proteins in NAc synaptosomes before and after choline pre-treatment (Figures 6B,C) showed that choline

(1 mM) pre-treatment for 10 min increased (+15%, **Figure 6C**) the density of GluN2A at the plasma membrane (**Figure 6B**, lane Ch) respect to control (**Figure 6B**, lane Ctr).

CHOLINE POTENTIATES THE NMDA-INDUCED D-Asp RELEASE FROM HIPPOCAMPAL NERVE TERMINALS

N-methyl-D-aspartic acid (100 μ M, plus 10 μ M glycine) caused a marked outflow of [³H]D-Asp from pre-labeled hippocampal synaptosomes (**Figure 7**), which was quantitatively higher than that observed in NAc synaptosomes (cf. **Figures 1**, 7). The preexposure of hippocampal synaptosomes to choline (1 mM) for 10 min significantly potentiated the NMDA-induced [³H]D-Asp outflow while the pre-incubation with nicotine (100 μ M) was ineffective. As observed in NAc synaptosomes, the pre-exposure of hippocampal synaptosomes to the α 4 β 2 nAChR agonists 5IA85380 (10 nM) or cytisine (100 μ M) for 10 min did not modify the NMDA-induced [³H]D-Asp outflow.

DISCUSSION

The present study shows that the activation of nAChR enhances the ability of NMDAR to trigger neurotransmitter release from glutamatergic terminals of the NAc. Our combined pharmacological and immunocytochemical characterization at the individual nerve terminal level revealed that this involved the ability of α 7-containing nAChR to selectively bolster GluN2A-containing NMDA receptor function. Further biochemical studies showed that nAChR activation enhanced the plasma membrane levels of



FIGURE 6 | Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors activation selectively bolsters GluN2A-dependent [³H]D-Asp release (A) and GluN2A membrane insertion (B, C) in NAc terminals. (A) The selective GluN2A-NMDAR antagonist R(-)CPP, but not the GluN2B-NMDAR antagonist Ro256981, attenuated the potentiating effect resulting from the pre-treatment for 10 min with (1 mM Choline) of the evoked [³H]D-Asp release from rat NAc synaptosomes triggered by 100 μ M NMDA and 10 μ M glycine. Values are mean \pm SEM of six experiments run in triplicate. **p < 0.01 vs. control using a one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey-Kramer *post hoc* test. (B) Representative Western blot of GluN2A subunit surface density in NAc terminals. The Western blots compares total synaptosomal membranes before



adding biotin (Syn Tot), synaptosomal membranes that are not treated with biotin and are subject to a streptavidin pull-down **(B)**, synaptosomal membranes incubated with biotin and subject to a streptavidin pull-down (Ctr) and membranes from synaptosomes that were pre-treated for 1 mM choline before incubation with biotin and pull-down with streptavidin (Ch). The blots are representative of four different experiments carried out with synaptosomal preparations from different rats. **(C)** Comparison of the average density of biotin-labelled GluN2A proteins in NAc synaptosomal membranes without (open bars) and after (filled bars) a 10 min exposure to 100 μ M nicotine. Values are mean \pm SEM of four experiments. *p < 0.05 using a paired Student's *t* test.



GluN2A subunits in NAc terminals, allowing to argue that the nAChR-mediated control of GluN2A trafficking into the plasma membrane underlies the potentiation of presynaptic NMDAR-mediated actions by nAChR activation in NAc glutamatergic terminals.

Although ionotropic receptors are traditionally recognized as supporting fast synaptic transmission by acting as postsynaptic sensors of released neurotransmitters, evidence accumulated over the last decades also supports a parallel fine-tuning neuromodulation role for ionotropic receptors as controllers of the release of different neurotransmitters (MacDermott et al., 1999; Dorostkar and Boehm, 2008), with critical impact on adaptive changes of synaptic efficiency (Sjöström et al., 2003; Corlew et al., 2008; Bidoret et al., 2009). Accordingly, it has been shown that different nAChR and NMDAR subtypes are present in glutamatergic nerve terminals in different brain areas, where they efficiently modulate the release of glutamate (McGehee et al., 1995; Marchi et al., 2002; Bardoni et al., 2004; Dickinson et al., 2008; Musante et al., 2011; Gomez-Varela and Berg, 2013). The present study provides an additional layer of complexity in the presynaptic signaling by ionotropic receptors, dwelling on the interaction between presynaptic ionotropic receptors. In fact, building on the observation that different ionotropic receptors are co-localized in nerve terminals, we explored the nature of their interactions to grasp the fine-tuning of neurotransmitter release. Thus, our immunocytochemical findings showed that both α 7 and α 4 nAChR were co-localized with GluN1 subunits of NMDAR in NAc nerve terminals, namely in glutamatergic nerve endings. This led to the key observation that the two modulation systems are actually engaged in a cross-talk, since the pre-treatment of NAc synaptosomes with nicotine caused a significant increase of the NMDA-evoked intra-terminal cytosolic free calcium transient and [³H]D-Asp outflow.

It has been previously described that glutamate exocytosis is controlled by α 7-nAChR and by α 4 β 2-nAChR subtypes (Dickinson et al., 2008; Zappettini et al., 2010). However, our pharmacological characterization showed a primary involvement

of a7-nAChR controlling presynaptic NMDA responses, based on the effects of the α7-nAChR-selective agonist choline and α 7-nAChR-selective antagonist α -bungarotoxin. This is further confirmed by the lack of effect of 5IA85380, indicating the inability α4β2-nAChR to modify the functional response of presynaptic NMDAR. This contention is further strengthened by our observation that nicotine or choline triggered an increase of the NMDA-induced intra-terminal calcium transients selectively in glutamatergic nerve endings (see Figure 3), which were also endowed with a7-nAChR. Notably, the impact of nAChR activation was qualitatively similar and displayed a similar pharmacology when measuring the NMDA-induced intra-terminal calcium transients or the release of [³H]D-Asp. This strongly suggests that the increased NMDA-evoked outflow of glutamate probably results from the modulation of the calcium transient. Furthermore, it should be noted that α 4-nAChR are also present in glutamatergic terminals (see Figure 4) and can trigger calcium entry into nerve terminals (Dickinson et al., 2007; Zappettini et al., 2010). However, α7-nAChR triggers a direct calcium entry, whereas the a4-nAChR-mediated increase of intra-terminal free calcium levels involves a depolarization of the terminal and the subsequent activation of voltage-sensitive calcium channels (Dickinson et al., 2007). This prompts the hypothesis that the different mechanisms of nAChR-induced raise of intra-terminal free calcium may be linked to their different ability to control presynaptic NMDAR function, a question that remains to be solved.

The pharmacological characterization of the nAChR-mediated control of presynaptic NMDAR responses also allowed establishing the selective involvement of GluN2A-containing NMDAR, in spite of the known presence of both GluN2A and GluN2B subunits in NMDA autoreceptors located in hippocampal glutamatergic nerve endings (Luccini et al., 2007). In fact, the NMDA-induced outflow of [³H]D-Asp was selectively attenuated by selective antagonists of GluN2A-containing NMDAR, whereas selective GluN2B antagonists were devoid of effects. Additionally, the pre-activation of nAChR selectively bolstered the amplitude of the inhibitory effect of GluN2A antagonists, rather than that of GluN2B antagonists, further indicating the selective nAChR modulation of presynaptic GluN2A-containing NMDAR. This was further re-enforced by the biochemical identification of an increased density of GluN2A subunits in the plasma membrane of NAc terminals after pre-activation of nAChR. This poses the control of the trafficking of NMDAR subunits as the likely mechanism operated by nAChR to bolster the effects of presynaptic NMDAR, whereas a possible impact on the exocytotic machinery is made unlikely by the lack of effect of a7-nAChR activation on the 4APevoked [³H]D-Asp outflow. Although the intracellular pathway operated by nAChR to control GluN2A trafficking remains to be defined, this might involve a nAChR-mediated control of kinase activity, since NMDAR trafficking is regulated by phosphorylation (Lan et al., 2001; Chen and Roche, 2007; Lau and Zukin, 2007).

We have previously reported that nAChR also controlled NMDAR-mediated responses in NAc dopaminergic terminals, but we found that nAChR activation depressed presynaptic NMDAR-mediated responses (Salamone et al., 2014), in contrast to the potentiation observed in NAc glutamatergic terminals and described above. Remarkable, in NAc dopaminergic nerve terminals, we observed that it was the activation of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ -nAChR that depressed GluN2B containing NMDAR (Salamone et al., 2014), instead of a7-nAChR potentiating GluN2A containing NMDAR in NAc glutamatergic terminals. Taken together, these findings indicate a striking difference between the interplay of nAChR and NMDAR in different nerve terminals, which seems to depend on the types of nAChR and of NMDAR playing the prime role in each different type of nerve terminal within the NAc. This prompted us to test if there were also differences between brain areas and we found that nAChR activation also triggered a potentiation of NMDAR-induced release of [³H]D-Asp from hippocampal nerve terminals, as occurred in the NAc glutamatergic terminals. It still remains to understand the signaling mechanisms responsible for the different setup of nAChRs and NMDARs in different types of nerve terminals in the brain.

There is increasing recognition of the importance of presynaptic NMDAR on the control of synaptic plasticity (Sjöström et al., 2003; Corlew et al., 2008; Bidoret et al., 2009), together with the role that adaptive changes in the efficiency of glutamatergic synapses may have in the addictive behavior (Ma et al., 2009; Kalivas and Volkow, 2011; Grueter et al., 2012). We characterized the ability of nAChRs to bolster presynaptic NMDAR-mediated responses in NAc glutamatergic terminals. This nAChRs-mediated control of NMDAR function in glutamatergic terminals of the NAc could help to understand the parallel effects of cholinergic and glutamatergic systems on higher brain functions involving information processing in NAc circuits such as mood, memory or addiction (Carlezon and Thomas, 2009; Reissner and Kalivas, 2010).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Stefania Zappettini, performed calcium imaging analysis, immunocytochemical experiments and release experiments, revised critically the paper and approved the final version; Massimo Grilli contributed to the design of the work, coordinated and performed the release experiments, revised critically the paper and approved the final version, Guendalina Olivero, Jiayang Chen and Cristina Padolecchia performed the release experiments and revised critically the paper and approved the final version; Anna Pittaluga contributed to the design of the work, revised critically the paper and approved the final version; Angelo R. Tomé and Rodrigo A. Cunha contributed to the design of the work and coordinated the calcium imaging analysis and immunocytochemical experiments, revised critically the paper and approved the final version, Mario Marchi provided a substantial contributions to the design of the work and to the interpretation of data and wrote the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Italian MIUR to Mario Marchi (Prot. N° 2009R7WCZS_003), by University of Genoa "Athenaeum Research Project". We wish to thank Maura Agate and Dr. Silvia E. Smith, Ph.D (University of Idaho, IBEST, School of Life Sciences) for editorial assistance. Rodrigo A. Cunha and Angelo

R. Tomé were supported by QREN (CENTRO-07-ST24-FEDER-002006), Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (PTDC/SAU-NSC/122254/2010) and the U.S. Army Research Office and the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (grant W911NF-10-1-0059).

REFERENCES

- Ávila-Ruiz, T., Carranza, V., Gustavo, L. L., Limón, D. I., Martínez, I., Flores, G., et al. (2014). Chronic administration of nicotine enhances NMDA-activated currents in the prefrontal cortex and core part of the nucleus accumbens of rats. *Synapse* 68, 248–256. doi: 10.1002/syn.21726
- Bardoni, R., Torsney, C., Tong, C. K., Prandini, M., and MacDermott, A. B. (2004). Presynaptic NMDA receptors modulate glutamate release from primary sensory neurons in rat spinal cord dorsal horn. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 2774–2781. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.4637-03.2004
- Bidoret, C., Ayon, A., Barbour, B., and Casado, M. (2009). Presynaptic NR2Acontaining NMDA receptors implement a high-pass filter synaptic plasticity rule. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 106, 14126–14131. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0904284106
- Callahan, P. M., Terry, A. V. Jr., and Tehim, A. (2014). Effects of the nicotinic α7 receptor partial agonist GTS-21 on NMDA-glutamatergic receptor related deficits in sensorimotor gating and recognition memory in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 231, 3695–3706. doi: 10.1007/s00213-014-3509-2
- Carlezon, W. A. Jr., and Thomas, M. J. (2009). Biological substrates of reward and aversion: a nucleus accumbens activity hypothesis. *Neuropharmacology* 56(Suppl 1), 122–132. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.06.075
- Castro, E., Mateo, J., Tomé, A. R., Barbosa, R. M., Miras-Portugal, M. T., and Rosário, L. M. (1995). Cell-specific purinergic receptors coupled to Ca²⁺ entry and Ca²⁺ release from internal stores in adrenal chromaffin cells. Differential sensitivity to UTP and suramin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 5098–5106. doi: 10.1074/jbc. 270.10.5098
- Chen, B. S., and Roche, K. W. (2007). Regulation of NMDA receptors by phosphorylation. *Neuropharmacology* 53, 362–368. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2007. 05.018
- Ciruela, F., Casadó, V., Rodrigues, R. J., Luján, R., Burgueño, J., Canals, M., et al. (2006). Presynaptic control of striatal glutamatergic neurotransmission by adenosine A¹-A^{2A} receptor heteromers. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 2080–2087. doi: 10. 1523/jneurosci.3574-05.2006
- Corlew, R., Brasier, D. J., Feldman, D. E., and Philpot, B. D. (2008). Presynaptic NMDA receptors: newly appreciated roles in cortical synaptic function and plasticity. *Neuroscientist* 14, 609–625. doi: 10.1177/1073858408322675
- Delibas, N., Doguc, D. K., Sutcu, R., Eroglu, E., and Gökalp, O. (2005). Effect of nicotine on hippocampal nicotinic acetylcholine alpha7 receptor and NMDA receptor subunits 2A and 2B expression in young and old rats. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 115, 1151–1163. doi: 10.1080/00207450590914437
- Dickinson, J. A., Hanrott, K. E., Mok, M. H., Kew, J. N., and Wonnacott, S. (2007). Differential coupling of alpha7 and non-alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors to calcium-induced calcium release and voltage-operated calcium channels in PC12 cells. J. Neurochem. 100, 1089–1096. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006. 04273.x
- Dickinson, J. A., Kew, J. N., and Wonnacott, S. (2008). Presynaptic alpha 7and beta 2-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors modulate excitatory amino acid release from rat prefrontal cortex nerve terminals via distinct cellular mechanisms. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 74, 348–359. doi: 10.1124/mol.108.04 6623
- Dorostkar, M. M., and Boehm, S. (2008). Presynaptic ionotropic receptors. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 184, 479–527. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-74805-2_15
- Giocomo, L. M., and Hasselmo, M. E. (2007). Neuromodulation by glutamate and acetylcholine can change circuit dynamics by regulating the relative influence of afferent input and excitatory feedback. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 36, 184–200. doi: 10. 1007/s12035-007-0032-z
- Gomez-Varela, D., and Berg, D. K. (2013). Lateral mobility of presynaptic α7containing nicotinic receptors and its relevance for glutamate release. *J. Neurosci.* 33, 17062–17071. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.1482-13.2013
- Grilli, M., Patti, L., Robino, F., Zappettini, S., Raiteri, M., and Marchi, M. (2008). Release-enhancing pre-synaptic muscarinic and nicotinic receptors co-exist and interact on dopaminergic nerve endings of rat nucleus accumbens. J. Neurochem. 105, 2205–2213. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05307.x

- Grilli, M., Summa, M., Salamone, A., Olivero, G., Zappettini, S., Di Prisco, S., et al. (2012). In vitro exposure to nicotine induces endocytosis of presynaptic AMPA receptors modulating dopamine release in rat nucleus accumbens nerve terminals. *Neuropharmacology* 63, 916–926. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012. 06.049
- Grilli, M., Zappettini, S., Raiteri, L., and Marchi, M. (2009). Nicotinic and muscarinic cholinergic receptors coexist on GABAergic nerve endings in the mouse striatum and interact in modulating GABA release. *Neuropharmacology* 56, 610– 614. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.10.014
- Grueter, B. A., Rothwell, P. E., and Malenka, R. C. (2012). Integrating synaptic plasticity and striatal circuit function in addiction. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 22, 545–551. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2011.09.009
- Kalivas, P. W., and Volkow, N. D. (2011). New medications for drug addiction hiding in glutamatergic neuroplasticity. *Mol. Psychiatry* 16, 974–986. doi: 10. 1038/mp.2011.46
- Lan, J. Y., Skeberdis, V. A., Jover, T., Grooms, S. Y., Lin, Y., Araneda, R. C., et al. (2001). Protein kinase C modulates NMDA receptor trafficking and gating. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 382–390. doi: 10.1038/86028
- Lau, C. G., and Zukin, R. S. (2007). NMDA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 413–426. doi: 10. 1038/nrn2171
- Levin, E. D., Tizabi, Y., Rezvani, A. H., Caldwell, D. P., Petro, A., and Getachew, B. (2005). Chronic nicotine and dizocilpine effects on regionally specific nicotinic and NMDA glutamate receptor binding. *Brain Res.* 1041, 132–142. doi: 10. 1016/j.brainres.2005.01.104
- Lev-Ram, V., Miyakawa, H., Lasser-Ross, N., and Ross, W. N. (1992). Calcium transients in cerebellar Purkinje neurons evoked by intracellular stimulation. *J. Neurophysiol.* 68, 1167–1177.
- Li, S., Nai, Q., Lipina, T. V., Roder, J. C., and Liu, F. (2013). α7nAchR/NMDAR coupling affects NMDAR function and object recognition. *Mol. Brain* 6:58. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-6-58
- Liechti, M. E., and Markou, A. (2008). Role of the glutamatergic system in nicotine dependence: implications for the discovery and development of new pharmacological smoking cessation therapies. CNS Drugs 22, 705–724. doi: 10. 2165/00023210-200822090-00001
- Lin, H., Vicini, S., Hsu, F. C., Doshi, S., Takano, H., Coulter, D. A., et al. (2010). Axonal α7 nicotinic ACh receptors modulate presynaptic NMDA receptor expression and structural plasticity of glutamatergic presynaptic boutons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 107, 16661–16666. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1007397107
- Luccini, E., Musante, V., Neri, E., Raiteri, M., and Pittaluga, A. (2007). N-methyl-D-aspartate autoreceptors respond to low and high agonist concentrations by facilitating, respectively, exocytosis and carrier-mediated release of glutamate in rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. Res. 85, 3657–3665. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21446
- Ma, Y. Y., Cepeda, C., and Cui, C. L. (2009). The role of striatal NMDA receptors in drug addiction. *Int. Rev. Neurobiol.* 89, 131–146. doi: 10.1016/s0074-7742(09)89006-5
- MacDermott, A. B., Role, L. W., and Siegelbaum, S. A. (1999). Presynaptic ionotropic receptors and the control of transmitter release. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 22, 443–485. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.22.1.443
- Marchi, M., Risso, F., Viola, C., Cavazzani, P., and Raiteri, M. (2002). Direct evidence that release-stimulating alpha7* nicotinic cholinergic receptors are localized on human and rat brain glutamatergic axon terminals. *J. Neurochem.* 80, 1071–1078. doi: 10.1046/j.0022-3042.2002.00805.x
- McGehee, D. S., Heath, M. J., Gelber, S., Devay, P., and Role, L. W. (1995). Nicotine enhancement of fast excitatory synaptic transmission in CNS by presynaptic receptors. *Science* 269, 1692–1696. doi: 10.1126/science.7569895

- Musante, V., Summa, M., Cunha, R. A., Raiteri, M., and Pittaluga, A. (2011). Presynaptic glycine GlyT1 transporter—NMDA receptor interaction: relevance to NMDA autoreceptor activation in the presence of Mg²⁺ ions. *J. Neurochem.* 117, 516–527. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07223.x
- Paxinos, G., and Watson, C. (1986). The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates. 2nd Edn. San Diego, CA, USA: Academic Press.
- Reissner, K. J., and Kalivas, P. W. (2010). Using glutamate homeostasis as a target for treating addictive disorders. *Behav. Pharmacol.* 21, 514–522. doi: 10.1097/fbp. 0b013e32833d41b2
- Rodrigues, R. J., Almeida, T., Richardson, P. J., Oliveira, C. R., and Cunha, R. A. (2005). Dual presynaptic control by ATP of glutamate release via facilitatory P2X1, P2X2/3 and P2X3 and inhibitory P2Y1, P2Y2 and/or P2Y4 receptors in the rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 25, 6286–6295. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.0628-05.2005
- Salamone, A., Zappettini, S., Grilli, M., Olivero, G., Agostinho, P., Tomé, A. R., et al. (2014). Prolonged nicotine exposure down-regulates presynaptic NMDA receptors in dopaminergic terminals of the rat nucleus accumbens. *Neuropharmacology* 79, 488–497. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.12.014
- Sjöström, P. J., Turrigiano, G. G., and Nelson, S. B. (2003). Neocortical LTD via coincident activation of presynaptic NMDA and cannabinoid receptors. *Neuron* 39, 641–654. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00476-8
- Timofeeva, O. A., and Levin, E. D. (2011). Glutamate and nicotinic receptor interactions in working memory: importance for the cognitive impairment of schizophrenia. *Neuroscience* 195, 21–36. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011. 08.038
- Wang, F., Chen, H., Steketee, J. D., and Sharp, B. M. (2007). Upregulation of ionotropic glutamate receptor subunits within specific mesocorticolimbic regions during chronic nicotine self-administration. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32, 103–109. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1301033
- Yamazaki, Y., Jia, Y., Niu, R., and Sumikawa, K. (2006). Nicotine exposure in vivo induces long-lasting enhancement of NMDA receptor-mediated currents in the hippocampus. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 23, 1819–1828. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2006. 04714.x
- Zappettini, S., Grilli, M., Salamone, A., Fedele, E., and Marchi, M. (2010). Presynaptic nicotinic receptors evoke endogenous glutamate and aspartate release from hippocampal synaptosomes by way of distinct coupling mechanisms. *Br. J. Pharmacol* 161, 1161–1171. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00958.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 24 July 2014; accepted: 30 September 2014; published online: 16 October 2014.

Citation: Zappettini S, Grilli M, Olivero G, Chen J, Padolecchia C, Pittaluga A, Tomé AR, Cunha RA and Marchi M (2014) Nicotinic α 7 receptor activation selectively potentiates the function of NMDA receptors in glutamatergic terminals of the nucleus accumbens. Front. Cell. Neurosci. **8**:332. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00332

This article was submitted to the journal Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience.

Copyright © 2014 Zappettini, Grilli, Olivero, Chen, Padolecchia, Pittaluga, Tomé, Cunha and Marchi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution and reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

